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          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Good morning.

          3  Welcome to City Hall. Pretty full house. I am

          4  Council Member Madeline Provenzano, and I chair the

          5  Committee on Housing and Buildings. Today the

          6  Committee is conducting its first hearing on two

          7  bills dealing with the potential adoption of a model

          8  building code for the City of New York.

          9                 The first one, Intro. No. 478.  It's

         10  a local law to provide a time frame for the adoption

         11  and periodic updating of a modern construction code

         12  or codes based on the national model construction

         13  codes developed by the International Code Council to

         14  replace the City's outdated building code.

         15                 The second one, Intro. No. 368, is a

         16  local law to amend the Administrative Code of the

         17  City of New York, in relation to the National Fire

         18  Protection Association, NFPA 5000, building

         19  construction and safety code.

         20                 And the repeal of subchapters two

         21  through 19 of Chapter 1 of Title 27 of such code.

         22                 This hearing was convened to hear

         23  testimony concerning Intro. No. 478 and Intro. No.

         24  368 and to explore the issue of a new updated model

         25  building code for the City of New York.
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          2                 Building codes offer minimum

          3  standards for the construction of buildings to

          4  protect the health, safety and welfare of the

          5  public.

          6                 Our current code, building code,

          7  which dates back to 1968, applies to the

          8  construction, alteration, repair, demolition,

          9  removal, maintenance, occupancy, and use of both new

         10  and existing buildings in the City.

         11                 I don't have to tell those of you

         12  here today how much all of these that I mentioned

         13  above and this great City of ours have changed in 36

         14  years.

         15                 We are way overdue for a new building

         16  code for this City. This Committee anticipates that

         17  today's hearing will provide valuable information

         18  and informative dialogue that will provide responses

         19  to the many questions raised by Council members and

         20  other interested parties. There's been a very

         21  complicated process.

         22                 The Committee on Housing and

         23  Buildings will hear testimony from Patricia

         24  Lancaster, Commissioner of Buildings, and

         25  representatives of model code organizations,
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          2  architects, engineers, fire safety professionals,

          3  labor, real estate industry and other folks from the

          4  Administration, and other persons interested in this

          5  issue.

          6                 Intro. No. 368 would adopt the 2003

          7  addition of the National Fire Protection

          8  Association, NFPA 5000 Building Construction and

          9  Safety Code as a replacement for the current

         10  building code of the City of New York, by repealing

         11  subchapters 2 through 19 of Chapter 1 of Title 71 of

         12  the Administrative Code and replaces it by the

         13  provisions of the National Fire Protection

         14  Association Building and Construction Code, NFPA

         15  5000, 2003 addition.

         16                 Alternately, Intro. No. 478 provides

         17  for the adoption of five international codes,

         18  produced by the International Code Council, with any

         19  modifications that the Commissioner of Buildings

         20  determines to be necessary for application in this

         21  City.

         22                 Those codes are the International

         23  Building Codes, the International Fuel Gas Code, the

         24  International Mechanical Code, the International

         25  Plumbing Code, and the International Residential
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          2  Code.

          3                 478, actually both of these bills,

          4  cannot be discussed in the small context of the bill

          5  without opening the door to a fuller discussion of

          6  the entire code, which is what we'll be doing here

          7  today.

          8                 As Chair of this Committee, I usually

          9  act as a mediator when I'm sitting up here because

         10  most of the job is paperwork and shuffling papers

         11  and trying to figure out who's going to speak, but I

         12  find myself in a different position today, and I am

         13  proud to say that I am the sponsor of Local Law 478.

         14                 I wish to state for the record that I

         15  have had the pleasure of being part of the

         16  Administration's efforts to review the existing

         17  alternatives and to make recommendations toward the

         18  adoption or non-adoption of a model code.

         19                 In November of 2002, Mayor Michael R.

         20  Bloomberg, in cooperation with Patricia Lancaster,

         21  the Commission of Buildings, and myself as the Chair

         22  of this Committee, announced formation of a

         23  Commission to formulate recommendations for the

         24  adoption of a model building code by the City of New

         25  York to supplant the current antiquated building
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          2  code.

          3                 In this regard, the Commission, which

          4  included myself, reviewed, analyzed and assessed the

          5  merits of the NFPA 5000 produced by the National

          6  Fire Association, Protection Association, and the

          7  International Building Code produced by the

          8  International Code Council.

          9                 The Commission also considered the

         10  merits of not replacing the existing building code.

         11  The Commission was made up of 22, 15 people.

         12                 After several months of intense

         13  deliberation in April of 2003, the Mayor's Advisory

         14  Commission recommended that the City of New York

         15  adopt a new building code based on the 2003

         16  additions of the International Code Council's

         17  National Model Codes.

         18                 Intro. 478 is based on the

         19  Commission's recommendations that the adoption of

         20  such new building codes should be accomplished by

         21  enacting the text of the International Code Council

         22  National Model Codes as part of Title 71 of the

         23  Administrative Code with appropriate modifications

         24  reflecting the unique character of the City.

         25                 Also for the record, in addition to
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          2  serving as a member of that Mayor's Advisory

          3  Commission, I am currently serving on the management

          4  committee and on some of the technical committees

          5  involved in this effort.

          6                 Now, for a little housekeeping.

          7                 We have received an enormous number

          8  of requests to testify today, as you could see by

          9  some of the folks around you. Although, I think that

         10  a lot of the folks are also here to listen. Which is

         11  always a good thing, listening.

         12                 I ask that the presenters be mindful

         13  of all time limits that will be imposed upon them,

         14  and that every presenter be afforded the opportunity

         15  to speak uninterrupted, without negative comments or

         16  insinuations from the audience.

         17                 If you've been at any of my hearings

         18  in the past, you know my feeling is those kinds of

         19  things take up too much valuable time that we don't

         20  have.

         21                 So, you're welcome to sit and listen

         22  quietly. If anything happens otherwise, you will be

         23  removed from the Chamber.

         24                 As the Chair of the Housing and

         25  Buildings Committee -- (outburst from the audience.)
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: (To the

          3  Sergeant-At-Arms) Don't let him back in. You see the

          4  guy in the gray that left? He can't come back in. If

          5  that's the way he's going to start, I am not putting

          6  up with nonsense.

          7                 This is too important a hearing to

          8  play games here today, and if you're here to play

          9  games, follow that guy out.

         10                 As the Chair of Housing and

         11  Buildings, this Committee's ultimate goal is to

         12  provide building safety, whether at the design

         13  stage, the construction stage, or during the course

         14  of a buildings occupancy.

         15                 In this regard, I hope that we will

         16  ultimately have one piece of legislation that can be

         17  supported by the New York City Council, and that

         18  will result in a true model building code for our

         19  City, and that we will make this City, and that we

         20  will make this City the model to be emulated by

         21  other municipalities across the country.

         22                 We have tons of people that will be

         23  testifying today, but if you have called in to

         24  saying you're testifying, you still must sign in. So

         25  the desk sign in is there. Anyone wishing to sign
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          2  in, or anyone wishing to testify, please sign in.

          3                 We have with us Council Member Robert

          4  Jackson, who is the sponsor of 368 and would like to

          5  say a few words.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

          7  Madam Chair. And good morning, everyone.

          8                 Madam Chair, I want to thank you for

          9  the opportunity in order to, as a prime sponsor of

         10  Intro. 368, which is a proposed bill that would

         11  replace the current building code with the NFPA 5000

         12  code. Clearly, this is a very, very important issue

         13  for the people of New York City, and some people may

         14  think it's a game and strategy in order to ensure

         15  that one code is passed over the other. I don't look

         16  at it that way. I've said all along that this code,

         17  whatever code that New York City adopts will be a

         18  code that hopefully will be better for all of New

         19  Yorkers, and that we will live with this for years

         20  and decades to come.

         21                 So, I take this very, very seriously,

         22  and I'm not here to play any games with anyone, and

         23  I'm glad that you, Madam Chair, feel the same way.

         24  I'm glad that at this point in time today, November

         25  30th, which is an extremely important day in the
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          2  life of New York City, not only because of this

          3  particular hearing today, Madam Chair, but today

          4  also the special panel of referees appointed by

          5  Justice Leland DeGrasse comes up with their

          6  recommendation, as far as the implementation of the

          7  CFE Decision, which you know we're talking about

          8  five- to six-billion dollars more on behalf of the

          9  children of New York City. So, it's an extremely

         10  important day in New York City.

         11                 And I'm hoping that this will be one

         12  of several hearings where the issue can be fleshed

         13  out and that the truth and facts about both intros

         14  will come out, rather than some of the media

         15  publicity that I guess that's been out there.

         16                 So, I hope and pray that things go as

         17  well as expected to be, and I will do everything

         18  that I can as a prime sponsor of 368 to ensure that

         19  that happens.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I will also

         22  ask you to keep the applause down. It takes time

         23  from the folks that have to testify. And believe me,

         24  we have pages and pages of people to testify.

         25                 The Council members that are here

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  today with me, on my far left we have Council Member

          3  Alan Gerson, Council Member Kendall Stewart,

          4  Councilwoman Diana Reyna, Councilman Joel Rivera.

          5                 On my right, Council Member James

          6  Oddo, Council Member Robert Jackson. There are other

          7  members that were here and have left and will

          8  return.

          9                 The first folks testifying today will

         10  be Patricia Lancaster, Commissioner of the

         11  Department of Buildings, Matt Sapolin, Mayor's

         12  Office of Physical Disabilities, Peter Hayden, FDNY.

         13  And we will be joined by Shaun Donovan, who is a few

         14  minutes late, but as he comes in, he'll just come up

         15  and join the panel.

         16                 So, Ms. Lancaster, if you would like

         17  to start.

         18                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Good morning,

         19  Chairwoman Provenzano, and members of the Housing

         20  and Buildings Committee. I'm pleased to be here this

         21  morning to speak to you in support of Intro. 478,

         22  and about why the International Building Code is the

         23  best building code for the City of New York.

         24                 A building code is truly the backbone

         25  of a city. It's existence is noticeable in so many
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          2  aspects of our life. From the assembly of a

          3  single-family home in Staten Island, to the

          4  necessary renovations of a school in Queens, this

          5  impact is felt.

          6                 From the designs for a hotel to meet

          7  growing demands of economic growth in downtown

          8  Brooklyn, to constructing a much needed hospital in

          9  the Bronx, or to the development of a high-rise as

         10  it begins to tower over Midtown Manhattan, the

         11  building code provides a road map for each of these

         12  projects, while ensuring that safety is preserved.

         13                 Our City's building code is the

         14  foundation upon which safety, security and economic

         15  viability are ensured in our City, and it must be

         16  rock solid.

         17                 First established in 1850, New York's

         18  current building code is said to be the most

         19  stringent in the nation, which is good for public

         20  safety.

         21                 Unfortunately, it is also one of the

         22  most cumbersome, obscure and difficult to utilize

         23  building codes in the country. This has made it

         24  increasingly expensive to build in New York City and

         25  has created an impediment to growth and development.
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          2  It's also out of date.

          3                 The overall lack of clarity in our

          4  code is due in large part to the piecemeal manner in

          5  which it has been updated. Major amendments have

          6  generally resulted in reaction to tragic events,

          7  rather than from a proactive view of what our City

          8  needs from the building code.

          9                 Some examples of this include the

         10  Blue Angel fire in 1975 that left seven dead, which

         11  lead to the creation of the most comprehensive and

         12  rigorous place of assembly regulations in the

         13  country. And then the World Trade Center collapse

         14  led to the adoption of new standards for high-rise

         15  office construction and retrofit requirements that

         16  will increase the success of building evacuation.

         17                 While both of these amendments

         18  enhance the safety of our City, they were reactive.

         19  In fact, our building code has seen only two

         20  comprehensive overhauls in the last hundred years,

         21  and the last one, as Madeline mentioned, was 1968.

         22  That was a long, long time ago.

         23                 For example, in 1968, the Viacom

         24  building at 1515 Broadway was just constructed.

         25  Minimum wage was $1.60 an hour and the price of a
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          2  stamp was five cents. In 1968 the level of computing

          3  power that you hold in your cell phone was

          4  inconceivable, and those computers that did exist

          5  were so large that they could fill these Chambers.

          6                 The world has vastly changed over the

          7  last 36 years, and there have been few changes to

          8  our City's building code to reflect new ideas and

          9  new technologies.

         10                 It is time that we proactively and

         11  comprehensively embrace new technologies and

         12  processes to propel the City into the forefront of

         13  building code development.

         14                 We live in the greatest city in the

         15  world, and should have a building code that does

         16  justice to our extraordinary built environment.

         17                 Before you today are two bills:

         18  Intro. 478, introduced by Councilwoman Provenzano at

         19  the request of the Mayor reflects a commitment to

         20  the International Code Council's International

         21  Building Code or IBC. By contrast, Intro. 368

         22  reflects a commitment to the National Fire

         23  Protection Association NFPA 5000.

         24                 As Council Member Provenzano

         25  mentioned, two years ago the Administration and the
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          2  Council sponsored four months of assessment and

          3  deliberation over the prospect of adopting a model

          4  code, and if such prospect was found desirable,

          5  which one.

          6                 The Mayor's Advisory Commission on

          7  the adoption of a model building code was comprised

          8  of 15 members, including representatives of

          9  government, including the Council, labor and public

         10  and private sectors. It reviewed numerous technical

         11  provisions of the different code, heard

         12  presentations from both the International Code

         13  Council and the National Fire Protection

         14  Association, and conducted a public forum.

         15                 This Commission assessed both the ICC

         16  and the NFPA model codes in ten categories, and in

         17  May 2003, the Commission released its report,

         18  concluding that the ICC Code is superior to the NFPA

         19  Code in every way.

         20                 The report detailed the Commission's

         21  evaluation of the different codes, considering more

         22  than ten criteria, including ease of understanding,

         23  flexibility of upgrading, ease of adaptability to

         24  the unique requirements of New York City, and the

         25  training and support offered by each of the sponsor
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          2  organizations. This comprehensive analysis can be

          3  found on our website at NYC.GOV.

          4                 There has been a great deal of

          5  discussion about the relative pros and cons of these

          6  proposals, and perhaps there will be more.

          7                 But I think that in the final

          8  analysis, there are three critical reasons this

          9  Committee should follow the Mayor's Advisory

         10  Committee and cast their vote in favor of the IBC.

         11                 First of all, the proven track

         12  record. Second of all, the existing and excellent

         13  technical and administrative support, and lastly, a

         14  unified vision.

         15                 So, I'll talk first about the proven

         16  track record. The IBC is patterned on three legacy

         17  codes whose development is based on a combined 190

         18  years of experience throughout the nation. It is so

         19  widely accepted that the IBC is used in 44 states,

         20  including New York, New Jersey and Connecticut.

         21                 It is also utilized by the Federal

         22  Department of Defense, State and Commerce, as well

         23  as FEMA and other federal agencies.

         24                 By contrast, the NFPA 5000 is a new

         25  code, that was only recently published and does not
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          2  have the IBC's history. It was modeled on Disney's

          3  code for the construction of Epcot Center.

          4                 Unlike the IBC's broad acceptance,

          5  the NFPA is used in only two jurisdictions,

          6  Pasadena, Texas and Pittsfield, Maine in the United

          7  States, both of whom are smaller than New York City.

          8                 There are many examples of IBC's

          9  technical superiority. It specifies minimum opening

         10  sizes, for example, for exits serving stairwells,

         11  rooftops, to allow emergency personnel to obtain

         12  access to the building.

         13                 This is based on self-contained

         14  breathing apparatus, as worn by first responders.

         15  The NFPA does not state any specific requirements in

         16  this area.

         17                 The IBC meets and exceeds the fair

         18  housing accessibility guidelines. The NFPA fails to

         19  meet many federal accessibility standards. The IBC

         20  is a sister code to the international residential

         21  building code, with standards for one- and

         22  two-family construction. The NFPA has no such

         23  standards, and as a matter of fact, references the

         24  International Residential Code of the International

         25  Code Council for Residential Construction.
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          2                 And these are just a few small

          3  examples, but you'll hear many more from the

          4  technical committee chairmen and women, scheduled to

          5  testify before you today.

          6                 If there is any question that IBC

          7  provides a first rate basis for safety, I want to

          8  share with you the proven track record of the IBC as

          9  it relates to public safety.

         10                 A recent study conducted by the

         11  Portland Cement Associate, an independent industry

         12  supplier, showed that the level of safety provided

         13  by the IBC was superior to the level of safety

         14  provided by the NFPA in many areas that impact

         15  firefighter safety, including the following: Exit

         16  stair enclosures, shaft enclosures, sprinkle

         17  thresholds for assembly occupancies in apartments,

         18  firewall ratings and materials, exterior

         19  load-bearing and non-load-bearing wall rating,

         20  exterior wall parapets, combustability of cladding

         21  on exterior walls. Thus, there is no basis for the

         22  contention that the IBC treat safety for first

         23  responders any differently than the NFPA.

         24                 I would never recommend a code for

         25  the City of New York that compromises public safety

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  or the safety of emergency management personnel.

          3                 Today, you will also hear from

          4  officials from the State of New York, and thank them

          5  for coming.

          6                 As you know, the State adopted the

          7  IBC last year. It's representatives will discuss

          8  with you a provision of the State law that governs

          9  the way the City's building code interacts with the

         10  State code. This is complicated, so I want you to

         11  understand.

         12                 Under State law New York City's

         13  building code governs the City. However, in

         14  accordance with a provision of the State Executive

         15  Law, the State Code Council has the power to

         16  evaluate the City Building Code.

         17                 If it finds that the City code is

         18  significantly less stringent than the State code, it

         19  may act to require compliance with the State code.

         20                 We understand that if the State were

         21  to conduct such a review of the NFPA 5000, as

         22  proposed for adoption in Intro. 368, it would find

         23  the NFPA significantly less restrictive in the State

         24  Code, in several major disciplines of construction.

         25  And here is the result.
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          2                 If Intro. 368 were enacted in its

          3  present form, the State Council might initiate

          4  proceedings to require the City code to yield to the

          5  State code and the State would become enmeshed in

          6  the City code development. And I don't think the

          7  City Council wants that.

          8                 By contrast, in light of the State's

          9  adoption of the IBC, the City's adoption of the IBC,

         10  particularly with our more restrictive modifications

         11  that we're developing, would enable the City to

         12  continue to be governed by its own code.

         13                 Supporters of 368 might respond to

         14  such a problem by offering to amend that bill to

         15  capture the restrictive modifications we have been

         16  developing over the last year and a half. As a

         17  practical matter, that may not be so easy.

         18                 The work product of the technical

         19  committees to the extent that it embodies text

         20  authored by the ICC could not be simply lifted for

         21  incorporation into NFPA, without opening the City to

         22  possible liability claims for copyright

         23  infringement.

         24                 Any effort to amend NFPA to

         25  adequately address the unique built environment of
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          2  New York City, might set the code modernization

          3  project back almost two years, and the people of the

          4  New York City deserve better than that.

          5                 Based on the ICC's proven track

          6  record, both from a process and a substantive

          7  perspective, the IBC code is a far superior document

          8  whose punctual adoption will significantly enhance

          9  public safety in terms of construction in New York.

         10                 Now I'll talk about the strong

         11  technical and administrative support of the IBC.

         12                 I would like to address the revision

         13  process, an element in the support equation about

         14  which I believe there has been some confusion. The

         15  entire ICC family of codes is on the same revision

         16  schedule, whereas not all NFPA standards are revised

         17  on a synchronized basis. The IBC revision process

         18  would help the City's code keep pace with new

         19  technologies and code development trends. Both

         20  processes contemplate that the Department of

         21  Buildings would be in the vehicle through which

         22  changes would come before the Council, and both

         23  processes would result in the need for City Council

         24  actions to make changes to our local code, just as

         25  it does now.
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          2                 Thus, neither the ICC, nor the NFPA,

          3  threatens to overtake the executive and legislative

          4  functions of the Department or the Council.

          5                 Beyond that, however, ICC promises

          6  far better in technical administrative for support

          7  resources.

          8                 First, it has technical products on

          9  which the City as a member can draw.

         10                 Second, ICC has a full program of

         11  training and certification that enable our

         12  inspectors, our plan examiners, code officials and

         13  the filing community to benefit from the diverse

         14  experience of the 350-person ICC staff.

         15                 Finally, we are pursuing and expect

         16  to complete an agreement with the ICC that will

         17  result in the publications of the City's code of the

         18  single integrated user-friendly form.

         19                 Our experience with the NFPA stands

         20  in sharp contrast to this. As you may recall, the

         21  City's recent update of its electrical code

         22  incorporated the National Electrical Code, a product

         23  of the NFPA.

         24                 We were disappointed by NFPA's

         25  failure to provide our electrical inspectors the
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          2  promised training.

          3                 Additionally, the NFPA refused to

          4  agree to turn to publication that would have ensured

          5  a single volume integrated text.

          6                 Rather, we were forced to adopt a

          7  publication mode that references technical standards

          8  in an entirely separate document, leaving

          9  practitioners with the need to juggle administrative

         10  provisions into one publication and technical

         11  provisions in another.

         12                 The ICC will ease the transition for

         13  Code officials to new codes through already

         14  established and proven handbooks, commentary study

         15  guide, along with a full array of audiovisual

         16  training aids.

         17                 The ICC has a training structure

         18  already in place -- and actually, I've taken

         19  advantage of some of it -- and ready for deployment.

         20                 Third, the unified vision. The

         21  unified vision of modernizing our City's building

         22  code involves much more than keeping pace with new

         23  materials and technology.

         24                 Division extends to the tangible

         25  benefits that will be realized by the adoption of a
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          2  code that will add clarity and uniformity to our

          3  City's design and construction processes.

          4                 Since the Mayoral Advisory Commission

          5  issued its report, the Buildings Department has led

          6  the massive effort that is the NYC Model Code

          7  Program. Over 400 professionals from labor, the real

          8  estate industry, registered architects and

          9  professional engineers and government have been

         10  working on 13 technical committees to conduct

         11  line-by-line reviews of the current building code in

         12  the IBC.

         13                 They each bring their own perspective

         14  to the table, yet each is committed to working in

         15  good faith, to producing a safe, efficient and

         16  affordable building code.

         17                 This whole model code program and its

         18  members are committed to adopting a code that makes

         19  it safer, easier and cheaper to build in New York

         20  City.

         21                 Given its comprehensiveness, its ease

         22  of use, its flexibility in adapting to local

         23  conditions, and its extensive support structure, IBC

         24  promises to make this combined vision a reality.

         25                 Included in this vision is a promise
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          2  to encourage the growth of affordable housing,

          3  stimulate economic development, and most

          4  importantly, enhance public safety.

          5                 These benefits will emerge as a

          6  result of various factors, such as the ability to

          7  use modern materials and techniques as of right. The

          8  ability to use a model code that is understood by a

          9  broad spectrum of design and construction

         10  professionals who use it elsewhere, and ultimately

         11  the savings that will result from a code that is

         12  clear and more easily understood.

         13                 The proposals competing today are

         14  quite complex. As your City's Building Commissioner,

         15  I have concerns if this Council does not move

         16  forward with our model code program.

         17                 I wholeheartedly believe, in my

         18  professional opinion as a registered architect, and

         19  in my capacity as the Buildings Commissioner, that

         20  New York City will benefit from the adoption of the

         21  International Building Code with New York City's

         22  specific standards.

         23                 I have no reason to press this

         24  Committee to support the IBC. No stake, other than

         25  what I believe to be the City's best interests. I

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  ask that you support 478, and let's work together to

          3  make New York City a better place to live, work and

          4  build. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

          6  Commissioner.

          7                 Shaun, we're glad you made it. Do you

          8  want to be next?

          9                 Shaun Donovan, Commissioner of

         10  Housing Preservation and Development.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Madam

         12  Chairwoman and all the Committee, good morning.

         13  Thank you for having us here today. I'm Shaun

         14  Donovan, the Commissioner of Housing Preservation

         15  and Development, and it is a pleasure to be here.

         16                 Your review of Intro. 478 represents

         17  the culmination of more than two years of hard work.

         18  As you have heard in earlier testimony, precisely

         19  two years ago today, Mayor Bloomberg created an

         20  Advisory Commission, in cooperation with the City

         21  Council's Housing and Buildings Committee, to review

         22  New York City's outdated Building Code, which has

         23  not been updated since 1968.

         24                 Today the New York City Building Code

         25  is a bulky, 700-page plus document, which has over
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          2  35 years of amendments.

          3                 The Department of Buildings

          4  continually works to improve the interpretation and

          5  implementation of Building Code requirements, as

          6  well as creating an efficient time line for the

          7  review and approval process, yet the process is

          8  still burdensome and time-consuming, which has an

          9  especially high cost for affordable housing

         10  developers.

         11                 The City is very lucky to have a

         12  Commissioner of Buildings who is so determined to

         13  improve the quality of agency-wide operations.

         14  Commissioner Lancaster has been an outstanding

         15  leader in this effort and a gracious, thoughtful

         16  public servant.

         17                 The bill before you for consideration

         18  is the result of a very thoughtful analysis. The

         19  Commission worked diligently to determine the best

         20  course of action for adopting a model code for New

         21  York City.

         22                 Technical staff at my agency spent

         23  four months working under the direction of the

         24  Commission, assessing each code, and we can attest

         25  to the exhaustive nature of the review that was
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          2  completed.

          3                 The Commission found that the

          4  organization of the International Building Code 2000

          5  is superior to NFPA 5000, and similar, yet superior

          6  to New York City's building code.

          7                 The Commission reported that the IBC

          8  layout is clear, covers all disciplines in the same

          9  format, and offers up-to-date electronic

         10  information.

         11                 In addition, the International

         12  Building Code uses updated formulas, new technology

         13  and data, and is committed to updating every three

         14  years. The Commission is most impressed with the

         15  IBC's flexibility to suit the unique conditions of

         16  New York City.

         17                 It is also worth noting that studies

         18  show there would be cost savings if IBC were

         19  adopted, whereas NPA 5000 may cost more due to

         20  increased regulation.

         21                 These issues are critical in the

         22  arena of affordable housing development.

         23                 Clear standards that are updated

         24  regularly allow us to take advantage of advances in

         25  technology, cost savings as new materials are
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          2  introduced, and most importantly, clarity and

          3  transparency in plan approval.

          4                 Now, at the end of a very long and

          5  thorough process, we have a bill that is worthy of

          6  your support.

          7                 We all realize that New York City

          8  needs a building code that can keep up with

          9  technological advancements, prioritize safety, and

         10  offer cost efficient results.

         11                 Intro. 478 is a blueprint for

         12  adopting such a system. In closing, let me reiterate

         13  how important it is to adopt a model building code

         14  that offers transparency and clarity, if we hope to

         15  achieve our shared goal of creating more affordable

         16  housing in New York City.

         17                 As you know, Mayor Bloomberg is

         18  committed to building and preserving 65,000 units of

         19  affordable housing by 2008, through his $3 billion

         20  new Housing Marketplace Plan.

         21                 While these resources are critical,

         22  we must also strive to remove the barriers to

         23  residential construction. The Administration has

         24  focused our efforts on rezoning in more

         25  manufacturing areas where residential development is
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          2  appropriate, as well as collaborating with other

          3  land-holding public agencies to identify new

          4  development sites.

          5                 Our efforts are making a difference.

          6  So far this year the City has issued over 17,000

          7  permits for new residential development, an increase

          8  of more than 400 percent in the last decade.

          9                 Adopting a model code such as IBC

         10  will be a critical step in eliminating obstacles to

         11  development, adding opportunity for even more

         12  housing across the City.

         13                 I thank you for your time and look

         14  forward to your support on this important

         15  initiative. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

         17  Commissioner.

         18                 Who is going next? The Chief is going

         19  next?

         20                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I guess so.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         22                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Good morning,

         23  Chairperson Provenzano and Council members. My name

         24  is Peter Hayden. I'm Chief of the Department of New

         25  York City Fire Department.
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          2                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          3  speak with you today to express the FDNY's strong

          4  support for the adoption of the International

          5  Building Code and related international codes as the

          6  City's new building code.

          7                 The Fire Department served on the

          8  Mayor's Advisory Commission on revising the New York

          9  City Building Code.

         10                 The Code Commission carefully

         11  evaluated the IBC and the National Fire Protection

         12  Association model code, and in 2003 recommended

         13  adoption of the IBC and related model codes of the

         14  International Codes Council.

         15                 The Code Commission concluded that

         16  the new building code, based on the IBC, would, (a)

         17  be clear and accessible to the user, (b) have a

         18  structure familiar to developers and professionals

         19  practicing in other jurisdictions around the

         20  country, so as to open up New York City to the best

         21  modern practice and technologies, and (c) be

         22  periodically updated to a process open to all, or

         23  controlled by code officials of member jurisdictions

         24  whose primary interest is public safety.

         25                 In recommending the IBC, the Code
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          2  Commission nonetheless recognized that any model

          3  code would need to be amended to address the safety

          4  concerns associated with the dense urban environment

          5  that is unique to New York City.

          6                 Accordingly, the Department of

          7  Buildings brought together government officials and

          8  representatives from the building industry to

          9  participate in the process of amending of IBC for

         10  New York City.

         11                 The FDNY has been an active

         12  participant in its expansive and unprecedented

         13  undertaking which represents a major milestone in

         14  the City's efforts to modernize this building code.

         15                 Our concern has been to ensure that

         16  the new code will serve to protect the safety of the

         17  public and our firefighters.

         18                 We assigned 15 chief officers to the

         19  technical committees established by the Department

         20  of Buildings. These chief officers brought the FDNY

         21  public safety perspectives to the building code

         22  revision process.

         23                 Thus far, I believe all of the

         24  participants in the building code revision process

         25  have shown a strong commitment to a new code that
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          2  enhances public safety.

          3                 Those who share our concern for

          4  public safety should not be diverted by arguments,

          5  as to the respective merits of each of the model

          6  codes.

          7                 The code revision process is designed

          8  to ensure that the document be proposed as a New

          9  York City building code, will incorporate safety

         10  standards appropriate for New York City.

         11                 On the other hand, what is

         12  irresponsible, even reckless, is proposing to enact

         13  a model code, in this case the NFP 5000, without

         14  amendment.

         15                 No modeling code ensures the level of

         16  safety that the New York City building code

         17  currently provides.

         18                 Model codes are written for a variety

         19  of environments, with the understanding that they

         20  can and will be tailored to the needs of the

         21  particular jurisdiction.

         22                 The Department of Buildings, the

         23  FDNY, private industry and other participants in the

         24  Building Code Revision Project have devoted over a

         25  year to tailoring the IBC for adoption in New York
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          2  City.

          3                 As a result, there is a strong

          4  momentum for modernizing the City's building code.

          5                 To obstruct that progress at this

          6  juncture by proposing a bill that would enact a

          7  model code outright, without the necessary changes

          8  to ensure public safety, is terribly misguided, and

          9  may defeat all the efforts that have been made to

         10  date to achieve code revision.

         11                 In short, the IBC is the best option

         12  for advancing public safety in New York City.

         13                 The FDNY therefore fully supports

         14  Intro. 478, the blueprint legislation proposed by

         15  the Department of Buildings, that sets out a time

         16  frame for the adoption of a new building code and

         17  periodic updating.

         18                 One additional point. The Fire

         19  Department has undertaken a Fire Code revision

         20  project to modernize the City's fire prevention

         21  code, and will be utilizing the IBC's counterpart,

         22  the International Fire Code.

         23                 We will shortly be seeking the

         24  introduction of the local law similar to Intro. 478,

         25  that would establish a legislative commitment to
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          2  fire code revision and provide a schedule for

          3  submission of code revision legislation.

          4                 The Department of Buildings

          5  appropriately have provision of the fire code to the

          6  FDNY. With the Department of Buildings having

          7  adopted the IBC as its model code, it only made

          8  sense to select the IFC.

          9                 The IBC and the IFC are overlapping

         10  and intensively cross-referenced, and it would make

         11  little sense to utilize a model code that would

         12  require thousands of hours simply to conform it to

         13  the organization, language and format of another

         14  model code.

         15                 However, we would invest that time if

         16  we thought that there was a safety advantage to

         17  utilizing the other model codes.

         18                 We do not believe that there is. It

         19  might come as a surprise to some that the IBC, the

         20  IFC and other international codes reference industry

         21  standards, including those promulgated by the

         22  American National Standards Institute, the American

         23  Society of Testing of Materials, Underwriters

         24  Laboratories, and the NFPA.

         25                 Both the IBC and the IFC incorporate
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          2  dozens of NFPA standards.

          3                 I bring this out to emphasize that

          4  the real issue is not whether the IBC or the NFPA

          5  better protects public safety, but whether the code

          6  revision process, by which any model code is

          7  amended, will take into consideration existing and

          8  developing standards for the safety of the public

          9  and the firefighters.

         10                 We are confident that the building

         11  code revision process and the fire code revision

         12  project that we are undertaking will result in new

         13  codes that will ensure a level of safety that

         14  exceeds either model code.

         15                 Thus, the choice at this time is not

         16  between one or the other codes, but whether the

         17  efforts of many to develop a modern building code by

         18  amending the IBC to meet New York City safety

         19  standards will be discarded in favor of a proposed

         20  local law that would enact unamended a competing

         21  model code that falls well below those standards.

         22                 Thank you for allowing me to speak

         23  today. I would be happy to answer any questions at

         24  this time.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Matthew, are
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          2  you next?

          3                 MR. SAPOLIN: Yes.

          4                 Good morning, Madam Chairwoman and

          5  Members of the Committee. My name is Matthew

          6  Sapolin. I am the Executive Director of the Mayor's

          7  Office of People With Disabilities. In that role I

          8  serve as the key policy advisor to the City of New

          9  York on issues affecting people with disabilities

         10  here in our City, as well as the voice of the

         11  disabled community to the Administration.

         12                 I also have the pleasure of coming

         13  before you today as the Chair of one of the

         14  technical committees. That would be the Technical

         15  Committee on Accessibility, which in the

         16  International Building Code is Chapter 11.

         17                 Commissioner Lancaster asked me to

         18  chair that committee after the Blue Ribbon

         19  Commission had decided which model code it would

         20  adopt.

         21                 Since that time, with the support of

         22  the Department of Buildings and the community, we

         23  have compiled a comprehensive team of individuals to

         24  help review the content of the IBC and our existing

         25  code to marry the two to best prepare the content of
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          2  that Chapter to meet the needs of New York City as

          3  it relates to accessibility for people with

          4  disabilities.

          5                 Our Committee is comprised of

          6  individuals from the architectural profession, the

          7  Real Estate Board of New York, the Building Owners

          8  and Management Association, the United Spinal

          9  Association, which is an organization representing

         10  people with disabilities, the Disability Network of

         11  New York City and other disability-related groups

         12  representing numerous membership of people with

         13  disabilities here in our City, as well as many

         14  others who have dedicated many hours of their time

         15  to make this code as comprehensive and inclusive as

         16  possible, to assure that the needs of people with

         17  disabilities would be taken into consideration.

         18                 Also, to assure that the code

         19  provided clarity for those designing and developing

         20  in our City.

         21                 To that extent, we believe that to

         22  date we have been able to review all of the content

         23  of Chapter 11, and come up with a comprehensive

         24  draft to be submitted in the phases of Intro. 478,

         25  that takes into consideration the specific and
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          2  unique needs of New York City in its existing

          3  construction and in its new development.

          4                 Let me talk a little bit about one of

          5  the reasons why people with disabilities, the IBC

          6  and the ICC process is one that is beneficial to

          7  people with disabilities.

          8                 This is a code that has been used and

          9  modified in, as the Commissioner said, more than 40

         10  states around the country, with input from people

         11  with disabilities.

         12                 The importance of that is that people

         13  with disabilities have an opportunity to test and

         14  try those design features in the community and come

         15  back every several years to provide feedback to the

         16  ICC in each of these municipalities, to determine

         17  what needs to be improved, and what specifications

         18  are usable and acceptable to the community.

         19                 This process is important, because

         20  for so long people with disabilities were left out

         21  of the development of the building code and the

         22  other important codes and infrastructures that we

         23  use on a day-to-day basis.

         24                 The ability to revise a code every

         25  three years, provides an excellent opportunity for
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          2  people with disabilities to do just that. Work with

          3  the developers to come up with reasonable solutions

          4  to access issues.

          5                 The other benefits of the ICC is that

          6  it clearly separates existing structures, from new

          7  construction, unlike the NFPA which lumps all of

          8  that together, and that becomes confusing to the

          9  user of the code, to the designer.

         10                 That would be like opening a cookbook

         11  and looking in the bread section and finding a

         12  recipe for soup. It becomes rather confusing. And,

         13  so, the IBC does an excellent job of separating

         14  those two existing and new construction.

         15                 The other thing the IBC does, it

         16  provides clarity through definitions and through

         17  scoping that maximizes accessibility for people with

         18  disabilities. Where the NFPA uses words, for

         19  example, like feasible and infeasible, when allowing

         20  designers to stray from the requirements of

         21  accessibility in modifications to existing

         22  structures.

         23                 Let me take a couple of seconds to

         24  just touch on a few specifics that the IBC and NFPA

         25  differ and where the IBC provides greater access to
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          2  people with disabilities.

          3                 The IBC astutely separates various

          4  use groups, such as nursing homes, hospitals,

          5  dormitories, and other facilities that are crucial

          6  infrastructures for people with disabilities, into

          7  its own groups providing accessibility provisions

          8  for each, where the NFPA lumps all of those

          9  together, providing no clarity and no directions for

         10  the designer, minimizing access to those important

         11  structures in our cities.

         12                 Further, the NFPA lumps together

         13  issues regarding access to entrances, circulation

         14  routes, creating confusion for the designer.

         15                 And finally, the NFPA provides

         16  opportunities for designers to create ramps with

         17  slopes as steep as one to six in historical

         18  institutions. And what that means, for example, is

         19  the standard ramp is a slope of one to 12, and so,

         20  one to six is a difficult slope for people with

         21  disabilities to use.

         22                 In closing, what I would like to say

         23  is thank you for the opportunity to come and support

         24  Intro. 478. Recognizing that this is a code that has

         25  been looked at carefully, has an ongoing
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          2  continualist quality improvement mechanism built

          3  into it, and is a code that the people with

          4  disabilities will create greater opportunities for

          5  housing, employment, and full participation in our

          6  City's life.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          9                 We've also been joined by other

         10  Council members. Council Member Gale Brewer, Council

         11  Member Yvette Clarke, Council Member Melinda Katz. I

         12  thought I saw Council Member Michael Nelson.

         13                 Okay, we'll take questions now from

         14  the panel.

         15                 Councilwoman Brewer.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 My question is more on the process. I

         19  know, Commissioner Lancaster, you talked about it a

         20  little bit in your second point. But I want to

         21  understand, and I appreciate your going through the

         22  legislation with us and I also support and

         23  appreciate the work taken by some of the unions to

         24  go through their side of the story. So, I had tried

         25  to listen, and I have a big pile here of letters and
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          2  I appreciate all of them. I think most of the letter

          3  writers are in the audience today.

          4                 But my question is the process. One

          5  of the issues that is brought up is regarding

          6  international, is the process. Now, it does indicate

          7  that public officials are very much a part of the

          8  national discussion. Now, when Commission Lancaster

          9  is in charge, that's a good thing. But I worry about

         10  the future, if somebody as good as you is not in

         11  charge of our City, in terms of the Building

         12  Department.

         13                 So, how does a broader perspective,

         14  or are there ways you could think of that it would

         15  be a different process?

         16                 But first I want to understand what

         17  you consider the process for adoption, both

         18  nationally and then when it comes to New York City.

         19  And then the question is, one of the sticking points

         20  seems to be between the two, is what exactly could

         21  be a process that might have more input.

         22                 I know you had a huge number of

         23  people, I think 400 or some large number on the

         24  local advisory board. But you know, it's a question

         25  of who actually makes a decision as opposed to who
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          2  is on the advisory board?

          3                 I just want to understand that. And

          4  even people, just so you know who support your

          5  perspective, have indicated to me that there could

          6  be a different process. Thank you.

          7                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Thank you,

          8  Council Member Brewer.

          9                 The process at the national level for

         10  the NFPA and the IBC is different. However, the real

         11  answer to your question is that either model code

         12  would come through the Building Department to the

         13  Council just as it does now for adoption.

         14                 There is some notion that if the

         15  Council didn't accept the revision from the national

         16  level or didn't want to enact it, that they would

         17  get them shoved down their throat? That is

         18  absolutely incorrect.

         19                 The Council will be in charge of

         20  passing whatever revisions are put forward.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: With all due

         22  respect to my colleagues, we're not engineers, and I

         23  would think that we could think about policy, but I

         24  don't know that I have enough expertise to know

         25  about fire walls or the different aspects of a safe
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          2  building. But I do think that there are people in

          3  the audience, and, obviously, yourself, I guess what

          4  I'm saying is that there is a process on the

          5  national level that does include much more of a

          6  public official and not a broader perspective.

          7                 So, I guess what you're saying is, it

          8  will, when the last resort of course will be a

          9  public discussion, such as this every, I think it's

         10  three years or whatever the time period is, but the

         11  fact of the matter is, I don't think I'm the best

         12  decision-maker on this topic. Other topics, yes. But

         13  not this one.

         14                 So, I need people, a broader

         15  perspective, to be the actual decision-makers

         16  perhaps at the highest level. I'm just wondering if

         17  there, you know, under the international code, is

         18  there some way of changing that? Or is that a pretty

         19  steadfast method in terms of the process?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: I guess the

         21  answer to your question is that, first of all, to

         22  restress that the Council will have the final say on

         23  any building code revisions. And in practical way,

         24  what ends up happening is that most things are

         25  non-controversial or consensus, and that the ones
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          2  that are controversial are the ones that would come

          3  to your attention and get it, you know, hear both

          4  sides of the argument before making a determination.

          5                 With that said, the national process

          6  for both codes involve the ability of people to

          7  submit revisions, and for the revisions to be heard

          8  and for the people to determine whether they should

          9  be incorporated into the model code.

         10                 Once the model code is submitted to

         11  the City, or, you know, comes out, 2003 is now out,

         12  it will go through our local committee for

         13  processing, and we will make it then a

         14  recommendation to the Council.

         15                 So, no matter which model code were

         16  to be enacted, the process would be that it would

         17  come through the Building Department committees,

         18  which would be standing committees. Now, the

         19  membership may change somewhat from year-to-year, or

         20  whatever, but the committees will be in charge of

         21  reviewing the technical revisions to either model

         22  code were it to pass, and then making a

         23  recommendation to the City Council.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         25                 Thank you, Madam Chair. I may come
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          2  back later with more questions, but thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          4                 Council Member Oddo.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

          6  Chair.

          7                 Good morning, commissioners and

          8  chief.

          9                 Commissioner Lancaster, on page five

         10  of your testimony, you made a point that I find very

         11  interesting. You mentioned the fact that there is a

         12  provision in the State law for this State Fire

         13  Prevention and Building Code Council, to kind of

         14  step in if they deem our building code insufficient.

         15                 I'm the only member of the City

         16  Council who is actually a member of the State Fire

         17  Prevention Building Code Council, so I find that

         18  point to be particularly salient.

         19                 You say in the testimony, quote, "we

         20  understand that if the State were to conduct such a

         21  review, it would find that finding of significantly

         22  less restrictive." Could you explain how you came to

         23  understand that? Is that a rumor that's floating

         24  about? Is that a result of direct conversations with

         25  the folks Upstate?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Yes, it's a

          3  result of a direct conversation with the folks up

          4  from the State, and actually I believe it's included

          5  in their testimony, which they're here and you'll

          6  hear that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

          8                 Could you just explain what the -- or

          9  if you'd prefer, I would wait to hear from those

         10  folks, what that process would be at that point?

         11                 If you want to defer to them, that's

         12  fine.

         13                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Are you

         14  talking about the --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Let's say we

         16  passed the NFPA, the state --

         17                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Comes in.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes, comes in.

         19  Could you explain that process?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Then they

         21  would mandate that we follow the State code, and the

         22  State code is not amended to reflect the denser of

         23  an environment of New York City. And I think further

         24  than that, let me let the State take that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.
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          2                 One other question, Madam Chair. Two

          3  quick questions for the chief.

          4                 Well, one's a question, one's a

          5  statement. Again, having served on the Fire

          6  Prevention Building Code Council, I've heard from

          7  members of that body, they've raised some of the

          8  similar concerns that you have, in terms of the City

          9  passing amendments to the Fire Code and having that

         10  consistency between the codes, so I think that's a

         11  salient point that you made.

         12                 But, let me just ask you one

         13  question. You stressed in your testimony time and

         14  time again about public safety. Could you speculate

         15  as to why you believe the Firefighters Union is not

         16  supporting the code that you're supporting and why

         17  they have adamantly come out in favor of the NFPA?

         18                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I think you would have

         19  to ask them that.

         20                 We're strongly in favor of Intro. 478

         21  because it allows for modifications to the building

         22  code that will provide for public and firefighter

         23  safety.

         24                 For instance, the local laws that

         25  exist in New York City, Local Law 5 would be

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  incorporated into the new building code, which would

          3  belie for fire and high-rise safety.

          4                 Local Law 26, the World Trade Center

          5  bill, will be incorporated into the new building

          6  code.

          7                 Local Law 7 was just recently

          8  enacted, the carbon monoxide detector bill, would be

          9  incorporated in there.

         10                 If there is a resistance on the part

         11  of either UFA or the UFOA for the adoption of the

         12  IBC, you would have to ask them specifically what

         13  their objections are to that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Fair enough. But

         15  let me ask you this: Does it trouble you that rank

         16  and file of your Department is so adamantly opposed

         17  to the position that the Department is taking?

         18                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I haven't spoken

         19  extensively, in fact very little about their

         20  position on this. I'd be interested to hear what

         21  they had to say in a public forum.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Fair enough.

         23  Thank you, Madam Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         25                 Council Member Rivera.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you very

          3  much, Madam Chair.

          4                 Thank you, ladies and gentlemen, for

          5  joining us here, and the panel, and thank you to

          6  everybody for coming out.

          7                 It is a very important issue, the

          8  building code here in the City of New York, because

          9  it ultimately comes down to safety, and we want to

         10  make sure that we have a very safe environment.

         11                 And that's why I have to concur with

         12  my colleague, Gale Brewer, that I actually do not

         13  want to enter a bill being that I designed. I want

         14  to make sure the professionals are the ones in the

         15  implementation and the process to make sure that the

         16  buildings that we enter are indeed safe.

         17                 In terms of process. My first

         18  question, I guess, to either Commissioner or to

         19  Chief or to Matthew, would be does the ICC afford

         20  the opportunity for labor to be a part of the

         21  decision-making process? And how so? Is it a voting

         22  process? Is it a majority process? How does the

         23  process work in that level? Before it comes to us in

         24  the City Council.

         25                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: The 13
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          2  technical committees are inclusive in nature and

          3  consensus building in their process. So, we have

          4  repeatedly requested that labor be part of the

          5  technical committee and indeed some labor is part of

          6  the technical committee. They're welcome.

          7                 It's not a voting process. It's a

          8  negotiation process, and a balancing of the

          9  different concerns at the table. We believe that the

         10  process can be as successful as it was during the

         11  National Electrical Code, so when it came to the

         12  City Council it passed 51 to zero.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay. Now, so

         14  that affords the opportunity for labor to

         15  participate within the process you say.

         16                 Now, in terms of more substantive

         17  issues, with the easement, the egress and the

         18  firewall, are there differences substantively

         19  between the IBC and the NFPA 5000 in terms of the

         20  access, easy accessibility for first responders for

         21  that egress, in terms of for the ground on up, is it

         22  the same width? And for the firewall, are they the

         23  same number of hours in between that's afforded for

         24  the IBC firewall criteria, or from the NFPA firewall

         25  criteria? Or is there any differences that matter?
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          2                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I don't know the

          3  specifics when you're comparing an NFPA and the IBCs

          4  specifically on the ratings that you're talking

          5  about. I don't have that in front of me.

          6                 The one issue I can address is, as

          7  far as the NFPA 5000 goes, there is a lack of a

          8  specific size standard for opening serving stairs to

          9  the roof. There's a statement for the National

         10  Multiple Housing Committee that this will jeopardize

         11  access by Fire Department personnel, and that goes

         12  directly to safety of firefighters, and that's in

         13  the NFPA 5000.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.

         15                 There is also a statement,

         16  Commissioner O'Donovan, that you stated that IBC

         17  code would allow for a reduction in cost for

         18  affordable housing, how does that happen? How does

         19  that actually take place?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: First of all,

         21  based on information in the State of New Jersey, and

         22  the best information that we have in the rest of the

         23  State of New York, we believe that there's a

         24  reduction potentially between about six and 12

         25  percent, in terms of cost of construction that would
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          2  be achieved.

          3                 But most important, more important

          4  than any reduction in the actual construction cost

          5  themselves, is the improvement in clarity, and

          6  consistency in IBC.

          7                 To allow professional developers who

          8  are coming in to develop affordable housing, to

          9  understand exactly what the requirements are going

         10  to be, to access them in a much more efficient way,

         11  would actually speed up the process of development

         12  significantly. As you know, time is money in

         13  development, and to be able to speed up the process,

         14  shorten the amount of time, and increase clarity in

         15  the development process is perhaps the most

         16  important benefit that we would get, and that would

         17  clearly lower the cost of construction overall, and

         18  in fact, probably beyond whatever actual

         19  construction cost productions there would be due to

         20  materials or anything else.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: And that is

         22  not found in the NFPA, that cost-saving measure, or

         23  no?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: It does not

         25  have the same benefits in terms of lowering cost, as
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          2  far as our best information.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay. Well,

          4  once again, thank you very much, ladies and

          5  gentlemen.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

          7  Member Jackson.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

          9  Madam Chair.

         10                 Chief Hayden, I'm a little surprised

         11  at some of your responses, considering the fact that

         12  you are the representative of the Fire Department of

         13  the City of New York, where over 250 firefighters

         14  died in the World Trade Center. I needed to comment

         15  on that, because --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Excuse me,

         17  Robert.

         18                 I have asked you to hold the

         19  applause. This is not a play, this is not an

         20  amusement here. This is a serious hearing. You are

         21  asked to sit and listen, and not to curse.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I agree

         23  with the Chair. By applauding one way or the other,

         24  you take away from the time from the hearing. And

         25  these are serious deliberations, and I know you're
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          2  here for one side or the other, but, you know, this

          3  is not a theater. So, I'm just asking you to

          4  please...

          5                 But, Chief, I'm really surprised, and

          6  let me tell you why I'm surprised. And I am not a

          7  member of FDNY. But I have talked to members of

          8  FDNY, and as a Chief of the Department, representing

          9  the Fire Department, I sit here, I sat here and

         10  listened to your testimony, and I'm very, very

         11  surprised that you did not consult concerning all of

         12  these hearings, technical committees, with the

         13  Uniformed Firefighters Association, and the

         14  Uniformed Firefighters Officers Association, which

         15  represents your rank and file in the field.

         16                 And for you to also not be aware from

         17  the information that I have been provided, that the

         18  firewall, the difference between the FDN -- I mean

         19  the International Building Code, a three-hour

         20  firewall, and NFPA, a four-hour fire wall, and

         21  basically for the average person of the public, they

         22  will be hopefully out of the building within five or

         23  ten minutes, if there's a fire.

         24                 But the individuals that will be in

         25  there, stuck in the building hours after, which the
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          2  firewall protects, are the first responders, and

          3  those majority are firefighters. And for you not to

          4  know the difference in the four hours and three

          5  hours, and to bring that forward and to respond to

          6  my colleague's question, leaves a lot to be desired.

          7                 In addition, in addition, with

          8  respect to, let me ask you a question: What is the

          9  difference, if you know, between height in the

         10  corridors of the hallways between the International

         11  Building Code and the NFPA code?

         12                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I don't have the

         13  information for that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: It's my

         15  understanding, information that's given to me by the

         16  NFPA, that International Building Code, minimum

         17  ceiling requirements in the stairwells -- not

         18  stairwells, in the hallways, is seven feet. And the

         19  NFPA is seven feet six inches, another half a foot.

         20  And from everything that I know as a layperson, when

         21  responding to a fire, you know, the difference in

         22  the height of a ceiling allows the smoke, if it's

         23  lower allows the smoke to access individuals in

         24  their throats and lungs much quicker. And these are

         25  matters that really I expect the experts in the
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          2  field, you, and others, to be able to know and to be

          3  able to communicate that with clarity, because these

          4  are important issues that affect us here in New York

          5  City if there's a fire, and also affect the first

          6  responders more so.

          7                 So, I would like you, if you could

          8  respond to any of those comments.

          9                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I would like to respond

         10  to all of the comments you made, you said a lot.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Please.

         12                 CHIEF HAYDEN: First of all, when you

         13  say that, there were 343 firefighters killed, not

         14  250 on 9/11, I was working on that day on 9/11, I

         15  worked for six months involved in the rescuing and

         16  recovery operations, there is no one more committed

         17  to firefighter safety than I am.

         18                 I will repeat. There is no one more

         19  committed to firefighter safety than I am. To imply

         20  that, I take exception to that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I know that

         22  --

         23                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I let you finish, now

         24  you let me finish.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, I will
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          2  let you finish. But I disagree with your statement.

          3  There are hundreds and hundreds of people that are

          4  just as committed as you are.

          5                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, then let me

          6  finish my statement, as I allowed you to finish your

          7  statement.

          8                 Your implication that I am not

          9  concerned about firefighter safety is erroneous and

         10  misguided --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That was not

         12  the implication, sir. The implication was you should

         13  know the information that was asked of you as the

         14  Chief of the Department representing FDNY. That's

         15  the implication.

         16                 CHIEF HAYDEN: There are a lot of

         17  specifics in the IBC code and also in the NFPA code,

         18  by the Introduction 478, allows us to amend the IBC.

         19  And we will address those specific issues so that we

         20  provide the best New York City building code that

         21  provides for public safety and for firefighter

         22  safety.

         23                 That is what the benefit is of Intro.

         24  478. It allows us to make modifications to the IBC.

         25  Adoption of the NFPA 5000 does not allow us to make
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          2  those amendments.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Where is the

          4  cite of that, sir?

          5                 CHIEF HAYDEN: That's the way the bill

          6  is read.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That's the

          8  way the bill is read.

          9                 CHIEF HAYDEN: That's the way the bill

         10  is constructed.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I see.

         12                 CHIEF HAYDEN: That's the way it's

         13  read. That's the one you sponsored, is that correct?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That's

         15  correct, sir. That's right.

         16                 CHIEF HAYDEN: That's the way the bill

         17  reads.

         18                 Now, addressing firefighter safety,

         19  you spoke a number of specifics.

         20                 Sprinkler protection is probably the

         21  greatest addition to both public safety and

         22  firefighter safety that exists. There is no

         23  firefighter that will disagree with that, and I

         24  think there is very few lay people who disagree with

         25  that.
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          2                 The IBC requires that all residential

          3  properties, other than one or two-family homes are

          4  equipped with automatic sprinkler protection.

          5                 In addition, the code establishes a

          6  separate high hazard Group H occupancy, broken down

          7  to the five category use groups which extensively

          8  regulates hazardous materials. Something that the

          9  firefighters handle on a daily basis.

         10                 The NFPA has no requirement for all

         11  residential properties to have sprinkler protection.

         12                 So, there are a number of issues on

         13  both sides that address both public safety and

         14  firefighter safety. It's not a question that one is

         15  a bad code or a good code. It goes back to the

         16  processing we're talking about. Intro. 478 allows us

         17  to use as a model code IBC, with modifications that

         18  I just addressed earlier, local laws that address

         19  public safety and firefighter safety unique to this

         20  jurisdiction, Local Law 5, Local 7, Local Law 26.

         21  NFPA 5000 makes no provision for that --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Sir, let me

         23  ask you a question with respect to that.

         24                 Since you've been involved in this

         25  process, I think you've heard the Commissioner and
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          2  others testify, it doesn't matter which building

          3  code is adopted, all the amendments are recommended

          4  either by the international, if we adopted the IBC,

          5  the International Code Council, they have a

          6  commission every three years that make

          7  recommendations, and NFPA, the National Firefighter

          8  Protection Association, has a convention that makes

          9  recommendation every three years also, and those

         10  recommendations can or cannot be adopted by whatever

         11  municipality has, particular respective codes; isn't

         12  that correct?

         13                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Yes. But your Intro,

         14  Intro. 360-A, as opposed to Intro. 478, all right?

         15  Your intro doesn't allow for amendments to the NFPA

         16  standard.

         17                 The IBC code, the Intro. 478, allows

         18  for that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON okay.

         20                 CHIEF HAYDEN: We've worked for over a

         21  year extensively, collaboratively, with the Building

         22  Code --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: To do what?

         24                 CHIEF HAYDEN: To develop a building

         25  code that would befit the needs of New York City.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. And let

          3  me ask then, let me ask the Commissioner this

          4  question, because -- and I respect you, Chief, in

          5  that's who you are and the position that you're in,

          6  but I disagree with you on some of the issues.

          7                 CHIEF HAYDEN: It's perfectly all

          8  right to disagree with me. To show disrespect is

          9  another thing.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I don't

         11  think I show disrespect. I think that you, you feel

         12  that no one cares more about the firefighters than

         13  you, and I totally disagree with that. There are

         14  hundreds of firefighters that care just as much as

         15  you, or even more than you, and your proof is no

         16  further than their proof. So, please don't tell me

         17  that you're the absolute individual that says cares

         18  the most about, because that is not true.

         19                 CHIEF HAYDEN: No, I never said that.

         20  It was your implication --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I told

         22  you that was not my implication. My implication is

         23  you, Chief, in my opinion, in my opinion, should

         24  know some of those answers, and should have

         25  communicated more appropriately with UFA and UFOA as
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          2  far as the positions that your members want. And

          3  even though I know that you're the Chief of the

          4  Department, but you are, in my opinion, the Mayor's

          5  appointee, as far as I'm concerned.

          6                 And I know you may disagree with

          7  that, but that's okay.

          8                 CHIEF HAYDEN: The UFA and the UFOA

          9  never approached me with any objections about the

         10  entire year --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Could we move

         12  on, please?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Sure. I'd

         14  like to.

         15                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Never approached me

         16  until the last minute.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Commissioner.

         18  Commissioner, my understanding is that when Mayor

         19  Bloomberg, going back, I think it's been two years

         20  since Mayor Bloomberg made the announcement, as far

         21  as the change in the building code, it's my

         22  understanding, correct me if I'm wrong, on that

         23  announcement at the press conference, I believe you

         24  may have been there and maybe even Chair Provenzano,

         25  I'm not sure who was there, but I have a press
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          2  release basically saying that the Mayor is putting

          3  forward an executive order where it says here by

          4  studying and potentially adopting the International

          5  Building Code, so from right up front it was not

          6  where we're going to adopt a new building code, but

          7  you had signed an executive order as far as

          8  establishing a commission to adopt and make

          9  recommendations to the International Building Code;

         10  isn't that correct, from the beginning?

         11                 Excuse me. I'm asking you a question,

         12  Commissioner.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Who are you

         14  asking the question of?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The

         16  Commissioner. I'm talking to the Commissioner.

         17                 I'm asking you a question, because I

         18  have a press release which basically says that,

         19  dated November 1st, 2002.

         20                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: The

         21  Commission's findings are on our website and you'll

         22  see in there that --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Commissioner,

         24  I'm not referring to the findings. I didn't refer to

         25  the findings in my question.
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          2                 My question to you was concerning the

          3  press conference that was initially held on November

          4  1st, 2002, where the Mayor announced to sign an

          5  executive order establishing a commission in order

          6  to adopt the International Building Code. And I'm

          7  saying that's what it says here in this press

          8  release. And I'm asking you, is that true?

          9                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Whatever that

         10  press release says, the process was that the

         11  Commission study both codes and that those findings

         12  are on our website.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         14                 Now, if, in fact, you've heard of the

         15  word set-up before, haven't you? You've heard that

         16  word before; is that correct? I'm sure you have.

         17                 Well, if, in fact, you know, the

         18  Mayor who is the Chief Executive of the City of New

         19  York, has communicated to his Commissioner and

         20  everyone else that this is the code that we want to

         21  adopt, and make sure there's a process in place in

         22  order to adopt that, and the bottom line is at the

         23  end of that process I want the International

         24  Building Code adopted; isn't that your charge, if

         25  that's what he told you? If that's what he told you?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Commissioner

          3  Jackson, I will answer that question.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm not a

          5  commissioner.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Maybe you

          7  will be. In the next administration, not in this

          8  one.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I don't

         10  intend to, Madam Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I would like

         12  to respond to that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Madam Chair,

         14  I beg to difference -- Madam Chair, I didn't really

         15  ask you the question, I asked the Commissioner the

         16  question.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: This hearing

         18  will be recessed, and I will have every one of you

         19  removed from this room, and only keep the folks that

         20  I know in testifying. And as God is my witness, I

         21  will do it. So, cut out the crap. I've had enough.

         22  Take it outside.

         23                 Robert, you did not address the

         24  question to me, but, yes, I can answer it, because I

         25  was there and was a part of it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. If you

          3  don't mind, Madam Chair, and I don't --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And you are

          5  beginning to make this hearing a little bit of a

          6  show yourself.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Believe me, I

          8  am not trying to make this hearing a show. And

          9  that's not what my intention is, quite frankly, and

         10  I'll be glad to hear your response. But, I mean,

         11  quite frankly, Madam Chair, and let me just digress

         12  for one minute, publicly to you and I. I mean,

         13  clearly, this is a very important issue, as I said

         14  in the beginning, and, you know, with this press

         15  release, the question is appropriate for the

         16  Commissioner. You may have been there and you can

         17  respond to it also, but, you know, I am not going to

         18  sit here and just be able to not ask the tough

         19  questions or put them on the spot with respect to

         20  answering those questions. And I may have to be a

         21  little argumentative with the witnesses in order to

         22  get my appropriate response.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: It's not a

         24  tough question.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: If they
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          2  answer them correctly.

          3                 So, I'm just saying to you that you

          4  can respond, but the question is to the

          5  Commissioner, and I'll be glad to listen to your

          6  response also.

          7                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: The answer to

          8  your question is in the Mayor's verbiage, do

          9  something about the building code.

         10                 Now, if you know the Mayor, you know

         11  that he's a man of few words, sometimes. He told me

         12  to fix the Department. He didn't tell me how. He

         13  told me to do something about the building code and

         14  he didn't tell me what.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, maybe

         16  that's what he said to you. But in this press

         17  release issued by the Mayor it's quoting you

         18  directly. "Adopting the IBC, International Building

         19  Code will be a tremendous boom to both construction

         20  professionals and Building Department, said

         21  Commissioner Lancaster."

         22                 So, this is before even the

         23  Commission was established, before you even

         24  determined, you know, and that's why I said do you

         25  understand what the word set-up means; do you
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          2  understand?

          3                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Whatever that

          4  press release says, the process was that the NFPA

          5  was given full fair hearings, as well as the

          6  International Code Council, during the four months

          7  that the Commission deliberated.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          9                 Well, I've been told by the NFPA

         10  professionals, and they're here, that that was not

         11  the case, and they will testify later to that.

         12                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Would you

         14  like me to expand on that a little bit?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Sure. I don't

         16  mind. I'll listen to your response.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: There was not

         18  one person who made that decision. As I explained

         19  earlier, there was a Committee, the Mayor mandated a

         20  commission of 15 people. That commission studied the

         21  three codes and came up with a decision to choose

         22  the international code. And then that moved on

         23  forward with the managing committees, which

         24  incorporated architects, engineers, union folks,

         25  what have you, to be on those committees.
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          2                 So, the Mayor didn't go and say,

          3  here, I want you to use this code. It was a process.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I understand

          5  process, Madam Chair, but let me just ask you a

          6  question.

          7                 With that Commission of 15 or some

          8  odd people, were they established before this press

          9  release, or after this press release? After November

         10  1st, or before that? Because this is the press

         11  release where the Mayor announced the commission,

         12  and I assume that that announcement, and you were on

         13  it and the Commissioner and other people.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: The

         15  Commission was set up after this announcement.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That's what I

         17  thought. I just wanted to make sure we were not

         18  established before that.

         19                 So, I appreciate that, and just one

         20  final question for Matthew, I think. Is that your

         21  first name, sir?

         22                 I think that you chaired one of the

         23  technical committees; is that correct?

         24                 Can you turn on the mic,

         25  Commissioner, if you don't mind?
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          2                 MR. SAPOLIN: Yes, that's correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I believe

          4  you testified that you became the Chair of that

          5  Committee after a determination was made by, I guess

          6  the Commission or the group that was dealing with

          7  this that the IBC was going to be the code to adopt;

          8  is that correct?

          9                 MR. SAPOLIN: I believe, yes, I was

         10  asked to chair the Committee after a code, a model

         11  code was selected.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. Because

         13  I just, you know, I can understand your involvement,

         14  in looking at those with respects to issues with

         15  disabilities and access, and I do know that in

         16  having discussions with, I met yesterday with

         17  several individuals from Marvin Wasserman and some

         18  other people in discussing NFPA, and that's the

         19  first time that we had the opportunity to meet with

         20  them.

         21                 But let me just go back to

         22  Commissioner Lancaster.

         23                 It's my understanding that no matter

         24  what code is adopted, whether NFPA 5000 code or the

         25  International Building Code, that changes would have
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          2  to be made in order to fit New York City; is that

          3  correct?

          4                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: My reading,

          5  and the reading of my legal counsel, your bill does

          6  not permit the NFPA to be revised.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. So, if

          8  we change it to say that all revisions that come out

          9  of the conventions and made recommendations and put

         10  forward by the Building Commissioner for adoption,

         11  that would be okay?

         12                 If you make recommendations just like

         13  this Housing Committee adopted the electrical code

         14  for New York City. The Electrical Code for New York

         15  City is NFPA's electrical code; is that correct?

         16                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         18                 And, so, we adopted that code; is

         19  that correct? Yes. And there have been already

         20  amendments to that code put forward by the Building

         21  Department; isn't that correct? And this Committee

         22  approved those and the City Council approved those,

         23  and that's the process that you explained earlier,

         24  that no matter what code is adopted, that's the

         25  process that will happen; isn't that correct?

                                                            78

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Well, there's

          3  a slight matter of copyright for the International

          4  Building Code and on the process that we're going

          5  through with the technical committee, such that were

          6  we to want to adopt the NFPA 5000, it would

          7  necessitate restarting the entire program over

          8  again.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         10                 So, in essence, you would have to

         11  establish committees to look at, instead of IBC, the

         12  International Building Code, you would look at the

         13  NFPA 5000 code?

         14                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, in

         16  essence, I believe, in my opinion, what you've done

         17  is you've put the cart before the horse, meaning

         18  that I think the first thing that should have been

         19  established was New York City should have adopted a

         20  building code, the framework, and then like the

         21  model, and then put the clothes on the model, and it

         22  seems as though you've already made the clothes, and

         23  now you're going to put the model inside the

         24  clothes; is that correct?

         25                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: No.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: At least

          3  that's the way I see it. It's not correct?

          4                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: No.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, what if,

          6  for example, then New York City Council adopted the

          7  NFPA 5000 code? That means that we have adopted a

          8  code in which the Building Department has set up all

          9  of these committees to work on International

         10  Building Code when we haven't even adopted a code.

         11                 That seems backwards to me, from a

         12  common sense point of view. And I just want to be,

         13  you know, I understand that this is a technical

         14  complex process, but as I've said, I've said,

         15  Commissioner, I'm sorry, I've said to people in the

         16  field, keep it simple simple, because in order for

         17  me and my colleagues to understand all this

         18  technical stuff, we ask you to keep it as plain and

         19  simple as possible so we can understand it, knowing

         20  that it's a complex issue where the technical people

         21  are going to be really involved in the code changes

         22  and what have you and so forth.

         23                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: I don't think

         24  that it's necessary to go into the technical merits

         25  at this point.
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          2                 What I would like to say is that the

          3  model code program was begun in cooperation with the

          4  Chairperson of the Housing and Buildings Committee

          5  of the City Council and the Mayor, after the

          6  adoption by the Mayor of the recommendations of a

          7  commission that studied both codes, all three codes,

          8  excuse me, the existing NFPA and IBC, and came up

          9  with a recommendation which was accepted by a joint

         10  body.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. Thank

         12  you, Commissioner.

         13                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Councilwoman

         15  Katz.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Timing is

         17  everything in life.

         18                 Commissioners, I just want to know a

         19  little more about the Commission and the 13

         20  committees. The 13 committees were divided how?

         21                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: The

         22  Commission, the Mayor's Advisory Commission on the

         23  adoption of a model code is from November to March

         24  of 2002/2003. Subsequent to that, the model code

         25  program began. The 13 technical committees are
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          2  divided up on the basis of the technical content.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So, of

          4  architectures, engineers, how you would divide the

          5  committees?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: The

          7  committees are divided on the basis of content of

          8  code. For instance, Egress is one of the committees.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.

         10                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Accessibility

         11  is one of the committees. Fire Protection is one of

         12  the committees. Materials of Construction is one of

         13  the committees. And I won't name all 13.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So it's based on

         15  topic.

         16                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Each

         17  committee has architects, engineer, labor,

         18  government, real estate, whatever on it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So, like, if you

         20  were doing ingress, you would probably have

         21  architects, I assume, engineers, I assume people

         22  that were experts in the fire code, things like

         23  that.

         24                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So, that's how
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          2  you would divide the 13 committees?

          3                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay. And about

          5  how many people did the 13 committees encompass?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Four-hundred.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And how are the

          8  folks chosen for the committees?

          9                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: They're

         10  leaders in their fields.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So they're not

         12  all government workers?

         13                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: No, they're

         14  not.

         15                 In fact, only two of them are,

         16  actually.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Two of the

         18  committees, or two of the chairs --

         19                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Chairpersons.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: -- Of the 13 are

         21  government workers. Which ones are those?

         22                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER:

         23  Administration and accessibility.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And when you

         25  look at the both codes, the NFPA 5000 and the ICB,
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          2  and I guess the question may be more for the Chief,

          3  when you looked at both codes the safety issues were

          4  in the NFPA 5000 that many folks are advocating for;

          5  have you looked at those in the context of whether

          6  they would be useful, or good for the ICB? Could you

          7  go over that process?

          8                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Could you reword that,

          9  say that again.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: No, just, when

         11  you looked at both codes I assume that you took what

         12  was good from each code and put it in one master

         13  document. And the question I have is, what other

         14  things did you review, and is that an accurate

         15  statement?

         16                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I think the issue is

         17  here, I'm not saying whether one code or the other

         18  code is better than the other. It goes back to, once

         19  again, the process here, and just the public safety,

         20  the firefighter safety going through the process.

         21                 Intro. 478 allows us to enter into

         22  the new building code local laws that affect both

         23  public safety and firefighter safety.

         24                 Intro. 368, the way it is currently

         25  worded, does not allow for that, and as our
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          2  objection to it, in our proposal to adopt Intro.

          3  478. We worked extensively on the IBC committees. We

          4  had 15 chief officers working extensively like that,

          5  looking at comparisons between NFPA and the IBC.

          6  They both provide for public safety and firefighter

          7  safety. We feel that the IBC provides a greater

          8  level of safety for both the public and

          9  firefighters.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I can assume

         11  that you took the good portions of both pieces of

         12  legislation put them, in your opinion, I'm not

         13  saying it's right for everyone, but together?

         14                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Can I ask a

         16  really strange question?

         17                 Commissioner Lancaster, what do you

         18  think truly is the crux between, and we know we're

         19  going to hear from the NFPA folks, but the crux

         20  between the controversy of the two pieces of

         21  legislation?

         22                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: It comes down

         23  to two things. It comes down to track record and

         24  support.

         25                 Track record is the widespread use of
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          2  the International Building Code in 44 states, gives

          3  architects and engineers and contractors experience

          4  with it in other venues. That doesn't mean it's, you

          5  know, better for New York City, but it does help

          6  them to not need so much training and so on. But it

          7  also has been, buildings have been built under this

          8  code and we can't seem to find a building that's

          9  been built under the NFPA. We have the State helping

         10  us and guiding us at every turn with the IBC because

         11  they've been there and done that with that, and that

         12  really helps a lot as well.

         13                 We have others, counterparts in other

         14  states have been very forthcoming with their process

         15  and their struggles with various technical code

         16  provisions that you don't need to go into.

         17                 So, it's the extent of the use and

         18  the widespread nature of that, and then the second

         19  thing is support.

         20                 The ICC has provided us with training

         21  manuals, they've come and given seminars for

         22  affordable housing professionals. They have been at

         23  every turn able to guide us as far as what other

         24  issues have been in terms of public safety. They

         25  have a long track record. They are the combination,
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          2  a 350-person unit that offers a service for

          3  instance, where a plan examiner that's green could

          4  call them up and say I'm struggling with this

          5  dead-end corridor issue, can you help me out. And

          6  they can tell them right on the phone, you know,

          7  here's what our thinking was, here's why we thought

          8  that da da da da da. They have campanion documents

          9  and commentary documents that let you see when we

         10  were dealing, well, I don't mean to get into that

         11  issue but, whatever, we're dealing with an issue,

         12  but let us go to the companion documents, say now

         13  why would they have said that there, and you go to

         14  the companion document and you see it written in

         15  clear English.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Madam Chair, it

         17  just seems to me that the crux of the issues here

         18  are mostly the substantive issues. I know everybody

         19  is talking about the process, but it seems to me

         20  that if the NFPA 5000 can be amended, and the ICB

         21  can be amended in the end, then it really is the

         22  substantive issues on what's in both codes, and I

         23  guess better people can always disagree, or agree.

         24  So, I look forward to hearing the NFPA's view on the

         25  substance of their code as well.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Can I clarify

          3  one thing, Council member?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Sure.

          5                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: If you say

          6  that the NFPA can be amended and the IBC can be

          7  amended, they could be made to create exactly the

          8  same house. And if you say that the process national

          9  level differs but the process here comes through the

         10  Building Department to the City Council, then that

         11  is not an issue.

         12                 That's why I say the technical

         13  concerns are not an issue, because either code could

         14  be revised.

         15                 What it is, is it's the ease of use,

         16  the adaptability, the support, that's why those

         17  things come out, not technical provisions.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We've been

         20  joined by Council Member Leroy Comrie. Council

         21  Member Bill DeBlasio. Council Member Al Gerson.

         22  Council Member Mike McMahon, Council Member Lew

         23  Fidler, and the next person that has a question is

         24  Council Member Gerson.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very
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          2  much, Madam Chair.

          3                 And thank you for affording me this

          4  opportunity, as I am a guest and not a member of

          5  this Committee, and as such, I will limit my

          6  question or questions to one area, but one very

          7  important and pressing area to my district but to

          8  all of us as well, and that is the issue of the

          9  storage of diesel and other hazardous substances in

         10  buildings located in proximity to residents.

         11                 And Commissioner, I know you and I

         12  have discussed this issue, but I need to raise it on

         13  the record, and I will raise it with the proponents

         14  of both codes. I'm asking this question and raising

         15  this issue, I am picking up on the testimony of

         16  Chief Hayden and yourself recognizing that any code

         17  is going to have to be amended to deal with unique

         18  circumstances within the City of New York.

         19                 So, my question is, do we have your

         20  assurance that if this code goes forward, as part of

         21  the amendments being overseen by the working groups

         22  you will deal thoroughly with the issue of diesel

         23  and other hazardous substance storage, and produce

         24  the necessary amendments concomitantly with the

         25  propoundment of the substance of the body of the
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          2  code in a way which protects and assures the safety

          3  of residents, of occupants of the buildings, and of

          4  firefighters who may have to enter the buildings; I

          5  ask this as the representative of the district of

          6  Ground Zero. And as you know, one of the experiences

          7  we lived through were the fires which raged at the

          8  time seemingly incessantly, and these were fires,

          9  especially from the collapse of 7 World Trade

         10  Center, fueled by the presence of diesel.

         11                 Now, we all know that diesel is hard

         12  to ignite, but once it ignites, it is very difficult

         13  to put out, and presents a range of hazards to

         14  firefighters and to anyone in the area.

         15                 We now find ourselves in our

         16  community living amidst and among other buildings,

         17  which in fact currently store more diesel fuel than

         18  was stored in 7 World Trade Center before the

         19  collapse. And I recently took a tour of one of those

         20  buildings, and found out that that building does not

         21  have any sprinkler system, or any of the equivalent

         22  whatsoever, and I noted that Chief Hayden testified

         23  as to the all importance of a sprinkler system.

         24                 In addition to the hazard of the

         25  storage, we deal with the environmental dangers of
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          2  fuel emissions and noise emissions from the testing

          3  of the diesel generators. So, again, and in

          4  conclusion, my question to you is, do we have your

          5  assurance that the appropriate working group that a

          6  working group will deal with this issue and come up

          7  with recommendations, with community input and a

          8  community representative on the working group, and

          9  this will happen at the same time, as you present to

         10  this Council the body of the code which you

         11  recommend.

         12                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Yes, the fuel

         13  oil storage regulations are under study in our

         14  mechanical committee, and I believe the chair of

         15  that Committee is slated to testify later in the

         16  day.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Whether or not

         18  I am present in person for such testimony, our

         19  Director of Legislation Solomon Turkell will be.

         20                 Could we have your commitment that

         21  the community will be able to have a community

         22  expert representative on this mechanical committee?

         23                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: I'm certainly

         24  willing to discuss that. There is not a community

         25  member on now, but certainly I can promise you, and
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          2  as you know, our offices have worked very well

          3  together in the past, that the community will be

          4  heard, absolutely.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, we will

          6  continue the discussion. I had thought that in fact

          7  a member of your Department had assured that we

          8  would be able, or my office would be able to

          9  recommend a representative to serve on the

         10  appropriate committee at the time. We weren't sure

         11  whether it was the mechanical committee or the fire

         12  committee. But I would like to reiterate our request

         13  for a working representative on the appropriate

         14  committee, and I will make the same request of the

         15  proponents of the other code and their equivalent

         16  working group.

         17                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Fair enough.

         18                 And also, just to reiterate, that the

         19  World Trade Center legislation that was passed on

         20  June 24th of the past year will be incorporated into

         21  the International Building Code.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But as you

         23  know, the World Trade Center legislation still

         24  leaves several areas unresolved and open with

         25  respect to this issue, and we need to be sure that
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          2  this issue will be dealt with in total and

          3  comprehensively with respect to whatever building

          4  code goes forward.

          5                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: I think

          6  that's absolutely correct. It's a matter of public

          7  safety, and then the post terrorism world, we want

          8  the occupants of New York to be safe, not just your

          9  district, but all districts.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And, finally,

         11  just to clarify, when we talk about dealing with the

         12  issue, that includes finding ways, feasible ways to

         13  minimize the amount of diesel necessary to be stored

         14  within residential districts, as well as having

         15  state-of-the-art protection and security. That

         16  diesel which must be stored, that minimized diesel,

         17  which, for which we have no other alternative.

         18                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         20  much, Madam Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         22  Member Clarke.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

         24  much, Madam Chair, and I just wanted to really make

         25  a statement at this point, because I've come to this
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          2  hearing not being a member of the Committee, but

          3  very concerned about this issue, being chair of the

          4  Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice Services. And

          5  I came to this hearing because we have before us a

          6  very important matter about revising the City

          7  building code.

          8                 We have two codes that are being

          9  presented, and I'd like to know that we can, in a

         10  very deliberative manner, get the most information

         11  so that we can make an informed decision.

         12                 I'm concerned about the tenor of the

         13  debate at this point.

         14                 I know that people are emotional on

         15  certain sides of this issue, but I don't think it's

         16  necessary for us to, you know, level charges about

         17  people's intentions until we hear the matter fully.

         18                 We can make those determinations once

         19  we've heard both sides of the issue and we haven't

         20  done that as of yet.

         21                 I'd like to say that I've had the

         22  opportunity to work with Chief Hayden, as Chair of

         23  the Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice Services,

         24  and I'm concerned about the level at which the

         25  debate was raised with him, and I'd like to say that
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          2  there are many within the Department of the FDNY who

          3  have opinions. He was stating his based on his

          4  knowledge and his expertise, and we should take it

          5  as that and not level any other charges until we

          6  have fully heard this matter.

          7                 I'm here to hear this matter out so

          8  that the people of the City of New York can be

          9  assured they have a Council that is deliberative and

         10  understands the issues. It will make the best

         11  decision on behalf of all of the people of the City

         12  of New York, not based on any particular

         13  predisposition with respect to this matter.

         14                 So, I hope that we can move forward

         15  in the spirit of that with this hearing. Thank you

         16  very much, Madam Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

         18  Councilwoman.

         19                 Council Member Comrie.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you,

         21  Madam Chair. I want to thank Council Member Clarke

         22  for updating me through her comments on what was

         23  going on while I was in the Government Operations

         24  Committee protecting and advocating for members

         25  regarding how campaign finance board reviews and
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          2  audits our accounts.

          3                 But I'm here today, I am a member of

          4  this Committee, I have been talking with all sides

          5  on this issue, and as I've told all sides, my

          6  community is concerned about the ability of the

          7  Department of Buildings to be a better agency, a

          8  more productive agency, an agency that can respond

          9  to the concerns of my community, which is critically

         10  concerned about the ability of the Buildings

         11  Department to be responsive.

         12                 I see the codes and the adoption and

         13  changing of codes that have been in place since 1968

         14  as critical to the ability of my community to

         15  protect over-development, to protect illegal

         16  conversions, to protect redeveloping of an area that

         17  is primarily a one-family home area, into illegal

         18  conversions, changing of the history of the area

         19  from a one-family home area to a two-family home.

         20                 I'm concerned about the safety and

         21  productivity of the Buildings Department to be able

         22  to promulgate the rules and regulations in a clear

         23  and concise way so that when a Buildings Department

         24  inspector goes out, they can do it in an efficient

         25  way, as opposed to where we are now, where we have
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          2  one set of rules one day, where one inspector comes

          3  out with information one day, and then an inspector

          4  can come out and totally change the job the other

          5  way.

          6                 Clearly, we need to bring New York

          7  City's codes into the new world, and be updated with

          8  the rest of the world so that we can have an

          9  efficient way to build affordable housing, so that

         10  we can have an efficient way to address safety

         11  concerns and so that we can have an efficient way to

         12  ensure that whatever is done in this City that all

         13  parties in the City have an equal voice in that

         14  matter.

         15                 My overall concern that I've

         16  expressed to all sides, because I've signed on to

         17  both bills, is to get to the truth. To get to how we

         18  can meet this as a City, in a collaborative effort,

         19  to ensure also that the Council has the primary

         20  oversight on all aspects of everything that comes

         21  before the Buildings Department, HPD, the Fire

         22  Department or anything else. And clearly, the way

         23  that these codes can be promulgated will have an

         24  impact on clearly the ability of the Council to be a

         25  major part of the development of these codes, will
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          2  have a major part of that.

          3                 And clearly, the ability of this

          4  diverse City to have a say in how these codes will

          5  be adopted is critical.

          6                 So, with that in mind, I just wanted

          7  to ask a couple of questions, and I think I lost my

          8  question, but on some differences and some

          9  similarities in these bills.

         10                 The first question that I wanted to

         11  ask is, what is the present appeals process for the

         12  standing committees to discuss matters of dispute?

         13                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: What's

         14  happening is kind of interesting actually, a lot of

         15  things are getting solved in the committees

         16  themselves by discussion and give and take by the

         17  different interested parties.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Are these

         19  discussions opened, and open to the public? Or how

         20  are these discussions done?

         21                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: We have

         22  representatives of each of the constituency groups

         23  in the committees, and if a larger collaboration is

         24  necessary, then we go to the outside parties.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Have there
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          2  been public opportunities to discuss any of these

          3  issues?

          4                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: The last

          5  public hearing was in January, right?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And how often

          7  are the public hearings scheduled?

          8                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Well, we'll

          9  probably have another one in about six months.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And if what

         11  happens in the standing committee does not meet --

         12  or if a person has a problem with the result of what

         13  the standing committee has come up with, even after

         14  deliberative discussion, how can they make an

         15  appeal?

         16                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: I would say

         17  they could lobby their City Councilperson.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: They would

         19  come to their City Councilperson.

         20                 But the rules haven't been brought to

         21  us yet. So, how would they make an appeal before

         22  that's done?

         23                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: You would see

         24  them before you had to pass them, right?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: No, that's not

                                                            99

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  what I'm saying. That's not what I'm saying.

          3                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Can you

          4  clarify it for me?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

          6                 Right now you're saying that, you

          7  have stated in your testimony that you have standing

          8  committees?

          9                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Correct, 13.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thirteen

         11  standing committees that are working on promulgating

         12  the new rules. If there's a dispute within those

         13  committees, how is it resolved?

         14                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: First of all,

         15  the committees are resolving a lot of things just in

         16  the committee itself, but then if that doesn't work,

         17  then it goes to the managing committee, and if the

         18  managing committee hears it -- I'm sorry, goes first

         19  of all to the model code program. The model code

         20  program hears it and does mediation. If that doesn't

         21  work it goes to the managing committee. If that

         22  doesn't work, it comes to me.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. And do

         24  you have a period for public comment before you make

         25  a decision?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: That would be

          3  the public hearing that the City Council would hold

          4  after the legislation was submitted.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: After the

          6  legislation was submitted, okay.

          7                 And can you give us an idea of what

          8  people are on the different standing committees,

          9  just to illuminate for the public?

         10                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Sure.

         11                 See the press package right there,

         12  that blue thing? In there is a list of organizations

         13  that are represented on the communities. It's a full

         14  page, contains about 300 names. So, we have

         15  representatives from most of the architectural

         16  firms, engineers, labor.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Can you give a

         18  percentage on who sits on what committee, on a

         19  general committee?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Each of the

         21  constituents is representative on each committee.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, in other

         23  words, on every committee there's an equal balance

         24  of representation?

         25                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: I'm sorry.
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          2  Say it again?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: On each

          4  committee there's an equal balance of

          5  representation?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: On each

          8  standing committee?

          9                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: We're missing

         10  some labor.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. All

         12  right.

         13                 And once you develop and adopt a

         14  model code, there will still be opportunity to make

         15  substantive changes to any area?

         16                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Yes.

         17  Actually, the same process is in place today,

         18  whereby whenever the Building Department submits

         19  legislation to the City Council, the code can be

         20  changed.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So at any

         22  point we can, an entity could still come to the

         23  Council and make significant changes in the code at

         24  any point in the process?

         25                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: That's
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          2  correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And that has

          4  not changed from, or hasn't been diluted in any way,

          5  shape or form?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: No.

          7                 Here's the names so I can get this to

          8  you afterwards.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. I've

         10  actually seen them before. I just wanted to make

         11  sure that you talked about it today, that in all of

         12  the reading that I've been doing on this, there

         13  seems to be so many new entities, or so many

         14  entities that I'm not personally familiar with,

         15  that's what I was just trying to ask you about,

         16  balance and diversity.

         17                 Do you have an estimation on what the

         18  costs are for affordable housing to build a typical

         19  two-family home under the new code?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: No. Actually,

         21  we're working on six prototypes now, six different

         22  building types, to get cost estimates, to ensure the

         23  City that the new code will not be more expensive.

         24  If it's more expensive, it won't be submitted.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, I'm not
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          2  concerned about expense, as much as I'm concerned

          3  about safety. Clearly, some of the issues are --

          4  hold on, please. I appreciate the clapping, but

          5  we're trying to deal with some issues here.

          6                 I'm concerned. Clearly this is a

          7  diverse City and safety is paramount in the issue,

          8  but clarity is more paramount I think than the

          9  issue. So, you know, the issues of a high-rise

         10  building and issues of a two-family home are clearly

         11  different. I just wanted to try and understand what

         12  is being done to really address the issue of maximum

         13  or safety on those truly diverse variables, and how

         14  will that be presented to the final code before it's

         15  adopted? Or is that part of the final adoption?

         16                 Once you finish with this standing

         17  committee process, there still will be opportunities

         18  to make major changes in whatever is done before it

         19  is presented to the Council?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And in that,

         22  the issues of safety on all levels of building

         23  compliance, will that be complete before it's given

         24  to us, or will that still be an open issue?

         25                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: No, it will
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          2  be complete.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And you'll be

          4  able to delineate that in a comprehensive fashion to

          5  all parties interested and before it's voted on?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And in order

          8  to -- will there be a pre-public hearing by the

          9  Buildings Department before it's brought to the

         10  Council, or during that process?

         11                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: What would

         12  you suggest?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, I think

         14  what I'm suggesting primarily is that once we --

         15  since we are at a issue on what is finally going to

         16  be adopted or how each rule is still going to be

         17  placed into, or each code is going to be placed into

         18  each category and what those subcategories of codes

         19  are and what the training materials are, or what the

         20  process is that people have to go through, it's a

         21  pretty complex and detailed document, and I was

         22  concerned what the level of complexity is or what

         23  the level of public discourse is on it before it's

         24  presented to us, so that we can make sure that

         25  before it comes before the Council, we have as much
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          2  public feedback as possible, whatever the final

          3  document is.

          4                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Yes, we'll do

          5  that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          7                 I'm going to save the rest of my

          8  questions for later on, Madam Chair. I just want to

          9  actually thank the Commissioner for being open, and

         10  trying to answer questions, and her staff who I've

         11  been talking to repeatedly about this issue.

         12                 Again, clearly, I'm concerned about

         13  adopting a code that is truly a model for the City

         14  and is truly a giving -- actually the ability to do

         15  what's necessary, to be competitive with the rest of

         16  the world and to protect this diverse City, and

         17  clearly, it's a complicated issue. It's an issue

         18  that's not going to be resolved today, but I think

         19  it's an issue worth tackling, an issue that we need

         20  to make sure that we have as much public input so

         21  that we can develop a model blueprint for whatever

         22  is adopted.

         23                 So, I want to thank you and your

         24  staff. I want to thank all parties that have been

         25  reaching out to me so that we can make an informed
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          2  decision in this complex issue.

          3                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

          4                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

          6  Member DeBlasio.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you

          8  very much, Madam Chair.

          9                 I first want to thank you. I first

         10  want to thank you. I've had the pleasure of having a

         11  number of conversations with you and I appreciate

         12  the diligence you brought to this issue. And I want

         13  to thank, as well, the representatives of the

         14  Administration.

         15                 I appreciate, in particular, the

         16  comments by Commissioner O'Donovan in his testimony

         17  about affordable housing. A lot of us spend a lot of

         18  time in our districts on Citywide issues working on

         19  affordable housing, and, you know, it's a major,

         20  major concern, and we understand whatever the

         21  outcome here, we want to keep the need for

         22  affordable housing foremost in our minds.

         23                 But Commissioner Lancaster, I wanted

         24  to just ask you a couple of questions.

         25                 First of all, I appreciate, I've met
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          2  with representatives of your Department, I

          3  appreciate also their diligence. They've been very

          4  helpful in providing information.

          5                 After reviewing the material, I came

          6  to believe that the NFPA was a better way to go, but

          7  I do thank you for the amount of time and energy

          8  your team has put into talking to us, and I'm sure

          9  it will be an ongoing process.

         10                 My central concern is that I look at,

         11  from everything I've learned about this very complex

         12  issue, I look at the approach taken by the NFPA as

         13  particularly strong because it does involve the

         14  people who do the work, and to me, I do care about

         15  affordable housing. I do care about streamlining

         16  government. I care about a lot of things, but I care

         17  first and foremost about the safety of the people

         18  doing the work on these buildings and the safety of

         19  the people who occupy the buildings, and obviously

         20  the safety of first responders, if they ever have to

         21  come to these buildings.

         22                 I know everyone shares that view, and

         23  I know we all express it in different ways. My

         24  personal view, after having done a lot of study

         25  here, and talked to a lot of people, I believe that
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          2  NFPA does a better job because the people who

          3  actually are in that front line role are saying that

          4  they feel their input is heard more there and has

          5  more of an impact there.

          6                 And that, to me, is the most

          7  compelling piece of evidence.

          8                 I'm also a little confused about

          9  really how much rigor we bring to the process. If

         10  you accept my standard for a moment, which is safety

         11  has to trump everything else, and it's not to

         12  belittle those other factors as crucial, but safety

         13  has to trump everything else.

         14                 I am confused as to how we can say

         15  that with international code that that is the first

         16  priority. And one specific that I don't understand

         17  is related to the state uniformed code act. Now, my

         18  understanding is that cities of over a million

         19  people are exempt from the Uniform Fire Prevention

         20  and Building Code, and that, therefore, there is not

         21  any kind of guarantee of that kind of restrictive

         22  standard being held in New York City. Can you help

         23  me understand that?

         24                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Cities over a

         25  million can be exempt from the State code, if their
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          2  code is as stringent or more stringent than the

          3  State code.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: And who

          5  determines that? I mean, that seems like an eye of

          6  the beholder matter.

          7                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: The State.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Well, you

          9  know, again, that leaves me a little uncomfortable,

         10  because I agree that we are probably the most

         11  complex place to build anywhere in the country or

         12  maybe even in the world, but the idea of the state,

         13  which has jurisdiction of wildly different, you

         14  know, levels, towns and suburbs and everything all

         15  over the place, that the state would have that power

         16  to determine whether we would need a more or less

         17  restrictive code concerns me.

         18                 And I think what I worry about here,

         19  I know we all want to work together and we all want

         20  to communicate, but what I don't want to happen at

         21  the end of the day is we end up with something

         22  that's a step backward in terms of safety, even if

         23  that means longer time lines in building or a

         24  greater expense in building that that's worth it.

         25                 So, if the State were to say, well,

                                                            110

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  you're over a million, but, you know, you're exempt,

          3  how do we have that guarantee of the safety

          4  standards?

          5                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: If I'm

          6  understanding your question correctly, and if the

          7  NFPA were adopted, then the State would have the

          8  right to come in and enforce the State Building

          9  Code, instead of the NFPA, because it's more

         10  stringent.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: So, are you

         12  saying in the final analysis that you believe what

         13  the state has now allows the same kind of input and

         14  the same kind of process that the NFPA allows?

         15                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: I don't know.

         16  I'm not following you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Again, I am

         18  surmising, again, that if you put safety first, and

         19  if you need the ongoing role of the people who do

         20  the building work and the first responders in the

         21  process of determining these codes, and the folks

         22  who support NFPA are those very same people, I'm

         23  trying to understand how you can argue that either

         24  the International Code or the current State codes

         25  allow for that same kind of input?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: To me it

          3  seems as though the people making the final

          4  determination should be those who have public safety

          5  as their primary goal, and I believe that code

          6  officials are more likely to have that as their goal

          7  than vested suppliers, vendors and manufacturers.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: And we all

          9  respect the public sector, and we all serve in it,

         10  but don't you think the folks doing the actual work

         11  who are at the front line -- again, I'm surmising

         12  something very simple, and if there's an answer, I

         13  welcome it. But the folks who are building the

         14  buildings, and the folks who have to respond in the

         15  event of emergency, and I'm not belittling for a

         16  moment that we have leadership with the Fire

         17  Department here. I know there are people of

         18  goodwill, and I know they feel strongly as well, but

         19  I'm trying to understand why we have folks who are

         20  actually doing this work and saying that the NFPA

         21  gives them the kind of input that they feel ensures

         22  the safety that they need to protect the lives of

         23  their members, and we're not hearing that from them,

         24  in terms of the International Code or existing State

         25  code. So, I'm trying to understand, I mean I just
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          2  don't understand what could be more important than

          3  the input of the people who do the work?

          4                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: There's input

          5  into the International Code Council's process, five

          6  people who do the work as well. The thing is that we

          7  believe that the best interest to the City will be

          8  upheld by other code officials, not by suppliers,

          9  vendors and manufacturers.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: And you

         11  include, and I understand when you say suppliers,

         12  vendors, manufacturers, you could read that as the

         13  private sector, and a lot of us in here will often

         14  say the public sector is more dependable than the

         15  private sector in guaranteeing safety. But, again,

         16  I'm saying the actual people who do the work and

         17  their organizations represent them.

         18                 Your response I appreciate, but I'm

         19  now saying, what about unions and other associations

         20  that directly represent the workers involved,

         21  shouldn't that be a particular -- shouldn't there be

         22  a particular high standard for making sure that that

         23  input is crucial to any outcome?

         24                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: I believe the

         25  input is crucial to any outcome, but I believe the
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          2  final decision should be made by people who have the

          3  public safety in their best interests, and those

          4  people are code officials.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Okay, we

          6  respectfully agree, but, again, I thank you for your

          7  testimony. I thank you for the good work your team

          8  has done in educating us, and thank you, again,

          9  Madam Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We've been

         11  joined by Councilwoman Latitia James, and that's it.

         12                 Council Member Rivera has a question.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you,

         14  once again, Madam Chair. I do have another question

         15  that I actually just heard other people just

         16  mentioned before.

         17                 Between the IBC and the NFPA, we've

         18  heard, obviously, from both sides, and from what

         19  I've heard is that the NFPA is more of a reference

         20  guide to other documents; is that the same case for

         21  the IBC?

         22                 Does the IBC force you to use other

         23  documents in order to implement these policies, or

         24  is it a standard document that you can utilize for

         25  all implementation and building and constructing of
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          2  buildings within the City of New York?

          3                 And if it does force you to go to

          4  other sites, is there any monetary gain on the IBC

          5  side, or is there any monetary gain on the NFPA

          6  side?

          7                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: You've made

          8  an important distinction between codes and reference

          9  standards. Codes tell you what to build and the

         10  reference standards tell you how to do it.

         11                 The NFPA uses extensive designation

         12  of reference standards.

         13                 For instance, in the accessibility

         14  chapter, they reference 61 different standards that

         15  are not part of their code.

         16                 In the IBC, the accessibility chapter

         17  references six reference standards. So, the NFPA

         18  relies more heavily than the IBC, on reference

         19  standards.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: So, from what

         21  you're stating, the NFPA will force you to use other

         22  documentations in order to implement it's Building

         23  Code?

         24                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: More.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: More.
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          2                 And in your opinion, would that force

          3  an increase for the contractors or anybody building

          4  the buildings to purchase any other documents; is

          5  that a measure for them to try to gain more monetary

          6  value?

          7                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: If using the

          8  International Building Code, they would have to

          9  purchase six additional documents for the

         10  accessibility chapter alone.

         11                 If using the NFPA, they would have to

         12  purchase 61 different documents for the

         13  accessibility chapter alone.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Now, for the

         15  IBC, you said they have to purchase six additional

         16  chapters, how much would that cost?

         17                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: I'm not going

         18  to address cost.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: At what point

         20  can we discuss cost? Is there a point in the process

         21  that we'll be able to determine how much it would

         22  cost?

         23                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: You can ask

         24  the ICC and the NFPA that question, if you would.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: I'll defer to

          3  them.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: And they're

          5  here, right? The ICC is here? All right, thank you

          6  very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

          8  Member Brewer, you have another question?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         10                 Just quickly, to follow-up on Council

         11  Member DeBlasio. I think I sort of said what he said

         12  at the very beginning, without being so direct,

         13  because he's more direct than I am. But the question

         14  I have is, are there other jurisdictions? Because I

         15  do believe that it's not so much a substantive

         16  discussion, as it is a process discussion, and my

         17  question is, are there other jurisdictions, and we

         18  can ask this of the individuals who come

         19  representing the two codes, but are there other

         20  jurisdictions that have amended the process so that

         21  if you, as a supporter of the international, were to

         22  say we want this substance, but we're willing to

         23  change the process?

         24                 Because I keep saying, no matter how

         25  good a code official is, no matter how good a public
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          2  government official is, you still need to have, I

          3  would feel more secure as a Council Member knowing

          4  that there's a dissenting perspective. Just because

          5  that's what life is all about. You've got to have

          6  two sides to everything.

          7                 And my question is, is there a

          8  jurisdiction that has perhaps amended, or taken that

          9  code, but amended the process in some way?

         10                 Because I think it's the process that

         11  we're going to be at odds about, from the top down.

         12                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: I would have

         13  actually said just the opposite, that the process is

         14  an inclusive process that allows both sides to be

         15  heard.

         16                 As a matter of fact, having

         17  participated in a mock code hearing, they go on

         18  forever, because everybody gets to get heard. At the

         19  first tier, and you get to hear both sides over and

         20  over, and so on like that, and then as it progresses

         21  you get to the point where code officials only

         22  nationwide are voting on the amendment, and then

         23  when it comes into my technical committee, there

         24  will be discussion.

         25                 And you have, on each technical
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          2  committee constituents, members from each

          3  constituency, that's when you get, for instance --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: First

          5  responders?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: First

          7  responders talking to property owners, and that's

          8  the dialogue.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It's still

         10  feels, without belaboring the issue, that the final

         11  decision is back to, as you suggest, the code

         12  officials, and that's where I think the rub is.

         13                 So, we'll have ongoing discussions,

         14  but I'm just saying that that process issue still is

         15  a concern and I also wonder if the process does fall

         16  under the sunshine law. As you know, that's a

         17  concern that I think was sort of asked by Council

         18  Member DeBlasio, but maybe not directly, but the

         19  question is, some of these committees, would it be

         20  like the public, just like at a community board, can

         21  come and sit and listen, though perhaps not

         22  participate. I think that's been also -- need to be

         23  addressed. Not necessarily now. But it is, in my

         24  opinion, heavily a concern about this process.

         25                 Thank you very much, Madam Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          3                 Council Member Fidler.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you,

          5  Madam Chairwoman.

          6                 Commissioner, first I want to thank

          7  you for the briefing that you afforded Council

          8  Member Jackson and myself a few months ago, a few

          9  months ago I guess across the building, Council

         10  Member Brewer as well. It was very informative, and,

         11  you know, this is an issue, quite frankly, that the

         12  folks sitting out there probably understand a whole

         13  lot better than the folks sitting up here.

         14                 I'm not a builder. I don't know the

         15  difference between one code or the other. It

         16  concerns me, and the conversation we were having at

         17  that briefing, you know, the underlying issue here

         18  is who is going to make the money from which code

         19  gets passed, and quite frankly, I will tell you, I

         20  have not heard a reason to say that, you know, one

         21  group or the other, you know, should be making the

         22  money and so, frankly, I don't care.

         23                 What does concern me are the issues

         24  that are substantive, that concern the plumbers,

         25  concern the firefighters, that are different between
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          2  these two codes, and one of the issues that I raised

          3  for you at that time, and I'm kind of interested in

          4  knowing what your thinking is on the issue now, is

          5  plastic piping.

          6                 Where does the Administration come

          7  down on that question, as we sit here today?

          8                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: We think

          9  there should be more of it used. And the NFPA 5000

         10  allows it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And the

         12  International Building Code does not?

         13                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Is less.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Allows less of

         15  it.

         16                 And why do you think there should be

         17  more plastic piping allowed?

         18                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Than current

         19  use in New York City?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes.

         21                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: It's been

         22  proven in other jurisdictions to be effective and

         23  safe.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: But isn't it

         25  not customarily used in the City of New York?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: Correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And why is it

          4  not customarily used in the City of New York at

          5  present?

          6                 I mean, I can tell by the reaction of

          7  the people who lay their hands on the pipe that

          8  they're not terribly happy about that. Why would you

          9  think they're not happy about it, Commissioner?

         10                 And bear in mind, Commissioner, I've

         11  kind of said they probably know a lot more about

         12  piping than I do.

         13                 COMMISSIONER LANCASTER: The issue is

         14  being reviewed in the Plumbing Subcommittee and will

         15  be held there.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: On Sunday,

         17  Commissioner, we call that a punt.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: All right,

         20  hold it down.

         21                 Do we have any more questions for

         22  this panel? If not, thank you very much. You're

         23  dismissed.

         24                 Besides trying to keep order at my

         25  hearing, I also try and keep the hearing fair. We

                                                            122

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  just had a panel, and I hate to say we have sides on

          3  this issue, we have two pieces of legislation on

          4  this issue.

          5                 We had a panel that spoke on 478, the

          6  next panel will speak on 368. And the panel is --

          7  and, again, I ask for your indulgence. Please

          8  respect everybody that speaks. No booing, no

          9  hissing. We have Jim Shannon from the NFPA. We have

         10  Kevin McGuire from the Disabled Community. Peter

         11  Gorman, I see you back there. And Bertha Lewis.

         12                 Now that the Administration has

         13  testified, from here on in, each person that

         14  testifies is put on a three-minute clock.

         15                 Obviously you haven't been at

         16  hearings before. A three-minute clock. You look at

         17  the folks around this room, you know if we don't

         18  have a three-minute clock you'll be here til next

         19  Tuesday. I have no intention of staying here that

         20  long. Without me, you don't have a hearing.

         21                 So, each person has a three-minute

         22  clock. If you have testimony that's longer than

         23  three minutes, then please just go through it and

         24  condense it into three minutes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Madam Chair?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: If you

          3  condense your hearing but hand it in, your whole

          4  testimony is part of the record.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Madam Chair?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Would you

          7  please pay very close attention, because there are a

          8  couple here that are creating disturbances and I

          9  want them out.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Madam Chair, I

         11  would also ask that the leadership here of the

         12  unions, and everyone who has brought so many great

         13  folks here to be supporters, and I think that's a

         14  good thing, please explain, it doesn't do anybody

         15  any good. We are all here for the same thing, to try

         16  to get to the truth, and I think as leadership,

         17  maybe you can make that clear to your members, all

         18  right?

         19                 We appreciate that you're here, it's

         20  a great thing. This is what City process is about,

         21  but don't degrade the process.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Madam Chair.

         23  Madam Chair, may I be heard?

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 I am requesting considering that this
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          2  Committee is hearing both intros. You have had,

          3  meaning you, as the Chair, has had the

          4  administration, along with Fire Department Chief and

          5  Housing Department Commissioner and the Chief

          6  Executive for the Mayor for the Advocacy Group to

          7  give testimony, and the bottom line is, they have

          8  had more than three minutes, and they are the

          9  primary, primary people with respect to Intro., what

         10  is it? 478. And I respectfully, as far as standards

         11  and equity, that this panel, the initial panel, be

         12  given at least five minutes each, instead of three

         13  minutes to present their information, because I

         14  think it is totally unfair just to give that group a

         15  total of approximately two hours of questions and

         16  answers and presentation, and then to give Intro.

         17  368, the people that are here on the initial panel,

         18  only three minutes each.

         19                 So, I respectfully request that you

         20  give them five minutes each, and then go to three

         21  minutes thereafter.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Wait a

         23  minute. Don't go there.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, she's

         25  right. Don't go there. This is an internal
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          2  discussion that we're having, you know, with the

          3  Chair and me, as a member of the Committee, and as a

          4  primary sponsor of 358.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: There was an

          6  understanding, RJ, that there was a technical

          7  committee that we will allow more time for. This I

          8  am told is not the technical committee.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. Very

         10  good.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: So when we

         12  have what I'm being told is the technical committee,

         13  yes, we will allow them more time.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: But also bear

         16  in mind that we always give the Administration more

         17  time. I mean, the IBC is limited to their minutes

         18  also.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I hear

         20  what you're saying, but the Administration, in this

         21  particular case is the Buildings Commissioner, and

         22  in my opinion, not the Fire Department, not the

         23  advocacy office, not the HPD Commissioner, it is the

         24  Building Commissioner.

         25                 Now, they incorporate it that way, or
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          2  you incorporated it or somebody did, so that's

          3  another way of, in my opinion, padding the deck, but

          4  that's just my opinion.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, all the

          6  committees of the New York City Council allow the

          7  Administration, whoever they are, whatever committee

          8  they are, whatever commissioner they are, the

          9  Administration is allowed to speak without a time

         10  clock.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Every

         13  committee in this Council.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I am no

         16  different than any other.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         18  Madam Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: It's not my

         20  regulation. It's the committee system in this City

         21  Council.

         22                 So, you guys, not being the technical

         23  committee, are on a three-minute clock. And when we

         24  find the technical committee, they will go.

         25                 Please decide who is going to speak
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          2  first.

          3                 MR. SHANNON: In the interest of

          4  keeping with the time limitations, I will abandon my

          5  text and just make a few comments.

          6                 My name is Jim Shannon, I'm the

          7  President of NFPA. I appreciate the diligence with

          8  which this Committee and members of the Council have

          9  approached this important issue.

         10                 I know how difficult it is. I've

         11  served in government myself, both as a member of

         12  Congress, and as Attorney General of my State, and

         13  greatly appreciate your commitment to public safety.

         14                 I will not respond to many of the

         15  things that were said in the previous panel because

         16  the technical committee will. But I have to say at

         17  the outset, while I have great respect for all of

         18  the members of that panel, for their reputations in

         19  public service, and particularly, I might add, for

         20  Chief Hayden, who enjoys a national reputation in

         21  the fire service, there were many misstatements of

         22  fact that were made by that panel, which I hope will

         23  be corrected when we get to the technical part of

         24  the presentation.

         25                 I would just point out as one
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          2  example, however, that NFPA 5000 references 430

          3  documents, while the International Building Code

          4  represents 518 documents.

          5                 And I found it rather astounding that

          6  a commissioner of the City of New York would make

          7  this statement, and I wrote the words down, before

          8  this panel. "If the State were to conduct a survey,

          9  it would find..." You know, I think this whole

         10  process has been characterized by coming up with the

         11  answer and then formulating the question later on.

         12  If there has been no survey, how do we know what the

         13  result of that survey would be?

         14                 And then at the end, in response to

         15  Council Member Katz' question, about what's the

         16  difference, she didn't cite a lower level of safety.

         17  She said it really boils down to two things, track

         18  record and support. And I think that that should

         19  effect the way in which you view the spacious

         20  technical comments that were made by her and by some

         21  of the other members of the panel when they talked

         22  about level of safety --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: By "her" I

         24  assume you mean Commissioner Lancaster?

         25                 MR. SHANNON: Commissioner Lancaster.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.

          3                 MR. SHANNON: I think she did get to

          4  the point at the end, however, when she talked about

          5  the differences in the processes between NFPA, and

          6  ICC, and she was very candid in saying she believed

          7  that the final answer should be made by code

          8  officials. Well, we strongly disagree.

          9                 It is our belief that anybody who has

         10  a legitimate interest, whether they be a member of a

         11  building trade organization, the fire service,

         12  disability group, consumers, anybody who has a

         13  legitimate interest in public safety should have a

         14  say in how these codes are developed.

         15                 And this is the way that NFPA has

         16  always operated throughout it's 108-year history.

         17  This is why we have led the way in improving the

         18  level of safety. We learn from experiences, we

         19  investigate them as we did with Triangle Shirt waste

         20  fire in New York, and incident after incident, as we

         21  did with the World Trade Center fire, we bring

         22  together the best people from around the country to

         23  make these decisions. We invite everybody to be

         24  heard, and we submit, and this is very important, we

         25  submit our documents to the American National
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          2  Standard Institute to ensure that the process has

          3  been fair, open, transparent, not dominated by

          4  special interests, and not the product of one group,

          5  as the ICC is with the code enforcers, but

          6  represents the broad interest of the public we're

          7  trying to serve.

          8                 So, I think that is the difference. I

          9  appreciate the opportunity to appear before you

         10  today. I certainly would be happy to answer any

         11  questions that you have.

         12                 I have a lot more to say, but in the

         13  interest of time, I'll turn it over to the rest of

         14  the panel.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 MR. GORMAN: I guess I should say good

         17  afternoon, Madam Chairwoman Provenzano, and members

         18  of the Committee.

         19                 My name is Pete Gorman. I'm a

         20  firefighter, a captain for 31 years in the Fire

         21  Department. I'm also the President of my union, the

         22  Uniformed Fire Officers Association, which

         23  represents 2,500 members of the rank of lieutenant,

         24  captain, battalion chief, deputy chief and

         25  supervising fire marshal.

                                                            131

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 And, again, I'll keep my testimony

          3  short, as you requested.

          4                 Attached to my testimony is a copy of

          5  a letter that I sent to the entire City Council last

          6  week, and I just attached it to my testimony for you

          7  to review again.

          8                 And let me just comment, one of the

          9  things I could talk about is process. I'm a

         10  firefighter, I'm a union leader. I am not an

         11  architect, I am not an engineer, I'm not an

         12  attorney.

         13                 Councilman Jackson talked about --

         14  well, the question came up, well, can you apply

         15  Local Law 5 or some stringent code into the NFPA

         16  code or the IBC? And if there's a flaw in Intro.

         17  368, I would just say, as a legislative body, just

         18  to correct that, because my understanding was no

         19  matter what code is adopted, you'd have to apply the

         20  most stringent fire codes.

         21                 For example, Local Law 5 is a

         22  high-rise fire code, that you may recall was adopted

         23  after the New York, the one New York Plaza fire in

         24  1970, when they used to have heat-sensing elevator

         25  recall button, and the elevator was recalled to the
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          2  fire floor and someone was killed. New York City had

          3  a stringent code, and Fire Commissioner Chief

          4  O'Hagen at the time addressed that, and that's why

          5  Local Law 5 was implemented.

          6                 No matter what code is applied here,

          7  that certainly there are provisions in New York City

          8  Building Code that have to be applied.

          9                 We strongly support the NFPA code. We

         10  strongly support Intro. 368.

         11                 And the process I want to talk about

         12  is who writes the code and who is looking at it? I

         13  don't think -- firefighters should write building

         14  codes, not engineers. But I do think you have to

         15  rely on the people that you count on as elected

         16  officials to rescue and save people.

         17                 The NFPA codes, I sit on an NFPA

         18  committee. It's a 1710 committee, unrelated to the

         19  Building Code. It's an apparatus deployment

         20  committee. That committee has labor representatives,

         21  that I sit as a labor representative. It has

         22  representatives from the International Association

         23  of Fire Chiefs. It has representatives from the

         24  International League of Cities, and the

         25  International City and County Managers Association,
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          2  ICMA. And it is a process where you are forced to

          3  sit down and understand the needs of city

          4  government, understand the needs of elected

          5  officials, the constraints of budgets, and they

          6  learn the needs of firefighters and what's required

          7  on the fire ground.

          8                 That's the kind of process I think

          9  the NFPA offers to the Building Code, and that is,

         10  that you have to be a first responder to understand

         11  and have input and say in the process of developing

         12  the Building Code. Not to have any kind of

         13  jurisdiction, because in the NFPA, no one

         14  stakeholder group has more than one-third of the

         15  vote, and you need two-thirds vote to change any

         16  process in the NFPA, and I think that's the key

         17  element that I can inject as a union president, that

         18  it's the process, and the process is that City

         19  people, that engineers, that architects, and labor

         20  people, and fire service non-labor people have input

         21  into the process.

         22                 I have great respect for Pete Hayden.

         23  I think he's a wonderful, not just as Chief of

         24  Department. I do disagree with him, because I just

         25  want the Council to know that back in the winter of
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          2  2003, I did testify before the Mayor's Advisory

          3  Committee. I strongly supported the NFPA. I then

          4  subsequent to that mailed a copy of that to the Fire

          5  Commissioner, along with a letter to him, telling

          6  him that we strongly support the NFPA code. He

          7  acknowledged that letter. I can certainly provide it

          8  for you later on today, Madam Chair. And we have not

          9  been asked to take part in the process.

         10                 We have been invited to sit on this

         11  code revision, but as Councilman Jackson said, it

         12  was putting the cart before the horse. Because my

         13  fire officers have done a wonderful job trying to

         14  adapt the code for the IBC, but the thing is, that

         15  should be done after this legislative body decided

         16  on what code to adopt, and I think that's the point

         17  that was made, and the point that I wanted to make.

         18  It will always take part in an NFPA, or any kind of

         19  a building code process, but we strongly support the

         20  NFPA code. We have been there since day one. We are

         21  not changing our mind, because we are concerned with

         22  firefighter safety, and more importantly, we risk

         23  our lives to protect public safety. That's the point

         24  I want to stress on the Council, and I think you

         25  Madam Chair for the opportunity to testify.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Again, please

          3  refrain from applauding after everyone speaks. The

          4  end of the day you could have one great, big, fat

          5  applause, okay? At 5:00, if you're all still here.

          6                 MS. LEWIS: Thank you, Madam Chair,

          7  and the Committee. My name is Bertha Lewis, and I am

          8  the Executive Director for New York ACORN, which is

          9  the Association of Community Organizations called

         10  REFORM NOW.

         11                 ACORN is committed to better housing

         12  for first-time home buyers and tenants, but most

         13  importantly, the safety of our members and tenants

         14  and home-owners, especially those who are low- and

         15  moderate-income that reside in New York City. For

         16  that reason, we are extremely interested in the

         17  safety codes in New York City, and we want to make

         18  sure that New York City's codes are the safest, not

         19  just the most convenient, for developers and

         20  builders.

         21                 That is why we support the use of a

         22  building code developed by the National Fire

         23  Protection Association, to serve as a basis for New

         24  York City's updated model Building Code.

         25                 I'm going to give you some reasons
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          2  why specifically we think that this is the right

          3  choice for New York City.

          4                 Number one, compared to any other

          5  available model building code, NFPA's codes requires

          6  greater protection against fires for columns and

          7  beams in high-rise buildings. And I stress this,

          8  because this is by and large where our members rent

          9  and live.

         10                 NFPA's codes includes more

         11  comprehensive requirements for smoke detectors. NFPA

         12  mandates wider exit stairways, even in buildings

         13  where sprinklers are used. That extra room helps my

         14  members get out of their building safely, in case of

         15  an emergency, and during an emergency.

         16                 This NFPA code requires more room

         17  from the floor to the ceiling in most of its

         18  buildings.

         19                 That extra space is precious, and

         20  would provide more space and room to breathe during

         21  an emergency.

         22                 NFPA requires buildings that have

         23  in-place detailed descriptions of fire protection

         24  systems and alarm systems. That information is

         25  critical to firefighters during an emergency. In the
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          2  buildings that ACORN developed, we actually

          3  voluntarily put those, those descriptions, in all of

          4  our buildings that help our tenants.

          5                 The use of NFPA's code is also the

          6  right choice for health care facilities in this

          7  City.

          8                 For example, NFPA requires automatic

          9  fire sprinklers in all new health care facilities.

         10                 NFPA is the organization that has

         11  long developed these safety provisions that are used

         12  in hospitals and nursing homes.

         13                 Just one more second. This gives us a

         14  greater level of safety in day care facilities,

         15  which is of a special concern to my memberships.

         16                 This code at least requires two

         17  exits, not one, as in the previous code. Very few

         18  children in this facility, in day care facilities,

         19  will get out if not for that second entrance.

         20                 Also, it allows different people from

         21  all walks of life to own their homes not built in a

         22  shoddy way, but in the end, I've heard a lot of talk

         23  here about affordable housing.

         24                 We know about affordable housing. And

         25  we want housing to be affordable, but we are not,
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          2  not in agreement with having affordable housing at

          3  the cost of our safety, at the cost of shortcuts.

          4                 Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          6                 MR. McGUIRE: I'll be actually pretty

          7  short and sweet, just to allow some time if anybody

          8  wanted to ask any questions.

          9                 My name is Kevin McGuire. I was hit

         10  by a drunk driver in 1968 when I was seven in

         11  Upstate New York, in Newburgh. I did my

         12  undergraduate work in Boston, and then I worked for

         13  Senator Kennedy up there, and went to law school at

         14  George Town where I worked for the former

         15  Congressman Hamilton Fitz, Jr.

         16                 I own a consulting firm called

         17  "McGuire Associates." I work for, for the most

         18  part, professional sports teams, cultural

         19  institutions, municipalities around the country

         20  regarding access issues for people with

         21  disabilities, and not just people who use

         22  wheelchairs, but people who have sensory and

         23  cognitive disabilities also.

         24                 Here in New York City I work with the

         25  Shubert Organization and Neidlanders, to increase

                                                            139

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  access again for people with disabilities going into

          3  those venues.

          4                 Another key component of the work

          5  that I do is evacuation for people with

          6  disabilities. I work with NFL films to produce major

          7  videos and DVDs around, that are used around the

          8  country, on the planning and the training for

          9  evacuating people with disabilities, from all types

         10  of buildings, including high-rises, office

         11  buildings, professional sports buildings, performing

         12  arts centers, residential buildings. The point being

         13  that it's just not enough to get people to, using

         14  wheelchairs, to areas of rescue and telling them to

         15  wait. That there probably should be more planning

         16  and training to get people out with disabilities

         17  when time is of the essence.

         18                 I've worked within a PA for, I guess

         19  a little over a year now, and the one issue about

         20  them that's always struck me as being proactive, is

         21  including people with disabilities right in the

         22  beginning of the process and not having for the most

         23  part non-disabled individuals devising codes and

         24  procedures for dealing with people with disabilities

         25  and then having it supposedly work in entities where
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          2  they really don't know if they do or they don't.

          3                 And the great thing about the NFPA is

          4  that they have brought in people with disabilities,

          5  with all types of disabilities, again, cognitive,

          6  sensory and physical, on the whole code process and

          7  developing code, when they're actually being

          8  developed, and not making it an after fact where

          9  we've got the code, this is what we think you should

         10  do, make it work.

         11                 And then most times you find out, and

         12  especially in the World Trade Center, that it

         13  doesn't work, that evacuating people with

         14  disabilities, that issue being alone, did not work

         15  in the World Trade Center because the codes and the

         16  regulations weren't sufficient enough to safely

         17  protect people with disabilities.

         18                 And, again, that one issue alone,

         19  about inclusion, bringing people with disabilities

         20  early in the process, for that reason alone I think

         21  NFPA should be commended, and I think that 368

         22  should be the code that's adopted by the City of New

         23  York.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         25                 You're the model code so far, you all
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          2  stayed within the time limit.

          3                 Council Member Rivera.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Oh, we've

          6  been joined by Council Member Christine Quinn, and

          7  Council Member Helen Sears.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you very

          9  much, Madam Chair. Thank you for joining us here

         10  today also. I think that we are going to get a lot

         11  of good information from both sides and hopefully

         12  come to a consensus on what ultimately should be

         13  passed.

         14                 I just have a couple of questions

         15  similar to what I've asked of the Administration, in

         16  terms of easements, egress, and the fire wall.

         17                 Is it more accessible under the NFPA

         18  than the IBC? Is the egress standard from the ground

         19  floor to the top floor, or is there a variation in

         20  terms of the egress and the firewall? How many hours

         21  is provided under your firewall, as opposed to the

         22  IBC firewall time slot?

         23                 And then I just have a couple of

         24  concerns with what I see in the comparison chart.

         25                 This says that the NFPA 5000 actually

                                                            142

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  would nullify the carbon monoxide bill that we just

          3  recently passed in the City Council, would nullify

          4  the World Trade Center bill that was passed as well,

          5  and also I mean this kind of actually does not seem

          6  right, or should not be right, does not allow for

          7  fire escapes.

          8                 There's a couple of things here I

          9  just have some concerns about, I want to get some

         10  answers.

         11                 Obviously there was some reference

         12  made to the fact that the NFPA 5000 document is more

         13  of a reference guide that would force people to buy

         14  the documentation to implement the building code.

         15                 So, is it a reference guide? Or is it

         16  a stand alone document that will allow for builders

         17  to build a site, or will they have to go on and

         18  purchase other documents?

         19                 MR. SHANNON: Councilman, if I could

         20  on the technical questions, having to do with the

         21  firewall ratings and the egress, if I could hold

         22  them until a later panel when Nancy McNabb, who is a

         23  technical person, will be able to answer those

         24  questions, and not misstate them, as I probably

         25  would, frankly.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.

          3                 MR. SHANNON: Let me start with the

          4  last part of your question, with regard to NFPA as a

          5  reference guide.

          6                 All model codes are to some degree

          7  reference guides. They all reference documents

          8  outside of their own scope.

          9                 As I pointed out in my statement,

         10  this is a major distortion to suggest that the NFPA

         11  5000 references more documents than the IBC, that is

         12  not true. NFPA 5000 references 430 documents, the

         13  IBC references 518 documents. That's the way model

         14  codes are developed.

         15                 But I want to say that at NFPA, we

         16  have done something that nobody else has done, which

         17  is recognizing the fact that all people in society

         18  potentially have some real interest in how these

         19  codes are written and developed and so forth.

         20                 We have taken steps to give the

         21  maximum public access to all of the documents that

         22  we control. What we have specifically done is put

         23  NPFA 5000, our model building code, up on the

         24  Internet for pre public access.

         25                 If anybody wants to see what's in
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          2  NFPA 5000, they can click on their computer, you can

          3  do it right now, and you'd be able to get it there

          4  in a matter of seconds.

          5                 We are doing this over a period of

          6  time with all of the other documents that we develop

          7  as well, because we do think that it is important

          8  that people have access, as well.

          9                 These codes, once they're adopted

         10  become the law, and the community, and we think it's

         11  important that people have maximum access to the

         12  documents.

         13                 So, with regard to the documents that

         14  we control. We are taking major steps, and I have to

         15  say and I will say, modestly at some financial cost

         16  to ourselves and risk to ourselves to give the

         17  public maximum access to all of the documents.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Now, on the

         19  particular documents, you said that there's about

         20  400 some odd documents that does get reference from

         21  the NFPA and then 500 some documents from the IBC?

         22                 MR. SHANNON: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: From those 400

         24  some odd documents, do you charge for those each

         25  individual documents? Or is it a free service?
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          2                 MR. SHANNON: No. I mean, if a

          3  document is referenced, then the owner of the

          4  referenced document is able to do with that what he

          5  or she wants to do, so typically if somebody wants

          6  to buy a hard copy of a document from any code

          7  developer, they're going to be charged for it.

          8                 But what we have done, which no other

          9  code developer has done, is initiated a policy of

         10  giving people access to these documents without

         11  being charged, and that's so if you're a citizen who

         12  has an interest, if you're a group like ACORN that

         13  has an interest in the particular requirement and

         14  you want to be able to access that, you can do it.

         15  You can do it now and just go on, and you don't have

         16  to pay anything for that.

         17                 I would like to address, I left out

         18  the middle part of your question which had to do

         19  with the amendment process. And I really want to

         20  clarify this. I think Councilman Jackson clarified

         21  it earlier in the hearing.

         22                 It has always been the intention, as

         23  far as I know, that whatever code is adopted, will

         24  go through an amendment process, and so if there are

         25  New York City specific amendments that the City

                                                            146

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  wants to add, this is typically the way codes are

          3  adopted. The model code is adopted, and then we work

          4  with the local community or with the state to draft

          5  and implement whatever amendments they think are

          6  important.

          7                 The difference with NFPA 5000, is

          8  that often times, people will get involved in that

          9  local amendment process, and then have the full

         10  ability to come back and bring them into our system

         11  and put them in the model code for the next

         12  provision, and participate fully including voting on

         13  that when that final decision is made, you don't

         14  have to be a code official to do it.

         15                 And I would also like to point out,

         16  since we're getting into the question of public

         17  access, and I had included this in my prepared

         18  remarks, one of the most important documents that

         19  we're working on that we've made fully accessible,

         20  is NFPA 1600, which is our emergency preparedness

         21  document, and I was very honored a few months ago to

         22  listen to Secretary Ridge, just a few blocks from

         23  here, testify and urge as part of the 9/11

         24  Commission, that that become the National Emergency

         25  Preparedness standard for the whole country, and
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          2  that is included in the legislation, which is

          3  currently tied up in the Congress.

          4                 That document we put up on the

          5  Internet immediately, and we've had over 50,000

          6  downloads of that document, because we think it's

          7  such importance to public safety, particularly in

          8  communities like New York.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Very quickly,

         10  also, in the case of Los Angeles, why was it that it

         11  failed in Los Angeles and the municipalities, why is

         12  it that the NFPA is not implemented in more

         13  municipalities and in California they dropped the

         14  commission to try to implement the NFPA.

         15                 MR. SHANNON: No, in point of fact,

         16  the State of California, last year the Building

         17  Standards Commission, which is the body that has the

         18  authority to choose a building code, chose NFPA 5000

         19  over the International Building Code, and there is

         20  an amendment process that is taking place there now.

         21                 The amendment process has been slowed

         22  down because we had the recall election, the change

         23  in administration. But that process is moving

         24  forward, and as we speak today, while it has not

         25  been implemented, the chosen building code for the
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          2  whole State of California, is NFPA 5000. And I would

          3  point out to you that that decision was made after

          4  an extensive survey of NFPA 5000 and the IBC was

          5  done by the State Fire Marshals' Office in

          6  California and it was the strong recommendation of

          7  the State Fire Marshals' Office that NFPA 5000 be

          8  chosen as the Building Code and that recommendation

          9  was followed by the Building Standards Commission.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: And Los

         11  Angeles, why did it fail there?

         12                 MR. SHANNON: To my knowledge, there

         13  has not been an adoption effort in Los Angeles that

         14  we've been involved with yet.

         15                 We've only been involved in the State

         16  adoption out there.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay. Thank

         18  you very much.

         19                 MR. SHANNON: But I also want to point

         20  out, because this just to another point that

         21  Commissioner Lancaster was making about track

         22  record. NFPA codes and standards are used and

         23  adopted every place in America. The National

         24  Electrical Code is the Electrical Code for the City

         25  of New York, in every State in America. The Life
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          2  Safety Code, which contains many of the elements of

          3  the Building Code, is used all across the country

          4  under federal law in health care facilities, and it

          5  is adopted by many communities in many states and

          6  followed.

          7                 The notion that there is no track

          8  record with NFPA is absurd. As I pointed out, you

          9  know, we have been involved in New York, the Life

         10  Safety Code really came from our study of the

         11  Triangle Shirt waste fire. And we have been involved

         12  in New York, and we've been involved across the

         13  country and have a very proud record of over 108

         14  years, and a track record of supporting codes that

         15  we will stand by.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: And to Mr.

         17  Gorman, also, on fire protection, one of the

         18  comparisons here shows that the columns under the

         19  NFPA have a two-hour firewall protection, while the

         20  floors only have a one-hour waiting. So, you have

         21  the columns still standing but you have the floors

         22  collapsing. Isn't that a major concern? How are we

         23  adjusting that?

         24                 MR. GORMAN: My understanding is that

         25  the NFPA code is more restricted on fire retardant
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          2  in high-rise buildings.

          3                 I think there's also a separation

          4  between buildings over 40 stories. NFPA has a

          5  four-hour rating on structural members.

          6                 As far as the floor rating. Like I

          7  said, I'm not the architect or engineer, but there's

          8  a difference between floors, even if it was a

          9  partial floor collapse, that the structural members

         10  will always have a fire resistant rating, because

         11  that's the structural member itself.

         12                 And I think if you look at any kind

         13  of building collapse, ironically, the only high-rise

         14  building that ever collapsed in this country, other

         15  than the two struck by the twin towers was 7 World

         16  Trade Center.

         17                 Even in Los Angeles, 15 years ago,

         18  there was a burn-out, it burned itself out in the

         19  top three floors, that building did not collapse.

         20                 So, it's something the City Council

         21  has to take a close look at. And our opinion is, if

         22  you look at the 1938 building code, which apply when

         23  the Empire State Building was built, those columns

         24  were encasing concrete. The 1968 building code

         25  removed those restrictions and allowed builders to
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          2  build more cheaply. That created problems in design

          3  -- well, it eliminated problems in design and

          4  construction, but caused problems for firefighters

          5  and caused the City of New York to implement Local

          6  Law 5 after the one New York Plaza fire in 1970.

          7                 So, it's our opinion that the highest

          8  fire rating that you could put on a structural

          9  member in any high-rise, even under 40 stories, is

         10  important to firefighter safety, and more

         11  importantly, to public safety.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Now, it also

         13  makes reference to the fact that most fires happen

         14  within residential buildings.

         15                 MR. GORMAN: That's absolutely right.

         16  And I'm glad you mentioned that, because there was

         17  an argument before about who requires sprinklers

         18  above one- or two-story homes. I would tell you, as

         19  the leader of my union, I would urge the City

         20  Council to adopt any private dwelling new

         21  construction, should have residential sprinkler

         22  laws. They have them in the town of Greenberg,

         23  Westchester County, but not in New York City, as

         24  they put a lot of residential homes in Staten Island

         25  and Queens especially.
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          2                 But that's something that we've been

          3  advocating. In fact, my two years as a union

          4  president, twice we have been before this Council

          5  testifying with our Fire Commissioner, and I'll give

          6  you two times, the Macauli Cauklin fire on the Upper

          7  West Side in 1998, and I think the same year we had

          8  three firefighters killed on Vendalia Avenue

          9  (phonetic) in Brooklyn. And we lobbied together, the

         10  Fire Department and the unions, urging City Council

         11  to enact legislation to retrofit existing multiple

         12  dwellings, fireproof multiple dwellings with

         13  sprinklers.

         14                 And I know that was cost-prohibitive,

         15  and the real estate lobby argued against it, and I

         16  understand the cost restrictions, but I think it's

         17  incumbent no matter what code you adopt to require

         18  residential sprinklers in one- and two-families. We

         19  advocate sprinklers in all residential buildings.

         20  It's the most important thing you can do, because

         21  you'll control fires and save lives before the Fire

         22  Department gets there.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: But in the

         24  NFPA, they don't require the residential property to

         25  have sprinkler protection, as far as I read it.
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          2                 MR. GORMAN: I want to be careful, and

          3  what I've found, I support the NFPA and Intro. 368,

          4  but when it comes to putting information out,

          5  there's a lot of he said, she said. And I read all

          6  the documentation of IBC and NFPA. So, I can't

          7  comment on that. I'm not sure, but for example, a

          8  three-story multiple dwelling in the Bronx, would

          9  that require a sprinkler on the NFPA or IBC? I'm not

         10  sure if either of them will require it. I think

         11  there's some argument back and forth, and I'll let

         12  the technical committee from NFPA answer that.

         13                 Our opinion of the union is,

         14  sprinkler everything, you'll save lives.

         15                 MR. SHANNON: If I can, Councilman,

         16  and, again, I think Nancy McNabb can address the

         17  question of the specific sprinkler requirements, but

         18  I want to point out that these codes set minimum

         19  safety standards, and there are circumstances where,

         20  because of the construction methods used, the Fire

         21  Department accessibility, or density of population,

         22  for instance, where you might want to go beyond that

         23  requirement, and those cases we work with you to try

         24  to bring it about.

         25                 We have been a strong proponent, for
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          2  instance, as Mr. Gorman was talking about, of

          3  residential fire sprinklers.

          4                 This is not required now by NFPA

          5  codes that single-family homes have sprinklers. It's

          6  something we fight for and advocate and we work with

          7  local communities that try to implement those kinds

          8  of, those kinds of requirements.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay. Thank

         10  you very much. No further questions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         12  Member Katz.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Good afternoon,

         14  everyone, and thank you for joining us here today.

         15                 Mr. Shannon, right?

         16                 MR. SHANNON: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: You heard me ask

         18  the Commissioner of Buildings relatively technical,

         19  not very exciting questions about the make-up of the

         20  committee, 13 committees, 1,300 people on the

         21  committee, and I guess I'm truly unclear, and we

         22  have been doing this for God knows how many months,

         23  and we've sat through a few hours here today, and

         24  it's not as if all of us in the Council, having been

         25  somewhat briefed on this and followed it quite
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          2  closely, we have two Council members who have been

          3  great advocates on both sides of the issue.

          4                 I'm unclear, when I look at the NFPA,

          5  I don't know what this is, the report, everyone is

          6  talking about process, and the way to change it, and

          7  the fact that, or that the NFPA is better for the

          8  Fire Department and plumbers, I assume, because it's

          9  easier to make them part of the process, and each

         10  one has, I see language, like each one has an equal

         11  vote, that type of stuff.

         12                 My question is, the process here

         13  calls for 16 technical committees, 400 volunteers

         14  representing numerous professions, additional staff

         15  reports.

         16                 So, I need you to put in the context

         17  of the basic differences without using words like,

         18  we get an equal vote, it's a better process, we like

         19  it better. What is the true technical differences

         20  between the process?

         21                 MR. SHANNON: You know, I think that

         22  that is the right question --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you. It's

         24  what I do for a living.

         25                 MR. SHANNON: With the Council, and I
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          2  say that, because I've been in the seat you are

          3  sitting in now, myself, and I think it was Council

          4  Member Brewer who focused on the processed questions

          5  and said, look, we're not the engineers, we have to

          6  rely on somebody to do this. And if I were sitting

          7  in your seat --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Can I just ask

          9  one more question, and I'll never interrupt you

         10  again.

         11                 MR. SHANNON: That's okay.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: We do a lot of

         13  laws, and we're not experts in those issues, so I

         14  guess in that context.

         15                 MR. SHANNON: I got you. But the real

         16  point is, which organization are you going to be

         17  comfortable with to draft a model code, and as much

         18  as you're going to amend it, you're only going to

         19  amend so much of it, the rest is going to come from

         20  the model code, and so that's why processes I think

         21  is the key, is the important question.

         22                 We operate under a system that is

         23  certified by the American National Standards

         24  Institute which basically requires, and this is a

         25  distinction between us and the ICC, our document is
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          2  an ANSI (phonetic) certified document. And what that

          3  means at the end of the day, the process we have

          4  followed is fair, the committees are balanced, and

          5  by that I mean no individual interest can contain

          6  any more than one-third of the votes, and you have

          7  to make changes with two-thirds of the votes, so you

          8  can't stack it with enforcement officials who might

          9  have a particular point of view or real estate

         10  interests who might have a particular point of view,

         11  or union members who might have a particular point

         12  of view.

         13                 So, that committee is balanced in the

         14  first instance. If somebody doesn't like the results

         15  they get at the technical committee level, they have

         16  the ability to come to our meeting and to argue for

         17  change in that provision, and that happens all the

         18  time. We meet every year. People come and they don't

         19  have to be a member to do so.

         20                 And I remember the public can come to

         21  our technical committee meeting, and they fight for

         22  that change. A vote is taken and then it goes to a

         23  standard council which is made up of 13 people,

         24  experts from diverse fields, and you're given a full

         25  and fair hearing on the record there, where you get
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          2  to argue for that change, and the decisions are made

          3  on the merits. If you don't like that, you get to

          4  take it to our Board of Directors, and if you feel

          5  you haven't been treated fairly in our system you

          6  get to appeal it to the American National Standards

          7  Institute, which is the overseer of standards in

          8  America. That's fundamentally different from the way

          9  the other people do it.

         10                 And I've got to say, if I was a

         11  public official, I would take a great deal of

         12  comfort in knowing that the model code came through

         13  that process, as opposed to one that is dominated

         14  just by enforcement officials.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: How were the 13

         16  people on the technical committee, who I assume make

         17  the final decisions, how were they chosen?

         18                 MR. SHANNON: They are chosen by our

         19  Board of Directors, and they're supposed to

         20  represent different disciplines?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And how are the

         22  Board of Directors chosen?

         23                 MR. SHANNON: They were chosen through

         24  a nominating committee made up of our membership.

         25                 Now, we have 75,000 members
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          2  nationally and internationally, we have 7,000 people

          3  who sit on technical committees, 400 of them on the

          4  Building Code Committee, but it is open to anybody

          5  who wants to come to a technical committee meeting

          6  can come and make their case, and our philosophy is

          7  fundamentally different. We believe if you have a

          8  legitimate interest in safety, you should be able to

          9  come and make your point.

         10                 And I have to say, I hate to keep on

         11  going back to this, but Commissioner Lancaster, you

         12  know, on the issue of safety, she cites the Trade

         13  Association for the concrete interests, is the

         14  source, right, in her testimony, the Portland Cement

         15  Association say this, and then she decries the fact

         16  that we allow organizations like that to participate

         17  in our system. You know, it's Orwellian. You can't

         18  have it both ways. Of course organizations like that

         19  should participate in the system, but you can't then

         20  criticize them for having a point of view.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Staying on this

         22  topic, so the NFPA members, the 75,000 people,

         23  they're the ones who can come and testify?

         24                 MR. SHANNON: Anybody can.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Anybody can. I
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          2  can come in off the street and testify.

          3                 MR. SHANNON: Anybody can come in and

          4  testify.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Any member of

          6  the public, sort of like our committee hearing?

          7                 MR. SHANNON: Anybody. Anybody can

          8  testify. Anybody can offer proposals.

          9                 If you want a change in the code, you

         10  can submit a code change in our process without

         11  being a member.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay. So, in the

         13  end, I'm just trying to really get to the crux of

         14  it, in the end, the ICC has a way of changing or

         15  suggesting really to legislators the code change,

         16  right? Because ultimately it ends up in our court.

         17  And the NFPA basically has a process for suggesting

         18  to legislators also.

         19                 MR. SHANNON: Right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: The difference

         21  would be that you process basically are made up of

         22  the members in the NFPA that are elected, the Board

         23  is elected by the 75,000 members, the Board then

         24  appoints the 13 technical committee members, the

         25  technical committee members then decide on what they
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          2  feel is safe and right, considering all the

          3  testimony, then those suggestions are made to the

          4  legislative body, who were ultimately, ultimately

          5  the legislative body, in the end they still are

          6  going to make that choice?

          7                 So, the other side is basically the

          8  ICC who is taking government officials in your view,

          9  government officials and making the suggestion from

         10  there.

         11                 MR. SHANNON: That's correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.

         13                 MR. SHANNON: And I do want to

         14  clarify, one thing about the standard council, the

         15  13-member committee, and that is, they are experts,

         16  they are drawn from different disciplines and fire

         17  protection, architecture and the like, but their

         18  principal job is to make sure the rules have been

         19  followed, and that nobody has gained in the system,

         20  it's another outlet for people to complain if they

         21  feel something has run amuck in the system. They

         22  don't typically overrule the technical committees

         23  unless there's been something that has gone off the

         24  rails.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And finally,
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          2  it's fairer basically in your view, because the

          3  one-third, can't be more than than --

          4                 MR. SHANNON: Look, I don't want to

          5  denigrate the ICC, I think it's a fine organization.

          6  But I want to say that we do have a basic difference

          7  in philosophy, and the basic difference in

          8  philosophy is we believe by having a more inclusive

          9  process you're going to develop better codes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.

         11                 MS. LEWIS: Can we make a comment here

         12  about this process, Madam Chair?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Bertha, do you

         14  want to go ahead and answer something?

         15                 MS. LEWIS: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Then I'll ask

         17  a question.

         18                 MS. LEWIS: You know, there's an old

         19  African proverb that says when elephants fight, the

         20  grass gets trampled, and I feel like in a certain

         21  way that Kevin and I are sitting here between

         22  elephants fighting, and i want to reiterate to

         23  Council Member Katz, that for us, a process that

         24  only has government officials, and a process that

         25  only has enforcement officials, and no way for folks
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          2  like Kevin and I to be a part of is a process that

          3  is flawed.

          4                 And, so, that is why I want to

          5  reiterate for us the consumers of all of this, that

          6  when you said what is the fundamental difference and

          7  why do you have this two processes, for us the

          8  process for 368 includes us and the process under

          9  the ICC does not.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Just to be

         12  clear, I wasn't making at that moment a judgment, I

         13  wanted to truly understand. We don't, for some

         14  reason those aspects of the conversation I was

         15  remiss on, I don't believe that they went into, and

         16  so I thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you,

         18  Melinda.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         20  Member Brewer.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you,

         22  Melinda, for asking those questions about the

         23  process, so I won't belabor it. Although, I think at

         24  some point it might be helpful for the Committee to

         25  have like a flow chart so that we understand how
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          2  this works from both sides, since it is, as you

          3  correctly stated something that I'm concerned about.

          4                 The question about how many staff

          5  people you have and the training. In the

          6  Commissioner's statement, she did make a comment

          7  that there wasn't adequate training for the

          8  electrical code. So, I'm wondering, you know,

          9  nationally, how do you do your training? And also,

         10  how do people actually get to the 13 committees? Are

         11  they held in Washington, the meetings? Are they held

         12  in New York? Do they pay themselves?

         13                 How do they get there, and who pays?

         14                 MR. SHANNON: I'm delighted that you

         15  asked the question because I want to correct

         16  something that the Commissioner said, another

         17  misstatement, frankly.

         18                 We offered free training for

         19  enforcement officials in connection with the

         20  adoption of the electrical code. The City never took

         21  us up on the offer, and I have to say, you know, I

         22  don't want to try to get into people's motivation,

         23  but I think it was very convenient that she was able

         24  to say, well, they never provided it.

         25                 We offered it, nobody ever came and
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          2  said bring it, and now they're saying we never

          3  provided it.

          4                 I'm going to say right now, what we

          5  said in other jurisdictions, with regard to NFPA

          6  5000, we will provide free training and code books

          7  for any enforcement officials in the City of New

          8  York. It's part of our standard procedure in dealing

          9  with this code. With regard to adoptions, we've got

         10  plenty of people involved in doing that, it's part

         11  of the service that we provide and we're offering to

         12  this community, and I want that to be on the record,

         13  and we will make sure that we do that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And then the

         15  other question was, people come to your 13 --

         16                 MR. SHANNON: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And how do

         18  they get there? I'm Gale Brewer, and I don't have

         19  money, but I'm a public person; how do I get there?

         20                 MR. SHANNON: The other thing we do,

         21  and, frankly, I don't know whether the other side is

         22  involved in this, but for people who represent

         23  certain consumer groups, and enforcement officials,

         24  we do provide a level of funding so that they can

         25  make the technical committee meeting.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, somebody

          3  else does this, if you get my drift?

          4                 MR. SHANNON: You know, we make sure

          5  that people can get to the meetings, if they come

          6  from a group that otherwise doesn't have -- and this

          7  has been a problem I think in code development

          8  generally, as public budgets have been shrinking,

          9  there hasn't been the money, we believe it's

         10  important that the enforcement officials be there,

         11  and so we provide a level of funding for an

         12  enforcement official.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Mr. Gorman, I

         14  have a quick question, which is, you testified that

         15  you had participated in the hearing of the Buildings

         16  Department, that you were actually on the Committee

         17  for National Codes. So, I'm just wondering, was your

         18  union offered to be part of the local process? I

         19  mean, I'm just trying to understand what was

         20  offered.

         21                 MR. GORMAN: As was pointed out in the

         22  earlier testimony, when the hearings were held, I

         23  think in February of '03, we testified in favor of

         24  the NFPA. That's the last we heard of this. At that

         25  point the City, as Councilman Jackson pointed out,
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          2  the whole process was put in place to adopt the IBC.

          3  The Fire Department, who got their marching orders

          4  and do work for the Mayor of the City of New York,

          5  formed the Committee to adapt New York City Fire and

          6  Building Code to the IDC, but they did that before

          7  the City Council took legislative action on what

          8  code is going to be adopted.

          9                 We were invited to sit in on those

         10  committees, and I've had some members of my board

         11  sit in for the simple reason no matter what code,

         12  you know, the Fire Department uses, we certainly

         13  want to have input because our concern is the safety

         14  of our members.

         15                 So, no matter what code is adopted,

         16  we will take part when invited to by the Fire

         17  Commissioner, but at this point, the only committee

         18  he put together was adopting City codes to the IBC.

         19  We think that was a flawed policy.

         20                 Did we take part in it? Yes, we did,

         21  because absence of no alternative we certainly do

         22  take part of that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So the hearing

         24  that you testified at, were you members sitting as

         25  part of this discussion before the hearing,

                                                            168

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  obviously perhaps after, but also before or not?

          3                 MR. GORMAN: I believe I testified

          4  that one or two of my board members, it was held

          5  just around Presidents Day or right about that time,

          6  it was in Bowling Green, in the Federal Court House,

          7  I believe. There were some members from NFPA, from

          8  IBC, and other interest groups, but we testified on

          9  behalf of my union in strong favor of the NFPA

         10  adoption.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you,

         12  Madam Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I have a

         14  couple of questions.

         15                 In listening to most of the testimony

         16  from this panel, a lot of the testimony seems to

         17  relate to fire, and I know that's your area of

         18  expertise. But we all know that our Building Code,

         19  as it stands today, also applies to construction,

         20  alteration, repair, demolition, removal,

         21  maintenance, occupancy, and I haven't heard a whole

         22  lot about that.

         23                 So, if anyone would like to comment

         24  on how you deal with those areas, as opposed to the

         25  international codes?
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          2                 MR. SHANNON: Well, Madam Chair, I

          3  think that we follow the same, it's the same

          4  process. We have a broader tent of people involved

          5  in those structural and construction areas, but it

          6  follows the same rule. And I would point out that

          7  many of those disciplines, have already been

          8  involved in the NFPA process previously.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: How long have

         10  they been involved in NFPA?

         11                 MR. SHANNON: A hundred years.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: How many?

         13                 MR. SHANNON: A hundred years.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: In the NFPA

         15  5000?

         16                 MR. SHANNON: I'm talking about the

         17  NFPA process. Because any aspects of NFPA 5000

         18  affect those industries in other codes.

         19                 For instance, in our life safety

         20  code. Many of the elements of the building code are

         21  contained in the life safety code. There's a lot of

         22  overlap. We've been developing that code for

         23  decades. So we've had many of those decades involved

         24  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: So that says
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          2  it goes to the international code, which is one

          3  code, you are reaching out to other codes to pull in

          4  their expertise?

          5                 MR. SHANNON: No, I think, if I

          6  understood your question properly, your question to

          7  me was how long have those groups been involved in

          8  the NFPA process, and I'm saying --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I don't think

         10  that's what I asked.

         11                 MR. SHANNON: Well, why don't you

         12  restate your question, and I'll try to answer your

         13  question.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. My

         15  question was how long has the NFPA 5000 been

         16  involved in all of these other issues, other than

         17  fire.

         18                 MR. SHANNON: I thought you said NFPA.

         19  NFPA 5000 has only been in existence for the last

         20  few years.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: But that's

         22  the one you're advocating today.

         23                 MR. SHANNON: That's correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: The NFPA

         25  5000.
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          2                 MR. SHANNON: But if you're asking,

          3  how long have the groups that have been involved in

          4  developing NFPA 5000, that involve with the NFPA

          5  process, I'm telling you that many of them, most of

          6  them have been involved with NFPA for decades

          7  developing different aspects of different codes, and

          8  similar provisions to the ones that they're

          9  developing in 5000.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: It sounds

         11  complicated to me.

         12                 MR. SHANNON: It's actually very

         13  simple.

         14                 It's very simple. And our process has

         15  always been one that invites anybody who has a

         16  legitimate interest in a code to participate in the

         17  process. So, we've always had a broad tent at NFPA.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: How many

         19  single or two-family residences have been

         20  constructed using 5000?

         21                 MR. SHANNON: NFPA 5000 doesn't deal

         22  with one- and two-family housing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Doesn't deal

         24  with, okay.

         25                 What about commercial buildings?
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          2                 MR. SHANNON: NFPA 5000, as I

          3  indicated to you, is a new code and it's just been

          4  adopted in a handful of communities in America.

          5                 The State of California will be using

          6  it. It has been used where it hasn't been adopted to

          7  build buildings in Arizona, I know. But it is a code

          8  that has just come into play in the last two years.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: The State of

         10  Arizona?

         11                 MR. SHANNON: No, it has not been

         12  adopted in Arizona.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: It has not

         14  been adopted.

         15                 MR. SHANNON: But it has been used by

         16  architects in Arizona, I'm aware of, to build

         17  buildings.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: How many

         19  formal adoptions are there of NFPA 5000?

         20                 MR. SHANNON: State of California, in

         21  a handful of communities other than California.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: So, one state

         23  has adopted the NFPA 5000.

         24                 MR. SHANNON: California, that's

         25  correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: The entire

          3  state.

          4                 MR. SHANNON: That's correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And that's a

          6  formal adoption?

          7                 MR. SHANNON: That's correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And you're

          9  saying other small towns and municipalities.

         10                 Council Member, where did you go,

         11  Jackson?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm here,

         13  Madam Chair.

         14                 Madam Chair, if you don't mind, for

         15  one second, I mean I'm so happy today, I just wanted

         16  to make a quick announcement, you know, Madam Chair,

         17  the hearings on the Education lawsuit CFE, Justice

         18  Leland DeGrasse appointed a three panel, and they

         19  were supposed to make recommendations today. The

         20  recommendation came out from the panel for the New

         21  York City school children, $5.6 billion in operating

         22  money, and $9.3 billion in capital, and

         23  implementation within 90 days. So, I mean this is a

         24  great victory on behalf of the children of New York

         25  City.
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          2                 But let me get back to what we're

          3  here for this morning and this afternoon.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

          5  Robert.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Real quick,

          7  can we please have a round of applause for Robert

          8  Jackson.

          9                 (Applause.)

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Bow, stand up.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, when we

         12  get the money, then I'll stand up.

         13                 But I just wanted to ask two

         14  questions, and then I'm going to try to be brief.

         15                 What has NFPA and ICC done with

         16  regards to building safety in New York City?

         17                 I mean, what's been the difference as

         18  far as the two organizations, in your opinion?

         19                 MR. SHANNON: I can't really refer to

         20  ICC, because I don't know their record well, but I

         21  know that NFPA has been deeply involved in New York

         22  City for decades and decades.

         23                 As I indicated, you know, the Life

         24  Safety Code, which is one of our major documents

         25  really sprang from the Triangle Shirt waste fire,
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          2  but we have been involved, one of the things that we

          3  do that I know the ICC does not do, is we

          4  investigation fires and incidents, try to learn from

          5  them, and try to share that knowledge with the

          6  communities that are affected.

          7                 We were involved, for instance, in

          8  the first investigation of the World Trade Center

          9  bombing, and involved in coming up with

         10  recommendations to change some of the egress

         11  requirements to the World Trade Center after the

         12  1993 bombing. We have worked with the Fire

         13  Department very, very closely over the years. We

         14  have hundreds of New York City residents, many of

         15  them fire officials, but others who sit on our

         16  technical committee. The Life Safety Code is used in

         17  every health care facility in the City of New York,

         18  the National Electrical Code, which is one of our

         19  major safety documents is the basis for the

         20  electrical code of the City of New York. So, we've

         21  had a long and deep working relationship with the

         22  City of New York.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And with

         24  respect to, I hear that by adopting the NFPA 5000

         25  code, that it would be more expensive than adopting
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          2  the IBC International Building Code, which is being

          3  put forward by the ICC, the International Code

          4  Council. So, can you give us your take on this

          5  particular matter, as far as NFPA is concerned?

          6                 MR. SHANNON: Yes. I have to say, and

          7  one of the commissioners was throwing around some

          8  numbers, and I listened very closely because we are

          9  told, you know, it wasn't his numbers, it was

         10  somebody gave him some numbers, but, you know,

         11  Commissioner Lancaster, again, at the end, she

         12  didn't say cost. She said, well, the reason to

         13  choose the ICC is because we think you'll support it

         14  more and because they get a longer track record.

         15                 Well, I question whether they will

         16  support it more than the NFPA will, or that they

         17  have a longer track record. But I don't think

         18  there's a cost differential of any magnitude here

         19  between the two codes for development. And I would

         20  say that we have another provision in our code that

         21  in fact can bring construction costs down with the

         22  NFPA code that doesn't exist with the IBC, and that

         23  is the use of the performance criteria.

         24                 So, that if somebody comes in and

         25  says we can achieve the same safety goal in a more
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          2  economical way. That is allowable under NFPA 5000,

          3  if they can demonstrate to the authorities having

          4  jurisdiction that the same level of safety can be

          5  met. And I think that that degree of flexibility

          6  could result, and I'm not going to make any rash

          7  promises here, but could result in cost savings for

          8  some buildings and developers.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Peter Gorman,

         10  you're the president of the Uniformed Firefighters

         11  Officers Association?

         12                 MR. GORMAN: At the Fire Officers.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Fire

         14  Officers.

         15                 MR. GORMAN: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, you said

         17  that you serve on one of the committees on NFPA, and

         18  you said I think on that committee there are a lot

         19  of chiefs, fire chiefs from around the country?

         20                 MR. GORMAN: There are. There's an

         21  association of the International Association of Fire

         22  Chiefs. It's not a labor organization, it's a

         23  professional fire chiefs organization. I think most

         24  of our ranking chiefs are members of that committee

         25  of every large, small department, also the volunteer

                                                            178

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  fire services.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I don't

          4  know the answer to that. I'm not asking a loaded

          5  question, but is the New York City Fire Department

          6  chiefs represented on that particular committee?

          7                 MR. GORMAN: On my committee? The

          8  committee I serve on, there is not a New York City

          9  fire chief. But we do have New York City fire chiefs

         10  on a whole host, a whole range of NFPA committees

         11  right now.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         13                 MR. GORMAN: Our Chief of Safety was

         14  very much involved with writing the standards for

         15  fire protective clothing, for example. So, yes, we

         16  do have members.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         18                 And the question for, I'm sorry,

         19  what's your name, sir? I'm sorry, forgive me.

         20                 MR. McGUIRE: My mother forgets

         21  sometimes, too.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Mr. McGuire.

         23                 MR. McGUIRE: Kevin McGuire, right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Kevin

         25  McGuire.
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          2                 Now, Kevin, you're an advocate in the

          3  field, you're an attorney at law, and have a lot of

          4  clients. With respect to access for people that are

          5  in, use wheelchairs, or that are visually impaired,

          6  and hearing impaired, and what have you and so

          7  forth, have you looked at the two different codes,

          8  as far as International Building Code model, and the

          9  NFPA 5000 model, because they're both model codes;

         10  is that correct? So each one would have to be

         11  adapted for New York City. I mean, are you telling

         12  me that as a lay person, the NFPA 500 code is better

         13  for the disabled community, than the IBC code?

         14                 MR. McGUIRE: What I'm actually saying

         15  is that the inclusionary process of the development

         16  of the 5000 was much more inclusive at the beginning

         17  than it was with the ICC.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         19                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         21  Member Gerson.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         23  much, Madam Chair.

         24                 Good afternoon. As promised, Mr.

         25  Shannon, I want to pose to you a question on the
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          2  same issue. I asked Commissioner Lancaster the issue

          3  of diesel storage, and the storage of other

          4  hazardous substances in proximity to residents and

          5  how your process would deal with it and what

          6  opportunities communities and community

          7  representatives would have to have an input in your

          8  process, and whether or not, whether or not it is

          9  feasible, whether or not your process would allow

         10  resolution, or at least preliminary resolution of

         11  this issue by the time this Council would be asked

         12  to adopt the body of your code of Intro. 368, if we

         13  pursued that route.

         14                 But before we address those issues,

         15  Madam Chair, let me make it clear to all, that while

         16  I'm focusing on this particular issue, I share

         17  concerns of my colleagues and indeed of the public,

         18  as to the urgency of the range of other matters the

         19  process of course, the issues of concrete and

         20  sprinklers and firewalls and piping and

         21  accessibility and urgency, egress. I am a guest of

         22  this Committee, so I cannot overstay my welcome, and

         23  I am focusing on diesel and storage, not only

         24  because of its importance, but because it seemed

         25  incredible to me that that issue was being
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          2  postponed, and not, of all the important issues, not

          3  adequately dealt with or left to be dealt with a

          4  variance process, which would be unacceptable.

          5                 My insistence is that this issue, I'm

          6  determined that this issue of storage and safety and

          7  minimization of quantity be dealt with at the time

          8  that we adopt whatever code we adopt. So, with that,

          9  and without reiterating the recent history, which

         10  has raised this issue to one of heightened concern,

         11  Mr. Shannon, how can we deal with this through

         12  Intro. 368 and the NFPA 5000 code, if you will?

         13                 MR. SHANNON: Council member, I can't

         14  answer the technical question, and I would invite

         15  you to ask that question of Nancy McNabb when she

         16  testifies later. To the degree the question is about

         17  process, I think that there are many different ways

         18  it can be approached.

         19                 Number one, and first and foremost,

         20  if the concern is to make sure that this is in place

         21  at the same time that the code is adopted by the

         22  City, then one way that that can be ensured is by

         23  working to locally amend the code to the extent that

         24  it doesn't already cover what you feel needs to be

         25  covered, and we are more than pleased to make our
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          2  technical expertise available to work with you or

          3  anybody else who wants to work on a local amendment

          4  is part of the local adoption process.

          5                 Number two, one of the great

          6  advantages about our process within the NFPA, if

          7  your goal is to get this in model code, treated in

          8  the model code, one of the great advantages, I

          9  believe, is its flexibility, and that means that you

         10  don't have to wait from revision cycle to revision

         11  cycle, in order to get a change put into the code.

         12  The code is generally revised every three years, but

         13  if there is something of an emergency nature, our

         14  process allows for something called a tentative

         15  interim amendment, which is an opportunity for

         16  anybody, and you don't have to be a member, or

         17  member of the technical committee, to bring that

         18  amendment into our process, have the technical

         19  committee address it between cycles, and in fact

         20  seek its adoption by our standards council if you

         21  think it's of an emergency nature. It's something

         22  that is not used with great frequency, but it is

         23  used, you know, there have been many, many instances

         24  where that has been used. So, we have the

         25  flexibility within our process as well. But I think
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          2  the key point is, that you don't have to be, you

          3  know, a fire protection professional, or a code

          4  enforcement official to come and participate in

          5  making the change in the process.

          6                 If you're a citizen, neighborhood

          7  group, a City Councilor, and you feel that this is

          8  an important safety issue, you are invited into our

          9  process, you are invited to participate, you are

         10  invited to vote and speak and have a say on all of

         11  these provisions.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Can you just

         13  elaborate on how we would be invited to, or how we

         14  would participate in the process. Did I hear you to

         15  say actually vote on it or how would we participate?

         16                 MR. SHANNON: First of all, votes are

         17  from members of the association, but you can join

         18  the association, it's open membership. You don't

         19  need any professional credentials in order to do

         20  that. Anybody is entitled to join the membership.

         21                 But if you have a particular interest

         22  that a technical committee is considering and you

         23  don't want to be a member, you get to come to the

         24  technical committee meeting, make your presentation

         25  to the technical committee, and urge them to make
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          2  that change.

          3                 If you don't like what they do, even

          4  if you're not a member, you get to come to our full

          5  membership meeting when that document is being voted

          6  on. Make your presentation to the full membership,

          7  even though you personally can't vote and urge that

          8  change. You don't like that, you get to come to our

          9  standards council and make the argument again.

         10                 So, you know, we pride ourselves on

         11  process. It is very important, but it is replete

         12  with opportunities for individuals with legitimate

         13  interests to make their case.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, I agree

         15  with you on the importance, and that's why I asked

         16  the question of community participation. So, I

         17  certainly appreciate that answer and your offer of

         18  availing your expertise.

         19                 And let me just ask in advance if Ms.

         20  McNabb is it? I will not be here to pose the

         21  question, though my director of legislation will be

         22  present. So, could I ask you at some point during

         23  your presentation, which I understand is exempt from

         24  the three-minute clock, at least to some extent, if

         25  you would address this issue of diesel fuel storage
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          2  and the storage of other potentially hazardous

          3  substances in residential areas.

          4                 And let me just --

          5                 MR. SHANNON: And Councilman, if I

          6  could, I'd say to the degree we have information Ms.

          7  McNabb can put it in her testimony. To the degree we

          8  don't, we'll make her available to talk to you

          9  personally or to your staff and get information and

         10  get it to you after this hearing.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: We will

         12  definitely follow-up.

         13                 Let me just ask, on the same topic,

         14  Mr. Gorman, do you agree this is, from your

         15  perspective, an issue that should be dealt with as

         16  we go forward in this process?

         17                 MR. GORMAN: You mean the storage of

         18  flammable liquids in high-rise buildings?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Including

         20  diesel.

         21                 MR. GORMAN: Absolutely.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Including

         23  telecom hotels.

         24                 MR. GORMAN: Yes. In fairness to IBC

         25  and NFPA, let me just give you very briefly 7 World
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          2  Trade Center, the diesel storage that was being

          3  stored there was because OEM put their command

          4  center on the 23rd floor, well, hindsight is 20/20,

          5  the City of New York put an emergency command center

          6  in a building that sustained a terrorist attack in

          7  1993. And if you want to really know what happened,

          8  as far as the storage of diesel fuel, there is no

          9  better expert than Chief of Department Chief Hayden,

         10  who at the time was the Division Commander of the

         11  First Division in Lower Manhattan, and he insisted.

         12  Had it not been for Chief Hayden, the City of New

         13  York was going to allow large diesel tanks in the

         14  basement to pump diesel fuel to strap tanks on the

         15  23rd floor, feeding those lines through elevator

         16  shafts. Pete Hayden went ballistic. But that was

         17  City government trying to overstate fire

         18  regulations, and because of a municipality.

         19                 So, that was a political football

         20  that you could have hearings on in a future date,

         21  but that was a very, very serious issue.

         22                 But at the time, the Administration,

         23  the Mayor of the City of New York wanted to get that

         24  done, and it was Pete Hayden's intervention that at

         25  least got those pipe's rerouted, but the storage of
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          2  diesel fuel on the 23rd floor of a high-rise

          3  building is not good policy.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And I

          5  appreciate that, and it remains incredible to me the

          6  way we are dealing or not dealing with this issue,

          7  that's why I am so intent on pressing it.

          8                 I believe the Chair of our Fire and

          9  Criminal Services Committee, has stated her intent

         10  that she will work with us to hold a hearing on this

         11  important issue, and when Council Member Clarke

         12  states an intent, it's always carried out.

         13                 But I don't know if you were here for

         14  may opening remarks, we have in my district and

         15  elsewhere in the City, other buildings where we have

         16  even greater quantities of this diesel stored, and I

         17  appreciate your perspective that we must deal with

         18  this.

         19                 Thank you very, very much, and thank

         20  you, Madam Chair, for this opportunity.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         22  Member Reyna.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you,

         24  Madam Chair.

         25                 And I wanted to just thank the panel
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          2  here and the one before, this is an education

          3  course, a clash course, and I'm trying to gather

          4  information, particularly on the interpretation on

          5  the State adopting the International Code, as

          6  opposed to the NFPA.

          7                 And I wanted to hear the perspective

          8  of the NFPA, as to their reason for it, considering

          9  that Commissioner Lancaster had mentioned the State

         10  adopted the International Code because it sees it a

         11  more stringent code, as opposed to the NFPA.

         12                 MR. SHANNON: Yes, I was not

         13  personally involved in the State code adoption

         14  process in New York, although several of our staff

         15  were, and Nancy McNabb was very much involved, and

         16  perhaps she can add more detail. But I would just

         17  point out to you, that at the end of the day, at the

         18  end of her testimony, Commissioner Lancaster said,

         19  well, what's the difference? I think it was Council

         20  Member Katz who asked the question, what's the

         21  difference between these two organizations at the

         22  end of the day. She didn't say one is more stringent

         23  than the other. She says, well, one has a track

         24  record and it will give more support than the other.

         25                 So, I really have to -- I think you
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          2  have to take with a grain of salt the suggestions

          3  that the NFPA code isn't stringent enough.

          4                 As a matter of fact, NFPA sometimes

          5  is criticized because we do allow Fire Service to

          6  play a role, and they think that the fire service is

          7  going to make those codes more stringent.

          8                 The fire service always points out to

          9  us, and the reason we want them at the table, is

         10  because they're on the scene fighting the fire, they

         11  have to go into the building, so we believe that

         12  they have a very legitimate point of view and we

         13  think that ultimately that's going to result in a

         14  better code. But, you know, on the question of, you

         15  know, is the IBC more stringent than the NFPA? I

         16  don't think you can sustain that argument and I

         17  don't think the Commissioner even tried to sustain

         18  that argument.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Well, in her

         20  testimony, Mr. Shannon, I'm going to quote her, it

         21  says here, "However, in accordance with a provision

         22  of the State Executive Law, the State Fire

         23  Prevention and Building Code Council has the power

         24  to evaluate the City Building Code.

         25                 If it finds that the overall City
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          2  Code is significantly less stringent than the State

          3  Code, it may act to require compliance with the

          4  State Building and Fire Prevention Code in the

          5  City."

          6                 So, that if we were to adopt the

          7  NFPA, I want to know, what is your interpretation of

          8  the conflict?

          9                 MS. SHANNON: I don't -- first of all,

         10  I think she misstated the law, and I think that --

         11  and, you know, I'm not completely conversant with

         12  the state law, and she said her counsel gave her an

         13  opinion and so forth, and my understanding is there

         14  is an exemption for communities of over a million

         15  people in New York, and I think she misstated the

         16  effects of that law. But that can be determined, and

         17  the Council has the ability to get legal advice on

         18  that, and we certainly will take a look at that as

         19  well. But my understanding is that was a complete

         20  misstatement of state law.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And I know that

         22  we have state officials here, but I wanted to

         23  present the situation before I hear from the State,

         24  so that at least it opens up a discussion.

         25                 MS. SHANNON: I'm sorry. As I said, I
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          2  have not had a chance, obviously, to review that

          3  State law myself, but we will take a look at it, but

          4  I don't think that her interpretation of it is

          5  correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And I do

          7  believe that there is merit to the process that we

          8  want to get to. There's an idea. And I know that we

          9  can exclude one or the other. How do we meet a

         10  balance is the question?

         11                 And I'm interested in hearing from

         12  the State on that balance. How can we incorporate a

         13  lot of what national is doing that the Plumbers'

         14  Union or the Firefighters' Union believes in that

         15  leads them out of that process?

         16                 MR. SHANNON: If I can just address

         17  that, I think that the key issue for the Council is

         18  your own responsibility to protect the health and

         19  safety of the people who you represent.

         20                 That's what this hearing is all about

         21  and that's what this process is all about.

         22                 You know, it's an easy thing to say,

         23  well, the State has done this, or this group has

         24  done that. It's your responsibility, to look at

         25  these processes, and to look at these codes, and
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          2  determine and to listen to your constituents, many

          3  of whom are in this room, and to ask yourself what

          4  is in the best interest of the people that I

          5  represent. And if that's the standard by which we're

          6  going to be judged, I feel very comfortable with the

          7  outcome.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Well, I think

          9  by a show of presence here from Council members,

         10  that we do have that in mind, and that this will be

         11  a lengthy, unfortunately for Chairwoman Provenzano,

         12  a lengthy hearing, and one of many to have. And to

         13  clearly understand, how will we get to the balance

         14  that will essentially provide the safety of the

         15  people of New York City.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 MR. SHANNON: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         19  Member Comrie.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you,

         21  Madam Chair.

         22                 Good afternoon, everyone. Ladies

         23  first.

         24                 Ms. Lewis, what do you consider

         25  affordable housing prices in the City?
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          2                 MS. LEWIS: Well, what I consider

          3  affordable housing, I'm certainly sure that most

          4  developers don't consider affordable housing. What I

          5  consider affordable housing is housing that is

          6  rented, if we're doing rentals and no more than 30

          7  percent of that person's income.

          8                 And I also consider affordable

          9  housing to be housing that goes to working families.

         10  So, you might have housing that is provided one-,

         11  two-, three-bedroom homes, which most of the

         12  programs don't provide now, for folks making

         13  average, right over the poverty level, minimum wage,

         14  which we hope to raise next Monday, like $16,000, at

         15  the very lowest, $16,000, $17,000, on up to working

         16  families that earn at least 100, 120,000 dollars in

         17  combined income. So that each one of those, 30

         18  percent of their income, is for a single person, a

         19  family, to four to six people. So, that's what we

         20  consider what is affordable.

         21                 Unfortunately, most of the programs

         22  that we have now say affordable, but it's a misnomer

         23  that they actually are affordable.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, why do you

         25  think most of those programs are a misnomer, due to
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          2  what exactly? Is it cost of building? Is it safety

          3  requirements?

          4                 MS. LEWIS: No. I think this is all

          5  about a program for and by developers, quite

          6  frankly, that developers have a certain margin of

          7  profitability, and also that real estate interests

          8  and buildings decide what it is that they're going

          9  to do.

         10                 Most of the time when you have a

         11  developer, because we develop buildings, most of the

         12  time we have a developer that says, for instance,

         13  that it's going to cost X for labor, and then time

         14  after time we find that they're using non-union

         15  labor, not paying people prevailing wage, but they

         16  have bidded it out at that higher price. And, also,

         17  this, again, endangers our safety, as well as value,

         18  low and moderate income home owners that buy their

         19  first home, you know, can punch through the wall,

         20  and somehow or another this is supposed to be

         21  affordable. It's not affordable for a working family

         22  that has to repair that, and that they've got a

         23  30-year mortgage and the building only lasts for ten

         24  years.

         25                 And, so, what we've been fighting is
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          2  to make sure that there's quality, as well as

          3  affordability, and that usually most of the time we

          4  have City and State subsidies use, that those

          5  subsidies be used at the highest level and more

          6  efficiently.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, how do

          8  you equate the NFPA and 368 with affordability?

          9                 MS. LEWIS: Well, see, as I said

         10  earlier, you get this term tossed around, and --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Not

         12  affordability in price, but you just laid out an

         13  inaffordability and quality.

         14                 MS. LEWIS: I heard testimony earlier

         15  that said, oh, if we don't do the ICC, then we won't

         16  be able to build affordable housing.

         17                 And, so, which is very disturbing to

         18  me, because, first of all, the ICC or those who

         19  support it don't show, I don't see the figures to do

         20  that. And then, again, to me, is there no sort of

         21  weighing between safety, quality, and what we're

         22  calling affordable housing.

         23                 I'm not willing to make that trade

         24  off. I think that housing can be safe, and

         25  affordable, not necessarily to make -- and not to
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          2  make it easier for a developer and a builder to cut

          3  corners which we see right now, and I don't want to

          4  put and codify into law, or in some building code,

          5  that they could do by law what they're doing I

          6  consider immorally and illegally right now.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, you

          8  believe under the NFPA code, it would be easier to

          9  have quality housing for all income ranges?

         10                 MS. LEWIS: Well, to me I believe

         11  that, because first of all you would be able to have

         12  developers, you know, like us who are small and

         13  non-profit, actually be able to say this is what you

         14  need to do based on experience, you know, based upon

         15  this neighborhood, based upon these materials, based

         16  upon these costs.

         17                 And right now I don't feel that we

         18  have any way of doing that, getting taken seriously,

         19  if the only folks that are making the rules are

         20  just, pardon the expression, elected officials or

         21  enforcement.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         23                 So, in your assessment of the two

         24  codes, or the two perspective codes, you feel that

         25  in order to get to your goal for housing, the NFPA
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          2  brings you closer to that goal?

          3                 MS. LEWIS: I think it brings us

          4  closer to that goal. But as I said, you know, it

          5  seems as though there's just like these dualing

          6  bills here, and folks claiming to speak for us as

          7  proponents of affordable housing. You know, right

          8  now, under the current program, we're able to build

          9  affordable housing that is safe, that has a quality

         10  to it, that will last and that is affordable to our

         11  membership.

         12                 We used the same subsidies that

         13  anyone else uses, and, yet, you know, developers, as

         14  I've said, right now cut corners, you know, and take

         15  the same dollars and give us less.

         16                 So, for me to codify that kind of

         17  behavior under the ICC, I just feel that there's a

         18  tradeoff between safety and affordability, and not

         19  affordability but profitability.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Have you done

         21  a study, and I'll ask the whole panel, on what the

         22  differences in cost would be if we developed housing

         23  under the ACORN Standard, on both the ICC code or

         24  the NFPA code? Has anyone done any relative studies

         25  on that that could be shown to the Council?

                                                            198

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 MR. SHANNON: Not that I'm aware of.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: No one?

          4                 MS. LEWIS: We haven't done a study

          5  comparing the two of them in terms of their cost,

          6  because we're still trying to figure out what the

          7  ICC claims that their costs are of what that cost

          8  savings would be, whether it is labor, whether it is

          9  material, whether it is the type of process they

         10  would have to go through, you know, but exactly

         11  where is it that they claim this cost savings would

         12  be, and then we can do a comparison, because we

         13  would be more than happy as low income, non-profit

         14  developers, to do that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But have you

         16  compared the base code, the base model code for both

         17  groups to come up with? There's no way to do that?

         18  There's a base presentation code from IBC and a base

         19  model code from NFPA and how does that affect and

         20  impact on affordable housing? Has anyone done that

         21  study at all?

         22                 MR. McGUIRE: I would be happy to work

         23  with the Council to do it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         25                 MR. GORMAN: I can't give an answer to
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          2  your question, but in my experience as a labor

          3  leader, that, for example, when we testified with

          4  the Fire Commissioner, to retrofit existing multiple

          5  dwellings for sprinklers, the real estate lobby

          6  opposed it.

          7                 Everyone admitted that putting a

          8  sprinkler in any building would make it safer, but

          9  there was a cost involved, and the real estate

         10  interest in their defense, there would be a cost to

         11  landlords and developers. And my believe is, and

         12  excuse me if I'm being naive here, but the IBC code

         13  is being driven, I think by the real estate

         14  interest, and I bet my mortgage that they're not

         15  siding with a more expensive code.

         16                 And when you talked about the use of

         17  plastic pipe versus, you know, metal pipe, whether

         18  it be waste pipe or sprinklers, which our position

         19  is that sprinklers should not be plastic because

         20  they shatter very easily. But if you ask anyone,

         21  well, I'll give you the same pipe, I'll give you a

         22  metal pipe or I'll give you a pipe, or I'll give you

         23  plastic pipe for the same cost, and I want to say

         24  people then would say plastic is a better idea,

         25  they'd always say, yeah, give me the threaded pipe
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          2  because it's a better quality product.

          3                 And I think that's where we, as a

          4  labor organization -- for example, NFPA codes, when

          5  my members sit on NFPA committees that write

          6  standards for fire protective equipment, I could

          7  tell you, my members cause, because of our

          8  influence, we drive the price of that gear up. You

          9  know why? Because we wear it in burning buildings.

         10  Manufacturers, we'd have some really nice looking

         11  stuff that we might get burned at.

         12                 So, we insist on having a decent

         13  standard, and I think the same applies to any kind

         14  of a fire code or a building code.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But isn't it

         16  true that whatever code is adopted is still going to

         17  be massaged to meet New York City standards?

         18                 Isn't it true that whatever code is

         19  adopted, you would still have an opportunity to

         20  ensure what President Gorman just said was included

         21  in the final version of it?

         22                 Say either code. Tell me, in your

         23  opinion, the process to get President Gorman's

         24  standard under both codes, even under NFPA Code. Say

         25  there's an NFPA code regarding the fire safety, how
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          2  does that get promulgated after it gets adopted?

          3                 How do we get to the point where his

          4  position is the position it's adopted, if there's a

          5  lot of opposite opinion about it within your code

          6  standards?

          7                 I mean, you talked about earlier that

          8  an individual could come to four different meetings,

          9  but suppose it was President Gorman and he still

         10  didn't get satisfaction, what happens then?

         11                 MR. SHANNON: Well, first of all--

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Could I

         13  interrupt you just before. Could I ask you to give

         14  -- you know, this is only the second panel, we have

         15  20 more panels of four people each.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: All right, I'm

         17  sorry.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: So, could I

         19  just ask you to --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I didn't

         21  realize you had that many panels.

         22                 I knew you had that many people, but

         23  I wasn't realizing that many panels.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Twenty panels

         25  of four people each. And I expect everybody in this
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          2  room to stay here with me.

          3                 MR. SHANNON: I'll just keep it short

          4  by saying you always have the opportunity to amend

          5  the code at the local level through the adoption

          6  process, but in our process there's more opportunity

          7  to work on the model code before it gets here.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          9                 In deference to the fact that there

         10  are four more panels of -- 20 more panels of four

         11  people, I think I made my primary points.

         12                 I'm concerned, and you were here

         13  earlier, you heard my comments about safety and

         14  security, and flexibility, and I won't repeat that

         15  again, but I want to appreciate you being here, and

         16  I'll wait for the next panel, Madam Chair. But I am

         17  going to go downstairs for a minute.

         18                 I will stay here with you for the

         19  entire day.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         21  Member James, I think you have a question?

         22                 This will be the last question we're

         23  taking from this panel.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: It's basically

         25  one question. It's really a question for Mr.
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          2  Shannon. I suspect the answer will be refer the

          3  question to Nancy McNabb because it's a technical

          4  question.

          5                 The NFPA Building Code Mandates that

          6  columns, beams and other case structural elements in

          7  high-rise buildings be protected against fire for at

          8  least four hours.

          9                 In addition, it's my understanding

         10  that the NFPA code helps to make sure that there is

         11  enough room for large groups of people to exit.

         12                 It's also my understanding that the

         13  NFPA code requires a greater distance from floor to

         14  ceiling and the NFPA 500 (sic) code provides safer

         15  theaters and auditoriums by requiring that all

         16  assembly occupancies that hold more than 300 people,

         17  have automatic sprinklers. It's also my

         18  understanding that it provides greater safety for

         19  day care facilities by requiring at least two

         20  exists.

         21                 My question to you, Mr. Shannon, is,

         22  as far as you know, does the IBC impose a stricter

         23  requirement relative to these issues, and -- Nancy,

         24  I thought so.

         25                 And just a follow-up question. It's
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          2  my understanding that the IBC code was adopted in 48

          3  states. Can you give me some insight as to why they

          4  adopted that code as opposed to --

          5                 MR. SHANNON: I'm going to let the IBC

          6  answer the question. But I think you have to read

          7  what they say carefully. And I think perhaps an

          8  appropriate question for them would be, have 48

          9  states adopted the IBC as the State Building Code?

         10  And I think you'll get a different answer than the

         11  one that you think you've gotten.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, thank

         13  you very much.

         14                 MR. SHANNON: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: The next

         16  panel, Dorothy Harris, Deputy Secretary of State.

         17  Juan Piester, Director of the State Code Division.

         18  Timothy Carey, Battery Park City Authority. Joe

         19  Sauerwein, Fire Service Rep for the New York State

         20  Code Council.

         21                 Okay, you ready? Decide who speaks

         22  first. Once again, you will be on a three-minute

         23  clock.

         24                 Please clear the aisles.

         25                 MS. HARRIS: (Not identified for the
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          2  record.) Thank you, Chairperson Provenzano and

          3  members of the Committee on Housing and Buildings

          4  for providing me an opportunity to speak to you

          5  today.

          6                 I would first like to congratulate

          7  the City Council for recognizing the importance of

          8  adopting and maintaining a modern and dynamic

          9  building code. It is more important now than ever

         10  that we enhance public safety without sacrificing

         11  benefits for economic development.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Can you

         13  identify yourself, please.

         14                 MS. HARRIS: Oh, I'm so sorry. I'm

         15  Dottie Harris. I'm the Deputy Secretary of State at

         16  the New York State Department of State.

         17                 Intro. 478 effectively strikes a

         18  delicate balance. The Department of State is

         19  responsible for the administration of the uniformed

         20  fire prevention and Building Code throughout the

         21  State of New York, outside the City of New York.

         22                 The Department oversees the

         23  enforcement process of more than 1,400 local

         24  governments throughout the State, serves as Chair of

         25  the State Fire Prevention and Building Code Council,
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          2  and provides training and support services to New

          3  York's building and fire service.

          4                 Under the Governor's leadership, New

          5  York State recently completed a historic rewriting

          6  of its building, fire prevention and energy codes.

          7                 This initiative truly advanced our

          8  code regulatory system into the 21st century.

          9                 Through the statutory authority of

         10  the code Council, New York State adopted the family

         11  of international codes to replace provisions that

         12  had been in place for more than 20 years. Our

         13  mission was to create an update to the code from

         14  1984 and in July of 2002, the new uniform code took

         15  effect.

         16                 I am pleased to report that our state

         17  is already benefitting from this initiative. The new

         18  code is comprehensive, and easy to read, and

         19  incorporates the current additions of more than

         20  1,200 technical standards.

         21                 By adopting the International Codes,

         22  New York has joined a national effort to standardize

         23  building, fire prevention and energy conservation

         24  and regulations.

         25                 The international codes are enforced
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          2  nationally, including the neighboring states of

          3  Connecticut and New Jersey. The City of New York is

          4  in a position to help lead this national movement,

          5  by implementing Intro. 478 and adopting the

          6  International Building Code.

          7                 Intro. 478 will also ensure that the

          8  City's high standards for fire and life safety are

          9  maintained by incorporating the work of hundreds of

         10  volunteers participating in the technical

         11  committees, which I'm sure you're going to hear more

         12  about today.

         13                 Again, I would like to commend the

         14  City, the Chairwoman, the City Council, the Mayor

         15  and Commissioner Lancaster for their dedication for

         16  the safety and well being of New York citizens

         17  throughout the creation of 478.

         18                 I'd be happy to answer any questions.

         19                 I do just want to say one thing,

         20  because I know it did come up in Commission

         21  Lancaster's testimony and I'm sure you're going to

         22  have some questions for me.

         23                 In regards to the section of the

         24  Executive Law that had come up before, and I just

         25  jotted a little something down here, again, as
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          2  Commissioner Lancaster noted in her comments, the

          3  authority of the Code Council under article 18 of

          4  the Executive Law, this allows the City of New York

          5  to maintain its own building code, as you heard by,

          6  I guess, that opting out of a population of a

          7  million or more, as long as it is equal to or more

          8  restrictive to the State's Code.

          9                 If the City is to adopt a code less

         10  restrictive than the State Code, the State Code

         11  would supersede the City's code. So that is part of

         12  that law.

         13                 I can turn it over to the next

         14  speaker.

         15                 MR. PIESTER: Chairperson Provenzano,

         16  and members of the Committee on Housing and

         17  Buildings. Good afternoon. My name is Ron Piester.

         18  I'm the Director of the New York State, Department

         19  of State, Division of Code Enforcement

         20  Administration.

         21                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         22  speak in strong support of Intro. 478. This is truly

         23  an historic day for the City of New York.

         24                 Over the past two years I have

         25  witnessed the extraordinary accomplishments that the
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          2  Department of Buildings has achieved under the

          3  leadership of Commissioner Lancaster and Assistant

          4  Commissioner Penzi.

          5                 Intro. 478 represents the collective

          6  expertise of hundreds of New York's brightest

          7  design, construction and regulatory professionals.

          8                 The technical committees established

          9  by the Mayor's Advisory Commission have devoted

         10  countless hours to the task of creating a code that

         11  would best serve the citizens of this great city.

         12                 To me, one of the most successful

         13  aspects of this effort has been the open and

         14  inclusive process that has been utilized to develop

         15  a plan for adopting the International Building Code.

         16                 As Deputy Secretary Harris mentioned,

         17  New York State recently went through a similar

         18  process to rewrite our building fire prevention and

         19  energy codes.

         20                 Serving as the Director to our Code

         21  Council, I have been responsible for this task.

         22                 Beginning in 1999, we established

         23  technical subcommittees to review the International

         24  Code and advised the Code Council how to modify the

         25  base language of the I codes to best serve the
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          2  interest of our State.

          3                 These technical subcommittees and the

          4  dedication and support of individuals and

          5  organizations that participated in the process was

          6  clearly the key to our successful implementation of

          7  the International Code in 2002.

          8                 I can confidently say that we could

          9  not have succeeded without them.

         10                 Similarly, the technical committees

         11  established by the Mayor's Advisory Commission have

         12  created a venue for the constituencies most directly

         13  affected to participate in the development of the

         14  City's new building code provisions.

         15                 Allowing New York stakeholders to

         16  participate in the development of its new building

         17  code will ultimately be the hallmark of this

         18  project's success.

         19                 In closing, I would like to

         20  congratulate the City of New York for taking the

         21  bold steps that have led us to today's hearing.

         22                 To the members of the Committee on

         23  Housing and Buildings, I encourage you to recognize

         24  the wisdom of the Advisory Commission's technical

         25  committees, and to pass Intro. 478 to the full
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          2  membership of the City Council for approval.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          5  Next.

          6                 MS. KAPLAN: Good afternoon. My name

          7  is Susan Kaplan, and I'm representing Timothy Carey

          8  of the Battery Park City Authority. He was here this

          9  morning, but unfortunately was called away, and I

         10  will read his testimony.

         11                 Good afternoon, Chairperson

         12  Provenzano and members of Housing and Buildings

         13  Committee of the New York City Council and honored

         14  guests. My name is Timothy S. Carey, and I am the

         15  President and CEO of of the Huell Carey Battery Park

         16  City Authority (phonetic).

         17                 I thank you for allowing me to come

         18  before you today to speak in support of the Intro.

         19  478.

         20                 Four years ago, following Governor

         21  Pataki's vision to create a harmony between the

         22  built and natural environments. The Huell Carey

         23  Battery Park City Authority created sustainable

         24  guidelines governing all future construction in

         25  Battery Park City. The adoption of these guidelines
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          2  will result in the creation of approximately 4.5

          3  million square feet of sustainable building space

          4  that is more energy and water efficient, more

          5  environmentally sound and healthier to live and work

          6  in the existing buildings.

          7                 The Solaire, the first comprehensive

          8  sustainable high-rise residential building in the

          9  nation, and one of eight to be built in Battery Park

         10  City, opened its doors in July of 2003.

         11                 Following the Green Guidelines

         12  developed by the Authority, the Solaire's integrated

         13  approach to sustainability has resulted in a

         14  residential high-rise that recycles much of its

         15  construction waste, uses less energy during peak

         16  hours, uses less New York City supplied potable

         17  water than comparable buildings, and reduces the

         18  particulate matter in the air.

         19                 The development of a Solaire is

         20  significant, because it demonstrates that

         21  sustainable construction of the high-rise

         22  residential building can succeed in a metropolis as

         23  large as New York City.

         24                 Proof of this success is not only its

         25  positive environmental impact, but its economic

                                                            213

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  impact as well.

          3                 The Solaire was fully rented in just

          4  six months at a four to five percent rental premium.

          5  In other words, building green can make economic

          6  sense, as well as environmental sense.

          7                 Adopting building codes with similar

          8  requirements as those guide in the development in

          9  Battery Park City, will dramatically reduce the

         10  strain on our municipal infrastructure.

         11                 Consider the following: The Solaire

         12  uses approximately 35 percent less electricity on

         13  average than a conventional building, and 65 percent

         14  less during peak periods, reducing the reliance on

         15  electricity generated by older, more polluting power

         16  plants.

         17                 The Solaire uses 9 million gallons

         18  less potable City water than comparable buildings.

         19  The Solaire's HVAC system filters out 85 to 90

         20  percent of air pollutants thereby vastly improving

         21  the indoor air quality, for those suffering from

         22  respiratory diseases.

         23                 The Solaire recycled 85 percent of

         24  its construction waste, drastically reducing the

         25  amount of materials sent to landfills.
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          2                 Now that the real world benefits of

          3  sustainable design and construction techniques have

          4  been demonstration, we encourage the adoption of the

          5  new building code based on the 2003 additions of the

          6  International Code Council's national model codes,

          7  as outlined in Intro. 478.

          8                 We believe that the passing of Intro.

          9  478 and the adoption of the new building code will

         10  create New York City buildings that are healthier

         11  for the people who live in them, as well as the

         12  natural environments surrounding them.

         13                 The IBC code has been vetted by 13

         14  technical committees and 400 professionals in New

         15  York City, including the Department of Buildings'

         16  Advisory Committee on Sustainability, on which the

         17  Battery Park City Authority sits.

         18                 To ensure it incorporates the high

         19  safety and construction standards of New York City.

         20  By adopting it, New York City is assured that code

         21  will be revisited and updated every three years as

         22  part of the mandated international process, at which

         23  New York City will be present as an active

         24  participant.

         25                 In contrast, NFPA 5000 comes in the
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          2  finished product with none of the adaptations for

          3  the unique requirements of New York City, and no

          4  mandated regular updating.

          5                 The I Codes have already been adopted

          6  in the US in 48 states at the local or state level,

          7  including New York Stated, as you've heard.

          8                 In contrast, the NFPA 5000 has only

          9  been adopted by California, and this is not part of

         10  the testimony, it's my addition. In California

         11  there's an appeal now being proposed on the NFPA

         12  code, and it's adopted in a few areas like Pasadena,

         13  Texas, which still uses the International Code for

         14  the majority of their buildings, the one- and

         15  two-story.

         16                 By voting for Intro. 478, you will be

         17  enabling future generations of New Yorkers to live

         18  healthier in their built environment, while reducing

         19  the impact they have on our natural resources.

         20                 You will be taking a major step

         21  forward toward making New York City one of the

         22  largest metropolises mandating responsible

         23  construction. Doing that, you will be setting an

         24  example for the entire world to follow.

         25                 I urge you to cease this historic
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          2  opportunity to shape the way the building industry

          3  operates by voting yes on this very important bill.

          4                 The success of the Solaire proves

          5  that sustainable development has a place in New York

          6  City. We at the Battery Park City Authority urge you

          7  to move New York City toward a future that is clean

          8  and greener by voting yes on Intro. 478.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MR. SAUERWEIN: Madam Chairlady,

         11  members of the Council, my name is Joe Sauerwein,

         12  and I have been the Chief Fire Marshall for the town

         13  of Brookhaven since 1985. I also serve as the fire

         14  service rep on the New York State Fire Prevention

         15  and Building Code Council.

         16                 I come before you today to applaud

         17  and encourage your efforts to modernize and update

         18  the City's code for building construction, fire

         19  safety and related functions, particularly as

         20  presented in Intro. No. 478.

         21                 In that regard, I would like to share

         22  with you the excellent success that the town of

         23  Brookhaven has had with the adoption of the

         24  ICC-based model codes that now comprise the New York

         25  State Uniformed Fire Prevention and Building Code.
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          2                 Firstly, the town of Brookhaven

          3  consists of some 460,000 residents across 318 square

          4  miles. We stretch from the Long Island Sound to the

          5  Atlantic Ocean. We have high-rises in the west,

          6  farms in the east and everything else in between.

          7  Literally every type of business, occupation and the

          8  industry takes place within our town.

          9                 I have personally been involved with

         10  building, fire and related codes for the last 23

         11  years, and more recently have played a role in the

         12  adoption and enhancement of the New York State new

         13  code. I have had first experience using both the

         14  former state-developed code and the current

         15  ICC-based codes, while the old home-grown code of

         16  1984 was a great start to address a very serious

         17  defect in the state after the tragic Stoeffers Inn

         18  fire, through the years it became stagnant,

         19  outmoded, and difficult to use.

         20                 Unintentionally, it started to

         21  adversely affect the economy of the State by

         22  stifling development, as well as the reuse of

         23  sizable existing building stock across the state,

         24  especially in urban areas.

         25                 The new ICC-based State Code, on the

                                                            218

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  other hand, recognizes modern technologies and

          3  materials, acknowledges new ideologies and embraces

          4  experiences from across an extremely broad range and

          5  variety of localities.

          6                 Builders and owners are able to take

          7  advantage of newer design options, reducing costs,

          8  yet maintaining the highest level of life safety.

          9                 Those same builders and owners have

         10  the option or the opportunity to directly impact

         11  what goes into that ICC-based code, not only at the

         12  state level but also in the actual ICC code

         13  development process.

         14                 Anyone with a concern for building

         15  matters, whether a developer, a designer, a

         16  manufacturer, a contractor or a building owner, can

         17  stand before the assembled members and offer a

         18  proposal.

         19                 It is important to understand that

         20  while the revisions to the ICC base codes do not

         21  automatically become the law of the land in New York

         22  State, they clearly provide the basis for future

         23  consideration by the State.

         24                 Equally important, since we all do

         25  not live and work in identical shoeboxes across this
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          2  great land of ours, use of enhancements allows any

          3  municipality to tailor the model code to fit the

          4  peculiarities and demographics of our individual

          5  communities. What works in Utah may not work at all

          6  in Brookhaven, while in New York City, you certainly

          7  will have the need to customize any code that it

          8  should adopt to accommodate its often unique

          9  circumstances. The proposal in Intro. 478 will allow

         10  just that.

         11                 It is my professional opinion that

         12  the transition to the ICC-based New York State

         13  uniformed code has been indisputably successful,

         14  welcomed by the design community, building owners

         15  and developers alike, as well as by the code

         16  enforcement community.

         17                 In closing, the adoption of the

         18  ICC-based codes by New York State has proven to be

         19  an economic benefit in the town of Brookhaven,

         20  helping us to maintain a healthy financial

         21  environment, while guaranteeing our citizens the

         22  best in fire and building safety.

         23                 Your efforts to modernize New York

         24  City's codes containing the delicate balance between

         25  a responsible development and safety, are to be
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          2  commended.

          3                 Thank you very much for your time.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          5                 Helen Sears, you have a question?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you,

          7  Madam Chair. I'm not a member of the Committee, so I

          8  truly thank you for your great generosity.

          9                 I'm here, as so many other Council

         10  members have been here because this is a very key

         11  issue, and it certainly is a very key issue

         12  throughout the City of New York and my district.

         13                 I have sat here and one of the major

         14  differences that I gather from the testimony I heard

         15  from the previous panel is the process.

         16                 The previous panel talked about their

         17  open process, how anybody could really participate

         18  in it, indicating that the IBC process is not an

         19  open, that it's rather selective in the technical

         20  skills that they ask to be and to help and assist in

         21  developing this.

         22                 Can you explain why yours is

         23  considered a non-open process?

         24                 MS. HARRIS: I guess all I can say,

         25  again, I'm speaking from the New York State
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          2  experience, but we did, once we moved in this

          3  direction, and actually even before that, we began

          4  participating in the International Code Council's

          5  process. We found it to be extremely open. Each year

          6  that we've been able to attend, whether it be a code

          7  hearing or an annual business meeting, each year

          8  that has increased the number of people that have

          9  traveled from their municipality or participated on

         10  line. There is also, you don't have to actually

         11  travel to the hearing, you can actually view it on

         12  line as well.

         13                 So, we were also very lucky that once

         14  we moved in this direction, the Governor actually

         15  purchased, and lucky enough in our Department of

         16  State budget, we actually paid for every town and

         17  village to become a member, so that they could send

         18  as many people to participate, because it certainly

         19  is very important to participate. Of course, it's

         20  most important that everyone gets involved in the

         21  State or City process, but it's really important

         22  that they participate nationally, if not for any

         23  other reason than to interact with people from

         24  different states, realize that some issues we have,

         25  you know, we're very similar in many respects, some
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          2  issues were very different.

          3                 I have been also telling people in

          4  the City that people want to hear what the City has

          5  to say, and the City of New York is regarded as an

          6  expert, and just being able to bring some of the

          7  aspects that you all have here onto the national

          8  level and vice versa, has just been a tremendous

          9  help.

         10                 We did become actively involved, we

         11  have actually several people from the State of New

         12  York participating on committees, fire officials,

         13  building officials and so on. We found the process

         14  to be extremely inclusive. Anybody can propose a

         15  code change. It doesn't matter if you're a code

         16  official. I know we've heard that so many times,

         17  that's certainly not the case, anyone can propose.

         18                 I'm not a code official, and I

         19  propose changes. That has nothing to do with people

         20  that can participate in the process. The only, the

         21  really only difference is that final vote, and it

         22  goes through several different, there's actually

         23  processes in between from the beginning that someone

         24  poses a change until the very end. And it goes

         25  through some votes throughout. It's only that very
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          2  final round where a code change has gone throughout

          3  the process, it's been vetted. People that have been

          4  able to go up to that microphone and speak in

          5  support, speak in opposition, it's only that very

          6  final vote at the final action hearing that it's

          7  only those governmental entities. And what I mean by

          8  that is whatever the City, town, village, what have

          9  you, designates as their governmental entity.

         10                 Many places in New York they have

         11  fire officials, some are building officials, some

         12  might be the town planner who might serve as the

         13  oversight of Building Department. It's really up to

         14  that chief elected official, just as the City of New

         15  York, it will be up to the City Council to also

         16  determine who participates in a process, anybody,

         17  any of the City Council members, and I would

         18  encourage you to participate.

         19                 Don't get me wrong, sometimes it's a

         20  little technical and the hearings are long, but it's

         21  actually -- I've been very impressed seeing it. I

         22  think it's good for people, especially me in my

         23  position, I chair a code council, to go and witness

         24  it and see people get up from other jurisdictions

         25  and propose changes and let them hear it from their
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          2  peers, versus from the State or from the City or

          3  from the feds. You know, they actually will hear

          4  things from their peers, and we found it to be a

          5  process that we really wanted to get very involved

          6  in.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Just, I

          8  understand what you're saying about the voting. In

          9  the end ultimately it all comes before the Council,

         10  the public doesn't vote on it, but they can have

         11  their input, but they don't vote on it.

         12                 MS. KAPLAN: I could speak also with

         13  Battery Park City's experience. You know, it's the

         14  Building Department that sets up these committees to

         15  vet the entire code, the IBC code, and they have

         16  asked us to be part of their advisory committee on

         17  sustainability, and they have been very open at

         18  asking us to also give them names of anyone else we

         19  thought were involved in sustainability and that

         20  would be helpful in vetting the code. It's been a

         21  very open process and we interact with each of the

         22  technical committees that are made up of

         23  professionals from all sides of the issues, and I

         24  feel it's been a very open process.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: In your working
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          2  with this, I've read where there are 48 states and

          3  jurisdictions, that would mean that where the

          4  jurisdictions are involved, the state has not

          5  adopted the International Code; would that be a

          6  right thought for me?

          7                 MS. HARRIS: Yes. In some instances,

          8  and I should know the number, but the majority of

          9  states they might be enforced on a statewide level,

         10  as in New York, and many, there are other states

         11  that don't maybe have statewide enforcement, so

         12  local jurisdictions. And I believe, I know the ICC

         13  is here, but I know there's thousands of

         14  jurisdictions that have adopted the International

         15  Codes and it's 48 states that use one or more of the

         16  international codes, I believe it's 44 states that

         17  use the International Building Code.

         18                 That's where I know I've heard people

         19  say, you know, which number is it, and it's actually

         20  48 that are using one or more of the International

         21  Codes. And I believe those other two states are

         22  currently using what we call legacy codes, which are

         23  those codes comprised, what comprise the

         24  international codes, which was acronyms, BOCA ICBO

         25  and SBCCI (phonetic), those are the organizations
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          2  that came together to create the international code.

          3                 So, it's 48 states using one or more

          4  and those other two states are using one of those

          5  legacy codes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And then we

          7  could think that --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Could I

          9  interrupt you just one minute?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes, sure.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Could the

         12  folks standing in the back please keep quiet or go

         13  outside to talk, because your voices bounce up here.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:

         15                 All right, thank you Madam Chair.

         16  This is just a quick question.

         17                 Would it then be safe to say that for

         18  those jurisdictions that get out into the

         19  International Code, that they were far stronger than

         20  what the existing codes might have been, or what

         21  their own state might have been, in order to comply

         22  to fit in with their housing and construction.

         23                 MS. HARRIS: That I'm not sure. I know

         24  at least in the case for New York, our code really

         25  did not keep pace with new technology.
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          2                 Why we went in this process when the

          3  Governor was elected, New York was one of only two

          4  states that had their own code. It was New York and

          5  Wisconsin. And that was with every other state used

          6  a national model code. To be honest, there was a lot

          7  of people that felt, that's fine, maybe ours is the

          8  best, but if you looked, whether it be fire death

          9  ratio, things like that, we actually scored no

         10  different than all of the states around us, and all

         11  of those states around us used a model code.

         12                 One of the things that the Governor

         13  had noticed, which is why the Department of State

         14  moved in the direction we did through our Building

         15  Code Council, was things like hearing companies

         16  leaving, moving to other states, that it was

         17  expensive to build, you know, things like that,

         18  which made us start looking at this issue, and then

         19  we realized when we started the process that there

         20  were certain things that we felt maybe were better,

         21  and those were items that we retained as New York

         22  State modifications, just as those city technical

         23  subcommittees are doing right now.

         24                 There's going to be a tremendous

         25  amount of items that you and the City of New York
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          2  feel are very important, and you want to maintain

          3  and retain in your document, just as we did.

          4                 There's other items we realized, once

          5  we read the document, wow, we're not as

          6  comprehensive as the International Code is. So,

          7  those are, of course, the items that we did want to

          8  change.

          9                 The other problem was, other

         10  municipalities throughout the State of New York

         11  didn't feel like waiting for us, and they went out

         12  and tried to adopt higher more restrictive local

         13  standards on their own. Sprinkler enhancements. Many

         14  had to do with fire safety aspects. And once we

         15  adopted the International -- say, for instance, if

         16  we're talking a fire, once we adopted the

         17  International Fire Code, several of those

         18  modifications just kind of went away because they

         19  were as comprehensive, you know, it's almost a moot

         20  point, because finally by adopting a much more

         21  comprehensive document, those municipalities didn't

         22  have to do that. You know, we finally are now -- and

         23  the fact that it's updated every three years, we

         24  know that every three years we're going to have

         25  every federal standard, every new updated standard,
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          2  whether it be an NFPA standard, whether it be a

          3  ASTM, I don't know, I'm not the expert on the

          4  technicalities, but we know that in that next cycle,

          5  every one of those updated standards is going to be

          6  in there, and that's what's really important.

          7                 So, those are the things that we as a

          8  state really were lax in prior to this process.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         10                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         12  Member Clarke.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you,

         14  Madam Chair.

         15                 I just wanted to sort of put on the

         16  record and bring to my colleagues' attention my

         17  concern about the testimony of the Deputy Secretary

         18  of State. I can appreciate your expertise and your

         19  talent and your experience.

         20                 What I'm having a problem with is you

         21  serving both in a capacity as the Deputy Secretary

         22  of State and also a Board member for the ICC, and

         23  then I guess reporting to us information.

         24                 I'm looking for the most objective,

         25  unbiased approach here. And this does not help. I'm
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          2  going to be quite honest about it. And I don't know

          3  how we get around that, but the people of the City

          4  of New York have to make a very, very important

          5  decision. We've been going back and forth,

          6  allegations flying left and right, all day, and for

          7  you to come and sit before us wearing two hats,

          8  you've raised a level of confusion, at least for me,

          9  about objectivity here.

         10                 I don't know if you can address that,

         11  by letting me know which hat you're wearing, but I

         12  think that that needs to be taken into consideration

         13  because I take this responsibility very seriously

         14  and I hope that you do, too.

         15                 MS. HARRIS: I do. Thank you very much

         16  for bringing that up. Actually, yes, in my capacity

         17  I serve as the Secretary of State's Chair in the

         18  Code Council, but when I was first hired, when I

         19  first took the position at the Department of State,

         20  my sole responsibility was the coordinator,

         21  coordinator, manager, whatever you want to call it,

         22  of a new model code adoption.

         23                 So, I did get involved, very

         24  involved, deeply involved. And once that happened,

         25  knowing how important it was, we as a State,
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          2  municipalities, town of Brookhaven, we have many

          3  other municipalities that are here today, got very

          4  involved as well, and started, whether it be

          5  submitting their resumes to participate on

          6  committee, you know, whether it be the Fire Code,

          7  the Building Code, Plumbing Code, and along with

          8  that we decided that maybe we really should have a

          9  seat at the table when it comes to feeling that we

         10  are an important state, that maybe we should have a

         11  seat at the table, so I did run for the ICC Board.

         12  There are several other people that ran and in the

         13  end I ended up winning. So I do sit on the ICC

         14  Board.

         15                 We do have someone from the ICC who

         16  is speaking from that perspective, I was really

         17  speaking from my experience. But I'm certainly proud

         18  that we were able to work so hard and get so

         19  involved and actually, you know, become elected.

         20                 I think if anything gets done, is

         21  it's increased participation, it's made residents in

         22  New York, and whether it be, you know, what have

         23  you, anyone working in this field has gotten much

         24  more involved. And from my involvement we are able

         25  to spread information, write information, find out
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          2  things right as they're coming out.

          3                 One of the things that has happened

          4  since is after the fact that we got involved, you

          5  could actually become a Chapter, you know, an ICC

          6  Chapter in New York. We have, I think as of right

          7  now, 14 ICC chapters in New York already of building

          8  and fire systems, the fire chiefs, the Firemens'

          9  Association in New York, the fire Marshals and

         10  Inspectors Association. We have the New York City

         11  building officials conference. Several local

         12  chapters. Everything helps.

         13                 We should, I strongly feel, maybe

         14  this is a selfish perspective, but I feel that New

         15  York State should have, just as I really hope that

         16  when the City was in a stretch and someone will run

         17  from the City, I think it's fantastic. My term ends

         18  this year. I really don't see me running again

         19  because I think there's so much talent within the

         20  State and I hope there's people out there that are

         21  looking for that opportunity.

         22                 All that really is, is it's not a

         23  technical board. I certainly would not submit my hat

         24  in the ring for a membership on one of the technical

         25  subcommittees. There's much more technical experts
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          2  that can do that.

          3                 As a board member, sure, it's much

          4  more of a policy-making board, effecting, making

          5  sure it's a membership, since it is a

          6  membership-driven organization, one thing I made

          7  sure, that New York State, and all the states I

          8  represent, which are New York all the way to Maine,

          9  has a voice, and all I do, I just try to keep them

         10  informed on new classes that are coming out, new

         11  programs, where the next hearings are going to be,

         12  that's really what my job entails, in that capacity.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So as a board

         14  member, you don't have any fiduciary responsibility?

         15                 MS. HARRIS: No. And in fact, for me

         16  even to run, and I don't know if this is what you

         17  were thinking of, but for me even to run I did have

         18  to actually get an opinion through our Ethics

         19  Commission to make sure of that, and one of the

         20  things that was brought up was to make sure the

         21  State of New York pays for me to do anything. I

         22  don't even receive travel expenses or anything like

         23  that from the International Code Council. Other

         24  states, I'm sure, have different ethics laws and

         25  allow for that, but we felt silent that, even though
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          2  I'm representing, even though I'm on the

          3  International Code Council Board, I am representing

          4  the State of New York, and thankfully my state stood

          5  behind me to allow me to run. You have to get not

          6  only a letter from your jurisdiction, which of

          7  course is New York State, I had to get a letter from

          8  the Secretary of State. I had a letter from the

          9  Governor. Then I had letters from all the affected

         10  organizations saying that they would like me to run,

         11  or I never would have done it.

         12                 Oh, Ron.

         13                 MR. PIESTER: If I may add, I would

         14  like to try to answer your question in a little bit

         15  from a different perspective.

         16                 The State has, as you know, a

         17  statutory responsibility to maintain the Uniformed

         18  Fire Prevention and Building Codes throughout the

         19  State. We also have a regulatory responsibility to

         20  oversee enforcement practices of local governments

         21  around the State, which local government enforces

         22  the State codes.

         23                 Beyond those responsibilities, as we

         24  said, in the past years we have gone through a

         25  process that is not unlike the process that the City
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          2  is now going through. And simply the reason that we

          3  are here today is to provide to the members of this

          4  Committee and to the Council, the experience that

          5  the State has had with our process, and it is really

          6  up to you and your colleagues to choose how to use

          7  that advice. We're not here for any other reason

          8  than to provide for you to use some information

          9  about our experience.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I'm glad that

         11  you brought some clarity to it, because I'm sure

         12  that that is something that perhaps many others were

         13  thinking, but no one was brave enough to say to you.

         14                 I think it's important that when you

         15  hold a role in that way, particularly in light of

         16  what we're going through here in this City in trying

         17  to make a clear determination about which way we

         18  would go, that we would have that up front and

         19  honest in the discussion that we're having right

         20  now.

         21                 So, thank you. I appreciate your

         22  response.

         23                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Councilwoman

         25  Reyna.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Good afternoon.

          3  I just wanted to get some clarification on the

          4  State's position.

          5                 When you first started to review what

          6  code you were going to adopt, as the State engaged

          7  in conversations, did you take a look and compare

          8  both codes, or was this just an overview on a

          9  national level, what are other states doing, and

         10  let's start there?

         11                 Can you answer that? Because I'm

         12  trying to figure out why the NFPA left out as an

         13  option, as opposed to let's see how we can

         14  incorporate both, if both have merits to it, to

         15  create the balance for the safety of everyone, not

         16  just in the City but the State of New York.

         17                 Now, at the end of the day, if we

         18  have got the NFPA, and the State has the

         19  International Code, then what conflicts are we

         20  looking at? Is the NFPA in the eyes of the State

         21  less stringent? And how is the International Code

         22  more stringent? And if you can just specifically

         23  answer that, I'd be appreciative.

         24                 MS. HARRIS: Sure. When New York State

         25  went down the process, actually, and it is the Code
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          2  Council that did make that recommendation, and we

          3  have staff to the Code Council, actually Ron's staff

          4  serves as staff to the Code Council, but when we

          5  went down that path, I believe it was November of

          6  1999, where a formal was taken, NFPA 5000 was not

          7  invented. So, what we did though compare, and I

          8  should probably tell you that we have in New York,

          9  the International Building, the International Fire

         10  Code, the International Residential, the

         11  International Fuel Gas Code, the International

         12  Plumbing Code, the International Mechanical, the

         13  International Energy Conservation Code, which you

         14  all have in the City of New York.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: In the City of

         16  New York we have the National Electrical --

         17                 MS. HARRIS: You actually have the

         18  International --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Electrical.

         20                 MS. HARRIS: -- Energy Code because --

         21  oh, the Electrical Code, yes. We all have the

         22  National Electrical Code. But the International

         23  Energy Code is actually enforced in New York. That

         24  actually falls under a different law, the energy law

         25  is a statewide law so there isn't that 1 million
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          2  exemption. But I don't want to say more than I need

          3  to say.

          4                 Anyway, but what was in existence,

          5  since NPFA 5000 was not in existence, but the NFPA

          6  Fire Code was, so we did compare the NFPA Fire Code

          7  to the International Fire Code. We also compared the

          8  International Plumbing Code to the IAPMO Plumbing

          9  and Mechanical Codes. We did have some comparisons

         10  to make, but we did not have -- NFPA 5000 was not

         11  yet in existence.

         12                 So, when the Council did look at

         13  comparisons, we did have, we did invite NFPA to come

         14  and give a presentation on their Fire Code, IAPMO

         15  came to discuss the plumbing and mechanical aspect.

         16  And then at that time, the three model code

         17  organizations, BOCA (phonetic), ICBO and SBCCI, were

         18  just coming together as the International Codes. So,

         19  we adopted the 2000 version. You're actually ahead

         20  of us. We're in the process now of adopting the 2003

         21  version, actually as we speak. So, we were looking

         22  at the 2000 version of the International Code.

         23                 So, it was a decision of the Code

         24  Council to move in that direction.

         25                 I guess from our perspective, we
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          2  wanted to make sure we had a completely coordinated

          3  document, because as our old code many people will

          4  say, it really wasn't that clear, and it really

          5  wasn't an easy-to-use document, and what was

          6  difficult about it is that you had to make sure that

          7  if you made a change to an item, to a section, that

          8  it correlated throughout. We had to do that on our

          9  own, just as the City of New York has to do that on

         10  their own now. Now, since we participate in the

         11  International Codes, there are people doing that.

         12  There are people making sure that anytime a Code

         13  change is proposed, for instance, in the Fire Code,

         14  that it works with the Building Code. That was

         15  really, from a regulatory perspective, that was

         16  really important to us, to make sure that we didn't

         17  leave a gaping hole in the property maintenance code

         18  by making a change to the Fire Code. So, the fact

         19  that it was a coordinated set of documents was

         20  something that was really important to us.

         21                 I don't know if you want to jump in.

         22  I probably rambled long.

         23                 MR. PIESTER: Does that answer your

         24  question? I'd be happy to elaborate if there are

         25  additional questions that you may have?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Essentially,

          3  the answer, after all that you said, and I

          4  understood completely, is that there was no document

          5  to compare, because it didn't exist.

          6                 MS. HARRIS: Right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: At the same

          8  time, we did have our own code in the City of New

          9  York, and I understand that the City of New York

         10  does not comprise all of New York State, there are

         11  other cities, but did the State consider our current

         12  Building Code and what it essentially calls for, for

         13  comparison as well?

         14                 MR. PIESTER: The answer to that

         15  question is no. The State did not consider the

         16  City's Building Code when it went through the

         17  process to rewrite the State Uniformed Code.

         18                 One of the primary reasons for that

         19  was that we were looking to adopt a code that would

         20  reflect current construction standards, and that was

         21  one of the main benefits that we now enjoy by having

         22  adopted a model code. The fact that on a three-year

         23  basis the State will now essentially automatically,

         24  through the International Code Council and the

         25  regulatory process of our States Code Council,
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          2  update our reference standards.

          3                 At the time that we went through this

          4  review process, we had technical standards in the

          5  State Code that had to be utilized for Building

          6  Construction from the 1940s. That was something that

          7  we felt was unacceptable. We needed to come up with

          8  an answer that would not deal with this in the short

          9  term, but would deal with it as a long-term

         10  solution, and the model code process was the process

         11  that we felt did that. And we're confident that we

         12  now have a much better process for updating on a

         13  regular basis our technical standards.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And just for

         15  curiosity, I wanted to find out, what other states

         16  have cities that have adopted the NFPA, although the

         17  State adopted International?

         18                 MR. PIESTER: Are you asking about

         19  NFPA 5000?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: NFPA 5000 or

         21  2000. Is there a 2000? There's just a 5000.

         22                 MR. PIESTER: My understanding is that

         23  there are two local jurisdictions in the country now

         24  that utilize NFPA 5000. That's what I heard. You may

         25  want to ask other individuals in the panels that

                                                            242

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  might have more information to provide for you, but

          3  that's my understanding.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay. Thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, thank

          7  you very much.

          8                 MR. PIESTER: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: The next

         10  panel will be Nancy McNabb, Ron Burton and Len Less,

         11  Len Luss, Len Russ? Len somebody. As long as you

         12  know who you are.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you

         14  very much. Steve Cassidy had to leave. He was here

         15  earlier, but unfortunately he did have a prior

         16  engagement he had to step out.

         17                 We are going to adhere to the

         18  three-minute time clock, so once you are prepared,

         19  you may proceed and determine who starts first.

         20                 Nancy, do you want to start first?

         21  Are you ready?

         22                 MS. McNABB: Thank you, Council

         23  members. Thank you, Council members. I have a brief

         24  power point presentation that I'd like to show you,

         25  as I give my testimony.
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          2                 My name is Nancy McNabb, and I am a

          3  Regional Manager for NFPA, and I'm an architect

          4  registered in the great State of New York.

          5                 Thank you for allowing me to be here

          6  today and tell you something about the technical

          7  aspects of NFPA building construction and safety

          8  code, and why I think you should consider it as the

          9  right model code to serve as a basis for a New York

         10  City Building Code.

         11                 Intro. 368, by the way, was the first

         12  bill to be introduced, and, so, a lot of people

         13  signed onto this bill before the other bill came

         14  out.

         15                 Jim Shannon already covered a lot of

         16  the general information about NFPA, and our Code

         17  Development process. My presentation covers some of

         18  the considerations that impact the Administration

         19  and a portion of the Building Code.

         20                 Before coming to NFPA, by the way, I

         21  served as Assistant Director for Code Development

         22  and Interpretation at New York State.

         23                 I know well the problems on both

         24  sides of the counter. I know a lot about the process

         25  to adopt the I codes, because I was in New York
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          2  State serving as the Assistant Director when those I

          3  codes began to be talked about.

          4                 I do, more importantly, know

          5  something about the Uniformed Code Act, and as I

          6  recall, cities of over a million are exempt from the

          7  Uniformed Code Act, and the language reads something

          8  like this: If the City of New York thinks that the

          9  State has a good Building Code, then the City of New

         10  York is welcome to call up the State and say we'd

         11  like to sit down and talk to you about your code.

         12  But it's not the other way around.

         13                 I have been an architect on the other

         14  side of the counter seeking to pull a permit, and

         15  let's remember, a Building Code is nothing more than

         16  a tool to help us build safe, healthy buildings.

         17                 At NFPA we believe that everyone's

         18  business is public safety. And public safety is too

         19  important to be left in the hands of one group.

         20                 You can see, we took the Life Safety

         21  Code, which has been around since the Triangle Shirt

         22  waste fire in 1913, and we added three things to it,

         23  structural, material and systems. So, most of the

         24  provisions in that Life Safety Code go way back and

         25  they have a long history with the State of New York.
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          2                 On the table here, you can see some

          3  of the reports that we've done, we've been involved

          4  in fire investigation in the City of New York, we

          5  were only, the only model code organization asked to

          6  participate with FEMA in the BPAT, the Building

          7  Performance Assessment Team, after the 9/11

          8  tragedies.

          9                 Our competitors would like you to

         10  believe that we're new to this business, but these

         11  are the standards that New York State uses right

         12  now, that belong to NFPA. This is how many there

         13  are.

         14                 Maybe you've never heard of us,

         15  because we do what we do to make the world safer.

         16  Pasadena, Texas processes one-third of the nation's

         17  gasoline. I heard people say, oh, you know, they're

         18  not a big place. But they do know that they want the

         19  safest codes, and, so, they adopted the NFPA 5000.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: If I can

         21  interrupt you for one second. We are actually not

         22  going to have this panel on the clock, because they

         23  are the technical side for the NFPA. So, we're going

         24  to give them the opportunity to go a little bit

         25  longer than the normal three-minute time clock.
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          2                 MS. McNABB: Thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: So you may

          4  proceed, Nancy.

          5                 MS. McNABB: Thank you.

          6                 Today I would just like to talk about

          7  three key considerations that we have. And these are

          8  structural things that have to do with the Building

          9  Code that are different about our Building Code from

         10  the ICC Code. Structural things. Because, remember,

         11  the job of the Department of Buildings is not just

         12  enforcement. It is administration. Enforcement is,

         13  nobody moves, nobody gets hurt. Administration is

         14  telling the people what they need to do to make the

         15  buildings safe and healthy, and I believe that most

         16  people do the right thing when they are told, or

         17  when they know ahead of time what to do to make a

         18  building safe and healthy.

         19                 Traditional building codes are

         20  organized in a linear fashion. They've been

         21  developed over years by enforcers who use them

         22  analytically. This kind of approach is adequate for

         23  enforcement, but it does not help code

         24  administration. You mentioned, I think Commissioner

         25  Lancaster mentioned that the problem within New York
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          2  State, New York City Code may be that it's very

          3  bisontine and sections get added on at the end.

          4                 Well, the real challenge for a

          5  building code is to be a good tool to administer and

          6  the ICC code is added onto and updated, the same way

          7  the New York City code was, things are put at the

          8  end of the Chapter.

          9                 There is no special place for things

         10  in that document. Things can be put on as footnotes,

         11  they can be added at the end of the Chapter.

         12                 By contrast, the NFPA is structurally

         13  different than the ICC because we put things, we

         14  have an occupancy-based format. So, anyone can use

         15  the code because you simply need to know what kind

         16  of building you're building. Most people, when they

         17  use the Building Code, they say I think I'm going to

         18  build a day care center, I think I'm going to build

         19  a store, I think I'm going to build a house. They

         20  don't say I think I'm going to build a concrete

         21  building. Unless, you know, maybe at the Portland

         22  Cement Association.

         23                 But if you go to the business

         24  occupancy, that Chapter send you to the other

         25  chapters.
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          2                 Furthermore, once you get there, in

          3  that chapter, everything is arranged with the same

          4  section endings. So, you can find the means of

          5  egress provisions in the business occupancy chapter,

          6  the same way you find the means of egress provision

          7  in the Assembly, it's .2 all the time. It's always

          8  going to be, it could be 16.2 for Assembly. It could

          9  be 22.2 for one- and two-family dwellings. And by

         10  the way, we do have a chapter on one- and two-family

         11  dwellings.

         12                 Provisions don't get lost because

         13  they're tacked on at the end of the chapter. And if

         14  you're in business, say you're a sprinkler

         15  contractor, you can always go to the Fire Protection

         16  portion and find, hey, what do I need to do for

         17  sprinklers in different kinds of buildings. It's

         18  always in the same place in the chapter. So, it's

         19  not bisontine. It's a much easier code to

         20  administer, and Jim Shannon mentioned, we're proud

         21  of that. We put it on line. You don't have to be a

         22  member. Anybody can go and look at this document.

         23  Anybody. Anybody can look at it. Anybody can access

         24  it. You don't have to be an enforcer. You don't have

         25  to pay money. And that's the truth.
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          2                 And if you think that they do that,

          3  go to their website and look.

          4                 Second point. Performance code. In a

          5  City like New York, where you are really at the

          6  cutting edge of new design, methods of materials and

          7  construction. It is critical that you have in place

          8  a way of processing that that doesn't get bogged

          9  down with an administrative process.

         10                 I think someone mentioned earlier a

         11  variance process for these diesel fuel tanks.

         12                 When you go to an administrative

         13  process like that, it's very open-ended. Most people

         14  say I'm not going to do that. Time is money in

         15  construction, and time, construction time in New

         16  York City could be over a million dollars a day.

         17                 So, what we have in place at NFPA, is

         18  we have a performance chapter right in our Building

         19  Code that helps to provide an expedient permitting

         20  process for new design materials and methods of

         21  construction.

         22                 This code can be used two ways. The

         23  old way, which is the prescriptive way, and may of

         24  our prescriptive provisions are safer, or you can

         25  use a performance design.
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          2                 The code goals are safety, health,

          3  building usability and public welfare.

          4                 Property protection as it relates to

          5  the above, safety is important at NFPA. We say

          6  safety is everyone's business, and I think we would

          7  be kidding ourselves if we said property protection

          8  wasn't important.

          9                 We had a life safety code around for

         10  years, and it was about safety, health and welfare.

         11  It was about getting people out of buildings safely,

         12  or about maintaining those buildings safely so they

         13  were safe for people to live and work and occupy.

         14                 When we did a building code, we

         15  decided property protection is important because

         16  probably the biggest investment many of you will

         17  ever have is in your home and you're kidding

         18  yourself if you say property is not important. So,

         19  that's one of our goals as well.

         20                 You will never see cost as an NFPA

         21  goal. And that's not to say that we're cavalier

         22  about cost, or affordability. Because our

         23  stakeholders, and we have nine different kinds of

         24  stakeholders, they argue about cost. They argue back

         25  and forth. What's it going to cost to put lighting
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          2  over the stairs? Do we want to require lighting over

          3  the stairs, or can people put that in themselves if

          4  they want to see?

          5                 So, those issues come up and they're

          6  argued in the full forum of our process. So, this is

          7  a little bit about Chapter 5 and it allows New York

          8  City that option.

          9                 The last thing I want to say about

         10  New York City, and the fact that there's a better

         11  fit with the NFPA model code is, we include

         12  prescriptive chapters on Building Rehabilitation.

         13  That's very important for a City like New York

         14  that's built out that has a lot of structures that

         15  can be rehabilitated and used.

         16                 In the past we know as enforcers,

         17  enforcement for existing structures was all over the

         18  map. People would go to the inspector and say what

         19  do I need to do, and they would say nothing, because

         20  it's existing.

         21                 Other inspectors would say

         22  everything. You've got to treat this building like

         23  it's new. Well, in our code, we came up with, and

         24  this is very similar to what they have in New

         25  Jersey, they call the rehab code, and they credit it
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          2  with a lot of growth in the renovation of existing

          3  structures.

          4                 We have a rehabilitation chapter that

          5  provides a stepped approach. You did a little work

          6  on the building, you do a little safety work. So,

          7  it's not a penalty where you do too much work and

          8  all of a sudden you have to treat this building like

          9  it's new.

         10                 You do a little work, you do a little

         11  safety work and so on.

         12                 And furthermore, that chapter is

         13  divided so that it's easy to use. Because I believe

         14  many of these projects start in the neighborhood.

         15  They start in the neighborhood where people say,

         16  this is a building in my neighborhood. It didn't

         17  make it as a store, but I think it would make a nice

         18  day care center, or whatever. So this allows people

         19  to use the stepped approach for building

         20  rehabilitation. And if you think people know that

         21  there are separate requirements for existing

         22  buildings, and they're not in the building code,

         23  they may be there but they can't find them, so they

         24  give up on the project before they even start, if

         25  they don't have this kind of requirement.
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          2                 My last few slides, I'm going to say

          3  something about cost effectiveness. You know, I'm

          4  speaking conceptually here. For any given building

          5  code, you can do a building, you can take a building

          6  and say, oh, you know, this building, that code is

          7  more cost effective, that building, okay? But

          8  looking at the broader picture, let's talk about

          9  what drives construction cost. First you have the

         10  base requirement. Some say the IBC is more cost

         11  effective because it requires less fire proofing on

         12  high-rise structures, lower corridor ceiling

         13  heights, that kind of thing.

         14                 However, if there's a less costly

         15  solution you can provide that has equivalent safety,

         16  or if there are things that you can do to an

         17  existing building to rehabilitate it, that's not in

         18  their code.

         19                 Additionally, the NFPA Building Code

         20  is clear, it's simple, it's up-to-date, and it is

         21  on-line.

         22                 Some constituencies are only

         23  concerned with the installed cost. But if you live

         24  in the City and you'll be here awhile, it's like

         25  Bertha said, you're concerned with the long-term
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          2  cost over the life of the building.

          3                 NFPA encourages maintainability.

          4  Remember, the basis for our code is the Life Safety

          5  Code. That code deals with the use of a building,

          6  the maintenance of a building. The cost of

          7  maintaining and insuring a building is important

          8  over the long term.

          9                 So, we encourage rehabilitation

         10  provisions, and we think that over the long term, in

         11  a thriving metropolis like New York City, where you

         12  don't want a 30-year mortgage on a building that you

         13  put your fist through the wall in a year, NFPA is a

         14  better fit.

         15                 And last, it's really all about

         16  safety. The most recent comprehensive side-by-side

         17  analysis of the IBC and the NFPA 5000 conducting by

         18  the California State Fire Marshall, found the NFPA

         19  5000 provides a higher level safety in some key

         20  areas, that I think the City should be concerned

         21  about.

         22                 High-rise construction. We require

         23  four hours. With the same number of occupants we do

         24  not allow the diminishment of the stairwell width.

         25  That stairwell has to serve for emergency responders
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          2  and firefighters, as well as the disabled, who may

          3  be waiting in areas of refuge for, to get out of the

          4  building in an evacuation chair, that kind of thing.

          5                 So, we don't, even when there's

          6  sprinklers involved in high-rises, we require that

          7  that width be maintained.

          8                 We require a life safety analysis for

          9  places of public assembly that hold more than 6,000

         10  people. The IBC doesn't require that analysis.

         11                 We require a higher level of fire

         12  protection, the structure elements, and we require

         13  more sprinklers in some of our health care

         14  occupancies and day care centers.

         15                 So, in the end it all comes down to

         16  safety.

         17                 The NFPA 5000 provides the best way,

         18  I think, to truly achieve a safe building. And I

         19  thank you. That's the end of my comments.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you,

         21  Nancy.

         22                 Any other gentlemen, do any of you

         23  gentlemen have any testimony?

         24                 MR. BURTONE: Yes.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay.
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          2                 MR. BURTONE: Mr. Chairman, Council

          3  Members and members of the Committee, good

          4  afternoon. My name is Ron Burtone. I have been a

          5  licensed architect for over 30 years, and during

          6  that time I have provided professional services in

          7  New York City, New York State and several other

          8  states in which I maintain licenses.

          9                 I am a fellow of the American

         10  Institute of Architects, and have served as a

         11  National Vice President of the AIA.

         12                 I am a former member of the AIA's

         13  National Codes and Standards Committee, and I

         14  currently serve on the AIA's National Ethics

         15  Council. I am also proud to say I am a member of the

         16  NFPA Board of Directors, and I am here today in

         17  support of Intro. 368, which would adopt NFPA's

         18  model building code in New York City.

         19                 I am familiar with NFPA 5000, and I

         20  am pleased with this document. I am pleased with it,

         21  because I think it's a good code. I am also pleased

         22  because the people in my office who do code review

         23  think it's a good code.

         24                 Not only does it offer a high degree

         25  of safety, but it is also extremely easy to use. The
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          2  NFPA document is organized in a more logical format

          3  than previous model building codes have been.

          4                 In developing this Building Code, the

          5  NFPA endeavored to be responsive to the needs of

          6  enforcement agencies, to design communities and the

          7  construction industry, and to be consistent with the

          8  principles of consensus code development, which

          9  through its entire history the NFPA has adhered to.

         10                 This process permits the NFPA to

         11  establish a set of goals and objectives within this

         12  code that works to deliver a safe, usable and

         13  functional building at the end of the design

         14  process.

         15                 Beyond these elements, NFPA 5000 has

         16  also established a basic philosophy of referencing

         17  and recognizing design-related codes and standards

         18  developed by other organizations under the

         19  procedures of the American National Standards

         20  Institute.

         21                 Several people today have spoken

         22  about ANSI (phonetic). By doing this, it reflects

         23  the highest quality and most technically sound

         24  documents for given uses.

         25                 NFPA has taken those documents, and
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          2  has referenced and incorporated them to keep the

          3  NFPA code in lock step and current with the most

          4  recent of such requirements.

          5                 In general terms, the process by

          6  which many of the requirements in the NFPA 5000 code

          7  were established, is based on a reliance on the

          8  expertise found in other ANSI codes and standards.

          9                 The NFPA's Building Code includes

         10  direct references to key structural engineering

         11  standards, without major revisions.

         12                 As a result, the Code utilizes

         13  documents created by such standards, organizations,

         14  as the American Society of Civil Engineers, the

         15  American Concrete Institute, and the American Iron

         16  and Steel Institute.

         17                 The quality of the NFPA document

         18  starts at the very beginning. The Code clearly

         19  states goals and objectives to life safety,

         20  firefighter safety and property protection, on which

         21  all users will be able to rely during the

         22  construction process.

         23                 Also, and most importantly, NPFA's

         24  Building Code is organized based on the type of

         25  building you are going to construct. For example, if
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          2  you want to build a health care facility, you work

          3  from the health care section. If you want to build a

          4  day care center, most of what you need is located in

          5  a section called Day Care Occupancy. Each occupancy

          6  or type of building is logically addressed in the

          7  NFPA document. This is the same format that

          8  architects and others have relied on for many years

          9  when they are utilizing NPFA's nationally accepted

         10  Life Safety Code.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Could you try

         12  and sum up, please? Your three minutes is over.

         13                 MR. BURTONE: The formal individual

         14  said that we were allowed to go over that three

         15  minutes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: She got five

         17  minutes.

         18                 MR. BURTONE: Oh, I'm sorry. I thought

         19  we were all permitted to do that because we were the

         20  technical group.

         21                 I apologize.

         22                 All right, NFPA is the only Building

         23  Code that includes integrated performance-based

         24  design options. This option permits design

         25  professionals, contractors, code enforcers and
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          2  others in the field of construction to use

          3  innovative means and potentially cost-saving methods

          4  of protecting public safety as an alternative to

          5  prescriptive requirements.

          6                 Finally, I am very glad that NFPA has

          7  chosen to take the bold step of putting NFPA on line

          8  for free review. That opens up our model code to a

          9  whole new group of people, including those with

         10  disabilities who deserve to have input into the code

         11  development.

         12                 I hope you will consider this

         13  architect point of view and support Intro. 368 and

         14  the NFPA model building code. In doing so, you will

         15  not only be helping the architectural community

         16  practicing in New York City, but you will also be

         17  making a decision that will benefit the entire

         18  construction industry.

         19                 Thank you very much for allowing me

         20  the time to put this presentation on this afternoon.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         22  Next. And three minutes, please.

         23                 MR. RESS: My remarks originally began

         24  with good morning, so at least it's not good

         25  evening. Good afternoon. I am Leonard Ress
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          2  (phonetic). I am Chairman of New York State Health

          3  Facilities Association, and a member of the Board of

          4  Directors of the American Health Care Association.

          5                 Our State organization represents

          6  more than 300 nursing facilities in New York City

          7  and throughout the State. Our National Association

          8  represents a majority of nursing facilities across

          9  the nation.

         10                 I am here today to ask you to support

         11  Intro. 368 and the NFPA Building Code.

         12                 Health care facilities in every state

         13  depend on NFPA structural safety provisions to

         14  protect patients and residents and for years the

         15  NFPA codes have provided the highest degree of

         16  safety to millions of people in hospitals, nursing

         17  homes and other health care units.

         18                 For all of us in the field of health

         19  care, it is critically important that the codes are

         20  as safe as possible, because we are often caring for

         21  patients who are not able to look out for their own

         22  safety.

         23                 NFPA codes are not only safe, they

         24  are also easy to understand and utilize, as my

         25  colleague said before me.
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          2                 Our members appreciate the fact that

          3  the NFPA Life Safety Code and the NFPA Building Code

          4  are both organized on an occupancy-based format.

          5  That is format is more logical and less likely to

          6  lead to confusion.

          7                 This occupancy-based format makes it

          8  easier for everyone involved in the construction of

          9  a new facility or code compliance and enforcement,

         10  in an existing facility to identify and apply

         11  important safety provisions. And I might add that we

         12  in the health care industry live in the sort of

         13  regulatory purgatory. We have so many layers of

         14  codes from labor, health, safety, occupational

         15  hazards, drug enforcement, quality care, and also

         16  building safety.

         17                 One of the most wrenching challenges

         18  that we have on a daily basis, is not only making

         19  sense of all the codes that we have to deal with,

         20  but also the conflicts in those codes. The fact that

         21  one layer of code is in conflict with another, that

         22  there is not necessarily continuity, and also the

         23  regulators themselves, be they cities, county, state

         24  or federal government, are not sure necessarily

         25  which codes prevail.
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          2                 The adoption of the NFPA 5000 from

          3  our vantage point, utilizing the Life Safety Code

          4  that we have had to use for years, is the first

          5  attempt to bring sanity to the regulatory process

          6  from our point of view.

          7                 It brings a certain synergy to the

          8  code process. Not only into the establishment of the

          9  code itself, but the implementation of the code, and

         10  the ability to understand and access the code that

         11  we have never had before.

         12                 I think this is a unique opportunity

         13  for the first time in a generation, to adopt a

         14  building code that lends itself to that kind of

         15  continuity.

         16                 And in reference to what had been

         17  said earlier with respect to the fact that the IBC

         18  code may be utilized at the moment by more

         19  jurisdictions because of the newness of the NFPA

         20  5000, the NFPA 5000 is a culmination of an NFPA

         21  process that has gone on for many, many years, and I

         22  would dare say that New York City, for the first

         23  time in a generation adopting a new building code,

         24  ought to consider taking a leadership role in

         25  adopting a state-of-the-art user-friendly code,
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          2  rather than simply following the lead of other

          3  jurisdictions that are currently using a code,

          4  whether it's for temporary expediency or simply by

          5  virtue of the fact that that just happens to be the

          6  commonplace code that's used there today.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

          9  very much.

         10                 Thank all of you.

         11                 The next panel, Lou Coletti, Steve

         12  Spinola, Michelle Adams, Henry Green and Roberta

         13  McGowan.

         14                 Okay, decide who wants to start

         15  first.

         16                 MS. ADAMS: Good afternoon. Thank you

         17  for giving me the opportunity to speak about the

         18  proposed legislation to revise the City's Building

         19  Codes.

         20                 My name is Michelle Adams, and I'm

         21  the Executive Director of the Association for a

         22  Better New York, more commonly referred to as ABNY.

         23                 ABNY is comprised of over 350 member

         24  organizations that represent all of the City's

         25  sectors, including business, non-for-profit,
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          2  education, labor, real estate, health, tourism,

          3  hospitality and sports and management.

          4                 New York City has a complicated

          5  building code to navigate. The code is daunting and

          6  thus many builders are reluctant to work in New York

          7  City where they are bogged down by bureaucracy.

          8                 One studied describe the current

          9  building code as, "voluminous, detailed, complex,

         10  idiosyncratic, redundant and arcane."

         11                 By adopting the International

         12  Building Code, New York City has an opportunity to

         13  cut through the red tape and begin anew with a

         14  proactive set of codes. We will not only make it

         15  easier for our local builders, but we will also

         16  encourage new builders to enter into our market.

         17                 Today I'm speaking on behalf of

         18  ABNY's membership to support the enactment of the

         19  International Building Code.

         20                 The piece of the IBC that we are

         21  discussing at this hearing is crucial for the first

         22  step in untangling the labyrinth of what we now call

         23  New York City's Building Code.

         24                 The IBC is logically formatted,

         25  comprehensive, and subject to regular reviews and
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          2  updates, and it simplifies the process for building

          3  commercial and residential properties, including

          4  affordable housing.

          5                 It is the most widely used set of

          6  codes across the country, and has provisions for

          7  Homeland Security and fire safety.

          8                 Additionally, the codes are used in

          9  projects for the Department of Defense, Department

         10  of State, Department of Congress, Department of

         11  Veterans Affairs, GSA and HUD, to name a few.

         12                 The IBC has been tested and proven to

         13  work. Our country has the highest standards of

         14  building safety in the world, and this is due

         15  primarily because so many cities and federal

         16  government agencies use the IBC.

         17                 New York City cannot afford to

         18  continue to be bound by our complicated codes. We

         19  are the world's second home, and in order for New

         20  York to remain a competitive international leader,

         21  we must adopt the IBC today. Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         23                 MR. SPINOLA: Good morning. I guess

         24  it's good evening. I am Steven Spinola, the

         25  President of the Real Estate Board of New York. I'm
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          2  not going to read my testimony. I've been listening

          3  to a great deal of it today. I support the IBC, and

          4  I support it for mainly the fact that my membership,

          5  which is made up of building owners, build

          6  developers, engineers, architects, designers,

          7  planners, have made the decision that that is the

          8  right way to go.

          9                 We worked with the City of New York

         10  in the process of determining and looking at the two

         11  alternative processes, and we supported the idea of

         12  going down the IBC route.

         13                 Now, there's been a lot of talk about

         14  the fact that we seem to think we have the worst

         15  Building Code in the world in New York City.

         16                 Well, the truth of the matter is, we

         17  have one of the best building codes in the world in

         18  New York City, there's always room for improvement,

         19  and the reason to go the national route is to have

         20  some consensus of plans and some consensus of ideas.

         21                 I don't know about the Council or

         22  anyone else. The thought of taking New York City's

         23  Building Code, and putting it into the hands of a

         24  policy that has been adopted by two relatively small

         25  cities, doesn't make any sense at all to me.
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          2                 I know for a fact that we get

          3  tremendous support from the ICC. I know that this

          4  municipality would get that report, and, yes, a

          5  comment before, that the City of a million or more

          6  are exempt from State rules in terms of building

          7  codes, that's only if the code is more stringent

          8  than the State code. And, so, we have always had a

          9  more stringent code. And I can only say to you that

         10  the people, the predominant numbers of people who

         11  build, design, engineer and construct are supportive

         12  of going down the IBC route. I am not here to say we

         13  totally endorse it, because there is so much more to

         14  be done, to make the IBC fit into New York City. We

         15  need to bring new technologies available in New York

         16  City, which will bring down some costs without

         17  jeopardizing any safety. This Council constantly

         18  talks about the need for affordable housing. What we

         19  need to make sure, that we are using technology so

         20  that we can build affordable housing.

         21                 And, so, I urge you to continue to

         22  move in the direction of the IBC, because it is

         23  logical. It is proven, and it will work. We need to

         24  make sure that it conforms to the extraordinary

         25  things that we may need to do here in New York City,
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          2  but I'm convinced that this Council and this

          3  Administration will insist upon that.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MS. McGOWAN: Well, I applaud Mr.

          6  Spinola and his remarks, and I would like to say

          7  that we echo them. My name is Roberta McGowan. I'm

          8  the Executive Director of the Building Owners and

          9  Managers Association in New York.

         10                 We represent over 400 million square

         11  feet of real estate and more than 3 million office

         12  occupants, and our members are responsible for over

         13  one and a half billion dollars in annual tax

         14  revenue.

         15                 We are federated with BOMA

         16  International, which was founded in 1907 and

         17  comprised of 108 local associations, with over

         18  19,000 members, who own or manage more than 9

         19  billion square feet of commercial property

         20  nationwide.

         21                 I have representatives here from BOMA

         22  International who also will be able to speak a

         23  little bit later in these proceedings.

         24                 On behalf of the members of our

         25  organization, I would like to urge the Council
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          2  members to oppose Intro. No. 368, and the NFPA 5000

          3  Building Construction and Safety Code, and support

          4  Intro. 478 and the International Code process.

          5                 Some points to consider when making a

          6  decision would be the IBC and Intro. No. 478 is easy

          7  to amend for local conditions, the IBC preserves its

          8  technical content and existing safety standards,

          9  such as carbon monoxide bill, and the World Trade

         10  Center bill.

         11                 It is used in New York State as the

         12  basis of Fire Prevention and Construction Code,

         13  which governs all construction in the state. It

         14  conforms to the existing New York State Energy

         15  Conservation Code, and another final compelling

         16  reason is a regular review process to amend the code

         17  is reviewed every three years, enabling the code to

         18  keep current with the changing industry practices.

         19                 So, in summary, BOMA New York feels

         20  that it is time to update the antiquated existing

         21  building code and incorporate all the necessary

         22  public help and safety requirements for the

         23  rebuilding New York City will most definitely be

         24  facing in the future.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          3                 Next.

          4                 MR. GREEN: Good morning. My name is

          5  Henry Green, and I'm Vice President of the

          6  International Code Council. And I've heard a number

          7  of comments today that I probably don't have time to

          8  address in the three minutes, and I would hope that

          9  during the discourse that we might have, I might be

         10  able to address some of the questions that you have

         11  relative to the International Code Council process.

         12                 I'm here today to represent the over

         13  40,000 members of the International Code Council,

         14  who represent more than over tens of thousands of

         15  jurisdictions in 48 states that have adopted the

         16  code.

         17                 One or more of the codes, and

         18  specifically the 44 states that either the state or

         19  local units of government have, in fact, adopted

         20  codes, 44 states.

         21                 I'm also, for your information, a

         22  former chairman of the National Institute of

         23  Building Sciences. The National Institute of

         24  Building Sciences is a congressionally mandated

         25  board that in fact is in the business of reviewing
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          2  codes and standards for purposes of determining the

          3  interface between the federal government in the

          4  private sector for purposes of applying the federal

          5  standards.

          6                 And as you've heard today, the I

          7  Codes have been adopted by a number of federal

          8  agencies, as well as use in terms of Department of

          9  Defense installations throughout the world.

         10                 There is some credibility to that

         11  when we start thinking about, for example, the

         12  things that we do for defense of our nation. And

         13  what we talk about in terms of response for first

         14  responders that go into buildings, because many of

         15  these elements are built into the Building Code, as

         16  well as our other codes.

         17                 I heard issues this morning, relative

         18  to the oil containment, that there is a concern

         19  about how much oil can be placed in a building.

         20  Well, the Building Code, the International Building

         21  Code contains provisions for hazardous materials

         22  that are contained within buildings, including fire

         23  protection, double containment packages, et cetera.

         24  These are high hazard uses within the building.

         25                 I also wanted to talk to you in terms
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          2  of some of the other elements, and that includes our

          3  process, development process.

          4                 In the package that we have provided

          5  for you today, we have given you a matrix that talks

          6  about the Code Development process and the

          7  distinctions between the two. I would encourage you

          8  to take a look at that. We have not tried to flavor

          9  that comparison in any manner from the standpoint of

         10  just directly referencing how the codes are

         11  developed and adopted, or determined at the national

         12  level.

         13                 I've also heard today that there are

         14  a lot of issues relative to who can participate in

         15  the process. Well, let me suggest to you that there

         16  are, in fact, a number of firefighters, fire

         17  officials, who participate in the development of our

         18  codes at the national level.

         19                 In fact, one of the first councils

         20  that was developed under the International Code

         21  Council was the Fire Council. This Fire Council

         22  actually seats the members on the Fire Code

         23  Development Committee.

         24                 That committee then reviews and vets

         25  the information that we received relative to code
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          2  development for the International Fire Code, as well

          3  as portions of the International Building Code.

          4                 And I know my time is up, so I'd be

          5  happy to answer any questions that you might have,

          6  Madam Chair.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Did you

          8  provide testimony? Did you provide written

          9  testimony?

         10                 MR. GREEN: I provided written

         11  testimony.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Well, Lou,

         13  why don't you do your thing and then --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Oh, I'm fine.

         15                 MR. GREEN: Well, it's under the

         16  statement from the International Code Council. It's

         17  submitted by Sara Yerkes, one of our vice

         18  presidents.

         19                 MR. COLETTI: Thank you, Madam

         20  Chairman and members of the Committee, for surviving

         21  the day with us so far. My name is Louis Colletti.

         22  I'm the President of the Building Trades Employers

         23  Association, and I'm here representing over 1,500

         24  union contractors comprised of general contractors,

         25  construction managers and specialty trade
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          2  contractors, and we're here in support of the IBC,

          3  Intro. 478.

          4                 You know, so far, listening to all

          5  the testimony today, I get a sense that you may feel

          6  that it's either the IBC or the NFPA, and I don't

          7  think that's the case at all.

          8                 Let me suggest to you that I would

          9  recommend you adopt 478 and the IBC code, because

         10  what it does is it sets a time frame and a framework

         11  for further discussion to come back to the Council.

         12                 I can see no reason why we can't go

         13  back, take a look at the NFPA, look a those elements

         14  that people think should be incorporated to an IBC

         15  code and do so in time to come back with the second

         16  bill that has to come before this Council, in order

         17  for any code to be changed.

         18                 Now, I suggest to you the IBC route,

         19  rather than the NFPA route for just a couple of

         20  reasons. Number one, the IBC code has been around

         21  for over 100 years. In addition, it's been adopted

         22  in 48 states. As Steve Spinola said before, the NFPA

         23  code is only adopted in a small suburb in Houston,

         24  Texas, and one small town in Maine. And the second

         25  reason I suggest we adopt the IBC code 478, is,
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          2  again, listening to the testimony and concerns of

          3  Council Members, I heard a lot of discussion about

          4  safety. Safety is a major priority for the members

          5  of this Committee. And I'd like to share with you

          6  that the best safety and construction standards of

          7  the current building code, which include the World

          8  Trade Center bill, and the carbon monoxide bill, are

          9  being incorporated into the IBC.

         10                 However, the opposing model code,

         11  Intro. 368, requires that the NFPA be adopted as is,

         12  without New York City modification, and without the

         13  safety enhancements of the World Trade Center bill

         14  and carbon monoxide bill.

         15                 In addition to that, as I understand

         16  it, the NFPA does not talk at all about one- or

         17  two-family residents. So, in summary, I don't think

         18  it's an either/or. I think we can have the best of

         19  both worlds, by adopting 478, and going back and

         20  taking a look at what elements from NFPA make sense

         21  for consideration to come back here.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you. Do

         24  we have any questions?

         25                 Go ahead, Leroy.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Mr. Coletti,

          3  I'm sorry, where did you read that from, that last

          4  statement that you just said? Was that part of the

          5  legislation, the 368, when you said it didn't apply

          6  to one- and two-family homes?

          7                 MR. COLETTI: My understanding is

          8  that's actually in the NFPA code itself, not in the

          9  legislation.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: In the code

         11  itself.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And I asked

         13  them the question, and they told me that. They made

         14  the statement.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I'm sorry. I'm

         16  sorry, it's been a schizophrenic day for me with

         17  four committees. So, if I'm repetitive, I'm sorry,

         18  Madam Chair. And I just want to -- I think she

         19  deserves a round of applause. She's been here all

         20  day. She's been listening to all sides. I want to

         21  thank her and her staff for doing a yeoman's effort

         22  in trying to get all the facts out, which is what

         23  we're here to do.

         24                 Clearly, you know, as I said earlier,

         25  I don't know if you heard me, but we want to make
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          2  sure that whatever is adopted is codified in such a

          3  way that we can make developments seamless, or we

          4  can finally enhance the authority of the Buildings

          5  Department, which none of us have any real faith in

          6  at the moment, because the codes are so obtuse and

          7  they're totally out of date. So, clearly, those are

          8  my main concerns. And you know my district there are

          9  primarily one- and two-family home owners. They want

         10  to make sure they can have their safety and security

         11  with the Buildings Department efficiently

         12  monitoring, and in protecting their home. And

         13  throughout this City, we want to ensure that the

         14  Buildings Department can do the right thing in the

         15  right circumstance in a diverse city.

         16                 So, with that in mind, I'm going to

         17  just ask you the same questions I'm asking everybody

         18  else.

         19                 Around the issues of affordable

         20  housing, you actually said a point that I wanted you

         21  to maybe highlight a little bit more. You said if

         22  IBC is adopted that all of the elements of NFPA that

         23  are critical to safety and security could still be

         24  adopted in the bill?

         25                 MR. COLETTI: Yes. My understanding of
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          2  the way this process is working is the IBC

          3  legislation 478 sets a time frame to come back to

          4  this Council with the real technical details of the

          5  Building Code.

          6                 I don't see any reason why those

          7  elements of the NFPA standards can't be considered

          8  in sort of phase II, and then when we come back to

          9  the Council be incorporated based on the input of a

         10  number of people. I don't see it as an exclusionary

         11  process. And all day I've listened to its either/or.

         12  I don't think it's either/or at all. This is the

         13  beginning of the process, not the end of it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you think

         15  that the standing committees that exist now won't

         16  have that all packaged before we get back to the

         17  second round?

         18                 MR. COLETTI: Oh, not at all. I can

         19  tell you I believe, I see Steve shaking his head, I

         20  think there's going to be a lot of discussion in the

         21  second round among a number of various

         22  constituencies, about what should be changed, what

         23  shouldn't be changed. I know it's hard for you to

         24  believe, I think this is the easy part. I think the

         25  hard part is coming.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And from your

          3  impression of the work of the standing committees,

          4  is it possible for anyone to have input and

          5  involvement in them?

          6                 MR. COLETTI: Absolutely.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: When I mean

          8  anyone, I mean anyone.

          9                 MR. COLETTI: Absolutely. There have

         10  been public hearings. I mean, I can tell you that

         11  from my membership, and I think it's one of the

         12  things that sort of wrankles us a little bit, is for

         13  I don't know how long, we've had thousands of

         14  volunteers spend hundreds of thousands of hours

         15  going over this and all of a sudden you find out

         16  that there's a bill for the NFPA at the City

         17  Council. I don't see any reason why they couldn't be

         18  invited to participate, and the next phase of the

         19  process.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         21                 I asked the earlier panelists, what

         22  do you think is affordable housing and achievable

         23  affordable housing in New York City, as far as

         24  percentage is concerned, and how you think these

         25  codes, specifically how these codes help make that
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          2  happen.

          3                 MR. COLETTI: I'll let Steve answer.

          4                 MR. SPINOLA: Let me try to answer.

          5                 I once asked one of the largest

          6  residential builder in the country, who is very

          7  active here in the City, why he can't build the same

          8  kind of housing he builds around the country, and he

          9  basically said the code.

         10                 I said, well, what do you build

         11  around the country? And he said, we build, first of

         12  all, we use different materials; second, we build

         13  low scale because three-, four-story woodframe

         14  units, and we worked with previous administrations

         15  to try to come up with codes that would permit that

         16  kind of housing. And every time we got close there

         17  were, well, we want to do one more thing, one more

         18  thing, and at one point we threw up our hands and

         19  say, well, nobody is going to use it, nobody is

         20  going to build under it because it's not there.

         21                 The problem with affordable housing

         22  is not an issue of zoning, it's an issue of cost.

         23  People who build housing will build it if there's a

         24  reasonable return on their time and their effort and

         25  their investment. And cost in the City is higher.
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          2  It's higher because of land cost, it's higher

          3  because of labor to some extent, and in some cases,

          4  including our current building code, there are

          5  certain materials that are not permitted. We've

          6  recently worked out, the unions have been terrific,

          7  the electrical unions, and we've also worked with

          8  the plumbers' union on making some work rule changes

          9  that we believe will bring down the cost. We applaud

         10  that and that will help. But the bottom line is it

         11  cost X dollars to build a housing unit, and if you

         12  can't rent it for above a certain number, because

         13  you're trying to reach people who make 80 percent of

         14  medium in this City, then you need assistance, and

         15  the Administration has put in some significant

         16  programs to try to make that happen, and new zoning

         17  will permit that to happen as well. So, I'm not

         18  sure, there's a whole, the affordable housing issue

         19  is obviously another five days of hearings as to

         20  what you can accomplish and what you need to do, but

         21  as we move ahead with a new code, we also have to

         22  look at whether or not there are things that we

         23  could be doing without jeopardizing any safety

         24  measures that would bring down the cost of housing.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay, thank
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          2  you.

          3                 MR. COLETTI: Again, just to clarify

          4  the record, we often hear, when you're talking about

          5  affordable housing, the high cost of labor. And let

          6  me say in defense of organized labor, please don't

          7  pin that on the building trades, because we're not

          8  building affordable housing.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right. I'm

         10  clear on that. I just really want to know if you

         11  think these codes can help bring down a cost of

         12  affordable housing, which ever one is adopted and

         13  how we can best achieve it.

         14                 MR. SPINOLA: One of the reasons that

         15  I'm here almost supporting the IBC, is because we

         16  need to see what the end product is.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         18                 MR. SPINOLA: And if we only get, if

         19  we keep the same restrictions that the New York City

         20  Building Code now has, and adopt additional

         21  restrictions at the IBC, but don't take advantage of

         22  some of the modifications that the IBC would help

         23  bring down cost, then maybe we will stand before you

         24  a few months from now and say we have problems with

         25  this code. So, we're looking to find the right
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          2  compromise of making, ensuring safety, but also

          3  trying to take advantage of new technologies to

          4  permit us to build at a less expensive price.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you. In

          6  deference to time, I won't ask any more questions.

          7                 Thank you. Thank you. Thank you,

          8  Madam Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We actually

         10  have a whole panel on affordable housing which we

         11  will probably never get to hear today.

         12                 Council Member Jackson.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         14  Madam Chair.

         15                 Lou, I just wanted to touch base with

         16  you. I think you indicated in your testimony that

         17  the residential housing is not referred to in NFPA,

         18  and I think somebody asked you, you know, did you

         19  know the citation. In listening to the consultants

         20  for NFPA, some of the technical people, they said

         21  it's Chapter 22 of the Code 5000. So, you need to go

         22  check that out. I think you had the facts wrong, in

         23  that that is not in the code of NFPA, in fact, what

         24  my consultant says, and I didn't actually see it

         25  myself, you know, but they say it's in there,
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          2  Chapter 22; is that correct, Nancy? So, you can go

          3  check out that fact.

          4                 But also, I think with respect to

          5  this particular issue. Let me just ask you your

          6  question, and anyone can answer this, it doesn't

          7  necessarily go to Lou, but any one of you. If you

          8  were here earlier, I had mentioned it seems as

          9  though we're putting the cart before the horse, in

         10  that since the City Council has to adopt a code,

         11  wouldn't it be more appropriate for us to adopt a

         12  model code and then put the clothes on the code,

         13  rather than put together all of the knittings and

         14  all of the clothes and not knowing which code we're

         15  going to adopt; wouldn't that make better sense from

         16  a common sense approach, and anyone can respond to

         17  that.

         18                 MR. COLETTI: Councilman, I think the

         19  process that's outlined in 478 is the right now and

         20  I say that based on the experience you had in

         21  adopting the Electrical Code. It took ten years to

         22  get the code changed to even bring it before the

         23  Council.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That's not my

         25  fault, though, Lou.
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          2                 MR. COLETTI: No, no. I'm not saying,

          3  it's not your fault. But that's my point. By

          4  adopting 478, what you would be saying to the

          5  Buildings Department and to the industry, you have a

          6  time frame, and if you don't bring whatever changes

          7  you think are appropriate to this time frame, then

          8  we go back to square one. And I think that's the

          9  right way to do it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Really --

         11                 MR. COLETTI: Yes, I think if you try

         12  to go back the other way, we'll be 25 years.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You mean we

         14  should adopt something that there's a possibility

         15  that we will reject later? That doesn't sound right

         16  to me.

         17                 MR. COLETTI: No. The only thing

         18  that's before you are provisions that everyone has

         19  agreed upon.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Who is

         21  everyone?

         22                 MR. COLLETI: Everyone in the design.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, we have

         24  to adopt it. We haven't agreed upon it.

         25                 MR. COLETTI: You're correct. From the
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          2  working standing committee standpoint.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I don't know

          4  if you were here when I referred to the press

          5  release from Mayor Bloomberg on the date of November

          6  1st, 2002, where he stated, you know, that he's

          7  establishing a commission in order to implement and

          8  adopt International Building Code. Were you here

          9  when I said that Lou?

         10                 MR. COLETTI: Yes. And I also heard

         11  that there was a Commission that looked at several

         12  different codes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.

         14                 MR. COLETTI: I was not a participant

         15  in that process, and they made a decision and moved

         16  forward.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. And I

         18  asked the question, was that Commission formed

         19  before or after the press release, and it was after

         20  the press release. And so I was saying this appeared

         21  to be a set-up. And I don't need to get into all

         22  that again. Obviously he was here, you heard that.

         23  But I'm interested in knowing what any other panel

         24  member has to say about, you know, the whole issue

         25  of the cart before the horse and whether or not from
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          2  a common sense point of view, do they feel that that

          3  approach is an appropriate approach to take, knowing

          4  that the City Council, the Council, and no one else,

          5  must be able to adopt a code.

          6                 MR. GREEN: If I may, Councilman

          7  Jackson? I didn't come here today to -- I'm here to

          8  offer help to you, okay?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Oh, I

         10  appreciate that.

         11                 MR. GREEN: And I truly mean that.

         12                 What I want to relate to you is my

         13  experience as Director of Construction Codes for the

         14  State of Michigan, because that's my day job.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What's your

         16  night job?

         17                 MR. GREEN: I'm here.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         19                 MR. GREEN: And I don't get paid for

         20  it. It's all volunteer.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Good for you.

         22                 MR. GREEN: It's a sense of giving

         23  back to the community and to the country, quite

         24  frankly. My commitment.

         25                 Here's my experience in terms of
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          2  adoption of codes.

          3                 If you start with a base document, it

          4  is easier to look at those provisions that have been

          5  vetted in a much larger forum. Once those provisions

          6  have been vetted, it gives you the opportunity to

          7  look at specific local conditions, or issues that

          8  you, in fact, need to adjust in the code, which is

          9  the process that you're going through.

         10                 And as I've heard today, this body is

         11  not a technical body. This body is a --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Legislative

         13  body.

         14                 MR. GREEN: -- Legislative body. And I

         15  deal with 193 legislators in our state chambers,

         16  okay? 110 representatives and 83 senators. So, when

         17  I look at that, and I deal with them, I take them a

         18  package, a recommendation that we have worked with

         19  all the constituent parties and fully engage them in

         20  the development process and engage them in the

         21  discussion and then give them a recommendation. Does

         22  that preclude individuals from going to those

         23  particular legislative representatives and

         24  questioning what we've proposed? No. But we have to

         25  answer those questions.
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          2                 In order to move forward, you're

          3  going to have to pick some basis to proceed forward

          4  because you need to look at it and make appropriate

          5  changes to that base document for you to consider in

          6  the legislative arena to then go forward.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I totally

          8  agree with you. That's why I'm saying I don't

          9  understand why, you know, we have not adopted

         10  something before we're considering changes.

         11                 MR. GREEN: It's not an adoption that

         12  I do. What I do is I make a recommendation for an

         13  adoption in the proposed amendments.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I see. But to

         15  get back to my question, though, my question was:

         16  Should a legislative body adopt a code first, before

         17  they look into all of the details of this process

         18  which could take a year, take three years, to make

         19  recommendations in order to tailor a code for New

         20  York City specifically?

         21                 MR. GREEN: Unless you're going to

         22  delve into the technical issues, my answer and

         23  recommendation to you is no. Get your technical

         24  people to look at the code, the base document, and

         25  make a recommendation on which one, and I understand
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          2  that's what you've been doing over these last

          3  several months.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: With the

          5  assumption that the City Council will adopt that

          6  particular code?

          7                 MR. GREEN: Not necessarily. It's a

          8  recommendation to you. That's when you, in fact, ask

          9  the questions about why do you want to adopt this

         10  code, and what does it bring to the table?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And just to

         12  follow up on that logic. If the recommendation is

         13  not taken then, then basically, let's assume the

         14  recommendation is not to adopt ICC but to adopt the

         15  NFPA 5000 code, then would you --

         16                 MR. GREEN: Send them back to the

         17  drawing board.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Basically all

         19  of that time has been basically not necessarily

         20  wasted, but a lot of it has been wasted.

         21                 MR. GREEN: Well, it's not wasted

         22  time, it's educational opportunities.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Oh, okay.

         24  That's from a positive point of view.

         25                 MR. GREEN: From a positive, I'm
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          2  always a half glass full, okay? It's not wasted

          3  time.

          4                 But what you have is also the ability

          5  to take a look and research whether or not it's

          6  going to be a good fit. And that's what you need to

          7  know is whether or not the code with the amendment,

          8  with the amendments that you're going to propose, is

          9  a good fit for your community.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, would you

         11  be willing, if we took the NFPA 5000 code and did

         12  the same thing that has done with IBC, and then come

         13  back to where we are now and let's come forward and

         14  then compare the two?

         15                 MR. GREEN: Would I be willing?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes.

         17                 MR. GREEN: I'll come back and help

         18  you as much as I can. And we'll commit to, in fact,

         19  assisting in this development process.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Even if it

         21  takes two years?

         22                 MR. GREEN: Even if it takes two

         23  years.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         25                 MR. GREEN: Now, I want you to
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          2  completely understand, too, that in fact our

          3  assistance is simply from the standpoint of assuring

          4  that you get the best package that you can have for

          5  your community.

          6                 I'm not going to sit here today and

          7  tell you that we don't use within the I codes

          8  references to NFPA standards. I will not tell you

          9  that. We do.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.

         11                 MR. GREEN: Also, NFPA standards use

         12  references to I codes too. The other part of that

         13  is, and this was down to the heart of a lot of

         14  discussion today relative to this development

         15  process, and the distinction between the two

         16  development processes. And as I said earlier, there

         17  is a document that's in your package that fairly

         18  compares the two processes. Here is the unique

         19  thing. And I want to talk specifically to the I Code

         20  process, because I don't think that's been fully

         21  engaged for you to understand.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, I've

         23  heard the NFPL process.

         24                 MR. GREEN: I understand. I want to

         25  give you the other side of the story, or at least a
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          2  comparable story, okay?

          3                 The I Code process says anyone in

          4  this world can submit a code change, irrespective of

          5  where they come from. It doesn't matter. That code

          6  change is then put together in a code format, in a

          7  public published document that includes all of the

          8  code changes. That document is published, it's free,

          9  anybody can obtain it. They can make comments on it,

         10  they can make comment in written form, or they can

         11  participate in the code hearing process, without any

         12  affiliation of any sort.

         13                 A committee that is made up where

         14  there is in fact a representation across the bow for

         15  all interest parties of that particular, for

         16  example, and we'll use building code. There are a

         17  16-member panel that's seated. Not more than

         18  one-third of the panel can be code officials. Not

         19  more than one-third. So, the rest of them can be

         20  architects, engineers, they can be labor

         21  representatives, they can be industry

         22  representative, product representatives sitting on

         23  the committee.

         24                 That body then makes a recommendation

         25  relative to the testimony that they hear in the
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          2  proposed change that has been submitted to them.

          3  Once that recommendation is made by the Committee,

          4  anybody in the house at the hearing can raise an

          5  objection and ask for a vote by the house.

          6                 If the Committee recommendation and

          7  the house are both upheld, both those provisions go

          8  forward for another round of consideration. They're

          9  published for the world to see. Anybody can make

         10  comment on it. They come back and all those comments

         11  are vetted before a body that is the International

         12  Code Council membership, which our governmental

         13  members, representatives, for example, from the City

         14  of Detroit. City of Detroit, City of New York, et

         15  cetera. And that does not limit itself to just code

         16  officials. It can be folks, such as yourselves, as

         17  elected officials, if you're named as a

         18  representative. It can include fire folks, it is

         19  governmental consensus members. Those members then

         20  vote on that particular code change. That code

         21  change, once it is finally put together, would be

         22  the code.

         23                 Now, if someone has, in fact, a

         24  concern that their interest has not been fully

         25  engaged in that, there is an appeals process as
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          2  well. That appeals process goes to an elected board

          3  from the membership of the organization who hear the

          4  information. There's a panel that's put together

          5  that represents varied interests, not just the Board

          6  but also outside interests to hear the issue, and a

          7  recommendation goes to the Board of Directors.

          8  That's the appeal process.

          9                 So, as you can see, down through the

         10  line the entire process, at the I Codes, everyone

         11  has the opportunity to have input in that process.

         12                 I just wanted to make sure that you

         13  understood that it was not a closed process.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I want

         15  to thank you for your full explanation, and I've

         16  heard both full explanations.

         17                 Okay, thank you, Madam Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, thank

         19  all of you very much.

         20                 MR. GREEN: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Next panel is

         22  Jimmy Hart and Robert Troeller.

         23                 Gentlemen, decide who is going to go,

         24  and start.

         25                 MR. TROELLER: Good afternoon, and
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          2  thank you for allowing me to speak before you today.

          3                 I'm here representing the more than

          4  870 members of the Operating Engineers, Local 891,

          5  School Custodian Engineers.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: State your

          7  name, please.

          8                 MR. TROELLER: Local 891 supports

          9  Intro. 368 and the adoption of the NFPA Building

         10  Code for New York City.

         11                 As an individual who is both a

         12  licensed station engineer and refrigeration

         13  engineer, I fully understand and appreciate the need

         14  for a building code which is both efficient and

         15  provides the highest level of safety for our City.

         16                 Yes, the current code is vast and

         17  complex, but so is this City. In your worthy effort

         18  to streamline and modernize the current code, I urge

         19  the Council not to throw out the baby with the

         20  bathwater. Any revisions to the code must place the

         21  safety of our citizens above all else. Especially in

         22  today's unpredictable and potentially dangerous

         23  world.

         24                 One vital component to ensuring the

         25  safety of the public is to maintain the proper
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          2  qualification for the men and women who are

          3  entrusted with the operation of potentially

          4  dangerous stationary power equipment, such as

          5  boilers, generators and refrigerating machines.

          6                 I am proud to say that the men and

          7  women of my organization have been taking care of

          8  New York City's public school building and occupants

          9  for over a hundred years, incredibly, almost without

         10  any major industrial-type accident.

         11                 We are dedicated to the fact that all

         12  children deserve a safe environment in which to

         13  learn.

         14                 We know just how important safety

         15  codes are to the well-being of the people of this

         16  City because we use those codes every day.

         17                 That is why we support NFPA's

         18  Building Code. This code provides for proper input

         19  and modification to reflect the needs of the

         20  citizens.

         21                 In the event of an emergency, NFPA's

         22  Building Code provides the greatest protection for

         23  first responders and building occupants. For

         24  example, NFPA offers strict requirements for key

         25  structural elements in high-rise buildings as any
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          2  International Building Code does.

          3                 By requiring more protection for

          4  their elements, NFPA code allows first responders to

          5  safely do their jobs and better protect building

          6  occupants. These are only a few of the reasons why

          7  the NFPA Building Code offers a higher level of

          8  safety than other building codes.

          9                 We believe that the people who live,

         10  work and learn in New York City deserve to have a

         11  code that is the safest available, and urge the

         12  Council to support Intro. 368 and to adopt NFPA as

         13  the basis for the New York City's new Building Code.

         14                 Thank you for your time.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         16                 Jack.

         17                 MR. TORPI: Good afternoon, Madam

         18  Chair, Council members. My name is Jack Torpi. I'm

         19  here this afternoon to represent the Enterprise

         20  Association of Steamfitters, Local 638. I'm also an

         21  individual who is very interested in the safety of

         22  our City.

         23                 I'm also a sitting member of the New

         24  York State Building and Fire Code Council.

         25                 I come here to voice my support for
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          2  Intro. 368, which would adopt the NFPA 5000 as the

          3  Building Code for New York City. We believe this is

          4  the best choice for New York.

          5                 In our industry, the Steamfitters

          6  install sprinklers. We work with safety codes every

          7  day. We have a great deal of knowledge for what

          8  should go into these codes, and unfortunately, the

          9  developer of the other code that you are being asked

         10  to adopt doesn't really care about our input, and

         11  would rather not include us in their codes. In fact,

         12  their plumbing code doesn't include any input from

         13  the Steamfitters or the plumbers.

         14                 For about 100 years, NFPA has

         15  developed the NFPA 13. The standard for the

         16  installation of sprinkler systems.

         17                 That document is in use in New York

         18  City and around the rest of the State. It is the key

         19  to our field of fire protection, because it is

         20  developed through the NFPA consensus process. This

         21  could be the reason that there are so many holes in

         22  the code that is proposed in Intro. 478.

         23                 Incredibly, supporters of the

         24  International Building Code are asking you to adopt

         25  this code in New York City.
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          2                 It would be foolish for New York City

          3  to select the model building code that does not have

          4  input from the Steamfitters on the installation of

          5  sprinklers.

          6                 NFPA's codes are developed through a

          7  process that allows input from everyone. Including

          8  our industry, they've got it right.

          9                 They know that to have safe codes,

         10  you have to have input from those who actually use

         11  them.

         12                 Also, NFPA's codes and standards

         13  effect almost every building in New York City.

         14  NFPA's Building Code works well with these codes and

         15  would allow for a smooth transition.

         16                 These are only a few reasons why we

         17  support NFPA's building code. I urge you to support

         18  Intro. 368 and to adopt the NFPA 5000 for New York,

         19  for New York City's Building Code.

         20                 It is simply the safest and best

         21  building code available. We also agree with Lou

         22  Coletti that this is not a one all take all. And

         23  that in opposition to Lou's position, I think we

         24  should start with Intro. 368 and work out from

         25  there.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          4                 Jim.

          5                 MR. HART: Madam Chairperson, members

          6  of the Committee, first of all, I'd like to thank

          7  all the working people in attendance here today,

          8  people who saw fit to take a day off to talk about a

          9  very important issue, and I support all working

         10  people on both sides of the issue and I really

         11  congratulate them from taking time out.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And I'm

         13  really glad I don't have a leak today, since all the

         14  plumbers are here.

         15                 MR. HART: Or a heating call. You know

         16  what I mean?

         17                 Of course, I am here in support of

         18  Intro. 368, but to say that labor never agrees with

         19  the real estate industry, I agree with Steve Spinola

         20  who said the New York City Building Code is the

         21  greatest building code in the world, and put that in

         22  the record because we might not agree on too many

         23  other issues.

         24                 What really bothers me about Intro.

         25  478 is that it calls for the Building Commissioner
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          2  to submit a bill to the City Council by March 31st,

          3  2005, regarding administration, elevators, plumbing

          4  materials, mechanical, AC, construction safety and

          5  structural on a date for submission of a bill and

          6  all other aspects of the Building Code.

          7                 The new code would become effective

          8  January 1st, 2006, which means that the second bill

          9  must be submitted some time in the summer of 2005.

         10                 I would just wonder, how would the

         11  City Council vote on the bill that doesn't know what

         12  the contents are. What's the rush? Why not know what

         13  you're voting for before you adopt a code.

         14                 The two bills submitted by the DOB

         15  Commissioner would involve hundreds of pages of text

         16  and hundreds and hundreds of New York City

         17  modifications to the IBC.

         18                 How will the Council be able to

         19  review all of that in a relatively short period of

         20  time?

         21                 To avoid this rush, since DOB plans

         22  to submit the actual test by March 1st, 2005, why

         23  not wait to see that text before committing to the

         24  Council and before adopting any code.

         25                 Secondly, is the Building Department
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          2  the proper structure to enact something this

          3  important?

          4                 This is a building code where Supreme

          5  Court Judge Phil Stranary (phonetic) on Staten

          6  Island just last week, rendered a decision that

          7  temporary C of O's are out of control and are

          8  destroying the landscape of Staten Island. And that

          9  the Building Department does not issue them

         10  properly.

         11                 This is a Building Department that

         12  can't get inspections. Don Patton (phonetic) refuses

         13  to put power manpower in the field. The City

         14  Administration refuses to make the proper

         15  expenditure. This is an issue bigger than just the

         16  Building Department and an industry. Everybody must

         17  be included. The rhetoric does not match the

         18  actions.

         19                 I have sat on technical subcommittees

         20  for the implementation of this code. In one

         21  technical subcommittee, after the report of a

         22  material subcommittee, the committee voted eight to

         23  one to continue the basic regulations in the current

         24  code pertaining to plastic pipe. That was in April.

         25  It's now December and the Management Committee has
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          2  not acted upon it. So, the rhetoric does not match

          3  the action. This is hasty and this is unsafe for the

          4  City of New York.

          5                 A consensus code is NFPA. It's all

          6  about process. Everybody involved all the time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you. Do

          8  we have any questions?

          9                 Thank you, gentlemen.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Yes, I do have

         11  a question.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         13  Member Comrie.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Good

         15  afternoon.

         16                 Can you explain that last statement

         17  again to me, elaborate on that more?

         18                 You just said that the technical

         19  committee voted on one item, but it wasn't adopted

         20  in the general committee? Can you elaborate on that?

         21                 I'm sorry, Mr. Hart.

         22                 MR. HART: The technical subcommittee

         23  was appointed to review the Plumbing Code. In the

         24  context of that committee, they developed a

         25  subcommittee to look at materials. The subcommittee
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          2  was composed of myself, one other member from labor,

          3  about six or seven different industry

          4  representatives, whether they be from the

          5  firefighting community, the real estate community,

          6  whatever.

          7                 We listened to presentations from

          8  both sides of the aisle, and the Committee voted.

          9                 The subcommittee voted that the

         10  existing rules and regulations as in the New York

         11  City code would be the recommendation back to the

         12  Plumbing Subcommittee.

         13                 When that recommendation came back,

         14  after discussion, a vote was taken at the table. The

         15  vote was eight in favor of the subcommittee's

         16  recommendation, one against.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: This is at the

         18  full committee now?

         19                 MR. HART: This is at the full

         20  committee.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

         22                 MR. HART: Now, all morning long I

         23  heard about how the technical subcommittees are the

         24  experts. That's the word that we're going to take.

         25  Well, this was a representative committee, made up
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          2  of all aspects of the construction industry and the

          3  plumbing field, and our recommendation has yet to be

          4  dealt with by the management committee eight months

          5  after the fact. And there is also a provision in

          6  there, where if management committee can't come to

          7  agreement, it would go through arbitration, they

          8  haven't even sent it to arbitration.

          9                 So, the rhetoric really doesn't match

         10  the action. If the Management Committee doesn't

         11  agree with the determination that comes out of the

         12  Technical Subcommittee, the so-called experts, well,

         13  then, that's just tough, and that's the problem,

         14  Councilman.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Are you saying

         16  that management is superseding the will of the

         17  committees?

         18                 MR. HART: Well --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Is this

         20  something that you found in other conversations with

         21  the other technical subcommittee?

         22                 MR. HART: At this point I have not

         23  had conversations with any of the other

         24  subcommittees outside of the fire protection and the

         25  plumbing. Okay, but this happened in the plumbing.
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          2  And basically what it tells me is that if you don't

          3  agree, you're out.

          4                 Our point of view is tolerated, as

          5  long as we're in agreement. And if we're not in

          6  agreement, well, then, there's no place for us at

          7  the table.

          8                 We, as an industry in the labor

          9  movement have not been at the table anywhere or any

         10  time in this process.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         12                 When you say as an industry, because,

         13  there were just some labor people on the other

         14  panel, but you need to be a little more specific on

         15  what you mean by --

         16                 MR. HART: Well, contrary to some

         17  people's declaration, you know, this industry is

         18  composed of a broad coalition, the people that

         19  install the work, which are represented by

         20  construction labor unions, the people that manage

         21  the work and are developers and the owners, and we

         22  all work as a team. And the team has not been fully

         23  represented. Okay, no representative of the plumbers

         24  or the steamfitters or the electricians, okay, or

         25  the operating engineers, or any other building
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          2  trade, individual building trade, has been seated on

          3  the management committee, to my knowledge.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Mr. Hart,

          6  don't you sit on the plumbing division of the

          7  Managing Committee?

          8                 MR. HART: No, I do not.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I don't know

         10  if you've attended meetings, but your name is on the

         11  Committee.

         12                 MR. HART: No, you'll see my name on

         13  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Yes, I'll

         15  show you the list.

         16                 MR. HART: In all due respect, Ma'am,

         17  you don't see my name on the plumbing --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I was the one

         19  that suggested your name be on.

         20                 MR. HART: And unfortunately they

         21  didn't take your suggestion, because I have to tell

         22  you that I am only seated on the plumbing technical

         23  subcommittee, okay?

         24                 Mr. Bonazi, who is here today, he is

         25  the Chairman, and a very able Chairman at that. I am
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          2  not on the Management Committee.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Mr. Hart, who

          4  do you represent, please?

          5                 MR. HART: I represent the United

          6  Association of Plumbers and Pipe Fitters. We are the

          7  parent organization of Plumbers Local Union No. 1,

          8  and the Enterprise Association of Steamfitters Local

          9  638.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And you sat

         11  on one technical subcommittee?

         12                 MR. HART: I was asked to participate

         13  with the Plumbing Technical Subcommittee. My

         14  colleague to my right, President Jack Torpi of 638,

         15  was asked to sit on the Fire Protection

         16  Subcommittee.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And my

         18  understanding, you can correct me if I'm wrong, that

         19  as a member of the subcommittee or committee, that

         20  you ask to sign a document basically saying that you

         21  would support International Building Code and they

         22  ask you to sign that; am I right? Or am I wrong?

         23                 MR. HART: When it became evident that

         24  NFPA had, was picking up momentum in the New York

         25  City Council, individual members of different

                                                            311

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  committees, who they thought were sympathizers of

          3  the NFPA process, instead of the ICC process, their

          4  loyalty was questioned.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And, now, you

          6  served on a committee. Were you removed from the

          7  committee or taken off? Or was there access to

          8  committee information withdrawn?

          9                 MR. HART: Coincidentally, as it

         10  became evident that I was a strong supporter of the

         11  NFPA process and not the ICC process, my Internet

         12  password --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Access.

         14                 MR. HART: -- Access was cancelled.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: At the time

         16  that occurred, were you still a committee member?

         17                 Did you resign from the Committee and

         18  they cut off your access, or did they cut off your

         19  access?

         20                 MR. HART: I have never resigned from

         21  the committee, I attended meetings as I could. There

         22  were other people in the room that kept me informed

         23  and in place, but when NFPA started to take on a

         24  life of its own and within this New York City

         25  Council, we were not favored members anymore.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, thank

          3  you.

          4                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Madam Chair, I

          6  have one more question, and that was my affordable

          7  housing question.

          8                 How would NFPA codes create a better

          9  opportunity for affordable housing? Any panel member

         10  could answer that question.

         11                 MR. HART: On the issue of affordable

         12  housing, NFPA has a residential code built into the

         13  code. Now, one misperception that you will

         14  constantly hear is, and I'll speak from the plumbing

         15  perspective, plumbing is not plumbing. It's not much

         16  different on a high-rise building than it is in a

         17  residential home, okay? Hot water is on the left,

         18  cold water is on the right, fixtures have waste and

         19  individually vented. There's other things that I

         20  can't go into them here. But in the end, plumbing is

         21  basically plumbing, okay? And they're making it seem

         22  like it's rocket science. You know, all I would say

         23  to you is ask Mr. Muss, the developer, how many

         24  years it took him to start residential housing in

         25  Brighton Beach. Seventeen years to get the shovel
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          2  into the ground. You know, there's bigger problems

          3  than the building code when it comes to residential

          4  construction.

          5                 There's huge regulatory processes

          6  that take place far long before permits or anything

          7  else takes place.

          8                 So, there will be a lot of acrimony

          9  and different contentions. It's going to be hard to

         10  cut through the truth and what's not the truth. But

         11  in the end, this panel is very satisfied with the

         12  fact that right now the New York City Council is the

         13  representative body that really dictates the

         14  building code here in New York City.

         15                 This is the only place in New York

         16  City where you will get a fair hearing. There are 51

         17  members here, okay? And each one of them gets

         18  individual attention. And any power taken away from

         19  this Council in regards to putting together a

         20  building code is a travesty for the citizens of New

         21  York.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you.

         23                 Just, I was going to ask you about

         24  transparency. Clearly the NFPA code is more than

         25  just plumbing and safety. It's dealing with all of
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          2  the issues dealing with construction and building

          3  and rehab and everything else in this city. It's

          4  much more than just those areas. Do you think that

          5  the code will encourage transparency in the building

          6  permit and inspection process or?

          7                 MR. HART: Well, Council member, I

          8  think one thing that has to be taken into account,

          9  when you've going to look at the ICC code, or you're

         10  going to look at the NFPA code, the real issue here

         11  is not what's written in the books. The real issue

         12  here is the process used to write what's in the

         13  books. If you were to look at either one of those

         14  codes today, okay, and then try to transport

         15  yourself four or five years ahead to see either one

         16  of them in use, you will not recognize either one of

         17  them, okay?

         18                 It's all about a process that

         19  involves every interest group, every inch of the

         20  way, okay? It just doesn't pick and choose.

         21                 And, one of the big things, to get to

         22  your question, one of the big things that we have to

         23  take into account is the administrative section of

         24  these codes. Very, very important. A lot of major

         25  issues in the administrative code when it comes to
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          2  licensing provisions, okay, which are near and dear

          3  to the building trades, and to the health and safety

          4  of our citizens. That in itself is a debate in

          5  itself, with the only people that can really be

          6  expected to articulate it well is the Council.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          8                 So, do you think that in whatever

          9  process in round two all those issues could be

         10  addressed succinctly enough to be presented to our

         11  body in a comprehensive style?

         12                 I mean, even if let's say, for

         13  instance, I mean is there a possibility that we

         14  don't adopt either section and say let's go to a

         15  full, complete detailed analysis before we vote on

         16  it?

         17                 MR. HART: I would think there would

         18  be no other way of doing that, but to have a

         19  detailed analysis. There's just too much at stake.

         20                 You know, many people today obviously

         21  have had to leave. You know, there were small

         22  business owners here waiting to testify, okay, all

         23  types of people with health care needs, child care

         24  needs, and everything else, and you're not going to

         25  get a representative sampling just from committee
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          2  hearings.

          3                 There has to be a consensus built

          4  amongst all the groups, the disabled groups,

          5  government officials, building trades, and then you

          6  have to put together a cohesive document. You cannot

          7  exclude any one person or any one party in this

          8  process, because it's very, very important to the

          9  health and safety and future of our City.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you.

         11                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         12                 Thank you, panel.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         14  again, gentlemen.

         15                 MR. HART: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Stanley Dawe.

         17  Gary Labarbara. Nick LaPorte. Brian Black. Glenn

         18  Corbett and Ken Fisher. I hope you're skinny guys.

         19                 Okay, any one of you can start, just

         20  to make sure you identify yourself.

         21                 MR. LABARBARA: Thank you, Madam

         22  Chairperson, and thank you, City Council members.

         23                 My name is Gary Labarbara. I am

         24  president of Teamsters Local 282 and president of

         25  Joint Council 16 of the International Brotherhood of
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          2  Teamsters, representing over 120,000 members that

          3  live, work and reside in the New York metropolitan

          4  area.

          5                 First and foremost, I'm going to use

          6  a few seconds of my time as a trade unionist to

          7  acknowledge my brothers and sisters from both the

          8  Teamsters and the UA and all the other local unions

          9  that are here today. And I'd like to acknowledge on

         10  the record the manner in which they've conducted

         11  themselves today and the respect that they've shown

         12  you, Madam Chairperson, and the City Council

         13  members.

         14                 Having said that, it is an

         15  unfortunate set of circumstances at times when

         16  brothers and sisters must disagree.

         17                 The teamsters have nothing but

         18  respect for their brothers and sisters in the UA and

         19  other unions that oppose the adoption of the IBC.

         20  And while I see my time run short, you heard both

         21  pro and con today. I'm going to use my time to

         22  address the issue of process that we've heard and

         23  tell you that as far as the Teamsters are concerned

         24  and the Materials Committee, we were incorporated in

         25  this process. The process was seamless, and we have
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          2  been able to accomplish something that has never

          3  been accomplished in the City of New York, and for

          4  that matter, anywhere else in this country.

          5                 Where we, the Teamsters, have already

          6  invested over $100,000 and will probably invest

          7  three- to four-hundred thousand dollars, in a

          8  certification program that is the National Redimix

          9  Association that would require that any concrete

         10  driver, delivery driver, be certified through this

         11  program. This will be open, the members of Local 282

         12  and to not members of Local 282. We expect to train

         13  approximately 12,000 of our members, and this will

         14  ensure that safety comes first. It is a complex

         15  cost. It is a cost that we've already begun to train

         16  our members in, because we take this issue of safety

         17  tantamount. This is not about the members of Local

         18  282. This is about the residents and the people that

         19  live and work in New York City, including the outer

         20  boroughs, that in the process of construction, any

         21  high-rise construction, as you all know, cannot be

         22  built without RediMix Concrete and we believe that

         23  it's very, very important post-9/11 in the age of

         24  terrorism, that the concrete drivers be certified,

         25  not only in the professional delivery of concrete,
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          2  to have an understanding of the nature of concrete,

          3  and also for national security and Homeland Security

          4  issues as well.

          5                 Having said that, the Teamsters,

          6  Local 282, would like to see the adoption of the IBC

          7  codes. Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          9  Next.

         10                 MR. DAWE: Good evening, Madam

         11  Chairman and Council members. Thank you for this

         12  opportunity to speak to you.

         13                 I am Stanley Dawe. I am the

         14  Chairperson of the Fire Protection Technical

         15  Committee with the Department of Buildings' Model

         16  Code Program.

         17                 I retired from the New York City Fire

         18  Department this past January after 30 years of

         19  service.

         20                 My final assignment with the Fire

         21  Department was as Chief of Bureau Fire Prevention,

         22  which is how I became to be involved in the Model

         23  Code Program.

         24                 Since my retirement, I have

         25  voluntarily continued in my duties as Chair of the
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          2  Fire Protection Technical Committee for two reasons:

          3                 First reason is the diligence and

          4  expertise that I observed exhibited by all persons

          5  involved in the program, especially those working on

          6  the Fire Protection Technical Committee.

          7                 Individuals from every discipline

          8  associated with construction and real estate

          9  industry, along with people intimately knowledgeable

         10  and experienced in the fields of fire protection

         11  engineering, fire safety and fire fighting have

         12  joined together to form a cadre dedicated to

         13  developing a building code for New York City that

         14  will ensure that the people who live and work in

         15  these buildings constructed in the future will be

         16  safer than they are in today's buildings.

         17                 The second reason I have continued to

         18  work on the Model Code Program voluntarily, is that

         19  I am convinced that the code we are developing will,

         20  in addition to ensuring a safer environment for the

         21  citizens of this City of New York will also reduce

         22  firefighting injuries and fatalities.

         23                 Please note that I place so much

         24  confidence in the efficacy of the code that will be

         25  produced by the Model Code Program, because the
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          2  program's recognition of the uniqueness of life and

          3  work in New York City.

          4                 The members of the various committees

          5  are not simply adopting the existing provisions of a

          6  model code, but rather they are examining the

          7  provisions of a model code, and where necessary,

          8  modifying those provisions to meet the unique

          9  situations presented by the singular environment of

         10  New York City.

         11                 I must also point out that under the

         12  Model Code Program, the Code will be subjected to

         13  periodic examination and amendment to ensure that

         14  the code remains up-to-date, reflecting the changes

         15  in technology and lifestyle that so greatly

         16  influence where and how people live and work.

         17                 Again, thank you for this opportunity

         18  to speak, and I'll be happy to answer any questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Next? Who

         20  wants to be next?

         21                 MR. LAPORTE: Good afternoon, Madam

         22  Chair. I'm Nicholas LaPorte. I'm the Executive

         23  Director of the Associated Buildings and Owners of

         24  Greater New York. I represent a thousand builders,

         25  owners and developers in the Greater New York area.
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          2                 I have a statement that I was going

          3  to read, but at this hour all you'll hear is blah

          4  blah blah, so I will submit it to you for a review

          5  later on.

          6                 Basically we're here to support the

          7  International Builders' Code. We have looked at it

          8  from many perspectives, and reject out of hand the

          9  NFPA model for several reasons which were

         10  articulated in my statement.

         11                 Primarily in the development of that

         12  code, there was very little input from building

         13  industry members, people who were actually the

         14  builders, the people that are going to have to be

         15  responsible for this code.

         16                 A lot was left to staff to make

         17  technical changes, which was not, you know, not a

         18  good sign for us.

         19                 Additionally, there's a lot of items

         20  in the code that are referenced, are reference

         21  standards that are not specifically in the code,

         22  which means it doesn't make it that much more

         23  understandable than the one we've got now.

         24                 Basically the International Builders

         25  Code will provide for a safe and affordable housing

                                                            323

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  model, as well as, model for luxury housing as well,

          3  but we have to take into consideration in this City

          4  the need for affordable housing and anything that

          5  stands in the way, or creates obstacles to that end,

          6  is bad and should not be adopted for the City.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          9                 MR. BLACK: Good afternoon. Thank you,

         10  Madam Chairman.

         11                 My name is Brian Black. I'm Director

         12  of Building Codes for the United Spinal Association.

         13                 United Spinal Association used to be

         14  called Eastern Paralyzed Veterans Association. We're

         15  located in Jackson Heights, and we've been involved

         16  with accessibility in New York City since the late

         17  1940s.

         18                 In the interest of full disclosure, I

         19  should tell you that I am a member of the ICC,

         20  involved in a number of the ICC code development

         21  panels.

         22                 I am also a member of NFPA, and was a

         23  member of the NFPA 5000 committee. So the only dog I

         24  have in this fight is what provides the best access

         25  for my membership and others with disabilities. I
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          2  believe the IBC is the document that does that.

          3                 Unlike other Building Code issues,

          4  accessibility has a significant federal and civil

          5  rights implication. As you know, the federal laws

          6  include both the Americans With Disabilities Act and

          7  the Fair Housing Amendments Act, which ensures the

          8  civil rights of people with disabilities, and

          9  because it does so, it has an impact on the built

         10  environment.

         11                 Unfortunately, Local Law 58 of 1987

         12  was developed prior to the enactment of either of

         13  those laws. So, New York City's accessibility

         14  requirements are fairly outdated and not up to what

         15  the new federal requirements are.

         16                 As opposed to that, the International

         17  Building Code Accessibility Requirements were

         18  written in partnership with both the Federal Access

         19  Board that writes the ADA guidelines and the US

         20  Department of Housing and Urban Development, which

         21  writes the Fair Housing Guidelines. In my opinion

         22  IBC 2003 and the 2004 supplement that Matt Sapolin's

         23  Accessibility Committee has been working from, meets

         24  or exceeds the federal Civil Rights Accessibility

         25  requirements in all instances.
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          2                 New York City has then taken that,

          3  and Matt's Committee has taken that and added

          4  additional requirements that are particular to New

          5  York City, further enhancing it and providing even a

          6  better access than what is in the baseline document.

          7                 In comparison, the NFPA 5000 does not

          8  require the same level of accessibility for people

          9  with disabilities. It references an older addition

         10  of the standard that is not in tune with what the

         11  new federal guidelines are going to be. It requires

         12  far less elevators in far less buildings, which for

         13  my membership, most of home-used wheelchairs means a

         14  drastic loss of accessibility, compared to both the

         15  IBC and also compared to what our current laws are.

         16                 Because of that, I believe that

         17  adopting NFPA without amendment, which is what the

         18  intro 3 -- that particular intro would require,

         19  would reduce accessibility in New York City and

         20  would be a detriment to my membership and others

         21  with disabilities.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         24                 MR. CORBETT: Madam Chairwoman, my

         25  name is Glen Corbett. I'm Assistant Professor of
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          2  Fire Science at John Jay College. I'm also a

          3  technical advisor to the Skyscraper Safety Campaign,

          4  which is a victims advocacy group from victims of

          5  9/11.

          6                 Also, a little bit of my background I

          7  spent a long time in code enforcement. I spent six

          8  years in San Antonio, as the Administrator of

          9  Engineering Services in charge of building permits

         10  through the Fire Department for the City.

         11                 I also currently sit on the New

         12  Jersey State Fire Code Council, which prepared the

         13  Fire Code for the State of New Jersey.

         14                 I just have a few comments, because

         15  obviously it's late in the day here, and we want to

         16  get going. But you know, three years ago, I can

         17  remember we had a hearing across, a couple of years

         18  ago we had a hearing across a room over there, and

         19  there was a very small turnout for issues with the

         20  building code, and I'm really surprised at where all

         21  these people were three years ago when the process

         22  started.

         23                 I'm a little concerned, because I am

         24  a member of the technical committee on Fire

         25  Protection, and I could tell you under the
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          2  leadership of Stanley Dawe, we've done a

          3  line-by-line review of those protection provisions

          4  that deal with fire protection, and it's been a long

          5  process and hundreds and hundreds of hours have been

          6  spent on this.

          7                 But going back to two years ago, the

          8  decision to choose IBC over the NFPA, in my opinion,

          9  was made back then.

         10                 Would the sky have fallen if the NFPA

         11  5000 had been adopted instead of the IBC? No.

         12  They're both good documents. They both have pros and

         13  cons. But this was the horse that was chosen two

         14  years ago, and to throw this all out at this point I

         15  think would be a real travesty, especially since now

         16  we're over three years out of 9/11, and we still

         17  don't have any improvements really of any substance

         18  that we really have needed for many, many years here

         19  in New York City.

         20                 You know, if the City does adopt the

         21  IBC and its amendments, again, the IBC is a

         22  framework. Amendments can be made. Any changes can

         23  be made. It doesn't mean there has to be 5000,

         24  either one locally is at the local level when these

         25  decisions are made, not the national level. The
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          2  national level certainly provides for your model

          3  code document, but it's still your decision, the

          4  City Council's decision, and it was brought up

          5  earlier, what the final version looks like. So,

          6  those changes could be made.

          7                 Then if God forbid, you know, if the

          8  IBC is adopted and it's felt to be so terrible and

          9  so poor, there's no reason why the City Council

         10  can't go back later on and look at NFPA 5000 perhaps

         11  in a few years from now. But we've spent a lot of

         12  time, we've waited a long time, and I think it's

         13  time to move forward with this, and I stand

         14  supportive of the adoption of IBC. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I'm sorry.

         16                 MR. CIANCIA: Chairman Provenzano,

         17  members of the Council, my name is Andrew Ciancia. I

         18  am the President of the American Council of

         19  Engineering Companies of New York, the oldest

         20  continuing organization of professional consulting

         21  engineering firms in the United States.

         22                 ACEC New York represents over 230

         23  firms throughout New York State with the largest

         24  concentration of firms located here in New York

         25  City.
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          2                 ACEC New York objectives are to

          3  initiate and promote specific legislation that

          4  addresses issues of concerns to the business of

          5  engineering, to educate members to be more

          6  politically aware and active and to promote

          7  cooperation, cooperative relationships to maintain

          8  ongoing dialogue with government agencies and to

          9  work with related professional construction and

         10  labor organizations to promote common agendas and

         11  key issues.

         12                 ACEC New York also encourages public

         13  agencies to use consulting engineers with a

         14  specialized knowledge and ability to complete

         15  projects on time and on budget.

         16                 We also promote public sector

         17  investments, infrastructure necessary for public

         18  safety and economic development.

         19                 In other words, we are the voice of

         20  the engineers responsible for the integrity of the

         21  roofs over your head, the heating, ventilation and

         22  lighting of the office where you work, the

         23  efficiency of the subways that you ride, and the

         24  quality of the water that you drink.

         25                 I, myself, a licensed professional
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          2  engineer, practicing for over 35 years in New York

          3  City, have diversified experience in geotechnical

          4  engineering involving investigations, design and

          5  construction of building projects, utilities,

          6  highways, dams, and a host of other projects.

          7                 Some of the projects I've been

          8  involved with include the Hearst Corporation and

          9  57th Street, Hudson River Park, newly-opened Museum

         10  of Modern Art, the rebuilding of the 7 World Trade

         11  Center, The United States Holocaust, Memorial Museum

         12  in Washington.

         13                 I've also done extensive consulting

         14  with historic structures throughout New York City

         15  for the Landmarks Preservation Commission, and also

         16  for the State of New York.

         17                 ACEC strongly urges you to support

         18  Intros 478 and to prove this very important proposed

         19  legislation as soon as possible.

         20                 There are three reasons why ACEC New

         21  York supports the International Building Code. It is

         22  the right solution for New York City, it is

         23  comprehensive, it is cost effective. A New York City

         24  Building Code which engineers deal with every, every

         25  day is widely recognized as one of the most
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          2  stringent codes in our country.

          3                 Despite this, the building code now

          4  is somewhat convoluted. It lacks clarity and

          5  technically outdated, resulting in the need for

          6  various types of cost reviews, and expensive delays.

          7                 As a result of the broad industry

          8  outcry to update the City Code, and following the

          9  success of the recent electrical code adoptive

         10  effort, the Mayor established a code commission for

         11  the purpose of determining the feasibility of

         12  adopting the model code for New York City.

         13                 In spring of 2003, the Mayor accepted

         14  the Commission's recommendations, calling for a

         15  consensus-based building code development process,

         16  that emulated the successful electrical code

         17  development process.

         18                 ACEC New York embraces that factor.

         19                 Several dozen of our members,

         20  including myself, devoted many, many hours for

         21  discussing and debating as professionals for what's

         22  best for the City of New York, and as a result we

         23  wrote the Building Code to be on line with the IBC.

         24                 We agree that the IBC is the best

         25  approach. The I Codes are tested and proven codes.
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          2  Design professionals, contractors, trade

          3  contractors, and regulators across the United States

          4  are already familiar with the organization and a

          5  format of the I Codes.

          6                 Building safety depends more on just

          7  codes and standards. Building safety results from

          8  providing trained professionals with resources, and

          9  ongoing support necessary to stay current with the

         10  latest advancements in the building safety field.

         11  The widespread use of the IBC makes this possible.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Can I ask you

         13  to sum up, please.

         14                 MR. CIANCIA: In summary, I would like

         15  to say please support this code. We work with it

         16  every day and we would like to see it updated and

         17  its proven track record I think would be great for

         18  the industry. Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         20                 If we have any questions from the

         21  panel, from the Council members, I'll take them, and

         22  this will be, has been the last panel.

         23                 I always hate to do this, because

         24  there's lots of folks out there that would still

         25  like to testify, but it just can't happen.
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          2                 So, we probably will have a second

          3  hearing, and it's you folks who will make the second

          4  hearing happen, so if you want one, you have to jump

          5  up and down and make a lot of noise.

          6                 Very good. Do we have any questions?

          7                 Council Member Brewer.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: For the former

          9  Council Member, I want to know what your position

         10  is, and why you support what you do, Mr. Fisher.

         11                 MR. FISHER: Thank you, Council

         12  member. My name is Kenneth Fisher. I'll try and be

         13  brief.

         14                 I'm here today --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Since I know

         16  you, can I interrupt you?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Sure.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: If there is

         19  anyone who has testimony and wants to give it to us,

         20  we'll put it into the record. So, if you have

         21  written testimony and want to bring it up, the

         22  Sergeant-At-Arms will put it into the record. And,

         23  again, my apologies for all those who were not able

         24  to testify.

         25                 I'm sorry, Ken.
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          2                 MR. FISHER: That's all right.

          3                 My name is Kenneth Fisher, and I'm

          4  here today as the Counsel to the American Council of

          5  Engineering Companies of New York. And I just want

          6  to elaborate very briefly, I'll try and do it in

          7  less than a minute, on one or two points that I

          8  don't think have gotten my attention.

          9                 One of the questions that's been

         10  raised is would this building code save money for

         11  construction in New York, and the answer to that is

         12  yes, and in one way for certain; and that is, is

         13  that there are far many more professionals

         14  nationally that have experience with the IBC than

         15  have with any other code.

         16                 There are some people that would

         17  argue that the Macintosh is better than the Windows

         18  system, but there are an awful lot more people that

         19  know how to use the Windows than use the Macintosh

         20  and therefore, the labor pool is larger and the

         21  costs are less.

         22                 There are a lot more lawyers --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Quiet, please.

         24                 Quiet, please. I know it's been a

         25  long day but can you respect the speakers? They
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          2  respected you.

          3                 MR. FISHER: The Napoleanic code that

          4  they used in Louisiana might be a very good code,

          5  but most of the lawyers in the country are familiar

          6  with the English common law and that's the basis and

          7  that's why calls can be kept down. So, I think that

          8  that's one very important reason, there's an awful

          9  lot more people that are familiar with it.

         10                 Secondly, there's been a lot of talk

         11  today about process or what's inclusive, and I think

         12  that it's rather telling that, as the President of

         13  ACEC just testified, dozens of professional

         14  engineers have devoted hundreds of hours tailoring

         15  this code specifically for New York City.

         16                 No similar invitation was expressed

         17  in terms of the other codes. And that's not to say

         18  that on the national level that doesn't happen, but

         19  in terms of making sure that New York City gets the

         20  best code possible, the only outreach that was made

         21  to the professional engineering community was on

         22  behalf of the IBC.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I don't know

         24  if that was even mentioned today, but I think it's a

         25  very good point, that over 400 people,
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          2  professionals, are still donating their time to put

          3  this code together.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I want to ask

          5  the gentleman from the Teamsters, I know you heard

          6  earlier from your colleague, Mr. Hart, and there was

          7  a concern about his input in the management versus

          8  the committee and the issue with the password, I

          9  hope that's not all true? You don't know? I'm taking

         10  him at his word. I'm just wondering, do you feel, I

         11  know you have a certain position, but you also care

         12  about input, and you care about your brothers and

         13  sisters, who are in many cases first responders, in

         14  this case, so I'm just wondering do you feel -- you

         15  know, I know on the substance you support this, but

         16  do you feel in terms of the process, that this

         17  really is an open process?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Could we have

         19  quiet, please? The hearing is still going on.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Quiet, please.

         21  Can you take all secondary conversations outside.

         22                 MR. LABARBARA: Thank you,

         23  Councilwoman. I cannot speak for or on behalf of

         24  Jimmy Hart or any representatives of the UA. I can

         25  only speak to the process in which the Teamsters
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          2  were involved with the Technical Materials Committee

          3  and the success that we had, as I said it was a

          4  seamless process. It was a nice mix of members from

          5  various constituencies from the concrete industry,

          6  both from the management side, labor side,

          7  engineering side, testing side, and we had a very,

          8  very positive experience. As I say, I won't venture

          9  to say, that would be inappropriate of me, I can

         10  only speak to my experience and success that we had.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         14  Member Jackson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         16  Madam. Chair.

         17                 I want to thank you for being so

         18  patient during this hearing process, and I know it's

         19  been a long, exhaustive day, but I think it's been

         20  well worth it.

         21                 But I just wanted to comment on one

         22  of the participants. And I forgot which one stated,

         23  and it's been a long, exhaustive process, and you've

         24  spent hundreds of hours dealing with this and that

         25  this is the horse that was chosen and we should ride
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          2  this horse. Well, I think that there's a basic

          3  premise, fundamental difference here, is that you

          4  don't decide the horse to ride, we do. And I think

          5  that's where I think the fundamental difference is,

          6  is that we decide which horse is going to ride and

          7  you ride it. Well, it seems as though, as you said,

          8  you, the collective you, whoever that is, made a

          9  decision to ride this horse, and they didn't really

         10  have the authority to ride it. That's a big

         11  difference.

         12                 MR. FISHER: I think that you'll find

         13  in the ACEC testimony, they point out exactly the

         14  fact that you have the ultimate responsibility. But

         15  I think you've also seen today, Council member, that

         16  a number of these issues are fairly specific in

         17  their technical nature. I think it's significant

         18  that most positions in the Charter, Commissioner

         19  positions, don't require any particular

         20  qualification. You don't have to have been a

         21  policeman to be the Police Commissioner, you can be

         22  a lawyer and be the Fire Commissioner, but you have

         23  to be a professional engineer to be the Buildings

         24  Commissioner of the City of New York. And that

         25  doesn't mean that this Buildings Commissioner, or
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          2  any Building Commissioner, is always going to make

          3  the correct call. But I do think that when you have

          4  professional engineers, who are offering their

          5  technical expertise, and say to you that they were

          6  invited into the process, were not invited into the

          7  other process, at least at the local level, that

          8  that has some bearing on the situation.

          9                 So, I don't envy you having to make

         10  the ultimate decision in this, but I do think that,

         11  you know, the benefit of the hearing today, as long

         12  as it's been in, and I know it's been a difficult

         13  hearing for all of you, has been that you have had

         14  the opportunity to hear from the people who deal

         15  with these issues on a daily basis.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I hear what

         17  you're saying, Mr. Fisher. And I said to you, I want

         18  to thank you for sending me that personal

         19  correspondence about, you know, Mr. Niser (phonetic)

         20  who was an attorney at law dealing with the

         21  particular matter.

         22                 And you know, I agree with you that

         23  your -- maybe in the Charter the Building

         24  Commissioner has to be an architect or an engineer,

         25  and you don't have to be anything but elected in the
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          2  City Council, but I do know that, as I said to you,

          3  and you must have been here, it seems as though that

          4  the horse was already picked even before the

          5  Commission was established, you know. And, so, you

          6  know, these are the things that I disagree with, you

          7  know. And I know that you're not involved in that,

          8  but let's turn the clock back and let the City

          9  Council pick the horse, and then you can work on

         10  changing the horse and preparing the horse for this

         11  race.

         12                 Are you willing to do that?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         14  Member Jackson?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, Madam

         16  Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Part of the

         18  horses, some of the horses that were chosen were

         19  chosen by Speaker Miller. So they were not all

         20  chosen by the Commissioner.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right. Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I was on that

         23  Commission. I gave some names. As I said, one of

         24  them was Jimmy Hart, because I wanted him a part of

         25  the process.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And many of

          4  them were given by the Speaker's office.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I hear you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And, you

          7  know, I think it's unfortunate for many people out

          8  here today that serve on those technical committees

          9  that we would have liked to hear from. I think

         10  having heard from them you would have been very

         11  impressed by them --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: -- By their

         14  efforts and the time they put in.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Enough said.

         16  Thank you, Madam Chair.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Gentlemen,

         19  thank you very much. And this hearing is over. Thank

         20  you, all.

         21                 (The following written testimony was

         22  read into the record.)

         23

         24  MICHAEL J. MCGUIRE

         25  DIRECTOR OF GOVERNMENTAL AND LEGISLATIVE AFFAIRS
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          2  MASONS TENDERS' DISTRICT COUNCIL

          3  GREATER NEW YORK AND LONG ISLAND

          4

          5                 Good morning Chairwoman Provenzano

          6  and distinguished committee members.  My name is

          7  Michael McGuire and I am the Director of

          8  Governmental and Legislative Affairs for the Mason

          9  Tenders' District Council of Greater New York and

         10  Long Island.  The Mason Tenders' District Council is

         11  comprised of more than 15,000 members in six local

         12  unions of the Laborers' International Union of North

         13  America.

         14                 We represent a diverse workforce that

         15  includes building construction laborers, mason

         16  tenders, high school teachers, professional and

         17  specialty personnel, demolition workers, recycling

         18  plant employees and asbestos and hazardous material

         19  abatement laborers.

         20                 The first question we should ask

         21  ourselves is: Does New York City need a new building

         22  code?  To that, there is no easy answer.  New York

         23  City's building code is unique, a hodge- podge of

         24  standards buttressed with laws passed in knee jerk

         25  reaction to uncommon events.  Its last comprehensive
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          2  revision occurred in 1968.

          3                 Let's put that in perspective.  John

          4  Lindsay was Mayor.  LBJ was President.  That was the

          5  year that saw both Bobby Kennedy and Dr. King

          6  assassinated while the war in Vietnam raged on.  The

          7  personal computer would not be marketed for another

          8  18 years.  Year 1968 was a long time ago.

          9                 This is not to say that New York

         10  City's Building code is bad.  In fact, it's quite

         11  good, and many of the elements added over the years

         12  are what makes it good.  The fact that our code is

         13  so stringent creates safe buildings for all New

         14  Yorkers. However the current code lacks clarity and

         15  does include some antiquated practices that made

         16  sense when included, but have outlived their

         17  usefulness.

         18                 It is the archaic entries and the

         19  difficulty in wading through the murkiness of our

         20  current code that brings us here today.  Two

         21  different standardized codes are competing to

         22  replace New York's Building code:  The International

         23  Building Code and the National Fire Protection

         24  Association 5000 code.

         25                 If I were to advocate for which new
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          2  code would be best for New York City, it would be

          3  the International Building Code.  One of the

          4  greatest impediments we see to increased development

          5  in New York is not having a standardized code.

          6                 As someone who represents organized

          7  labor, it is gratifying to see a wide variety

          8  supporting a measure that could lower the cost of

          9  constructions in New York without it coming out of

         10  the pockets of the workers.  When developers have to

         11  fight through a code that has layer after layer of

         12  amendments passed in reaction to accidents, building

         13  collapses, fires and other disasters, the stumbling

         14  blocks can seem insurmountable.  A City like New

         15  York needs a code that is proactive, not reactive.

         16                 In reading both Intro 368 and Intro

         17  478, I was struck by the flexibility of one and the

         18  heavy- handedness of the other.

         19                 First, in Intro 478, New York City's

         20  unique situation is recognized and the bill states

         21  that the International Building Code would be

         22  adopted "with appropriate modifications reflecting

         23  the unique character of the City."

         24                 On the other hand, Intro 368 states

         25   "Any matter or requirement essential for the fire
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          2  or structural safety of a new or existing building,

          3  or for the safety of health of the occupants or

          4  users thereof, or for the safety of the public,

          5  which is not covered by the provisions of the NFPA

          6  Code or other applicable laws and regulations, would

          7  be subject to the determination and requirements

          8  imposed by the Commissioner pursuant to his or her

          9  authority, as necessary."  What this says to me is

         10  if it's not in the NFPA, those persons entrusted by

         11  the public to make theses determinations may do so.

         12  If it is already covered by the NFPA, then hands

         13  off.

         14                 Furthermore, Intro 368 states "The

         15  provisions of the NFPA Code are to be liberally

         16  interpreted for the beneficial purposes that such

         17  code sets to achieve."  As the one person in these

         18  chambers today, aside from the Commissioner of the

         19  Department of Buildings, who has probably testified

         20  before this Committee more than anyone else, you

         21  should know how I feel about "liberally

         22  interpreting" regulations.  It's a recipe for

         23  disaster.  It is something that the unscrupulous

         24  builders in this City will latch onto and use to

         25  undermine standards at every turn.  If we are truly
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          2  here to talk about safety, I don't see how the

          3  Council could even consider a bill that would allow

          4  the liberal interpretation of the building codes.

          5                 Again, if I were to advocate for one

          6  bill over the other, my choice would certainly be

          7  Intro 478 and the International Building code.  I

          8  think the only real choice here is between the IBC

          9  and the current New York City building Code.  The

         10  current code needs standardization.  The IBC offers

         11  that standardization while Intro 478 allows

         12  amendments to it to fit the unique character of our

         13  City.

         14                 However, I believe the issue deserves

         15  further study before enacting the IBC.  The Mason

         16  Tenders' District Council would be happy to work

         17  with this Committee as well as the Department of

         18  Buildings to help provide a smooth transition while

         19  maintaining the stringent safety provisions of the

         20  current code.

         21

         22  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         23  BOB FOX

         24  PARTNER, COOK AND FOX

         25
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          2                 I have been a practicing architect in

          3    New York City for 40 years and am responsible for

          4  30 plus major high rise buildings including four

          5  Times Square.  Our firm is currently working on the

          6  BOA Tower for BOA and the Durst Organization.  The

          7  2.2 million square foot tower will be the greenest

          8  high rise in the world.  It is designed to attain

          9  U.S.G.B.C. LEED platinum.  I also lead the Green

         10  Team for Battery Park City and NYC Transit.

         11                 I applaud the leadership and vision

         12  that Patricia Lancaster has brought to the NYC DOB.

         13  DOB has become efficient, honest and a good place to

         14  do business.

         15                 I am here today to speak in favor of

         16  the City of NY adopting the International Building

         17  Code with proposed modifications to accommodate the

         18  special needs of NYC.  I am one of the many

         19  architects, engineers, builders, real estate

         20  executives and union officials who have given

         21  hundreds of hours to review, suggest modifications,

         22  argue about these modifications and eventually

         23  recommend changes to the IBC.

         24                 The subcommittee on which I service

         25  is focused on incorporating sustainable design
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          2  principles in the code so doing green buildings can

          3  be accomplished as of right.

          4                 Our one goal is for NYC to have the

          5  most effective, easy to understand building code

          6  based on the experience of other states,

          7  municipalities and our local experience.

          8                 I urge the Council to carefully

          9  review the proposed IBC as modified, adopt it

         10  quickly and make this terrific tool available to the

         11  design and construction community.

         12

         13  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         14  RON NICKSON

         15  VICE PRESIDENT OF BUILDING CODES

         16  NMHC/NAA JOINT LEGISLATIVE PROGRAM

         17  Dear Mr. Miller

         18

         19                 The National Multi- Housing Council

         20  (NMHC) and the National Apartment Association (NAA)

         21  would like to comment on the building code review

         22  and adoption efforts of New York City. NMHC/NAA

         23  support and recommend adoption of the model codes

         24  developed by the International Code Council (ICC).

         25  The ICC model codes are the only complete
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          2  comprehensive model code set that was developed as a

          3  package designed to work together.

          4                 In addition, ICC can provide many

          5  services that the competing set of codes being put

          6  together by NFPA does not have.  These services

          7  include: (1) quick interpretations; (2) product

          8  evaluations; (3) product certifications; (4) plan

          9  review; and (5) building official certification.

         10  These services are vitally important to the local

         11  code official as the codes are used and enforced.

         12  The ICC codes are backed by more than 90 years of

         13  code development experience and they do provide a

         14  means for the apartment industry to provide cost

         15  effective and affordable housing without any

         16  compromise on safety.

         17                 In contrast, NMHC/NAA oppose the

         18  adoption of the set of codes being assembled by the

         19  National Fire Protection Association, (NFPA), the

         20  American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-

         21  Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE) and the

         22  International Association of Plumbing and Mechanical

         23  Officials (IAPMO).  The codes are developed by

         24  independent organizations, they are not coordinated,

         25  and they do not work together as a set.
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          2                 In addition, a major concern for the

          3  building industry is the impact of building to the

          4  NFPA Building Construction and Safety Code (NFPA)

          5  5000- 2003) which is incomplete, unenforceable and

          6  technically unsound.

          7                 NMHC and NAA represent the nation's

          8  leading firms participating in the multifamily

          9  rental housing industry.  Our combined memberships

         10  are engaged in all aspects of the apartment

         11  industry, including ownership development,

         12  management and finance. The National Multi housing

         13  Council represents the principal officers of the

         14  apartment industry's largest and most prominent

         15  firms.

         16                 The National Apartment Association is

         17  the largest national federation of state and local

         18  apartment associations.  NMHC and NAA jointly

         19  operate a federal legislative program and provide a

         20  unified voice for the private apartment industry.

         21                 Please contact me at any time if you

         22  have any questions concerning the information I have

         23  provided.  My direct phone number is 202 974- 2327

         24  and my e- mail address is mickson@nmhc.org.

         25
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          2  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          3  CHRIS MCGRATH

          4  PRESIDENT

          5  NEW YORK SELF STORAGE ASSOCIATION

          6

          7                 Good morning, I am Chris McGrath,

          8  President of the New York Self Storage Association.

          9  The New York State Self Storage Association

         10  (hereinafter "NYSSA") welcomes this opportunity to

         11  express its support of the results of the work of

         12  the Mayor's Advisory Commission.  We also applaud

         13  the efforts of the Council and particularly this

         14  Committee as it weighs the relative merits of

         15  competing building codes and prepares to establish

         16  the process whereby the Council will adopt of a

         17  model building code for the City of New York based

         18  on the International Building Code with a specific

         19  New York City overlay.

         20                 As background, the New York Self

         21  Storage Association is comprised of more than 260

         22  member companies, representing over 500 self storage

         23  facilities across New York State from Montauk to the

         24  Niagara frontier and from the Canadian to the

         25  Pennsylvania borders, consisting of over a billion
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          2  dollars in asset value.  Our largest members are

          3  located within the City of New York.  The self

          4  storage industry is a young industry, little more

          5  than 30 years old and is still in a growth mode

          6  throughout this country and internationally.  The

          7  NYS lien law governing self- storage was only 21

          8  years old this year.

          9                 As it did in 1995 in testimony before

         10  the New York State Legislature, and again in 2002 in

         11  a Statement filed with the Mayor's Advisory

         12  Commission, the NYSSA strongly supports the adoption

         13  of the family of International Codes, beginning with

         14  the International Building Code.  While our industry

         15  developed under the provisions of the now repealed

         16  NYS Fire Prevention and Building Code as well as the

         17  NYC building Code, we believe that the International

         18  Codes provide better protection for the public while

         19  eliminating code ambiguities and uncertainties while

         20  at the same time encouraging more competitive

         21  practices by design professionals, general

         22  contractors and their subcontractors.

         23                 In short, the International Building

         24  Code and its affiliated, supporting codes reflects

         25  the best thinking of the design professions, general
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          2  contractors and specialty contractors as we move

          3  into the future.  These codes are now a proven

          4  blueprint for new development as well as for a new

          5  vision of public safety. To insure its rightful

          6  position as one of the leaders in building and

          7  development, New York City should adopt the

          8  International Building Code for its citizens and

          9  businesses.

         10                 Based on our members' experiences as

         11  they have interfaced with the new Building Code of

         12  New York State, one of the significant reasons for

         13  the improvement of design and the achievement of

         14  construction cost savings has been the adoption of

         15  the new code, based on the provisions of the

         16  International Building Code.  New York City will be

         17  well served by the International Building Code in

         18  our opinion.

         19                 Thank you for your attention.

         20

         21  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         22  DR. FRIEDA ZAMES

         23  BOARD MEMBER

         24  DISABLED IN ACTION OF METROPOLITAN NEW YORK

         25
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          2                 I am Dr. Frieda Zames, a board member

          3  of Disabled in Action of Metropolitan New York, the

          4  Center for the Independence of the Disabled in New

          5  York and the Disabilities Network of New York City.

          6                 Appropriate accessibility of housing

          7  and public accommodations is of paramount importance

          8  to the New York City disability population.  The New

          9  York City Council should incorporate the

         10  accessibility provisions of the 2003 IBC into the

         11  City Code, establishing a single contemporary set of

         12  accessibility regulations that will meet all federal

         13  standards.  Then the Council should amend Local Law

         14  58- 87 to require the use of these up- to- date

         15  accessibility requirements into the City code.  A

         16  major reason for choosing the IBC is because it is

         17  updated every three years. Keeping up with

         18  technology is very important to the disability

         19  community.

         20                 A Department of Buildings staff

         21  member with expertise in Local Law 58 (LL58) should

         22  be available and visible to the disability community

         23  by providing public contact information so that when

         24  we notice a violation we can report it.  Also,

         25  penalties for noncompliance with LL58 should be
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          2  severe enough to encourage businesses to comply with

          3  the law.  In addition, LL58 should be updated to go

          4  into effect whenever a store changes ownership, not

          5  only when the type is changed.

          6                 Affordable housing is a major problem

          7  for many New Yorkers.  For people with disabilities,

          8  housing that is accessible, affordable and

          9  integrated is considered by many to be the number

         10  one problem for the disability community.  Adaptable

         11  design, which incorporates certain fixed access

         12  features but allows others to be added to existing

         13  structures as they are needed, is required by the

         14  Federal Fair Housing Act of 1988 for all buildings

         15  with four or more housing units.

         16                 Since much of the housing in NYC

         17  include buildings with one, two or three housing

         18  units, we urge that a visit- ability requirement be

         19  added to the NYC Building Code for housing with

         20  fewer than four units and for townhouses.  This

         21  requirement should also mandate an accessible first

         22  floor kitchen, bathroom and bedroom for any of these

         23  apartments.

         24                 Now I would like to discuss my two

         25  pet accessibility peeves.  One is the accessibility
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          2  of bathrooms.  Why do bathroom doors have to be

          3  heavier than other doors inside a building and why

          4  do bathrooms have sills?  Accessible cubicles are

          5  often too small. Even when cubical doors can swing

          6  in or out, the locks are often placed so that the

          7  door opens into the cubical only, eliminating

          8  privacy.  Soap and towels are often out of reach for

          9  a person in a wheelchair, especially those who

         10  cannot raise their arms.  Finally, toilets are

         11  sometimes too low and sometimes too high and there

         12  are no grab bars.

         13            My other pet peeve deals with ramps versus

         14  lifts.  Let me give an example.  Instead of a ramp

         15  for which there is plenty of room, Trump Tower at

         16  Columbus Circle has two lifts.  We tried to use the

         17  lifts ourselves but failed.  The doormen had trouble

         18  finding the key and then still had difficulty but

         19  finally did get us up.  This is not independent

         20  access required by the ADA.

         21                 It seems nondisabled architects love

         22  lifts.  There are rare exceptions.  Why are ramps

         23  better than lifts?  Lifts are exclusionary, they are

         24  for people with disabilities.  Ramps welcome

         25  everyone.  Lifts breaks down so then you have no
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          2  access.  You often have to wait in the cold or the

          3  rain while someone looks for the key.  Lifts make

          4  you feel like a patient except when you can operate

          5  them independently. Which is rare.  Now I recognize

          6  there are times when a ramp just won't work and a

          7  lift is necessary, but this should be rare in new

          8  construction.  Yet, new buildings are going up

          9  around the City with lifts at the entrances.  This

         10  should stop.

         11                 My final suggestion is work with

         12  people with disabilities.  Groups like United Spinal

         13  Association can give important technical advice.

         14  But even members of Disabled In Action can often go

         15  into a bathroom and tell you immediately if it is

         16  accessible to most people in wheelchairs.  You are

         17  working with rules, but we have hands- on-

         18  experience.

         19

         20  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         21  TIMOTHY S. CAREY

         22  PRESIDENT AND CEO

         23  HUGH L. CAREY BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY

         24

         25                 Good afternoon, Chairperson

                                                            358

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Provenzano, Minority Leader Oddo and members of

          3  Housing and Buildings Committee of the New York City

          4  Council and honored guests.  My name is Timothy S.

          5  Carey and I am the President and CEO of the Hugh L.

          6  Carey Battery Park City Authority.  I thank you for

          7  allowing me to come before you today to speak in

          8  support of the intro 478.

          9                 Four years ago, following Governor

         10  Pataki's vision to create a harmony between the

         11  built and natural environments, The Hugh L. Carey,

         12  Battery Park City Authority created sustainable

         13  guidelines governing all future construction in

         14  Battery Park City. The adoption of these guidelines

         15  will result in the creation of approximately 4.5

         16  million square feet of sustainable building space

         17  that is more energy and water efficient,

         18  environmentally sound and healthy to live and work

         19  in than existing buildings.

         20                 The Solaire, the first comprehensive

         21  sustainable high- rise residential building in the

         22  nasion and one of eight to be built in Battery Park

         23  City opened its doors in July of 2003. Following the

         24   "green" guidelines developed by the authority, The

         25  Solaire's integrated approach to sustainability has
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          2  resulted in a residential high- rise that recycled

          3  much of its construction waste, uses less energy

          4  during peak hours, uses less NYC supplied potable

          5  water than comparable buildings and reduces the

          6  particulate matter in the air.

          7                 The development of the Solaire is

          8  significant because it demonstrates that sustainable

          9  construction of a high rise residential building can

         10  succeed in a metropolis as large as New York City.

         11  Proof of this success is not only its positive

         12  environmental impact but its economic impact as

         13  well.  The Solaire was fully rented in just six

         14  months at a four to five percent rental premium.  In

         15  other words, building green can make economic sense

         16  as well as environmental sense.

         17                 Adopting building codes with similar

         18  requirements as those guiding the development in

         19  Battery Park City will dramatically reduce the

         20  strain on our municipal infrastructure. Consider the

         21  following:  The Solaire uses approximately 35

         22  percent less electricity at base and 65 percent

         23  during peak periods, reducing the reliance on

         24  electricity generated by older, more polluting power

         25  plants; The Solaire uses 9 million gallons less
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          2  potable City water then comparable buildings. The

          3  Solaire's HVAC system filters out 85 to 90 percent

          4  of the air pollutants thereby improving indoor air

          5  quality for those suffering from respiratory

          6  diseases.  The Solaire recycled 85 percent of its

          7  construction waste drastically reducing the among of

          8  material sent to landfills.

          9                 Now that the real- world benefits of

         10  sustainable design and construction techniques have

         11  been demonstrated, we encourage the adoption of a

         12  new building code based on the 2003 editions of the

         13  International Code Council's national model codes as

         14  outlined in Intro 478.  We believe that the passing

         15  of Intro 478 and the adoption of a new building code

         16  will create New York City buildings that are

         17  healthier for the people who live in them as well as

         18  the natural environment surrounding them.

         19                 This code has been vetted by 13

         20  technical committees and 400 professionals in NYC,

         21  including the Department of Buildings Advisory

         22  Committee on Sustainability on which the BPCA sits

         23  to ensure it incorporates the high safety and

         24  construction standards of NYC.  By adopting it, NYC

         25  is assured that its code will be revisited and
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          2  updated every 3 years as part of the mandated

          3  international process, at which NYC will be present

          4  as an active participant.

          5                 In contrast, NFPA 5000 comes as a

          6  finished product with none of the adaptations for

          7  the unique requirements of NYC and no mandated,

          8  regular updating.  The I- codes have already been

          9  adopted in the US by 48 states at the local or state

         10  level, including NYS.  In contrast, the NFPA 5000

         11  has only been adopted in a few areas like Pasadena,

         12  Texas and they still use the International Code for

         13  the majority of their buildings.

         14                 By voting for Intro 478, you will be

         15  enabling future generations of New Yorkers to live

         16  healthier in their built environment while reducing

         17  the impact they have on our natural resources.  You

         18  will be taking a major step forward toward making

         19  New York City one of the largest metropolis'

         20  mandating responsible construction.  In doing that,

         21  you will be setting an example for the entire world

         22  to follow.

         23                 I urge you to seize this historical

         24  opportunity to shape the way the building industry

         25  operates by voting yes on this very important bill.
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          2  The success of the Solaire proves that sustainable

          3  development has its place in New York City.  We at

          4  the Battery Park City Authority urge you to move New

          5  York City toward a future that is cleaner and

          6  greener by voting yes on Intro 478.

          7  Thank you.

          8

          9  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         10  JOSEPH F. SAUERWEIN

         11  CHIEF FIRE MARSHAL

         12  TOWN OF BROOKHAVEN, LONG ISLAND

         13

         14  Ladies and Gentlemen of the Council:

         15                 I am Joe Sauerwein and I have been

         16  the Chief Fire Marshal for the Town of Brookhaven

         17  since 1985.  I come before you today to applaud and

         18  encourage your efforts to modernize and update the

         19  City's codes for building construction, fire safety

         20  and related functions, particularly as presented in

         21  Introductory Local Law 478.

         22                 In that regard, I would like to share

         23  with you the excellent success the Town of

         24  Brookhaven has had with the adoption of the ICC-

         25  based model codes that now comprise the New York
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          2  State Uniform Fire Prevention and Building Code.

          3                 Firstly, the Town of Brookhaven

          4  consists of some 460,000 residents across 318 square

          5  miles.  Our borders stretch from the Long Island

          6  sound to the Atlantic Ocean, with high rises in the

          7  west, farms in the east and everything else in

          8  between. Literally every type of business,

          9  occupation and industry takes place in our town.

         10                 I have personally been involved with

         11  the enforcement of building, fire and related codes

         12  for the last 23 years and more recently have played

         13  a role in the adoption and enhancement of New York

         14  State's "new" code.

         15                 I have first- hand experience using

         16  both the former state- developed code and the

         17  current ICC- based codes.  While the old "home-

         18  grown" code of 1984 was a great start to address a

         19  very serious defect after the tragic Stouffer's Inn

         20  fire, through the years it became stagnant, outmoded

         21  and difficult to use. Unintentionally, it started to

         22  adversely affect the economy of the state by

         23  stifling development and reuse of the sizeable

         24  existing building stock across the state, especially

         25  in urban areas.
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          2                 The new ICC- based state code, on the

          3  other hand, recognizes modern technologies and

          4  materials, acknowledges new ideologies and embraces

          5  experiences from across an extremely broad range and

          6  variety of localities.  Builders and owners are able

          7  to take advantage of newer design options, reducing

          8  costs yet maintaining the highest level of life

          9  safety.

         10                 Those same builders and owners also

         11  have the opportunity to directly impact what goes

         12  into the ICC based code, not only at the state

         13  level, but also in the actual ICC code development

         14  process.  Anyone with a concern for building

         15  matters, whether a developer, a designer, a

         16  manufacturer, a contractor or a building owner, can

         17  stand before the assembled members and offer a

         18  proposal.

         19                 It is important to understand that

         20  while revisions to the ICC- based codes do not

         21  automatically become "the law of the land" in New

         22  York State, they clearly provide the basis for

         23  future consideration by the state.

         24                 Equally important, since we all don't

         25  live and work in identical shoe boxes across this
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          2  great land of ours, the use of enhancements allows

          3  any municipality to tailor the model code to fit the

          4  peculiarities and demographics of our individual

          5  communities.  What works in Utah may not work at all

          6  in Brookhaven, while New York City will surely need

          7  to customize any code it adopts to accommodate it's

          8  often unique circumstances.  The proposal in Local

          9  Law 478 will allow just that.

         10                 It is my professional opinion that

         11  the transition to the ICC- based NYS Uniform Code

         12  has been indisputably successful, welcomed by the

         13  design community, building owners and developers

         14  alike, as well as the code enforcement community.

         15                 In closing, the adoption of the ICC-

         16  based codes by New York State has proven to be an

         17  economic benefit in the Town of Brookhaven, helping

         18  us to maintain a healthy financial environment while

         19  guaranteeing our citizens the best in fire and

         20  building safety.  Your efforts to modernize New York

         21  city's codes, maintaining the delicate balance

         22  between responsible development and safety, are to

         23  be commended.  Thank you very much for your time and

         24  attention.

         25

                                                            366

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          3  DOTTIE HARRIS

          4  DEPUTY SECRETARY OF STATE

          5

          6                 Thank you Speaker Miller, Chairperson

          7  Provenzano and Members of the Committee on Housing

          8  and Buildings for providing me an opportunity to

          9  speak to you today.  I would first like to

         10  congratulate the City Council for recognizing the

         11  importance of adopting and maintaining a modern and

         12  dynamic building code.  It is even more important in

         13  a post 9- 11 world to enhance public safety without

         14  sacrificing the benefits for economic development.

         15  Intro 478 effectively strikes that delicate balance.

         16                 The Department of State is

         17  responsible for the administration of the Uniform

         18  Fire Prevention and Building Code throughout the

         19  State of New York, outside the City of New York. The

         20  Department oversees the enforcement practices of

         21  more than 1,400 local governments throughout the

         22  State, serves as Chairman of the State Fire

         23  Prevention and Building Code Council, and provides

         24  training and support services to New York's building

         25  and fire service.
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          2                 New York State recently completed a

          3  historic rewriting of its building, fire prevention

          4  and energy codes.  This initiative truly advanced

          5  our code regulatory system into the 21st century.

          6  Through the statutory authority of Code Council, New

          7  York State adopted the family of International Codes

          8  to replace provisions that had been in place for

          9  more than 20 years.

         10                 Our mission was to update the code

         11  from 1984 and in July of 2002 the new Uniform Code

         12  took effect.  This new Uniform Code has been in

         13  effect since July 2002.  I am pleased to report that

         14  our state is already benefiting from this

         15  initiative.  The new code is comprehensive and easy

         16  to read and incorporates the current editions of

         17  more than 1,200 technical standards.

         18                 By adopting the International Codes,

         19  New York has joined a national effort to standardize

         20  building, fire prevention and energy conservation

         21  regulations.  The International Codes are enforced

         22  in 48 states, including the neighboring states of

         23  Connecticut and New jersey.

         24                 The City of New York is in a position

         25  to help lead this national movement by implementing
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          2  Intro 478 and adopting the International Building

          3  Code, the International Plumbing Code, the

          4  International Mechanical Code, the International

          5  Residential Code and the International Fuel Gas

          6  Code.  Intro 478 will also ensure that the City's

          7  high standards for fire and life safety are

          8  maintained by incorporating the work of the hundreds

          9  of volunteers participating in the technical

         10  committees, which I am sure you will hear more about

         11  today.

         12                 Again, I would like to commend the

         13  City Council, Mayor Bloomberg and Commissioner

         14  Lancaster for their dedication to the safety and

         15  well- being of New York's citizens through the

         16  creation of Intro 478.  I would be happy to answer

         17  any questions you may have.

         18

         19  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         20  RONALD PIESTER

         21  DIRECTOR

         22  DIVISION OF CODE ENFORCEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION

         23

         24                 Speaker Miller, Chairperson

         25  Provenzano and Members of the Committee on Housing
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          2  and Buildings, thank you for this opportunity to

          3  speak in strong support of Intro 478.

          4                 This is truly an historic day for the

          5  City of New York.  Over the past two years, I have

          6  witnessed the extraordinary accomplishments that the

          7  Department of Buildings has achieved under the

          8  leadership of Commissioner Lancaster and Assistant

          9  Commissioner Penzi.

         10                 Intro 478 represents the collective

         11  expertise of hundreds of New York's brightest

         12  design, construction and regulatory professionals.

         13  The technical committees which were established by

         14  the Mayor's Advisory Commission have devoted

         15  countless hours to the task of creating a code that

         16  would best serve the citizens of this great City.

         17  To me, one of the most successful aspects of this

         18  effort has been the open and inclusive process that

         19  has been utilized to develop a plan for adopting the

         20  International Building Code.

         21                 As Deputy Secretary Harris mentioned,

         22  New York State recently went through a similar

         23  process to rewrite our building, fire prevention and

         24  energy codes.  Serving as Director to our code

         25  Council, I have been responsible for this task.
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          2  Beginning in 1999, we established a series of

          3  technical subcommittees to review the International

          4  Codes and advise the Code Council how to modify the

          5  base language of the "I" codes to best serve the

          6  interests of our state.  These technical

          7  subcommittees and the dedication and support of

          8  individuals and organizations that participated in

          9  the process, were clearly the key to our successful

         10  implementation of the International Codes in 2002.

         11  I can confidently say that we could not have

         12  succeeded without them.

         13                 Similarly, the technical committees

         14  established by the Mayor's Advisory Commission have

         15  created a venue for the constituencies most directly

         16  affected to participate in the development of the

         17  City's new building code provisions. Organizations

         18  such as BOMA/NY, SFPE, AIA, REBNY and FDNY have

         19  provided a broad perspective to identify and assess

         20  the potential impact of the significant changes that

         21  are being considered. Allowing New York's

         22  stakeholders to participate in the development of

         23  its new building code will ultimately be the

         24  hallmark of this project's success.

         25                 In closing, I would like to
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          2  congratulate the City of New York for taking the

          3  bold steps that have led us to today's hearing.  To

          4  the members of the Committee on Housing and

          5  Buildings, I encourage you to recognize the wisdom

          6  of the Advisory Commission's technical committees

          7  and to pass Intro 478 to the full membership of the

          8  City Council for approval.  Thank you.

          9

         10  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         11  KATHRYN WYLDE

         12  PRESIDENT AND CEO

         13  PARTNERSHIP FOR NEW YORK CITY

         14

         15                 Good morning Chairperson Provenzano

         16  and members of the City Council.  Thank you for

         17  holding this hearing to focus attention on the

         18  critical issue of reforming New York City's outdated

         19  and cumbersome building code.

         20                 On behalf of New York's business

         21  community, the Partnership for New York City wants

         22  to register strong support for Intro. 478,

         23  legislation that is a critical first step in

         24  replacing the current code with an adaptive version

         25  of the International Building Code (IBC).
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          2                 The Partnership has long advocated

          3  simplifying and modernizing the building code in

          4  order to reduce construction costs and increase New

          5  York's competitiveness in both commercial and

          6  residential markets.  Our position is based on

          7  extensive experience as a sponsor of affordable

          8  housing construction as well as the input of our

          9  members from the commercial real estate industry.

         10                 The complexity of the current code

         11  creates confusion and prolongs the permitting

         12  process.  Residential construction costs in NYC are

         13  nine percent higher than in Los Angeles, 11 percent

         14  higher than in Chicago and about 22 to 30 percent

         15  higher than in Dallas.  On the commercial side,

         16  construction costs for mid and large- sized office

         17  buildings in New York exceed San Francisco, Los

         18  Angeles, Boston, Chicago and Washington, D.C., by at

         19  least $30 per square foot.

         20                 The IBC has a solid track record in

         21  other cities. It is enforced in 28 states including

         22  New York State and is used in more than 400

         23  municipalities in 42 states.  It is well organized

         24  with language and graphics that make it easy to

         25  interpret, something sorely lacking in our current
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          2  code.  It is widely available and familiar to the

          3  real estate and construction industries.  Although

          4  many detail will need to be worked out before a

          5  final code is proposed, business leaders believe

          6  that using IBC as a model will lead to the most

          7  effective reform.

          8                 The Partnership does not support

          9  Intro. 368, which calls for the City to adopt the

         10  National Fire Safety Protection Agency (NFSPA) 5000

         11  code, which is relatively new and untested.

         12  Currently it is only in use in Pasadena, TX, a

         13  Houston suburb and with less than 150,000 residents.

         14    California adopted the NFSPA over the objections

         15  of the state Department of Housing and Community

         16  Development and opposition from the construction

         17  industry, NFSPA has not yet been enforced in

         18  California and Governor Schwarzenegger is reportedly

         19  exploring repeal.

         20                 We support building code reform

         21  because it would: Help spur development in locations

         22  were rents and sales prices are frequently not able

         23  to support high construction costs such as the outer

         24  boroughs.

         25                 Increase the supply of affordable
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          2  housing.  In 1999, the Partnership collaborated with

          3  the City's Department of Housing Preservation and

          4  Development on a report entitled, Reducing the Cost

          5  of New Housing Construction in New York City.  The

          6  report argued that the current building code makes

          7  it more expensive to develop affordable and safe

          8  housing in New York.  It noted that a simpler code

          9  would facilitate the permit approval process,

         10  thereby creating more housing more quickly.

         11                 Help promote economic development,

         12  particularly in specialized industry sectors that

         13  are relatively new to the City. For example,

         14  development of biotech buildings would be far

         15  simpler under a national, standardized code.

         16  Consistency with IBC standards would help the City

         17  attract development firms and investors that have

         18  biotech experience in other locales to new York

         19  City.

         20                 The Department of Buildings and many

         21  private and public sector professionals have done a

         22  good job thinking through the issues associated with

         23  adopting a new code.  Although much work remains to

         24  be done, the passage of Intro 478 is a critical

         25  first step toward implementing the reforms needed to
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          2  maintain New York's competitiveness. We urge you to

          3  pass this important legislation. Thank you.

          4

          5  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          6  EDWIN D. HILL

          7  INTERNATIONAL PRESIDENT

          8  INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF ELECTRICAL WORKERS

          9

         10                 Dear Sisters and Brothers.  Every

         11  three years the IBEW allocates a significant amount

         12  of resources to support 38 Brothers and Sisters who

         13  represent our interests on the National Electrical

         14  Code Committee.  I do so because we understand and

         15  firmly believe that the future of all of our members

         16  is explicitly linked to meaningful codes and

         17  standards.  The IBEW's participation in the

         18  development of the National Electrical Code allows

         19  IBEW input with regards to critical safety and

         20  installation provisions that ensure that IBEW

         21  members and the industry remain protected.

         22                 Unfortunately, over the past several

         23  years there have been efforts, primarily by the

         24  International Code Council to dramatically alter the

         25  way codes and standards, like the National
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          2  Electrical Code are developed.  This is problematic

          3  on several levels.

          4                 Most importantly, the process

          5  promoted by the ICC is not a consensus process that

          6  permits our input and the input from other industry

          7  representatives as well.  All ICC codes have been

          8  developed through a process that allows building

          9  officials to dominate and does not include direct

         10  adoption of the NEC.  The ICC codes introduce

         11  electrical provisions that are developed outside the

         12  NEC development process.  The ICC has even developed

         13  its own electrical code, the ICC Electical Code,

         14  that has made at least one technical amendment to

         15  the provisions of the NEC.

         16                 For this reason it is imperative that

         17  we continue to work at both the grass roots and

         18  national level to oppose the promotion and adoption

         19  of all ICC codes.  Please note that this includes

         20  the ICC Building codes as well because the building

         21  code provides an alternate method under which the

         22  ICC introduces electrical code provisions.

         23                 Please review the attached position

         24  paper that I have developed to assist you in

         25  understanding the importance of our participation in
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          2  this process.  Please make sure that you take the

          3  necessary steps at the local level to ensure that

          4  ICC codes are not adopted in your jurisdiction.

          5  Should you need any additional information or

          6  assistance in fighting ICC adoption in your

          7  jurisdiction, please contact your international Vice

          8  President.

          9

         10  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         11  JOHNNY BREWINGTON

         12  PRESIDENT

         13  INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF

         14  BLACK PROFESSIONAL FIRE FIGHTERS

         15

         16                 I am writing to you as a

         17  representative of 5434 members of the International

         18  Association of Black Professional Fire Fighters

         19  (IABPFF) worldwide.  We are an organization that is

         20  very concerned about the safety of our members and

         21  the people that we protect.  IABPFF seeks to collect

         22  and evaluate data on harmful conditions in all areas

         23  where minorities exist and to compile information

         24  concerning the injustices that exist in the

         25  application of working conditions in the Fire
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          2  Service and implement action to correct them.

          3                 In our line of work, building codes

          4  can mean the difference between life and death in an

          5  emergency situation.  It is imperative that these

          6  codes provide first responders with the time and

          7  protection they need to perform rescue operations.

          8                 That is why IABPFF fully supports the

          9  adoption of NFPA 5000, Building Construction and

         10  Safety Code and strongly recommends its adoption as

         11  the basis for the New York City building code.

         12  NFPA's model building code is the first code of its

         13  kind to mandate consideration of fire fighter safety

         14  as part of the building construction process.

         15  NFPA's entire code development system gives

         16  firefighters and other first responders more input

         17  and decisions making authority than any other code

         18  developer.  This input helps NFPA codes provide a

         19  higher level of safety for first responders.

         20                 The NFPA building code offers many

         21  key provisions that keep first responders and

         22  building occupants safe.  For example, the code

         23  mandates that columns, beams and other key

         24  structural elements in high- rise buildings be

         25  protected against fire for at least four hours, a
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          2  stricter requirement than contained in the

          3  International Building Code.  By requiring that

          4  those elements be protected for a long period of

          5  time, NFPA's code provides greater protection to

          6  occupants and first responders.

          7                 Also, NFPA 5000 helps to make sure

          8  there is enough room for large groups of people to

          9  exit down the stairs and for firefighters to do

         10  their jobs.  Specifically, NFPA's code does not

         11  allow designers to narrow the width of stairwells,

         12  even if the building is equipped with an automatic

         13  sprinkler system.

         14                 These are only a few reasons why the

         15  NFPA building code offers a higher level of safety

         16  than any other building code for first responders

         17  and building occupants.  I urge the City Council to

         18  support Intro 368 to adopt NFPA 5000 as the basis

         19  for New York City's model building code.

         20

         21  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         22  RON BERTONE, F.A.I.A.

         23  ARCHITECT

         24

         25                 Good day.  My name is Ron Bertone.  I
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          2  have been a licensed architect for more than 30

          3  years.  During that time I have been involved in

          4  many projects throughout New York, New Jersey,

          5  Pennsylvania, Connecticut, Maryland and Florida.  I

          6  am a Fellow of the American Institute of Architects

          7  (AIA).  I serve on the AIA's Codes and Standards

          8  Committee and the AIA's National Ethics Council.  I

          9  also am proud to say that I currently serve as a

         10  member of NFPA's Board of Directors.  And, I am here

         11  today in support of Intro 368 which would adopt

         12  NFPA's model building code in New York City.

         13                 I am very familiar with the NFPA 5000

         14  and I am very pleased with the document.  Not only

         15  does it offer a high degree of safety, but it also

         16  is very easy to use.  The NFPA document is organized

         17  in a much more logical format than previous model

         18  building codes have been.

         19                 In developing this building code, the

         20  NFPA endeavored to be responsive to the needs of

         21  enforcement agencies, the design communities and the

         22  construction industry and to be consistent with the

         23  other principles of code development to which NFPA

         24  adheres.  This process permits NFPA to establish a

         25  set of goals and objectives within this code that
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          2  work to deliver a safe, usable and functional

          3  building at the end of the design process.

          4                 Beyond these elements, NFPA 5000 has

          5  also established a basic philosophy of referencing

          6  and recognizing design related codes and standards

          7  developed by other organizations under the

          8  procedures of the American National Standards

          9  Institute (ANSI), reflecting the highest quality and

         10  most technically sound documents for given areas.

         11  NFPA 5000 has taken those documents and referenced

         12  and incorporated them in order to keep the NFPA code

         13  in lock step with such requirements.  In general

         14  terms, the process by which many of the requirements

         15  in the NFPA 5000 Code were established is based on a

         16  reliance on the expertise found in other ANSI codes

         17  and standards.

         18                 NFPA's building code incudes direct

         19  references to key structural engineering standards,

         20  without major revisions.   As a result, the code

         21  fully utilizes documents created by such safety

         22  organizations as the American Society of Civil

         23  Engineers (ASCE), American Concrete Institute (ACI)

         24  and the American Iron and Steel Institute (AISI).

         25                 The quality of the NFPA document
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          2  starts at the very beginning.  The code includes

          3  clearly stated goals and objectives (life safety,

          4  firefighter safety, property protection) on which

          5  all users will be able to rely during the

          6  construction process.

          7                 Also, NFPA's building code is

          8  organized based on the type of building that you are

          9  constructing.  For example, if you want to build a

         10  health care facility you work from the health care

         11  section.  If you want to build a day care center,

         12  most of what you need is located in a section called

         13   "day care occupancy."

         14                 Each occupancy or type of building is

         15  logically addressed in the NFPA document.  This is

         16  the same format that architects and others have

         17  relied on for many years when they are utilizing

         18  NFPA's Life Safety Code.  The occupancy- based

         19  format of NFPA's building code makes it easier for

         20  all of those involved in the construction process to

         21  find information relevant to their project.  In

         22  contrast, other building codes are organized in a

         23  way that requires you to go from section to section

         24  searching for the applicable safety provisions.

         25                 Also, NFPA 5000 is the only building
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          2  code to include integrated, performance- based

          3  design options.  This option allows design

          4  professionals, builders, code enforcers, and others

          5  in the field of construction to use innovative means

          6  of protecting public safety as an alternative to

          7  prescriptive requirements.

          8                 Further, I am glad that NFPA's model

          9  building code includes integrated prescriptive

         10  provisions for the rehabilitation of existing

         11  buildings.  The inclusion of such important

         12  provisions in the code itself demonstrates that NFPA

         13  considers rehabilitating existing structures a

         14  priority, not an afterthought.  As a result, the

         15  NFPA code will help thousands of communities across

         16  the United States preserve important parts of their

         17  architectural heritage while providing the highest

         18  level of safety.

         19                 Finally, I am very glad that NFPA has

         20  chosen to take the bold step of putting NFPA 5000

         21  on- line for free review.  That opens up model codes

         22  to a whole new group of people, including those with

         23  disabilities, who deserve to have input into code

         24  development.

         25                 I hope you will consider this
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          2  architect's point of view and support Intro 368 and

          3  the NFPA model building code.  In doing so, you will

          4  not only be helping the architectural community

          5  practicing in the City, but you will also be making

          6  a decision that will benefit the entire construction

          7  industry.  Thank you very much.

          8

          9  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF JOSEPH VERSTEEG

         10  CONSULTANT

         11  VERSTEEG ASSOCIATES

         12

         13                 Good afternoon.  My name is Joe

         14  Versteeg and I am in strong support of Intro 368.

         15  For many years I oversaw all safety code activities

         16  for the State Fire Marshal's office in Connecticut.

         17  That meant that I was the person responsible for the

         18  Building Inspections Program in that office.  Based

         19  on that experience, I know well how important NFPA

         20  codes are nationally.

         21                 I currently run a consulting firm

         22  that specializes in the application of building and

         23  life safety codes.  I also have a unique perspective

         24  on the decision you face because I currently serve

         25  as a member of the technical committees that help to
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          2  write both the IBC and the NFPA model building

          3  codes.  The most important thing that I have learned

          4  from that is that based on my experience the NFPA

          5  system is much better and more likely to produce the

          6  best possible safety codes.

          7                 Here is why I say that.  Even though

          8  I sit on an IBC Committee and even though I have

          9  many years of experience in public safety, when the

         10  ICC makes its decisions about which safety

         11  provisions should be included in the International

         12  Building Code, I don't get to vote.

         13                 You see, no matter what type of code

         14  the ICC is developing, whether it is a fire code, a

         15  plumbing code or a building code, ICC decisions

         16  about what should be included are controlled only by

         17  government employees, mostly building officials.

         18                 In the ICC process, no one else has

         19  an opportunity to have a voice and a vote

         20  throughout.  That kind of system assumes that

         21  government knows best.  And, with all due respect,

         22  all of us who have worked in government for any time

         23  at all know that government does not have all the

         24  answers.  Quite frankly, I think the current

         25  editions of both codes are good, but this decision
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          2  you are making is about more than just the current

          3  edition.

          4                 When I was a code official, I wanted

          5  to make sure that we were working with code

          6  developers who were going to deliver to us the

          7  highest quality codes every single time.  These

          8  building codes you are considering are both updated

          9  every three years. Based on my experience, the NFPA

         10  process is better at doing that.

         11                 NFPA has more than 300 quality codes

         12  and standards compared to just a handful for the

         13  ICC.  NFPA safety codes are used in every state and

         14  around the world.

         15            As you have heard, an NFPA construction

         16  code (The Life Safety Code) is required by the

         17  Federal Government to help protect patients in

         18  health care facilities throughout New York and the

         19  rest of the country.  That federal requirement was

         20  made because the NFPA process has regularly produced

         21  the best possible safety document for patient

         22  safety.  NFPA has brought that same attention and

         23  focus on safety to the development of this building

         24  code.

         25                 In addition, NFPA has already made
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          2  sure that its building code works perfectly with The

          3  Life Safety Code that health care facilities in New

          4  York have to use.  There are no conflicts between

          5  these two NFPA codes.

          6                 That means that if you adopt NFPA's

          7  building code, you will be eliminating conflicts

          8  that could otherwise occur in hospitals and nursing

          9  homes.  On the other hand, if you adopt the ICC code

         10  you will be creating potential problems for New York

         11  City's health care community.  That's because the

         12  Federal requirements they have to meet likely will

         13  conflict with the IBC. As you know, those types of

         14  conflicts can cause construction delays and safety

         15  problems.

         16                 Again, based on my experience as a

         17  code enforcer and fire safety official and member of

         18  code writing committees for both ICC and NFPA, I

         19  believe that the NFPA process is better for New York

         20  City.

         21                 NFPA method of developing codes is

         22  more open and more complete, so Intro 368 would be a

         23  better choice for New York City.  Thank you for your

         24  time.

         25
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          2  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          3  CLAUDE ROUNDS

          4  CHIEF CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICER

          5  PITTSFIELD, MAINE

          6

          7                 Good day.  My name is Claude Rounds.

          8  I am the Chief Code Enforcement Official in

          9  Pittsfield, Maine and provide inspection services in

         10  a large number of the unorganized territories for

         11  the State of Maine's Land Use Regulation Commission.

         12                 I apologize that I could not join you

         13  in person today, but my schedule would just not

         14  allow me to be out of the office for an entire day

         15  to attend your hearing.

         16                 I know videotaped remarks are not the

         17  best way to do this but I really wanted to make sure

         18  that my perspective was available to you as you make

         19  this important decision.

         20                 All of us who are involved in the

         21  field of code enforcement go to work every day

         22  trying to make things as safe as possible for those

         23  who live and work in our communities.

         24                 Whether you're enforcing codes in New

         25  York City or some small town, nothing is more
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          2  important than safety.  We are always looking to

          3  make things as safe as possible.

          4                 That is why we began to look at the

          5  NFPA Model Building code and the International

          6  Building Code.  By the way, we were looking at the

          7  same editions of the model codes available to New

          8  York City now.

          9                 We did a thorough, detailed

         10  comparison and it was clear to us that the NFPA

         11  Model Building Code was safer than the IBC.  That

         12  makes sense given that NFPA's code development

         13  process is more open to input from all groups than

         14  the ICC's process is.

         15                 Remember, I am a code enforcement

         16  official so I could have a final vote in the ICC

         17  process.  But, if you represent homeowners or

         18  tenants or the electrical community, you do not get

         19  an equal say in the ICC process.  This is in stark

         20  contrast to the NFPA's open code development

         21  process.  Clearly the ICC's closed system is bound

         22  to lead to mistakes or omissions in the ICC codes.

         23                 The closed ICC process is a little

         24  like taking the authority to write ordinances and

         25  laws away from city councils and state legislature
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          2  and giving that responsibility to the police, asking

          3  them to write and adopt the laws that they enforce.

          4                 Our jurisdiction's review of the

          5  International Building Code showed that we would

          6  have been forced to make many amendments to the IBC

          7  just to reach the level of safety that was already

          8  there in NFPA 5000.

          9                 I know New York City has had to spend

         10  a great deal of time just  getting a lot of public

         11  input on the IBC.  With the NFPA process, much of

         12  that was already done.  That means that when we

         13  started, the NFPA code was stronger.

         14                 Another factor in our decision was

         15  the way that NFPA's Building Code works hand in

         16  glove with other key codes that are already adopted

         17  in Maine.  The state, through the Fire Marshal's

         18  Office, already uses NFPA's Life Safety Code and

         19  NFPA's Fire Code to protect new and existing

         20  buildings.  Additionally, many other NFPA codes are

         21  adopted by the state and apply regardless of what

         22  building code a community may use.

         23                 So by using NFPA's Building Code I

         24  eliminated the potential for a lot of code conflicts

         25  that could have otherwise occurred.  Conflicts
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          2  between codes can really slow down construction and

          3  cause safety concerns.  They also cause great

          4  frustrations for property owners and builders.

          5                 Also, we place a great deal of

          6  importance here on building rehabilitation and

          7  changes of use of existing and historic structures.

          8  I know that is also a very important thing for New

          9  Yorkers.  I have found the existing buildings

         10  provisions of NFPA 5000 to be very flexible and very

         11  easy to use.  They really allow people who are

         12  interested in restoring older buildings to do it in

         13  a way that is safe and cost effective.  Those

         14  provisions are particularly useful when protecting

         15  the historical integrity of historic structures that

         16  are to be rehabilitated.

         17                 I believe that if you were to use

         18  NFPA's Model Building Code in New York city you

         19  would find that more and more older and historic

         20  structures would be preserved safely.

         21                 But, beyond the codes there is

         22  something else you need to watch out for.  What kind

         23  of service will be get from the code developer you

         24  select?  NFPA's staff has been a big help throughout

         25  this process.  When we were in the early stages of
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          2  comparing the codes we got a lot of free help from

          3  NFPA.  They took time to answer our questions and

          4  after we adopted the NFPA Code, that kind of service

          5  has only gotten better.  The time that they have

          6  spent providing free training to codes officials and

          7  fire service personnel has been very significant.  I

          8  know NFPA would provide unbelievable service to code

          9  officials in New York City.

         10            The bottom line is that you are getting

         11  ready to begin a long- term relationship with a code

         12  developer.  You have a right to expect that

         13  developer will provide you with the best possible

         14  model code every three years as the code is updated.

         15    Otherwise you will be amending it forever.

         16                 You also have a right to expect that

         17  code developer to provide you with the top level of

         18  service.  But most importantly, you have a right to

         19  expect your code developer to share your commitment

         20  to protecting people and property.

         21                 As with every community, money is

         22  always a concern. How much will it cost?  We found

         23  the NFPA code to cost approximately one- half of

         24  what other codes would have cost to adopt.  The

         25  resources and training that the NFPA staff provided
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          2  was in many cases at no cost.  Additionally, because

          3  we were already NFPA members through our fire

          4  service, we had access to the NFPA resources at

          5  great savings.

          6            When we began this process we had a lot of

          7  folks say that we should use the IBC just because

          8  that is what they were using. I told them that we

          9  didn't really care what they were doing.  We were

         10  going to make this decision based on what was best

         11  for our community, not their's.

         12                 I would respectfully encourage all of

         13  the members of the City Council to determine which

         14  code developer is right for New York City.  Which

         15  code developer will allow the people of New York

         16  City the greatest access to the code development

         17  process?  Which code developer will provide you with

         18  the best service?  And, which code developer is

         19  going to give you the strongest code time after time

         20  after time.

         21                 For me, there is no question.  NFPA's

         22  Model Building Code works best.  I hope you will

         23  consider this code enforcer's experience as you vote

         24  on Intro 368.  Thanks for taking time to listen to

         25  me.
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          2

          3  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          4  STEPHEN CASSIDY

          5  PRESIDENT

          6  NEW YORK FIREFIGHTERS

          7

          8                 Good morning.  My name is Stephen

          9  Cassidy and I am proud to represent more than 8,800

         10  New York Firefighters.  I am here today with our

         11  brothers and sisters in the fire service supporting

         12  Intro 368 and the adoption of a building code

         13  developed by The National Fire Protection

         14  Association.

         15                 Every day the members of the UFA see

         16  the damage that can be done when buildings are not

         17  safe.  Every day we go into buildings when they are

         18  most dangerous.  And, every day we see how important

         19  safety codes are.  But, the folks who develop the

         20  International Building Code say we don't have the

         21  needed expertise to make real decisions about what

         22  should be included in their safety code.

         23                 I know that for the Department of

         24  Buildings and for The Bloomberg Administration, this

         25  is an important issue.  They have invested a lot of
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          2  time in this.  But for New York City Firefighters

          3  there is no more important issue than our lives and

          4  we want to know that the very basis of New York

          5  City's next building code is done correctly.

          6                 As you consider this legislation, you

          7  will hear a lot of arguments on both sides about how

          8  one code might have more stringent requirements than

          9  the other.  I can only say that our technical people

         10  have looked carefully at the requirements in each

         11  code and it is clear to them that the NFPA Code is

         12  safer.  The NFPA Code is better at protecting the

         13  health and safety of firefighters and the people we

         14  serve.  As you know, the UFA has written to Council

         15  Members on that point before.  I also know that the

         16  California State Fire Marshal's Office extensively

         17  reviewed the current editions of both codes and

         18  determined that the NFPA Code offered the highest

         19  level of safety.  I also know major fire chief's

         20  organizations have praised NFPA's Code and its

         21  service as better than what New York City will

         22  receive from the people who developed the

         23  International Building Code.

         24                 But, even if the current editions of

         25  both codes were the same, I ask you to think about
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          2  which one will be the best code for New York City in

          3  the future.

          4                 Do we really want to work from the

          5  IBC Code that was developed using the least

          6  restrictive requirements from three other model

          7  building codes?

          8                 Do we really want a code whose

          9  supporters say it will be cheaper to implement, even

         10  though they cannot produce any tangible evidence of

         11  that?

         12                 Instead, I think New York City

         13  Firefighters deserve to have a nationally recognized

         14  code that is created with their input.  New York

         15  City Firefighters and all New Yorkers deserve to

         16  know that the basis of the building code used in New

         17  York City comes from balanced input involving every

         18  interested group.  This is the least that New York

         19  City can do to reassure people who live and work

         20  here.

         21                 NFPA has been focused on

         22  strengthening building safety for more than one

         23  hundred years.  The association has been heavily

         24  involved in reviewing and preventing fire tragedies

         25  in New York City.
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          2                 Also, as you have already heard,

          3  NFPA's construction codes are required by the

          4  Federal Government to help protect the safety of

          5  hospital patients and nursing home residents.  We

          6  have all worked fires that have hit those kinds of

          7  health care facilities and we know the special needs

          8  that patients there have. I think it is very telling

          9  that the Federal Government says the NFPA is the

         10  only code developer that has the ability to help

         11  protect those who are most vulnerable.

         12                 That is why I am convinced that

         13  NFPA's Building Code is the best basis for New York

         14  City's Building Code.  After all, we have waited

         15  more than 35 years to update our building code.  If

         16  we are going to do that, we should do it right, not

         17  just quickly.

         18                 New Yorkers deserve to know that we

         19  are using the best basis for a building code, not

         20  just one that was the most convenient for the

         21  Department of Buildings.

         22                 I ask you to support the Fire Service

         23  in New York City.  Support Intro 368 and a building

         24  code that was developed for everyone. Thank you for

         25  your time.
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          2

          3  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          4  JAMES BIFULCO

          5  MANAGING SAFETY AND LOSS CONTROL CONSULTANT

          6  TOTAL SAFETY CONSULTING

          7

          8                 Good afternoon, my name is James

          9  Bifulco.  I am the Managing Safety and Loss Control

         10  Consultant for total Safety Consulting and in this

         11  role I oversee the activities of approximate 100

         12  safety professionals assigned to major Construction

         13  Projects, primarily in New York City.

         14                 I am a Certified Safety Professional,

         15  Licensed New York City Site Safety manager, Licensed

         16  Master Rigger and an authorized OSHA and New York

         17  City Construction Safety Trainer.

         18                 I have sat on ANSI Standards

         19  committees, acted as President and am the current

         20  Legislative Affairs Chairperson for the Metropolitan

         21  Chapter of the American Society of Safety Engineers.

         22    I am a current member of the BTEA Safety Committee

         23  and the BOMA Scaffold Safety Committee.

         24                 I also have the good fortune to act

         25  as the Major buildings panel Chairperson and sit on
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          2  a number of other panels on the IBC Safety and

          3  Demolition Committee.

          4                 The majority of my professional life

          5  has been dedicated to improving safety for workers

          6  and the public in New York City.

          7                 I felt compelled to come here today

          8  to relay to the Council my personal experiences with

          9  the IBC New York City Building Code process and to

         10  express to you the overwhelming universal support

         11  that I have observed for this process and it's

         12  objectives.

         13                 Unlike some of the other rulemaking

         14  and steering committees I have been involved with

         15  the integration of the New York City Building Code

         16  into the IBC was truly a collaborative experience.

         17                 I worked very closely with

         18  representatives from all aspects of building

         19  construction including management, labor and

         20  enforcement, all of whom had very strong positions

         21  at times, to come to a consensus on pragmatic, fair

         22  and beneficial code provisions that apply directly

         23  to New York City's complicated construction

         24  environment.

         25                 I commend Commissioner Patricia
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          2  Lancaster, her staff and all the industry

          3  professionals who volunteered countless hours for

          4  this undertaking and I urge you on behalf of myself

          5  and the safety community to act favorably on this

          6  legislation.

          7

          8  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          9  LOUIS J. COLETTI

         10  PRESIDENT AND CEO

         11  BUILDING TRADES EMPLOYERS' ASSOCIATION

         12

         13                 Good morning.  My name is Louis

         14  Coletti.  I am the President and Chief Executive

         15  Officer of the Building Trades Employers'

         16  Association (BTEA).  The BTEA represents 25

         17  contractor associations comprised of 1,500

         18  construction managers, general contractors and

         19  subcontractors who employ the over 100,000 members

         20  of the Building and Construction Trades Council.

         21  The BTEA represents the management half of the

         22  Construction Industry Partnership with our partners

         23  in the labor sector at the Building and Construction

         24  Trades Council.

         25                 The BTEA fully supports Int. No. 458
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          2  which provides a time frame for the adoption and

          3  periodic updating of a construction code based on

          4  the National Model Construction Code developed by

          5  the International Code Council to replace the City's

          6  own outdated building code.  At the same time the

          7  BTEA does not support Int. No. 368, which is a local

          8  law to amend the Administrative Code of the City of

          9  New York in relation to the National Fire Protection

         10  Association NFPA 5000 Building Construction and

         11  Safety Code and the repeal of subchapters 2 through

         12  19 of chapter one of title 27 of this code.

         13                 The time is ripe and the need is

         14  clear for the reform and updating of our New York

         15  City Building Code.  As it currently exists, the New

         16  York City Building Code is outdated and difficult to

         17  read and interpret.  This code has not been

         18  comprehensively updated since 1968.  Needless to

         19  say, much has changed in terms of the technologies

         20  and methods that we use to build our City.  A lack

         21  of clarity in the current code has contributed to

         22  increased construction costs in New York City.

         23                 The BTEA and many of its member

         24  associations have been in active discussions with

         25  the Department of buildings on the need for code
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          2  reform for a number of years and have actively

          3  participated in the effort to study the use of the

          4  International Building Code for this purpose.  The

          5  Model Code Program represents broad stakeholder

          6  participation.  We have been working with numerous

          7  other groups and constituencies for well over a year

          8  to adapt the IBC for use in New York City.  The IBC

          9  review process has been free and open with the

         10  voices of many constituencies being considered for

         11  the development of the final document.  There has

         12  been no such process for the NFPA that warrants its

         13  introduction in any way, shape or form in New York

         14  City.  The members of the City Council should ask

         15  whether the various constituencies in the design,

         16  construction and real estate industries have had any

         17  input into the NFPA's introduction.

         18                 A brief comparison of the IBC to the

         19  NFPA should persuade the members of the Council that

         20  the IBC is the model that should be considered for

         21  the New York City building code.  For example, the

         22  IBC represents over a century of building code

         23  experience.  It is used in 48 states including the

         24  states of New York and New Jersey.  In comparison,

         25  the NFPA 5000 is only used in a suburb of Houston,
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          2  Texas and one small town in Maine.

          3                 If that isn't enough, the IBC is

          4  being modified to suit the specific conditions and

          5  situations of New York City.  The best safety and

          6  construction standards of the current code including

          7  the World Trade Center Bill and the Carbon Monoxide

          8  Bill are being incorporated into the IBC.  The

          9  opposing model code (Intro. 368) requires that the

         10  NFPA 5000 be adopted as is without New York City

         11  modifications and the safety enhancements of the

         12  World Trade Center Bill and the Carbon Monoxide

         13  Bill.  That just doesn't seem right!

         14                 In addition, the IBC is updated every

         15  three years by the International Code Council (ICC).

         16    The Model Code Program Managing Committee and the

         17  City Council will have the authority to review and

         18  accept any updates.  On the other hand, the NFPA

         19  5000 is incomplete in many areas and relies on

         20  references to other standards.  The result is chaos

         21  and confusion in trying to use this code.

         22                 In conclusion, the ease of use and

         23  flexibility to use modern materials and methods of

         24  the IBC will ultimately result in cost savings that

         25  will place New York City in a position to remain in
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          2  a competitive position when compared with nearby

          3  jurisdictions that already use it.

          4                 Consequently, the BTEA strongly urges

          5  that the City Council approve Int. No. 478 and move

          6  forward with the application of the International

          7  Building Code in New York City.

          8

          9  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         10  STEVEN SPINOLA

         11  PRESIDENT

         12  REAL ESTATE BOARD OF NEW YORK

         13

         14                 Good morning.  I am Steven Spinola,

         15  testifying on behalf of the nearly, 7,000 members of

         16  the Real Estate Board of New York, particularly the

         17  owner/builders of our City's high rise commercial

         18  office buildings and apartment towers.  REBNY is

         19  strongly opposed to the passage of Intro. 368

         20  adopting the NFPA 5000 as our building code, and

         21  cautiously in favor of Intro. 478, which will result

         22  in an amended version of the IBC as our building

         23  code.

         24                 REBNY staff served on the Mayor's

         25  Model Commission which looked carefully at both the
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          2  NFPA 5000 and the International Building Code for

          3  adoption in New York City and which recommended that

          4  we review the IBC for potential use here.  The

          5  Commission chose the IBC as the basis for our code

          6  for a number of reasons.

          7                 First, the IBC has a proven safety

          8  record.  It is a blend of three major national codes

          9  in use throughout the country for over ninety years.

         10    The design and construction communities have had

         11  many years of experience with it and found it to

         12  work.  In contrast, the NFPA is a brand new code.

         13  Elements of it dealing with fire protection have

         14  been in use for years and will still be in use in

         15  New York City if we adopt the IBC.  But other

         16  sections such as the structural egress requirements

         17  are totally new and unproven.  New York City should

         18  not be the testing ground for a new code.

         19                 Probably because it is so new, it is

         20  poorly coordinated, meaning the various sections

         21  don't work well together. The few cities which have

         22  tried to adopt it have generally given up due to the

         23  wall of resistance they faced from designers and

         24  builders because it is so badly written and not well

         25  coordinated.
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          2                 The NFPA adoption process consists of

          3  voting by paid up members.  This means that any

          4  special interest, any product manufacturer, can pack

          5  the membership and vote their interest on a

          6  particular section.  This is not the way to adopt a

          7  building code. A small standards group can

          8  theoretically overturn the vote, but that is a far

          9  cry from the ICC consensus model.

         10                 In contrast, the Department of

         11  Buildings under Commissioner Lancaster's leadership

         12  has assembled architects, engineers, contractors and

         13  developers to review the IBC and the New York City

         14  Building Code by a consensus method.  The City

         15  Council will review and act on anything that is

         16  developed by the group.  We support this process and

         17  urge the Council to allow it to continue by

         18  supporting the adoption of the IBC.

         19                 New York City needs to update its

         20  building code. Many sections of it are completely

         21  out of date; new technologies and construction

         22  methods aren't recognized.

         23                 The International Codes Council, the

         24  body that oversees the IBC provides a number of

         25  valuable services to localities which adopt the IBC,

                                                            407

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  which will prove essential to New York City.  The

          3  product and materials evaluation service is

          4  particularly important to the industry as it

          5  provides evaluations of various new building

          6  products.  New York City's antiquated process for

          7  approving materials and equipment contributes to our

          8  excessive construction costs and limits the use of

          9  new technology here.

         10                 REBNY is participating on the

         11  Managing Committee and monitoring the work of the

         12  thirteen technical review committees. None of us are

         13  quite sure at this juncture what will be in the code

         14  and the amendments that begin to be brought to you

         15  in March.  We look forward to a code which upholds

         16  New York City's high safety standards and at the

         17  same time is practical, easy to use and encourages

         18  construction and economic development in our City.

         19

         20  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         21  MICHELLE ADAMS

         22  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

         23  ASSOCIATION FOR A BETTER NEW YORK

         24

         25                 Good afternoon.  Thank you for giving
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          2  me the opportunity to speak about the proposed

          3  legislation to revise the City's building codes.

          4                 I am the Executive Director of the

          5  Association for A Better New York, more commonly

          6  referred to as ABNY.  ABNY is comprised of over 350

          7  member organizations that represent all of the

          8  City's sectors including: Business, Non- profit,

          9  Education, Labor, Real Estate, Health, Tourism and

         10  Hospitality and Sports and Entertainment.

         11                 New York City has a complicated

         12  building code to navigate.  The current code is

         13  daunting and thus many builders are reluctant to

         14  work in New York City where they are bogged down by

         15  bureaucracy.  One study described the current

         16  building code as quote "voluminous, detailed,

         17  complex, idiosyncratic, redundant and arcane."

         18                 By adopting the International

         19  Building Code, New York City has an opportunity to

         20  cut through the red tape and begin anew with a

         21  proactive set of codes.  We will not only make it

         22  easier for our local builders, but we will also

         23  encourage new builders to enter into our market.

         24                 Today, I am speaking on behalf of

         25  ABNY's membership to support enactment of the
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          2  International Building Code.  The piece of the IBC

          3  that we are discussing at this hearing is crucial

          4  for the first step in untangling the labyrinth of

          5  what we now call New York City's building code.

          6                 The IBC is logically formatted,

          7  comprehensive and subject to regular review and

          8  updates and it simplifies the process for building

          9  commercial and residential properties, including

         10  affordable housing.  It is the most widely used set

         11  of codes across the country and has provisions for

         12  homeland security and fire safety.  Additionally,

         13  the codes are used in projects for the Department of

         14  Defense, Department of State, Department of

         15  Commerce, Department of Veterans' Affairs, GSA and

         16  HUD to name a few.

         17                 The IBC has been tested and proven to

         18  work.  Our country has the highest standards of

         19  building safety in the world and this is due

         20  primarily because so many cities and federal

         21  government agencies use the IBC.

         22                 New York City cannot afford to

         23  continue to be bound by our complicated codes.  We

         24  are the world's second home.  In order for New York

         25  to remain a competitive international leader, we
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          2  must adopt the IBC- today.  Thank you.

          3

          4  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          5  ROBERTA M. MC GOWAN, CAE

          6  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

          7  BUILDING OWNERS AND MANAGERS ASSOCIATION

          8  OF GREATER NEW YORK, INC.

          9

         10                 Good afternoon.  My name is Roberta

         11  M. McGowan, CAE and I am Executive Director of the

         12  Building Owners and Managers Association of Greater

         13  New York (BOMA/NY).  Founded in 1967, BOMA/NY

         14  membership represents over 400 million square feet

         15  of real estate, more than 3 million office occupants

         16  and our members are responsible for over $1.5

         17  billion in annual tax revenue.

         18                 BOMA/NY is federated with BOMA

         19  International, which was founded in 1907 and

         20  comprised of 108 local associations with over 19,000

         21  members who own or manage more than 9 billion square

         22  feet of commercial properties.

         23                 On behalf of the members of our

         24  organization, I would like to urge the members of

         25  the City Council to oppose Intro. No. 368 and the
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          2  NFPA 5000 Building Construction and Safety Code and

          3  support Intro. No. 478 and the International

          4  Building Code process.

          5                 Some points to consider when making

          6  your decision are:  The IBC and Intro. No. 478 is

          7  easy to amend for local conditions.  The IBC

          8  preserves the technical content and existing safety

          9  standards such as the Carbon Monoxide Bill

         10  (LL7/2004) and the World Trade Center Bill

         11  (LL26/2004).  It is used in New York State as the

         12  basis of the Fire Prevention and Construction Code,

         13  which governs all construction in the state except

         14  New York City. It conforms to the existing New York

         15  State Energy Conservation Code.  Another final

         16  compelling reason is the regular review process to

         17  amend the code.  It is reviewed every three years,

         18  enabling the code to keep current with changing

         19  industry practices.

         20                 In summary, BOMA/NY feels it is time

         21  to update the antiquated existing building code and

         22  incorporate all the necessary public health and

         23  safety requirements for the rebuilding New York City

         24  will most definitely be facing in the future.

         25
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          2  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          3  PEG BREEN

          4  PRESIDENT

          5  THE NEW YORK LANDMARKS CONSERVANCY

          6

          7                 I am Peg Breen, President of the New

          8  York Landmarks Conservancy, a private not- for-

          9  profit organization with over thirty years

         10  experience in the preservation and conversation of

         11  New York City's historic buildings.

         12                 We applaud the Department of

         13  buildings' goal of producing a new rational and

         14  understandable building code.  We are in support of

         15  Int. No. 478, assuming that modifications suitable

         16  for older and historic buildings are adopted before

         17  final passage. The I- codes have been adopted at the

         18  state or local level in 48 states including New York

         19  State.  In each case applying this modern building

         20  code to older and historic buildings has been

         21  problematic. So this makes it imperative that

         22  problems that have been encountered elsewhere and

         23  that we see as potentially affecting us, are ironed

         24  out before the code is finalized and adopted.

         25                 Keep in mind that the vast majority
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          2  of building department permits issued in New York

          3  City is not for brand new construction, but rather

          4  for alterations and improvements to existing

          5  buildings, many of which are historic.  To the

          6  Department of buildings' credit, it has been able to

          7  mold provisions in the existing code in order to

          8  make them adaptable to older structures without

          9  sacrificing their safety and integrity.  While the

         10  current code may be confusing, it does allow for

         11  negotiations and practical solutions to be worked

         12  out for projects involving historic buildings.

         13                 Although we appreciate that the new

         14  code has a specific section governing alterations to

         15  historic buildings we want to make sure that this

         16  section is at least as realistic and practical as

         17  the current code.  At the moment we do not believe

         18  that it is.

         19                 Flexibility is the key.  No advantage

         20  will be achieved if small- scale older buildings,

         21  built a century or more ago, are made to conform to

         22  the same standards as brand- new high rises.  For

         23  example, wooden floors will never be as fireproof as

         24  concrete ones.  Older buildings, unless they are

         25  being totally renovated, could not be expected to
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          2  meet modern seismic codes. Older walk- up mixed- use

          3  buildings that form the backbone of many

          4  neighborhoods cannot in most cases absorb a second

          5  internal means of egress nor full compliance with

          6  seismic and handicap accessibility ideals.

          7                 Therefore, we urge you to make

          8  certain that the new codes offer an excellent level

          9  of flexibility and practicality, that they provide a

         10  host of alternatives to the architect or engineer

         11  involved in recycling and restoring an older

         12  building for extended service.  This is

         13  fundamentally important to public safety and to the

         14  continued economic viability of the City.

         15                 I urge you to await the Existing

         16  Buildings' recommendations before finally adopting

         17  what we all hope will be an improved and

         18  understandable building code.  Thank you.

         19

         20  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         21  EDWARD J. MALLOY

         22  PRESIDENT

         23  BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL

         24  OF GREATER NEW YORK

         25
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          2                 Good morning Chairwoman Provenzano

          3  and Members of the Committee.  My name is Edward J.

          4  Malloy.  I serve as president of the Building and

          5  Construction Trades Council of Greater New York, an

          6  organization consisting of more than 50 local unions

          7  and district councils which represent more than

          8  100,000 working men and women in the five boroughs

          9  of New York City.  We are pleased to testify in

         10  support of Intro. 478 and the adoption of the

         11  International Building Code.

         12                 The purpose of the building code in

         13  any great city, much less any small hamlet, is to

         14  protect the safety of workers and the public while

         15  we at the same time encouraging responsible economic

         16  development.  Our currently voluminous building code

         17  is so outdated and complex that it is often poorly

         18  understood and incapable of being properly enforced.

         19    Although the current building code can and does

         20  produce sound structures, unfortunate challenges of

         21  the era in which we live require a building code

         22  that creates structures that are not only sound, but

         23  also conducive to emergency responses.

         24                 Few in our industry believe the

         25  current building code is the tool it should be to
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          2  promote work place safety during construction.

          3  Nearly everyone in our industry believes the current

          4  building code inhibits economic activity.

          5                 New York City's current building code

          6  has become a drag on economic growth in a highly

          7  competitive industry that cannot afford to be

          8  burdened by unnecessary cost increases.  With the

          9  decline of our manufacturing base, the building and

         10  construction industry is one of the few remaining

         11  areas of our City's economy where tens of thousands

         12  of blue collar families can earn a middle class

         13  living with the benefits of health insurance and

         14  pensions.

         15                 According to the U.S. Census Bureau

         16  in 2000, 76 percent of the building and construction

         17  work force in New York City also lives here.

         18  Employment in our industry has ranged over the past

         19  several years from approximately 110,000- 120,000

         20  jobs according to the New York State Department of

         21  Labor.  We need a modern building code to assure

         22  that this strong record of growth is maintained and

         23  enhanced, particularly in light of the ambitious

         24  building and rebuilding efforts slated for the

         25  coming years.
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          2                 The IBC is the most comprehensive

          3  building code in use today.  It has been developed

          4  over sixty- five years and is used in nearly all of

          5  the United States with good results.  There is no

          6  reason to believe it will not be a success in New

          7  York City.  In fact, there is every reason to

          8  believe it will improve our current situation, which

          9  is functionally unworkable and inconsistent with

         10  modern technologies.  It will furthermore allow us

         11  to be more responsive to the safety challenges of

         12  densely populated urban centers.

         13                 The Mayoral Advisory Commission and

         14  Model Code Program have worked over the past two

         15  years with broad participation from all sectors of

         16  the industry to adopt and adapt the IBC for New York

         17  City.  Other building codes, including the current

         18  building code, provide no such structured and

         19  regular process for thoughtful input.  The fact that

         20  New York City's current building code has not been

         21  significantly updated since 1968 is evidence of the

         22  need for change.  The IBC represents the best

         23  opportunity for New York City to create a building

         24  code that meets our critical safety requirements

         25  without further distancing us from other locales in

                                                            418

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  terms of prohibitive costs.

          3                 Madam Chairwoman and Members of the

          4  Committee, as an organization committed to

          5  representing both the safety and economic concerns

          6  of working men and women in the building and

          7  construction industry, we are completely comfortable

          8  that the IBC will improve our efforts on both

          9  fronts.  We therefore urge its passage.  Thank you

         10  for your consideration.

         11

         12  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         13  ROBERT TROELLER

         14  PRESIDENT, LOCAL 891

         15  SCHOOL CUSTODIAN ENGINEERS

         16

         17                 Good afternoon and thank you for

         18  allowing me to speak before you today.  I am here in

         19  representation of the more than 870 members of the

         20  Operating Engineers, Local 891, School Custodian

         21  Engineers.  Local 891 supports Intro. 368 and the

         22  adoption of the NFPA Building Code for New York

         23  City.

         24                 As an individual who is both a

         25  licensed stationary engineer and refrigeration
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          2  engineer, I fully understand and appreciate the need

          3  for a building code which is both efficient and

          4  provides the highest level of safety for our City.

          5  Yes, the current code is vast and complex, but so is

          6  our City.

          7                 In your worthy effort to streamline

          8  and modernize the current code, I urge the Council

          9  not to throw the baby out with the bathwater.  Any

         10  revisions to the code must place the safety of our

         11  citizens above all else, especially in today's

         12  unpredictable and potential dangerous world.

         13                 One vital component to ensuring the

         14  safety of the public is to maintain the proper

         15  qualifications for the men and women who are

         16  entrusted with the operation of potentially

         17  dangerous stationary power equipment such as

         18  boilers, generators and refrigeration machines.

         19                 I am proud to say that the men and

         20  women of our organization have been taking care of

         21  New York City school buildings, along with the

         22  children and adults that occupy those buildings for

         23  over 100 years, incredibly almost without any major

         24  industrial type accident.  We are dedicated to the

         25  fact that all children deserve a safe environment in
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          2  which to learn.

          3                 We know just how important safety

          4  codes are to the well being of the people of this

          5  City because we use these codes every day.  That is

          6  why we support NFPA's Building Code.  This code

          7  provides for proper input and modification to

          8  reflect the needs of our citizens.

          9                 In the event of an emergency, NFPA's

         10  Building Code provides the greatest protection for

         11  first responders and building occupants.  For

         12  example, NFPA 5000 offers stricter requirements for

         13  key structural elements in high- rise buildings than

         14  the International Building Code.

         15                 By requiring more protection for

         16  those elements, NFPA's code allows first responders

         17  to safely do their job and better protects building

         18  occupants.

         19                 These are only a few reasons why the

         20  NFPA Building code offers a higher level of safety

         21  than any other building code. We believe that people

         22  who live, work and learn in New York City deserve to

         23  have a code that is the safest available.

         24                 I urge the City Council to support

         25  Intro. 368 to adopt NFPA 5000 as the basis for New

                                                            421

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  York City's building code. Thank you for your time.

          3

          4  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          5  NICHOLAS LAPORTE

          6  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

          7  ASSOCIATED BUILDERS AND OWNERS

          8  OF GREATER NEW YORK

          9

         10                 Good morning, Madam Chair and members

         11  of the Housing and Buildings Committee.  My name is

         12  Nicholas La Porte and I am the Executive Director of

         13  the Associated Builders and Owners of Great New

         14  York, (ABO), a real estate trade association

         15  representing over 1,000 builders, owners and

         16  developers.  I am here today to add our voice to the

         17  debate on building code refinements for the City of

         18  New York.

         19                 Organizationally, ABO has been at the

         20  forefront of changes to the building code as it has

         21  evolved over the years.  And for as many years we

         22  have faced cumbersome rules and regulations that

         23  have made building in this City more difficult and

         24  expensive. Of the two proposals before us today, ABO

         25  can only favor the concepts put forward by the
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          2  International Code Council, Intro. 478. Note that we

          3  conceptually support these proposals because there

          4  is not enough detail, at this time, to fully embrace

          5  and support the changes.  Intro. 368 on the other

          6  hand offer nothing in the way of promising the code

          7  concepts that balances affordability and safe

          8  construction.

          9                 ABO supports the concept of a

         10  coordinated set of national model building codes

         11  that are developed for the consideration of state

         12  and local jurisdictions and that provide for (1)

         13  Responsible code development procedures as reflected

         14  by the ICC. (2) A simple, user friendly and stand

         15  alone residential building code that includes

         16  housing affordability as a major determinant in its

         17  development. (3) Participation by users in its

         18  development ensuring realistic code requirements are

         19  adopted and flexibility where needed. (4) Ensure

         20  that the affordability and public health and safety

         21  are maintained by this participation.

         22                 As noted earlier, ABO cannot support

         23  the NFPA model for several reasons. (1) The drafters

         24  of this code did not seek significant participation

         25  by the primary users.  Instead, it limited builder
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          2  representation and relied on the input of special

          3  interests such as the insurance industry, plumbers

          4  and engineers, to name a few. (2) They gave NFPA

          5  staff unprecedented liberties in making "editorial"

          6  and "organizational" changes to the draft code,

          7  resulting in significant technical changes. (3) The

          8  NFPA 5000 fails to meet need for simple, user

          9  friendly and stand alone residential building code.

         10  (4) It adopts the provisions of many industry

         11  standards by reference. (5) It contains few

         12  prescriptive standards or tables applicable to

         13  residential construction. (6) Will likely require

         14  engineered designed for most one and two family

         15  dwellings. (7) It can be based on engineering design

         16  instead of conventional construction practices for

         17  one and two family dwellings. (8) NPFA 5000 has not

         18  been endorsed by HUD as complying with Fair Housing

         19  accessibility requirements and therefore will not

         20  provide "safe harbor" for multifamily builders.

         21                 In conclusion, ABO will support the

         22  code that identifies builder concerns on key issues

         23  and a set of recommended amendments. Right now the

         24  code that is moving in that direction is the code

         25  that is based on the national model developed by the
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          2  International Codes Council.  However, this will

          3  only occur if the Administration continues its work

          4  with the industry to ensure a fair and balanced

          5  approach.

          6

          7  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          8  ANDREW J. CIANCIA

          9  PRESIDENT

         10  AMERICAN COUNCIL OF ENGINEERING COMPANIES

         11  OF NEW YORK

         12

         13                 Chair Provenzano, Members of the

         14  Council, my name is Andrew J. Ciancia.  I am

         15  president of the American Council of Engineering

         16  Companies of New York, the oldest continuing

         17  organization of professional consulting engineering

         18  firms in the U.S.  The Council represents over 230

         19  firms throughout New York State with the largest

         20  concentration of firms located in the five boroughs

         21  of New York City.

         22                 ACEC New York's objectives are to

         23  initiate and promote specific legislation that

         24  addresses issues of concern to the business of

         25  engineering, to educate members to be more
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          2  politically aware and active, to promote cooperative

          3  relationships, to maintain ongoing dialogue with

          4  government agencies and to work with related

          5  professional and construction organizations to

          6  promote common agendas and key issues.

          7                 ACEC New York also encourages public

          8  agencies to use consulting engineers for their

          9  specialized knowledge and ability to complete

         10  projects on time and within budget.  We also promote

         11  public sector investment in infrastructure necessary

         12  for public safety and economic development.

         13                 In other words, we are the voice of

         14  the engineers responsible for the integrity of the

         15  roofs over your heads, the heating, ventilation and

         16  lighting of the offices where you work, the

         17  efficiency of the subways you ride and the quality

         18  of water that you drink.

         19                 I myself, a licensed Professional

         20  Engineer practicing for over 35  years, have

         21  diversified experience in geotechnical engineering

         22  projects involving the investigation,

         23  instrumentation, design, and construction of

         24  building projects, utilities, highways, dams, parks,

         25  marine structures and subway tunnels.
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          2                 Some of the projects on which I have

          3  played a role include The Hearst Corporation

          4  Headquarters on 57th Street, Hudson River Park, the

          5  newly opened Museum of Modern Art, the rebuilding of

          6  7 World Trade Center and the United States Holocaust

          7  Memorial Museum in Washington, DC.  I have also done

          8  extensive consulting on historic structures in New

          9  York City for the Landmarks Preservation Commission

         10  and the State of New York.

         11                 ACEC strongly urges you to support

         12  Intro. 478 and to approve this very important

         13  proposed legislation as soon as possible.

         14                 There are three reasons why ACEC

         15  supports the International Building Code; it's the

         16  right solution for New York City; it's

         17  comprehensive; it's cost effective.

         18                 The New York City Building Code is

         19  widely recognized as one of the most stringent codes

         20  in the country.  Despite this, the Building Code is

         21  convoluted, lacks clarity and technically outdated

         22  resulting in the need for various types of costly

         23  reviews and expensive delays.  As a result of broad

         24  industry outcry to update the City's Building Code,

         25  and following the success of the recent Electrical
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          2  Code adoption effort, the Mayor established a Code

          3  Commission for the purpose of determining the

          4  feasibility of adopting a model building code for

          5  New York City.

          6                 In spring of 2003, the Mayor accepted

          7  the Commission's recommendation calling for a

          8  consensus- based Building Code development process

          9  that emulated the successful Electrical Code

         10  development process; ACEC embraced that process.

         11  Several dozen of our members, including myself,

         12  devoted countless hours to discussing and debating,

         13  as professionals, what was best for New York and as

         14  a result, rewrote the Building Code to be in- line

         15  with the IBC.  We agreed that the IBC is the best

         16  approach.

         17                 The I- Codes are tested and proven

         18  codes.  Design professionals, general contractors,

         19  trade contractors and regulators across the United

         20  States are already familiar with the organization

         21  and format of the I- Codes.

         22                 Building safety depends on more than

         23  codes and standards.  Building safety results from

         24  providing trained professionals with resources and

         25  ongoing support necessary to stay current with the
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          2  latest advancements in the building safety field.

          3  The widespread use of the IBC makes this possible.

          4                 The process for developing the I-

          5  Codes is based on a system that allows interested

          6  and affected parties to participate.  The consensus

          7  process, which produced the I- Codes and Intro. 478,

          8  is based on a commitment to a balanced and inclusive

          9  code development process.

         10                 The IBC meets or exceeds Fair Housing

         11  Accessibility Guidelines and helps ensure that new

         12  apartments and condominiums will be accessible to

         13  people with disabilities.

         14                 In early 2003, the Code Commission

         15  rejected using the NFPA 5000 as New York City's

         16  Building Code and chose the IBC with modifications

         17  to become the basis of the City's new building code.

         18    In all areas examined, including

         19  comprehensiveness, ease of understanding,

         20  organization, availability to users, code

         21  development process and comparison to the current

         22  New York City Building Code, the Mayoral Commission

         23  rated the IBC as superior or far superior to the

         24  NFPA 5000.  The NFPA 5000 lacks complete provisions

         25  for one and two- family dwellings and relies on
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          2  ICC's International Residential Code (IRC), which is

          3  referenced in the NFPA 5000 code.

          4                 The majority of fires occur in

          5  residential properties.  The International Building

          6  Code requires all residential properties (other than

          7  one and two- family dwellings) to be equipped with

          8  automatic sprinkler systems.  No such requirement

          9  exists in the NFPA 5000.  Why should the City of New

         10  York retreat on this front? We urge you NOT to adopt

         11  Intro. 368.

         12                 Standards and technology constantly

         13  evolve and it is critical that the City Council

         14  remain the public arbiter of this process.

         15  Therefore, Intro. 478 provides that beginning in

         16  September 2007, and every three years thereafter,

         17  coinciding with the periodic I- Code updates, the

         18  Buildings Commissioner will review the new building

         19  code.  Based on the review, the Commissioner will

         20  present his or her recommendations, based on

         21  relevant Model Code Program Committee

         22  recommendations, for updated it to the Council in

         23  the form of a proposed local law for review and

         24  action.

         25                 Having a large pool of professionals
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          2  who are familiar with the Code means more

          3  competition and lower prices.  I don't have to tell

          4  you that New York City construction costs are the

          5  highest in the country, in no small part to the

          6  complexity of the Building Code and the relatively

          7  few professionals who can navigate it.

          8                 Adoption will also send a message to

          9  the real estate community, as did the adoption of

         10  the new Electrical Code, that New York is serious

         11  about streamlining the building of badly needed

         12  commercial and residential buildings, not to mention

         13  public works.

         14                 On behalf of 30,000 consulting

         15  engineers, ACEC urges you to approve the

         16  International Building Code, Intro. 478.  It's a

         17  better code.  It's the right code for New York.

         18  Thank you.

         19

         20  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         21  STANLEY DAWE

         22  CHAIRPERSON

         23  FIRE PROTECTION TECHNICAL COMMITTEE

         24  DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS MODEL CODE PROGRAM

         25

                                                            431

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 Good afternoon Council Members and

          3  thank you for this opportunity to speak before you.

          4  I am Stanley Dawe, Chairperson of the Fire

          5  Protection Technical Committee of the Department of

          6  Buildings Model Code Program.

          7                 I retired from the New York City Fire

          8  Department this past January after thirty years of

          9  service.  My final assignment with the Fire

         10  Department was as Chief of the Bureau of Fire

         11  Prevention, which is how I came to be involved in

         12  the Model Code Program.

         13                 I have voluntarily continued in my

         14  duties as Chair of the Fire Protection Technical

         15  Committee during my retirement for two reasons.  The

         16  first reason is the diligence and expertise that I

         17  have observed exhibited by all persons involved in

         18  the program, especially those working on the Fire

         19  Protection Technical Committee.

         20                 Individuals from every discipline

         21  associated with the construction and real estate

         22  industries, along with people intimately

         23  knowledgeable and experienced in the fields of fire

         24  protection engineering, fire safety and fire

         25  fighting have joined together to form a cadre
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          2  dedicate to developing a building code for New York

          3  City that will ensure that the people who work and

          4  live in buildings constructed in the future will be

          5  safer than they are in today's buildings.

          6                 The second reason I have continued to

          7  work on the Model Code Program voluntarily is that I

          8  am convinced that the code we are developing will,

          9  in addition to ensuring a safer environment for the

         10  citizens of New York City, also reduce firefighter

         11  injuries and fatalities.

         12                 Please note that I place so much

         13  confidence in the efficacy of the code that will be

         14  produced by the Model Code Program because of the

         15  program's recognition of the uniqueness of life and

         16  work in New York City.  The members of the various

         17  committees are not simply adopting the existing

         18  provisions of a model code, but rather they are

         19  examining the provisions of a model code, and where

         20  necessary modifying those provisions to meet the

         21  unique situations presented by the singular

         22  environment of New York City.

         23                 I must also point out that under the

         24  Model Code Program, the code will be subjected to

         25  periodic examination and amendment to ensure that
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          2  the code remains up- to- date, reflecting the

          3  changes in technology and lifestyle that so greatly

          4  influence where and how people live and work.

          5                 Thank you again for this opportunity

          6  to speak to you today.

          7

          8  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          9  ZYGMUNT STASZEWSKI, P.E.

         10  PRESIDENT

         11  NEW YORK FIRE ALARM ASSOCIATION

         12

         13                 I speak on behalf of the New York

         14  Fire Alarm Association, an association whose

         15  membership is comprised of consulting engineers,

         16  manufacturers and distributors of fire alarm

         17  systems, including central station reporting

         18  companies.

         19                 The membership by its very nature is

         20  intimately involved with all facets of the

         21  regulatory and code making process having members

         22  who serve on both National Fire Protection

         23  Association (NFPA) and International Building Code

         24  (IBC) committees.

         25                 Our members serve on the numerous
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          2  technical committees established by the New York

          3  City Building and the New York City Fire Department

          4  for the development of a new New York City Building

          5  Code, particularly in the area of fire alarm and

          6  fire suppression and related life safety issues such

          7  as smoke control. They have assisted in the

          8  formulation of revised reference standards designed

          9  to strengthen the body of the code.

         10                 Many members have had an involvement

         11  for at least a dozen years and have literally

         12  spearheaded the effort to have the current 1968 code

         13  modernized and to provide a expeditious mechanism

         14  for the introduction of new technologies which can

         15  provide both greater life safety while at the same

         16  time reducing cost.

         17                 A prime example of this was the

         18  establishment of a UL specification for New York

         19  City certified fire alarm wire, which does not

         20  require expensive galvanized piping.  Toward this

         21  end the New York Fire Alarm Association supports the

         22  effort of the Council to adopt a new code for the

         23  City of New York.

         24                 It is our belief that while both NFPA

         25  5000 and IBC have numerous similarities, we support
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          2  the continuing effort to adopt a New York City

          3  version of the IBC not only because a years effort

          4  has already been expended, but also adoption of the

          5  IBC will provide the most compatibility with the New

          6  York State Code and most building codes adopted

          7  nationwide.

          8                 We are hopeful that legislation now

          9  being considered will provide the technical

         10  community with a clear and decisive mandate so that

         11  it can properly fulfil its mission and keep New York

         12  City at the forefront of providing the safest

         13  buildings in the world.

         14

         15  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         16  SANDRA JARMUTH

         17

         18                 I want to know why the firefitters

         19  (sic.) And the plumbers union did not sit with the

         20  standing committees when they were invited.

         21                 I want to know why the National level

         22  of the plumbers union have to pressure the local

         23  plumbers union to oppose this code.

         24                 I want to know why we should not go

         25  with a code which 50 states are happy with.  If they
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          2  were not happy they would have now gone with the

          3  NFPA.

          4                 The IBC is a proven code adapted to

          5  local conditions including NFPA standards, which has

          6  been done and improvable will insure immediate

          7  safety.  If only two small communities went with

          8  NFPA, that says something.

          9                 Affordable housing.  If the new code

         10  is easily understandable, is in only one book (IBC),

         11  not in 365 books (NFPA), which must be cross

         12  referenced and infinitum for each item of the

         13  building process that immediately affects costs.  It

         14  immediately affects safety.  If the NFPA process is

         15  adopted, its unwieldiness (365 books) will encourage

         16  using short cuts, not meeting standards and not

         17  being affordable to the members of the construction

         18  community.

         19                 If there is a slimming of and a

         20  standardization of materials needed, it will allow

         21  less stocking of variations of materials, shipping

         22  from all areas of the country, et cetera.

         23                 Many of the cross referenced

         24  standards in the NFPA do not yet exist.  The

         25  slimming of the code and the making of it easy to
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          2  comprehend.  If you must buy NFPA's library of code

          3  books that does not promote understandability.

          4                 As a citizen, I want my children to

          5  be able to afford a house or an apartment in the

          6  outer boroughs.  Today to afford such housing they

          7  have had to go as far away as Pennsylvania.

          8                 Again, the fact that even New York

          9  State and the rest of the states have gone with the

         10  IBC says a mouthful.  It has proven itself.

         11                 Let the people who say they were left

         12  out of the process join the process.  It is not yet

         13  written in stone.

         14

         15  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         16  ROBERT V. BENAZZI

         17  CHAIRMAN

         18  PLUMBING CODE TECHNICAL COMMITTEE

         19

         20                 Good afternoon.  My name is Robert V.

         21  Benazzi.  I am a partner in the consulting

         22  engineering firm of Jaros, Baum & Bolles and

         23  represent the American Consulting Engineers Council,

         24  New York Chapter and am the chairman of the Plumbing

         25  Code Technical Committee.
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          2                 With me are Kenneth Klein, P.E., Vice

          3  President of the Syska Hennessy Group, representing

          4  the American Society of Sanitary Engineering (ASSE)

          5  New York City Chapter, Mr. Richard Stamm of Parsons,

          6  representing the American Society of Plumbing

          7  Engineers (ASPE), New York Chapter and Mr. John

          8  McMullen, Vice President of Gotham Construction and

          9  representing The Real Estate Board of New York

         10  (REBNY).  These gentlemen and nine other

         11  representatives of equal stature in the construction

         12  industry form the Plumbing Technical Committee

         13  working on the adoption of the International

         14  Plumbing Code (IPC) for the City of New York.

         15                 This Code is one of the "I" codes

         16  which are a part of the International Building Code

         17  (IBC), which is the basis of Intro. 478.

         18                 We have met in the course of the last

         19  18 months, a total of 15 times with each meeting

         20  lasting an average of three hours each.  The purpose

         21  of these meetings was to review the individual

         22  chapters of the IPC to ascertain how this Code could

         23  be modified and adapted to the unique conditions

         24  existing in New York City so that, if adopted as

         25  part of the overall IBC adoption, the Code could be
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          2  embraced by all constituents of the building

          3  industry.

          4                 In addition, the committee has had

          5  three sub committees analyzing three special areas

          6  of the IPC, roof drainage, venting and materials.

          7  These subcommittees consisted of an additional 15

          8  people, all considered experts in the field of

          9  plumbing design.  These subcommittees met a minimum

         10  of five times, each meeting again for a minimum of

         11  three hours.

         12                 Thus in subtotal our committee and

         13  subcommittees have invested approximately 535 man-

         14  hours in meeting time alone, or using an average

         15  billing value of $200/hour, have donated in excess

         16  of $105 thousand to the City of New York in the Code

         17  update effort. And we are only one of 13 committees

         18  meeting on a monthly basis.  In addition to meeting,

         19  discussing and debating the various chapters of the

         20  IPC, our committee members have also worked in

         21  conjunction with the Mechanical Technical Committee

         22  to review the International Fuel Gas Code (IFGC).

         23                 We are here today representing the

         24  other members of our committee, some of whom are

         25  also in the audience, to offer testimony in support
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          2  of Intro. 478 versus Intro. 368.  As you know,

          3  Intro. 478 is a Blueprint Bill outlining a time

          4  frame for the adoption and periodic updating of a

          5  new Building Code based on the IBC 2003 and the

          6  related I- Codes (the IPC being one of the I Codes).

          7                 It is interesting to me that we are

          8  here today to discuss the legislative procedure

          9  rather than the technical merit of the Codes forming

         10  the basis of each intro.  You see, as engineers, we

         11  do not believe that one code is technically better

         12  than the other.

         13                 We do not believe if either Code were

         14  to be used as the basis for the new New York City

         15  Building code, buildings would fail and that the

         16  citizens of New York City, the City in which we all

         17  work and the greatest City in the world, would not

         18  be properly served.

         19                 We are here to debate and criticize

         20  the manner in which Intro. 368 would introduce a new

         21  building Code for the City and to support Intro. 478

         22  and the methodology this bill espouses for changing

         23  the New York City Building Code.

         24                 As you know the current New York City

         25  Building Code was adopted in 1968.  When first
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          2  adopted, the Code was fair and easy to use.

          3  However, over the intervening 36 years, the Code has

          4  been amended, utilizing various local laws to try to

          5  keep the Code up to date with changing technology

          6  and the needs of today's modern buildings.  These

          7  updates and piecemealing of the Code have caused the

          8  current Code to become dated, unwieldy, difficult to

          9  use and subject to interpretations and decisions

         10  which at times seem to be arbitrary and not

         11  necessarily correct.

         12                 It has put the building industry in

         13  this City in a position that we can no longer

         14  compete with other "big" cities or even some of our

         15  smaller neighboring cities that have adopted modern

         16  building codes that have provided architects,

         17  engineers and builders the opportunity to construct

         18  new buildings utilizing new technologies, materials

         19  and equipment that allow these buildings to be far

         20  more economical and timely to construct than those

         21  which we can build in this City.

         22                 One only has to look across the

         23  Hudson to see the new and modern skyline that has

         24  risen, taking workers, industry and taxpayers from

         25  our City.  It is interesting to note that the States
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          2  of New Jersey and Connecticut have adopted the

          3  International Building code.  It is especially

          4  interesting to note that the State of New York also

          5  has adopted the International Building Code and the

          6  various I- Codes for the State Code.  But, again, we

          7  are not here to discuss the merits of the Code but

          8  the process.

          9                 Intro. 478 had its beginnings when

         10  the Mayor of the City of New York, Michael R.

         11  Bloomberg, created an Advisory Commission by

         12  Executive Order.  The Commission made up of

         13  recognized industry experts and leaders, was given

         14  four months to complete its task and consider model

         15  codes from two of the most well- known national

         16  code- making organizations in the country: The

         17  International Code Council (ICC) and National Fire

         18  Protection Association (NFPA).  The ICC's

         19   "International Building Code 2000 (IBC 2000)" and

         20  the NFPA's "National Fire Protection Association

         21  5000" were both extensively examined, not for

         22  content, but for format and ease of adaptability to

         23  the NYC Building Code.  The premise for the adoption

         24  of either code being that the intent and high

         25  standards of the existing Code should be preserved
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          2  either by integrating language change or referencing

          3  amendments.

          4                 In order to facilitate its review of

          5  the model codes, the Commission utilized assessment

          6  forms with specific criteria to measure and analyze

          7  each model code's strengths and weaknesses.

          8  Extensive resource materials were made available to

          9  each Commission member including presentations from

         10  the specific criteria the Commission was to

         11  consider.

         12                 In addition, a public forum was held

         13  to receive and make available, comments to the

         14  commission from the various stakeholders as well as

         15  the public at large.

         16                 After careful consideration of all of

         17  the above, the Commission determined that the

         18  adoption of the International Building Code (IBC

         19  2000), either by integrating language or amendment,

         20  should be recommended.  Further, it was decided that

         21  the same procedure, successfully implemented and

         22  utilized in the adoption of the New York City

         23  Electrical Code, also be followed. In this procedure

         24  integrating language or amendments were developed

         25  through the use of consensus building committees
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          2  under the guidance of the Department of Buildings.

          3                 Thus, the formation of the present 13

          4  Technical Code Committees formed under the auspices

          5  of a Managing Committee, comprised of the Chairs,

          6  along with government and industry representatives,

          7  which reports to the Building Department

          8  Commissioner.  The Technical Committees are

          9  comprised of technical experts from the building

         10  department, industry, labor, real estate, government

         11  and building professions.  These Technical

         12  Committees review assigned portions of the NYCBC and

         13  the IBC 2003 to develop proposals for legislation

         14  which will modify the IBC to reflect the unique

         15  conditions found in the City of New York.  The work

         16  of these committees to date forms the basis of

         17  Intro. 478.

         18                 As an example of the types of

         19  organizations represented in these committees, we

         20  can look at my committee, the Plumbing Technical

         21  Committee.  In addition to the members here with me

         22  today, our committee is comprised of representatives

         23  from industry representing the Plumbing Foundation

         24  and the Master Plumbers Council, representatives of

         25  the Building Department, representatives from the
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          2  Master Plumbers and Fire Suppression Licensing

          3  Board, representatives from the Plumbers Union Local

          4  One and the United Association as well as the

          5  Steamfitters Local No. 638 (although interestingly

          6  their representatives attended a minimum of meetings

          7  and contributed little), representatives from the

          8  Building Owners and Managers Association (BOMA),

          9  representatives from the Department of Design and

         10  Construction (DDC) and a representative from the New

         11  York City Fire Department.

         12                 This broad committee membership from

         13  all areas of the building industry is typical of the

         14  type of inclusivity which the Building Department

         15  Commissioner tried to bring to the table for this

         16  very important function.  It is a process which

         17  seeks to hear from all constituents so that all

         18  areas of the building community will have a voice in

         19  the proceedings.  It is a process which, if this

         20  blueprint bill and its future bill are passed, will

         21  allow for the adoption of a new and cohesive

         22  Building Code and, of equal importance, the orderly

         23  update of the Code on a three- year basis, utilizing

         24  input from the same committees and format.

         25            In short, this is a bill whose time has
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          2  come.  You have testimony from me and prior to me

          3  and after me, experts in the building field who feel

          4  that the current Code must be changed and who have

          5  worked diligently over the course of the last 18

          6  months and who if asked will continue to work or

          7  will find others to work on the continuing Technical

          8  Committees.  We ask that you support Intro. 478 so

          9  that our work and the work of the some 400 other

         10  professionals who have worked so tirelessly on this

         11  Code update is not in vain.

         12                 To those of you who still have doubt

         13  as to the validity of Intro 478, I ask that you only

         14  review the wording of the two bills before you.  Do

         15  you vote for a bill which proposes to adopt a

         16  National Code as the new Building Code for the City

         17  of New York only after consensus opinions reached as

         18  to the validity of each section and paragraph of the

         19  Code based upon careful review of committees of

         20  experts in the building field or do you vote for a

         21  bill that adopts a National Code for the City of New

         22  York, sight unseen, with no review, which states

         23   "the provisions of the NFPA Code are to be

         24  liberally interpreted for the beneficial purposes

         25  that such Code sets to achieve".  What does that
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          2  mean?  Is this the type of bill your constituents

          3  want you to vote for?  I think not! Is this a

          4  correct procedure to follow, to adopt a Code

          5  governing construction in this great City?  I would

          6  hope not!

          7

          8  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          9  RICHARD T. ANDERSON

         10  PRESIDENT

         11  NEW YORK BUILDING CONGRESS

         12

         13                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         14  testify on the proposed changes to the New York City

         15  Building Code.

         16                 The Building Congress is a broad

         17  coalition of the design, construction and real

         18  estate industry.  Our members represent all aspects

         19  of construction, from the architects that draw plans

         20  for buildings to the construction companies that

         21  raise the structures to the organizations that

         22  manage the finished product.  We commend the NYC

         23  Department of Buildings and the Housing and

         24  Buildings Committee for exploring ways to streamline

         25  the building code and bolster the building
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          2  community.

          3                 The New York City Building Code has

          4  not gone under a significant revision since 1968 in

          5  spite of advances in the building industry.  This

          6  hearing is timely and a welcome first step.

          7                 There are currently two competing

          8  codes before the Council's consideration, the NFPA

          9  5000 and the International Building code  The NFPA

         10  5000 is the inferior proposal of the two and its

         11  implementation would be detrimental to our industry.

         12    The NFPA is a new code and to date, only one

         13  suburb of Houston and a small town in Maine have

         14  adopted it.  In fact, NFPA was rejected by Dallas,

         15  Denver and Phoenix when they recently considered

         16  updating their codes.

         17                 The NFPA has no past experience with

         18  a complete model code.  New York City, with its

         19  unique building density, height and security needs,

         20  should not adopt a code whose efficiency and success

         21  has not been tested.  NFPA is not coordinated,

         22  meaning that the different sections like structures,

         23  building materials and administration are not well

         24  integrated into the overall code.  This would create

         25  a quagmire of issues for the design and construction
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          2  industry.  We urge you to oppose the NFPA 5000 code.

          3                 The second proposal is the

          4  International Building Code.  It is based on three

          5  national codes that have been in effect for decades

          6  and therefore has a wealth of experience and history

          7  behind it.  The International Code Council, the

          8  organization that wrote the IBC, has extensive

          9  experience in writing codes and it has at our

         10  disposal a superb information support system.

         11                 Currently, 44 states, including New

         12  York, have implemented the IBC as the base for their

         13  building codes.  We know it works and works well.

         14  It is coordinated, comprehensive and undergoes

         15  regular reviews and updates.

         16                 Under the leadership of Building's

         17  Commissioner Patricia Lancaster, the Department of

         18  Buildings has implemented an in- depth review of the

         19  IBC in which the design, construction and real

         20  estate industry has actively participated.  This

         21  continuing dialogue is allowing the best provisions

         22  of the City's building code to be merged with the

         23  IBC, particularly in regard to the City's stringent

         24  safety and high- density building standards. Unlike

         25  the NFPA, the IBC Code would be tailored to New York

                                                            450

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  City's needs.

          3                 Intro. 478, the IBC Blueprint bill,

          4  mandates that the new Building Code be reviewed and

          5  updated every three years. New York City will be

          6  assured that its code is proactive and shaped in

          7  collaboration with the organizations that are

          8  governed by it. Although the final Building Code has

          9  yet to be completed and reviewed, the Blueprint Bill

         10  is an important step in carrying forward the

         11  discussion and the building Congress encourages you

         12  to recommend adoption by the full City Council.

         13

         14  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         15  MICHELE MEDAGLIA

         16  PRESIDENT

         17  ACC CONSTRUCTION CORPORATION

         18

         19                 Good afternoon, my name is Michele

         20  Medaglia.  I am the President of ACC Construction

         21  Corporation, a 20- year old general contracting and

         22  construction management company that is the leading

         23  Woman- owned business enterprise construction

         24  company in the Greater New York Metropolitan area.

         25  I am also the President of the Association of Real
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          2  Estate Women for the 2004- 2005 season.

          3                 I am here today to voice my support

          4  of the International Building Code, which is being

          5  presented to City Council by the New york City

          6  Department of Buildings.  Moreover, I am here to

          7  officially state that I support the adoption of IBC

          8  over the National Fire Protection Association, NFPA

          9  5000 Construction and Safety Code, which is

         10  currently being sponsored by 29 Council members over

         11  the recommendations of the New York City Department

         12  of Buildings.

         13                 New York City has many of the

         14  strictest codes and guidelines in the nation, and

         15  for good reason.  We are one of the oldest urban

         16  areas in the country with a greater population

         17  density in our commercial and residential areas than

         18  in most cities.  We are home to many of the

         19  country's tallest buildings and we have more multi-

         20  family housing units than anywhere else in the

         21  United States.

         22                 Nevertheless, as a construction

         23  professional, I am still required to work with a

         24  Building Code that has been gathered over the years

         25  in a piecemeal and often confusing format.  Many of
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          2  the codes that we must follow are antiquated and no

          3  longer relevant to today's construction materials

          4  and building infrastructures.

          5                 In other words, as we build new

          6  office towers, hospitals, schools and apartment

          7  buildings, as well as interior fit- outs, we are

          8  required to subscribe to standards and codes that

          9  have not been changed in nearly 40 years!  Clearly,

         10  it is imperative that we establish a new set of

         11  codes as quickly as possible.

         12                 But let us not adopt the untried

         13  standards outlined in NFPA 5000, which may I remind

         14  the esteemed Council has been used in only one city

         15  in the country, Pasadena, Texas.  As I'm sure you

         16  will hear many times today, Pasadena has a

         17  population of 141,000 with housing stock primarily

         18  made up of single and two- family homes.  There is

         19  no precedent, no proven history that supports NFPA

         20  5000 in New York City?  It is also a code that has

         21  been soundly rejected by the New York City

         22  Department of Buildings and overwhelmingly rejected

         23  by the building community in New York City.

         24                 On the other hand, the International

         25  Building Code has been endorsed by nearly every
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          2  professional real estate and construction

          3  association in the area.  Why?  Because it has been

          4  modified to reflect building requirements relevant

          5  to New York City.  Plus, it requires updates and

          6  reevaluations every three years.  Considering

          7  advances in sustainable architecture and green

          8  building materials being developed every day,

          9  updates are particularly pertinent.

         10                 In addition, the IBC has been

         11  tailored to reflect the unique conditions of New

         12  York City.  As such, it is a combined effort

         13  produced through 13 technical committees, comprising

         14  more than 400 local engineers, architects, real

         15  estate professionals, construction professionals,

         16  leaders from various unions and members of

         17  government agencies involved with building issues.

         18                 So knowing all of this, I ask you,

         19  why would some members of this esteemed Council

         20  obstruct the efforts of the professionals who

         21  intimately understand what is at stake here?

         22                 As the president of ACC Construction

         23  and lifelong building professional, I urge the City

         24  Council to heed the recommendations of the New York

         25  City Department of Buildings as well as the real
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          2  estate community and its related industries, and

          3  adopt a tried- and- true code that has been

          4  successfully used in 48 states, the International

          5  Building Code.  Thank you.

          6

          7  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          8  LEONARD WILLIAMS

          9  MASTER PLUMBERS COUNCIL

         10  OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK, INC.

         11

         12                 My name is Leonard Williams and I am

         13  a New York City Licensed Master Plumber and Fire

         14  suppression Piping Contractor.  I am here today

         15  representing the Master Plumbers Council of the City

         16  of New York.  The Master Plumbers Council's

         17  membership is comprised of over 180 licensed

         18  plumbers, making it the largest plumbing

         19  professional association in the City.

         20                 This membership consists of plumbing

         21  contracting firms ranging in size from small family

         22  businesses with one or two employees, to large

         23  contracting and service companies with employees

         24  numbering in the hundreds.  These companies result

         25  in thousands of families paying taxes and relying on
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          2  our industry for their livelihoods.

          3                 A year and a half ago, the Mayoral

          4  Commission decided to begin the process of adopting

          5  the International Building Code (IBC), to replace

          6  the antiquated and cumbersome New York City Building

          7  Code.  Myself and another member of our

          8  organization, whom will also speak here today,

          9  volunteered and began work on the Plumbing Technical

         10  Committee to identify and develop the changes

         11  required to make the IBC Plumbing Code appropriate

         12  for the very unique conditions that exist in New

         13  York City. Most of the committee members have spent

         14  countless hours on this endeavor. However, the work

         15  is not complete.  Additionally, there are reports

         16  that many of the other technical committees have not

         17  completed their work.

         18                 Now we are all asked to consider two

         19  opposing Introductions before the City Council

         20  regarding the adoption of a model code for the City.

         21    Intro. No. 368 proposes that the NFPA 5000 replace

         22  the entire New York City Building Code, with the

         23  exception of the administrative section.  This

         24  Introduction lacks any wording to specify the

         25  vitally important changes that are necessary to any
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          2  model code being considered for New York City, not

          3  the least of which are our population density and

          4  the sheer size of our buildings.

          5                 Intro. No. 478 proposes a time frame

          6  for the adoption of the International Building Code

          7  with the text of the required changes to be

          8  submitted at a later date.  We believe a completed

          9  text of Committee recommended changes must be

         10  submitted for an Introduction asking for the

         11  adoption of a new code.

         12                 We therefore ask that the City

         13  Council reject both of these Introductions and

         14  demand that complete works be submitted so that all

         15  parties can made an informed decision.

         16

         17  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         18  ROBERT BELLINI

         19  MASTER PLUMBERS COUNCIL

         20  OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK, INC.

         21

         22                 Good morning, ladies and gentlemen,

         23  my name is Robert Bellini and I am a New York City

         24  Licensed Master Plumber and Fire Suppression Piping

         25  Contractor.
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          2                 Today, I represent the New York City

          3  Master Plumbers Council and I'd like to think the

          4  plumbing industry as a whole. With over 1,200 New

          5  York City licensed master plumbers, our industry

          6  represents tens of thousands of New York City family

          7  members and taxpayers.  It has also been my

          8  privilege to serve as a member of the International

          9  Plumbing code Technical Committee, along with my

         10  counterpart, that you've already heard from, Mr.

         11  Lenny Williams.

         12                 I think we can all agree that the New

         13  York City Building Code requires significant

         14  changes.  After all, the time we live in is very

         15  different from that which we lived in when our

         16  current Building Code was created.  However, as we

         17  consider a new Building Code for New York City, we

         18  must not lose sight of the fact that we are like no

         19  other City in the world.

         20                 When you consider the size and sheer

         21  weight of our structures, our population, the fact

         22  that Manhattan is an island, that we have subway

         23  systems and are now a primary target for terrorism,

         24  this makes us very different from anyplace else in

         25  the world.  We should all agree that the purpose of
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          2  considering a new code for adoption must be to make

          3  things better, to improve upon that which we have

          4  right now.

          5                 In short, the new code must be faster

          6  and easier, taking advantage of new technology,

          7  while maintaining a safer environment for New York

          8  City's residents and workforce. Consideration of the

          9  technical side of the new Building Code is paramount

         10  to the safety of New York City's residents,

         11  workforce and property.

         12                 Of equal importance, however, is the

         13  manner in which the code is administered and

         14  enforced.  After all, a superior technical code is

         15  meaningless, without proper administration.  So much

         16  of today's work is being performed by unlicensed

         17  individuals and does not meet Code requirements,

         18  therefore placing the safety and well being of New

         19  Yorkers and its property at risk.  For without

         20  proper enforcement of a new Code and the necessary

         21  tools to carry it out, we are sure to continue with

         22  the same futile efforts.

         23                 Today, you are being asked to

         24  consider two Introductions:  Intro. 368 and Intro.

         25  478, each of which deal with technical and
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          2  administrative issues, but in a completely different

          3  fashion.

          4                 Intro. 478 (International Building

          5  Code) through various committees comprised of dozens

          6  of hardworking, dedicated volunteers have set out to

          7  revise the IBC and make it New York's own by

          8  attempting to address all of New York City's unique

          9  characteristics and requirements.  It has also

         10  sought to revise the Administrative Code, but the

         11  work is not complete.  Until such time that it is

         12  complete, including how the Code will be

         13  administered and enforced, it would be premature for

         14  us, as an industry, to come out in support of it.

         15                 We also take the position that, until

         16  such time that it is 100 percent complete and City

         17  Council has had the chance to review the revised

         18  code in its entirety, it would be irresponsible for

         19  the Council to vote in favor of Intro. 478 at this

         20  time.

         21                 On the other hand, Intro. 368 (NFPA

         22  5000) was written to include the current New York

         23  City administrative code as is, without improvement.

         24    Additionally, it states that the National Building

         25  Code be accepted as written, without modifications
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          2  or alterations addressing New York City's unique

          3  makeup and characteristics.  It has taken more than

          4  18 months to personalize the IBC, to accommodate New

          5  York City's exclusive characteristics.

          6                 The NFPA 5000, via Intro. 368, made

          7  no such effort. The fact is that no national or

          8  international building code can be accepted as is,

          9  for New York City, with no modifications.

         10                 Quite frankly, we are different from

         11  everywhere else in the country and the National

         12  Building Code is just not good enough to ensure the

         13  safety and well being of New York City's residents,

         14  workforce and property.  It is therefore our opinion

         15  that a positive vote for Intro. 368 (NFPA 5000)

         16  would be an irresponsible vote at this time.

         17

         18  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         19  MICHAEL DEJOHN

         20  PRINCIPAL

         21  WG PROJECT MANAGEMENT, INC.

         22

         23                 My name is Michael DeJohn and I am

         24  one of the Principals of WG Project Management, Inc.

         25    WG is one of the leading project management
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          2  (owner's reps.) Firms in New York City.  WG manages

          3  a wide variety of projects for New York City

          4  corporations, such as Ann Taylors 300,000 square

          5  feet relocation to Seven Times Square and Morgan and

          6  Finnegan's 100,000 square feet relocation to World

          7  Financial Center.

          8                 I was also the project manager for

          9  Ernst and Young's new 1.1 million square feet

         10  building at Five Times Square and for the Empire

         11  Blue Cross 500,000 square feet relocation to One

         12  World Trade Center.  I also spent almost ten years

         13  managing corporate real estate as an employee of

         14  Tiffany and Co., and Gruntal and Co.

         15                 Besides my duties as an owner of a

         16  company that specializes in managing the entire

         17  construction project process, I am also the  2004-

         18  2005 Chapter Chair of CoreNet Global's New York City

         19  Chapter.

         20                 CoreNet Global is the world's premier

         21  association for corporate real estate and related

         22  professionals.  CoreNet Global's membership base

         23  totals 7,500 corporate real estate executives,

         24  service providers and economic developers.  CoreNet

         25  Global's nearly 3,000 corporate members make it the
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          2  world's largest group for corporate real estate

          3  executives, or occupiers, who typically run the real

          4  estate and related support functions for companies

          5  whose primary business is not real estate.

          6                 CNG members manage $1.2 trillion in

          7  RE and workplace assets globally, the portfolio

          8  value is $490 million per company globally, the

          9  average portfolio size is 29 million square feet

         10  globally and members manage more than 700 million

         11  square feet of space globally.  The New York City

         12  Chapter is CoreNet's largest, with more than 550

         13  active members.

         14                 As a professional who manages

         15  construction projects within the metropolitan area

         16  and interacts frequently with the New York City

         17  Department of Buildings, WG is very excited about

         18  the proposed adoption of the International Building

         19  Code.  This code is used for projects that we manage

         20  in non- New York City projects in New York State and

         21  other states and it is quickly becoming the leading

         22  building code in many parts of the country.

         23                 The current New York City Building

         24  Code, that is proposed to be replaced, adds

         25  significant costs to New York City construction
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          2  projects, because there are different potential

          3  interpretations of many parts of the code, which

          4  results in corporate tenants asking their consulting

          5  team to pick the most conservative interpretation of

          6  the code, in order to avoid possible Department of

          7  Building review delays.  The current code also does

          8  not allow for ready acceptance of more modern

          9  construction techniques that are more safety

         10  conscious and less expensive.

         11                 Since the problems with the current

         12  building codes are its ease of understanding and

         13  consistency, WG feels that it is logical to adopt a

         14  code that has been tested and proven in many parts

         15  of the country and is the closest thing that the

         16  United States has to a National Standard Code.  To

         17  replace the arcane code that has not been widely

         18  adopted does not seem to be a logical strategy for

         19  the New York City Building Code and permitting

         20  process.

         21                 Of course the IBC would need to be

         22  slightly modified for the specific density of New

         23  York City, but the adoption of a code based upon the

         24  collective expertise of the International Code

         25  Council, the construction industry and a broad range
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          2  of New York City construction industry

          3  professionals, who collectively represent some of

          4  the top industry players in the country.

          5                 Commissioner Lancaster was part of a

          6  panel discussion at a CoreNet luncheon several

          7  months ago, to discuss the potential adoption of a

          8  new Building Code for New York City.  The panel

          9  discussion was attended by a capacity crowd

         10  numbering almost three hundred, which would have

         11  been more if the room was larger.

         12                 Almost every leading New York City

         13  architectural and engineering firm was represented

         14  at the forum and the proposed adoption of the IBC as

         15  the new Building Code had overwhelming support from

         16  the audience.  The only negative comment I heard was

         17   "why is it going to take so long for the City to

         18  adopt this code."  Many CoreNet Global members

         19  support the concept of adopting the IBC as New York

         20  City's new Building Code.

         21                 When we manage projects for clients

         22  who have not built space in New York City before,

         23  these client's consultants from their home cities,

         24  as well as construction cost guidebooks, tell the

         25  client that construction costs in New York City are
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          2  10 percent to 20 percent.  However, in my

          3  experience, with projects ranging up to $250 million

          4  in construction costs, the cost differential is

          5  actually closer to 40 percent to 50 percent.

          6                 There are many factors for these cost

          7  differentials, including site access conditions,

          8  local trade union regulations and longer project

          9  schedules, but there is a quantifiable construction

         10  cost premium caused by the problems with the current

         11  building code, which Commissioner Lancaster has been

         12  trying to rectify in her reorganization of her

         13  department and the Mayor's Advisory Commission

         14  recommendation to adopt the IBC as the new NYC

         15  Building Code.

         16                 I respectfully but strongly urge the

         17  City Council to accept the advice of your local

         18  construction industry professionals to speedily

         19  adopt the IBC Code so that New York City can build

         20  the world's leading projects in a more cost

         21  efficient and speedier fashion.  Adopting the IBC

         22  will not eliminate all of the construction cost and

         23  project schedule differentials between New York City

         24  and other cities and states, but it will go a long

         25  way to making New York City more competitive for
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          2  construction projects.

          3

          4  Respectfully submitted,

          5  Michael DeJohn, Principal

          6  WG Project Management, Inc.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 4:30 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7
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          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 30th day of November 2004.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

                                                            468

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

